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DEPARTMENT OF THE ARMY
COMMANDING GENERAL, UNITED STATES ARMY FUTURES COMMAND
210 WEST 7TH STREET
AUSTIN, TX 78701

MEMORANDUM FOR Commander, U.S. Army Forces Command

SUBJECT: Army Regulation (AR) 15-6 Investigation - Fort Hood’s command
involvement in, and response to, the disappearance and death of SPC Vanessa Guillén
and other specific topic areas.

1. References. Required and related publications and prescribed and referenced forms
are listed in Enclosure 1.

2. Background. On 1 September 2020, GEN Michael X. Garrett, Commanding General
of U.S. Army Forces Command (FORSCOM), appointed me as an investigating officer
(I0) pursuant to AR 15-6. The purpose of the investigation was to determine the facts
and circumstances surrounding Fort Hood’s command involvement in, and response to,
the disappearance and death of SPC Vanessa Guillén, Echo Forward Support Troop
(E/FST), Regimental Engineer Squadron (RES), 3rd Cavalry Regiment (3CR), at or
near Fort Hood, Texas. The investigation also examined the alleged sexual harassment
of SPC Guillén and other specified matters, as detailed below.

3. Introductory Summary.
a. Scope of Investigation. This report is the result of a comprehensive, multi-
disciplinary, and independent administrative investigation into the facts and

circumstances associated with the following Lines of Inquiry (LOI):

e LOI 1 - Brief synopses of the military backgrounds of SPC Vanessa Guillén and
SPC Aaron Robinson.

e LOI 2 - The command’s accountability of personnel.
e LOI 3 - The command’s response to SPC Guillén’s disappearance.

e LOI 4 - The command’s engagement with media, the Guillén family, and non-
Department of Defense parties following SPC Guillén’s disappearance.
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LOI 5 - Alleged sexual harassment of SPC Guillén and the command’s response
to the same.

e LOI 6 —3CR’s Sexual Harassment / Assault Response and Prevention (SHARP)
program and the climate regarding reporting.

e LOI 7 - The command’s procedures for personnel assignments.
e LOI 8 - The command’s procedures for arms rooms.

e LOI 9 - The command’s response to alleged sexual harassment by SPC
Robinson.’

The biography of SPC Vanessa Guillén (LOI 1) is provided in paragraph 6. The
military background of SPC Robinson (LOI 1) is addressed in paragraph 7.b. The
remaining Lines of Inquiry are covered in paragraph 7, the Summary of Relevant &
Material Facts, and in their associated Findings and Recommendations in paragraph 8.
Recommendations of administrative and/or disciplinary actions regarding specific
individuals are in paragraph 9.

b. Parallel Investigations. All alleged criminal misconduct connected to the
disappearance and death of SPC Guillén is the sole purview of law enforcement
agencies, and is thus outside the scope of this AR 15-6 Investigation. This investigation
was also conducted separately from the Fort Hood Independent Review Committee
(FHIRC) directed by the Secretary and Chief of Staff of the Army.

(1) Criminal Prosecution. All alleged criminal misconduct connected to the
disappearance and death of SPC Guillén is being investigated by the Federal Bureau of
Investigation, U.S. Army Criminal Investigation Division (CID), and numerous law
enforcement agencies under the supervision of the United States Attorney’s Office. On
2 July 2020, federal authorities in the United States Attorney’s Office for the Western
District of Texas filed a criminal complaint against 22-year-old Cecily Aguilar in
connection with the disappearance of SPC Vanessa Guillén. The criminal complaint
charges Aguilar with one count of conspiracy to tamper with evidence. On 14 July 2020,
Ms. Aguilar was further charged by indictment in the United States District Court for the
Western District of Texas with one count of conspiracy to tamper with evidence and two
counts of tampering with evidence. Based on a press release from the U.S. Attorney’s
Office on 2 July 2020, it is believed that 20-year-old U.S. Army SPC Aaron Robinson
told Aguilar that he killed a female soldier by striking her in the head with a hammer
while on Fort Hood on 22 April 2020.

'On 22 October 2020, the Appointing Authority expanded the scope of this AR 15-6 investigation into
three interrelated areas: (1) alleged sexual harassment of [[Si{S SIS Y Specialist Aaron
Robinson; (2) the formal or informal complaint by [[SyEEIEANEN. if 2ny. and the command’s response;
and (3) any reporting to CID.
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(2) Fort Hood Independent Review Committee (FHIRC). On 30 July 2020, the
Secretary and Chief of Staff of the Army announced that five civilian highly-qualified
experts will lead a FHIRC to conduct a review of the command climate and culture
assessment at Fort Hood. The Secretary of the Army appointed this committee due to
numerous issues that were raised about Fort Hood during the investigation into the
disappearance and murder of SPC Vanessa Guillén. Generally, the committee
conducted a comprehensive assessment of the Fort Hood command climate and culture
and its impact, if any, on the safety, welfare, and readiness of the Soldiers and units. At
a minimum, the committee evaluated four specific areas: 1) Whether the relevant
commands and units are in compliance with all applicable policies and regulations
regarding sexual assault prevention and response, sexual harassment, and equal
opportunity; 2) Whether the command climate and atmosphere in these units is
conducive to the uninhibited reporting of sexual harassment and assault, or equal
opportunity issues; 3) the training, education, and abilities of leaders at all levels to
receive and respond appropriately to reports of sexual harassment and assault, or equal
opportunity issues; and 4) the effectiveness of the Fort Hood sexual assault prevention
and response and equal opportunity programs. The committee was also tasked to
assess all of the regulations, policies, and procedures governing the command’s
response to a report of a missing Soldier.

c. Summary of Key Findings.

(1) SPC Guillen was sexually harassed by [[SISHEISEEE; hc'

Leaders failed to take appropriate action. Specialist Guillén was sexually harassed by
her
Her JIDIEEEIEIEN created an intimidating, hostile environment. SPC Guillén

informed IEEEEDICIDINEE of the harassment, but [ failed to report

the harassment. The IS consisting of HEISNEIME
responsible for the supervision of about 100 Soldiers, was informed of [

harassment of SPC Guillén, as well as [jjij counterproductive leadership of
other Soldiers, and failed to take appropriate action.

(2) SPC Robinson sexually harassed another Soldier (not SPC Guillén). From
April to September 2019, SPC Robinson sexually harassed a female Specialist at Fort
Hood. During the course of our investigation, we found no credible evidence to conclude
SPC Robinson sexually harassed SPC Guillén or that they had any relationship outside
of their work setting.

(3) 3CR did not sufficiently emphasize the response and prevention of sexual
harassment. Overall, 3CR's command climate did not sufficiently emphasize the
response and prevention of sexual assault or sexual harassment. Recovering from long
standing deficiencies, the ineffectiveness of Fort Hood's SHARP program compounded
3CR's problem. 3CR's il 'eaders, supervisors, and Chains of Command lacked
understanding of their responsibilities. When presented with allegations, SPC Guillén's
Chain of Command failed to take appropriate action.
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(4) The Acting Senior Commander of Fort Hood misjudged the significance of
SPC Guillén's disappearance. The Acting Senior Commander of Fort Hood (a 2-star
General) and his staff were overly reluctant to engage the media. This reluctance was
driven by a firm belief that the command should prioritize the protection of the integrity
of the investigation over any command engagement with the media. By taking this
cautious stance, the Acting Senior Commander initially misjudged the significance of the
disappearance of SPC Guillén as a high profile event and failed to react appropriately to
the incident over time. This failure contributed to an inability to inform and educate the
public in a timely manner, as well as a failure to maintain transparency with the Guillén
family. By the time Fort Hood developed a media communications strategy on 29 June,
Fort Hood had lost the trust of the Guillén Family, and critically damaged the trust,
confidence, and reputation of Fort Hood and the Army with the surrounding community
and the Nation.

(5) The Army was ineffective at engaging in social media. Media, and more
specifically social media, played a central role in establishing the negative information
environment surrounding Fort Hood's response to the disappearance of SPC Guillén.
Fort Hood Public Affairs Office and CID Public Affairs Office were ill-staffed, ill-trained
and ill-prepared to effectively address the social media information environment. The
Army ceded the social media space, lost the opportunity to inform and educate the
public in a timely fashion, and allowed the unhindered growth of damaging narratives
about Fort Hood and the Army.

(6) Leaders failed to take corrective actions. SPC Guillén's [SISNDNISN failed
to report or take appropriate action after learning of SPC Guillén's sexual harassment
allegations. leadership

I (1 N (1 G A
failed to hold SPC Guillén's | IENEBIEIEN 2ccountable. NI
EEIE NSNS <ncw SPC Guillén's NSNS h>d SRS
I (5 N 1 1

, but chose to move to another unit rather than hold
Il accountable forjiilij aggressive and counterproductive leadership. IR
knew of aggressive and
counterproductive leadership, but took no formal action to stop it.

D) 6). 0 ()
RIS a'so failed to advise IEDISEEIEISE to take formal action against
this problematic | NS - N N Y N A N

also failed to take appropriate action when presented with credible allegations of

counterproductive leadership by thisiiSISEDIEN

(7) The search for SPC Guillén was immediate and well-coordinated. The RES and 3CR
leadership immediately recognized the unique circumstances of SPC Guillén's
disappearance on 22 April and determined that her absence was likely not voluntary.
Starting on 23 April, these leaders directed a massive search for SPC Guillén. Also
confirming SPC Guillén's unusual disappearance and assisting in the search efforts,
CID took over the case from MPI at 1151 on 24 April (around 28 hours after SPC
Guillén was reported as missing). Later that day at 1512, CID submitted a Serious

4
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Incident Report Executive Summary to the U.S. Army Operations Center stating that
SPC Guillén was a "missing Soldier" whose disappearance occurred under "unusual”
circumstances. Unfortunately, these search efforts were all in vain; SPC Robinson is
believed to have killed SPC Guillén in the arms room on 22 April and subsequently hid
her body outside of Fort Hood.

(8) The Army did not have an appropriate classification of duty status. SPC
Guillén's disappearance highlighted gaps and ambiguities in U.S. Army policies
regarding the characterization of Soldiers who are missing. It is U.S. Army policy that
when a Soldier does not "report" during an accountability formation, that Soldier is
considered "Absent Without Leave" (AWOL) after 24 hours, unless there is clear
evidence that the absence is involuntary. Accordingly, the Chain of Command changed
SPC Guillén's duty status from "Present for Duty" to "AWOL" on 24 April, because they
did not have specific, sufficient evidence to prove that her absence was involuntary. The
RES and 3CR leadership decided to deviate from additional actions for AWOL Soldiers
required by regulations - such as dropping SPC Guillén from rolls and labeling her a
deserter - to keep faith with her family, and because they accurately assessed that she
was not a voluntary absentee. SPC Guillén's AWOL status was an administrative matter
and did not impact 3CR's prioritization of time, effort, and resources dedicated to
searching for her. However, the Army's policy requiring an AWOL duty status sent the
wrong message and created an inaccurate perception that she had voluntarily
abandoned her unit.

(9) Poor communication contributed to SPC Robinson's ability to flee from the
RES conference room. On 30 June, SPC Aaron Robinson fled from the RES
conference room and ultimately committed suicide while being pursued by CID and
other law enforcement agents. Both CID and the RES could have done more to prevent
SPC Robinson from fleeing from the RES conference room. CID failed to clearly
communicate that SPC Robinson was a Soldier of heightened interest rather than just
another Soldier for a follow-up interview, and the RES failed to recognize the change in
procedures and subtle indicators from CID that this was more than just another follow-
up interview.

d. Summary of Recommendations. In view of the above findings, | recommend the
following actions be taken on the following personnel:

(1) Appropriate administrative action against the Acting Senior Commander of
Fort Hood at the time of SPC Guillén's disappearance for failing to appropriately assess
the magnitude of the situation, failing to take reasonable and appropriate action, and
failing to effectively communicate with the family, the public, and key stakeholders.
These failures contributed to a loss of trust and a lack of transparency.

2) Appropriate administrative actions against the
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(3) Appropriate administrative action against [

(5) Appropriate administrative action against the [N

(6) Appropriate disciplinary and/or administrative action against SPC Guillén's

(7) I also recommend the Army improve SHARP policy and training efforts. First
line leaders, supervisors, and managers at all echelons must understand their
obligations for immediate and mandated actions regarding sexual harassment/assault
allegations. SHARP training must emphasize leader action in response to sexual
harassment and sexual assault reports. New regulations must consolidate and simplify
all obligations placed on leaders and supervisors when sexual harassment is reported
or suspected.

(8) The Army should revise regulations to provide time and flexibility for
command teams to gather evidence and determine the true nature of a Soldier's
absence. Current regulations require an AWOL determination 24 hours after a Soldier's
absence, unless the command can produce affirmative evidence of involuntary
absence. A new duty status, designating a Soldier's absence as "unknown" for a 48-
hour period, would align command and law enforcement efforts to leverage all the tools
on the installation to locate the absent Soldier, require early notification and interaction
with the absent Soldier's family, and provide a clear methodology for commanders to
find evidence of voluntary absence. After 48 hours, if a commander lacks evidence of
voluntary absence, the Soldier should be designated as "missing" and placed in a Duty
Status - Whereabouts Unknown (DUSTWUN) casualty status - thus giving the family
early access to casualty assistance and maintaining the missing Soldier's pay and
benefits as search and investigation efforts continue.

(9) U.S. Army CID should create a quick reaction capability focused on assisting
commanders with missing Soldiers. The specially trained Special Agents can provide
law enforcement tools and investigative methods to quickly locate or uncover the true
circumstances of missing Soldiers within the first 48-hours. Furthermore, CID should
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review and update its policies on properly receiving and referring complaints of sexual
harassment, as well as keeping complainants properly informed of the status of the
referral. Finally, CID should review its policies on timely information-sharing with
commands, regarding CID's suspicion of serious criminal misconduct of Soldiers
assigned to those commands, that increase the risk that those Soldiers may become a
danger to themselves, others, or become a flight risk.

(10) Public affairs capabilities of U.S. Army commands and garrisons must be
proactive and capable of addressing both traditional and social media amplification of
negative sentiment. Advanced tools should be employed to anticipate social media
flashpoints, support commanders, and protect Soldiers and family members from
malicious broadcasting. The U.S. Army Office of the Chief, Public Affairs should
consider new policy and training on how to handle incidents similar to those that
occurred when Specialist Guillén disappeared on 22 April 2020.

4. Overview.

a. Investigative activities commenced on 3 September 2020. Familiarization with the
case, initial development of the investigative plan, and coordination for a location began
immediately; the investigation deliberately delayed deploying to Fort Hood in order to
deconflict with the FHIRC. The complete investigative team consisting of nine Assistant
Investigating officers (I0s) and support staff was identified and approved by 14
September 2020. The investigative team occupied the Oveta Culp Hobby Soldier &
Family Readiness Center, Fort Hood, 16 September 2020, and began interviewing
witnesses on 17 September 2020. Investigative activities concluded on 3 November
2020.

b. No Adverse Impact Due to Witness or Information Unavailability. Every effort was
made to interview all available witnesses and review all available materials, policies,
and regulations relating to the scope of the investigation. The investigative team
interviewed 151 witnesses, took over 188 hours of witness testimony, reviewed 6,138
emails from 398 individuals, and analyzed 11,816 pages of documents provided by IlI
Corps / Fort Hood in response to 189 Requests for Information (RFIs). The investigative
team was able to conduct interviews of all necessary and relevant witnesses with one

exception: I . /25 Unavailable.

c. It is my opinion that this investigation was not adversely impacted by the
unavailability of this withess. Enclosure 2 contains full documentation of the appointing
official’s instructions and my investigative methodology.
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6. SPC Vanessa Guillén.

Vanessa Guillén was bon to [ G O 30
September 1999, at Ben Taub Hospital in Houston, Texas. [SiS I

In elementary school, Vanessa tested into the “Gifted and Talented Program.” She
attended Hartman Middle School before attending César E. Chavez High School, where
she took Advanced Placement classes. She is described as a focused student, a “math
whiz,” and a capable writer. Friends and coaches remember her for dedicating extra
effort during school and on the athletic field. Vanessa was a varsity athlete in track,
cross country, and soccer, and also enjoyed weight-lifting.3

Vanessa’s family and friends describe her as quiet, yet joyous and out-going. A
hard-working competitor, she was confident and brave, and rarely displayed emotional
distress outwardly. Vanessa was a young woman who was meticulous about her
appearance, and enjoyed spending time with friends. She teased, challenged, and
motivated friends and teammates. On weekends, Vanessa worked at a food stand that
sold tacos and tortas at a local flea market, supporting the local community 4

Vanessa was very family-oriented, regularly helping [SISIIIININEGEEEEE

Vanessa loved children so much that it broke
her heart to see children suffering, and shared her dream of traveling to Africa to feed
hungry children with her family.®

Only weeks after her 18th birthday, Vanessa enlisted in the U.S. Army as a Small
Arms / Artillery Repairer (Military Occupational Specialty code 91F), while she was still
in high school. She remained in the Delayed Entry Program (DEP) for the remainder of
her senior year, and departed for Basic Combat Training (BCT) at Fort Jackson, South
Carolina after her high school graduation in June 2018. Friends describe Vanessa’s
motivation to enlist as a desire "to prove to herself and everyone else that she was
capable of anything.” SIS recalls that Vanessa had wanted to join the U.S.

2Banks, G., Tallet, O. P., & Dellinger, H. (2020, July 26) Portrait of a Fallen Soldier: The Vibrant Life of
Vanessa Guillén. Retrieved from https://www.houstonchronicle.com/news/houston-
texas/houston/article/Portrait-of-fallen-soldier-Vanessa-Guillén-Texas-15431859.php.

3Banks et al., 2020.

4Banks et al., 2020.

5A-163-1, Guillén Family 270CT20.

6Banks et al., 2020.
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Army since she was 10 years old, reminiscing that "She dreamed about signing up for
the Army, to defend her country, her homeland."”

In addition to eleven weeks of Basic Combat Training, Vanessa completed seven
weeks of Advanced Individual Training (AIT) at Fort Lee, Virginia, where she learned to
be a 91F. Following this training, she was assigned to Echo Forward Support Troop
(E/FST), Regimental Engineer Squadron (RES), 3rd Cavalry Regiment (3CR), on Fort
Hood, Texas. Vanessa was able to visit her family between 15 and 19 December 2018,
enroute to her assigned duty location. Her family described her as a new person, happy
with the U.S. Army. "When | ISJEH" returned, she looked lovely, beautiful, she was
beaming, happy."® | EEIESEE stated that, "She was even happier that she was
going to be stationed in Texas, close to home.”

Vanessa selected a specialty that suits her academic strengths and requires a high-
degree of attention to detail. On her Armed Services Vocational Aptitude Battery
(ASVAB), Vanessa achieved a General Technical score of 105, well above the
threshold of 85. The 91F Military Occupational Specialty is responsible for keeping a
wide array of weapons - from small arms to towed artillery - operating properly by
performing field and sustainment maintenance.

Vanessa maintained a close relationship with her family, and regularly made the
three-hour drive to Houston to visit family on weekends. Both
noticed Vanessa’s emotional well-being and satisfaction with the U.S. Army decline
from July to October 2019."° In November 2019, after Vanessa returned from National
Training Center (NTC) Rotation 20-02 to Fort Irwin, California, she reluctantly confided
in her mother that she had been sexually harassed by [[SEHENE and wanted to leave
the Army."" Determined to honor her oath of enlistment, she returned to work.'? By April
2020, her spirits were beginning to rebound. | SIS attributed the renewed

positivity to Vanessa'’s relationship with her S IIIITEEEEENGEEEEEEEEEEEEEEE
L ©©

Vanessa Guillén was killed on 22 April 2020, and was posthumously promoted to the
rank of Specialist by the U.S. Army on 11 June 2020."*

Vanessa’s disappearance and death are matters of great concern to the Army. The
criminal aspects surrounding Vanessa'’s death are being investigated by various law

"Quifiones, J., narrator. (2020, September 12) | Am Vanessa. 20/20. ABC News.

8Quifiones, 2020.

9Quiriones, 2020.

"Media: Houston Chronicle. Vanessa Guillén: Portrait of a slain soldier [Video file]. Retrieved from
https://www.houstonchronicle.com/news/houston-texas/houston/article/Portrait-of-fallen-soldier-Vanessa-
Guillén-Texas-15431859.php; Quifiones, 2020.

""Media: Houston Chronicle, 2020 and Quifiones, 2020.

2Media: Houston Chronicle, 2020.

3Quifiones, 2020.

14B-3-16, DA 4187 -- Promotion to SPC: Date of rank back-dated to 11 June 2020.
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enforcement agencies and are not part of this investigation. As described above, this
report will focus on the allegations of inappropriate conduct towards Vanessa and other
Soldiers in the unit, and additional matters.

7. Summary of Relevant & Material Facts.

a. Events Leading Up to, and Following, the Disappearance of SPC Guillén.

Unit of Assignment

SPC Guillén was assigned to the Maintenance Platoon of Echo Forward Support
Troop (E/FST), of the Regimental Support Squadron (RSS), of the 3rd Cavalry
Regiment (3CR). All FSTs in 3CR are assigned to the Regimental Support Squadron
(RSS). E/FST is further attached to the RES to provide forward maintenance and
logistical supply support to its self, the RES, and the Regimental Headquarters and
Headquarters Troop (HHT).'® Per the definition of attached, unless modified,
administrative control (ADCON) responsibility of the attached unit goes through the
gaining Army headquarters.'®

In honor of the U.S. Cavalry heritage, Soldiers are referred to as Troopers.
Company-sized elements within 3CR are referred to as troops. Battalion-sized elements
within 3CR are referred to as squadrons.

Within the RES, there is a Headquarters and Headquarters Troop (HHT), the FST,
and four additional companies / troops: Alpha through Delta. E/FST is also known by
the nickname “Tomahawk.” A/RES is also known by the nickname “Ares.” The RES is
also known by the nickname “Pioneer.” The RSS is also known by the nickname
“Muleskinner.”

The extended task organization of 3CR and the RES are provided in Enclosure 3.

Senior Commander and Task Force Phantom Staff

The Commanding General (CG) of Headquarters (HQ), Ill Corps and Fort Hood is
the Senior Commander (SC) of Fort Hood, Texas, mission commander of units attached
to lll Corps, and exercises discrete responsibilities and authorities as such in
accordance with Army regulations.’”

5B-1-1, BSB MTOE Narrative E-Date 18APR19: pg 2.

6See References: U.S. Army Field Manual (FM) 6-0: Commander and Staff Organization and Operations
(Change 1, 11 May 2015), Appendix B.

7B-1-3, FORSCOM COMMAND RELATIONSHIPS IMPLEMENTATION EXORD - Annex A: Tab 9; See
References: U.S. Dep'’t of Army, Reg. 600-20, Army Command Policy (6 November 2014 and 24 July
2020), Para. 2-5.b.(1) and 2-5.b.(4)(a).

12
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3CR is attached to HQ, Il Corps for full Administrative Control (ADCON), Army
Senior Commander and Mission Authorities, in accordance with U.S. Army Forces
Command (FORSCOM) orders.'®

Upon deployment of LTG Robert P. White, CG of HQ, Il Corps and Fort Hood, on 6
September 2019, the Deputy Commanding General-Maneuver (DCG-M) assumed
responsibilities and authorities as the Acting Senior Commander (ASC) of Fort Hood,
Texas for the duration of HQ, Ill Corps deployment in support of OPERATION
INHERENT RESOLVE or until relieved or released of duties in accordance with AR
600-20."° The installation chain of command ran directly from the SC, to the ASC, to the
Garrison Commander (GC).20

While LTG White and the Ill Corps staff were deployed, MG Kenneth Kamper
assumed responsibility as Fort Hood ASC, effective 6 September 2019.2' Upon MG
Kamper’s departure, MG Scott Efflandt, who had been serving as Special Assistant to
the Commanding General (SACG), assumed responsibility as Fort Hood ASC, effective
21 February 2020. MG John B. Richardson IV assumed responsibility as Fort Hood
ASC on 2 September 2020, and continued to execute these roles and responsibilities
until LTG White reassumed command of Fort Hood on 19 October 2020.22

Task Force Phantom, consisting of non-deployed Ill Corps staff, executed staff roles
and responsibilities in support of the ASC. The Task Force Phantom CSM fulfilled the
home-station / installation responsibilities of the Ill Corps and Fort Hood CSM.?3

The Il Corps and Fort Hood Terms of Reference (TOR) assigns the DCG-M the
responsibility for “mentoring and coaching” 3CR.24 The Ill Corps and Fort Hood Chief of
Staff directs, supervises, integrates, and synchronizes the Il Corps staff with the
garrison, subordinate, and tenant units.?® The GC serves as the CG’s senior executive
for installation activities and Fort Hood activities, and commands, integrates, and
coordinates the work of the Garrison Directors, Installation Support Offices, and other
agencies and activities providing installation services.?

8B-1-3, FORSCOM COMMAND RELATIONSHIPS IMPLEMENTATION EXORD - Annex A: Tab 9.
9B-1-4, IlIC Deployed Mission Command Plan: pg 1.

20B-1-4, llIC Deployed Mission Command Plan: pg 2.

21A-129-1, LTG White: pg 1, When asked when his deployment date was, LTG White stated, "l went out
the door on September 6th"." He was subsequently asked who was appointed Acting Senior Commander
("Did you hand it [FHTX] off to Scott or Ken?"), to which he replied, ""Ken Kamper."; LTG White and IlI
Corps deployed from 6 September 2019 to 9 September 2020; LTG White uncased the |1l Corps colors
on 23 October 2020, marking the completion of the mission and return to Fort Hood.
(https://forthoodpresscenter.com/iii-corps-completes-successful-mission-uncases-colors/)

22B-1-6, FHTX Consolidated Assumption of Command Orders.

23B-1-4, llIC Deployed Mission Command Plan: pg 2.

24B-1-5, llIC Terms of Reference: pg 3.

25B-1-5, llIC Terms of Reference: pg 6.

26B-1-5, llIC Terms of Reference: pg 8.
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U.S. Army Garrison Fort Hood

3T Within USAG Fort Hood staff, the Directorate of Plans, Training,
Mobilization & Security (DPTMS) directs and coordinates garrison operations and
training support activities, and also provides force protection, mobilization and
demobilization, reserve component training support, force modernization, operational
planning, and emergency operations functions. The DPTMS Plans and Operations
Division directs and coordinates garrison current operations and command and control
for the installation, and operates the Fort Hood Installation Operations Center (I0C)
and, when required, the Emergency Operations Center (EOC).

The I0C, manned by twelve Department of the Army civilian employees, provides a
24-hour, 7-day a week capability to receive and process reporting requirements and
maintain situational awareness.3? The |OC receives reports from Il Corps and Fort
Hood tenant unit commanders and provides information to Il Corps and garrison senior
leaders concerning incidents of a serious nature or of command interest. For
FORSCOM and Installation Management Command (IMCOM) reporting requirements,
the I0C receives Serious Incident Reports (SIR) from subordinate units and forwards
them to the Task Force Phantom G3 Deputy Chief of Operations (D/CHOPS) for initial
review and recommendation. The D/CHOPS provides the draft SIR to the Chief of Staff
for approval prior to submission to FORSCOM; once approved, the D/CHOPS provides

27A-90-1, NN P9 -

2°A-125-1, ] P9 -

2A-125-1, [EEENRRNS] P9 -

*0A-36-1, NGB ro 1; A-41-1, ENNEHNENEN : ro 1; A-76-1, NN ro -

31Fort Hood welcomes new Fort Hood Garrison commander (https://forthoodpresscenter.com/update-fort-
hood-welcomes-new-fort-hood-garrison-commander/), 21 May 19.

32A-100-2, NS P 2.
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the final SIR to the IOC for submission to the appropriate headquarters.3? If the Chief of
Staff is unavailable, either the military or civilian DCOS is authorized to approve SIR for
submission to FORSCOM.3*

The USAG Fort Hood Emergency Operations Center (EOC) is the GC'’s integrated
command and control capability to support and sustain garrison emergency operations
for 24-hours a day, 7 days a week, and consists of representatives from the Installation
Support Directorates (ISD) and Installation Support Offices (ISO). The EOC employs
Crisis Action Teams (CAT) with organization, size, and recall time standard based on a
progressive, tiered response system. The GC, Deputy Garrison Commander (DGC) or
DPTMS is authorized to activate all CAT tiers. A Tier One CAT establishes the EOC,
with a Chief, Battle Captain, Operations Specialists, and a Public Affairs officer when
directed. Search and rescue operations for a missing person is a situation that could
initiate a Tier One CAT response, according to the EOC SOP.35 Tier Two and Three
CATs have more staff capacity to enable response to large-scale crisis events, such as
a severe weather incident or natural disaster that displaces a significant number of
Soldiers and family members.36

Public Affairs Organization

The USAG Fort Hood Public Affairs Office was co-located with, but not subordinate
to, the Task Force Phantom PAO. The two PAO offices worked together, but had
different reporting chains; the garrison office reported to the GC. IS

3A-100-2, DIDEEEES ro 1-2; A-36-1, DIGEEIEE ro 3; B-3-50, IP Task 38, Subject: SIR/IR Categories:
pg 3.

A-36-1, NN PO 4; A-41-1, NSNS rJ 3

%B-3-51, FHTX EOC SOP: pg 7.

3%B-3-51, FHTX EOC SOP: pg 7-8.

7A-66-1, NN Py 1837; A-71-1, [EENE P9

#A-98-1, (NSNS o 1-
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At 3CR

For U.S. Army Criminal Investigation Division (CID), the battalion on Fort Hood did

not have PAD personnel on its staff.

Non-Department of Defense (DoD) engagements identified between 22 April and 1
September included the following parties: Congressional visits from Ms. Sylvia Garcia
{Representative, TX-29), Mr. John Comyn (Senator, Texas), Mr. Ted Cruz (Senator,
Texas), Mr. John Carter (Representative, TX-31), and Mr. Roger Williams
(representative, TX-23); Ms. Natalie Khawam, the Guillen family attorney, the League of
United Latin American Citizens (LULAC); Alianza Latina Internacional; Texas
EquuSearch; local law enforcement; and the Civilian Assistant to the Secretary of the
Army (CASA)Y

Echo Forward Support Troop (E/FST) Organization

E/FST - "“Tomahawk Troop” - consists of a troop headquarters, field feeding section,
distribution platoon, maintenance control, and a field maintenance section.® In total, the
troop is manned by 105 Soldiers. This includes four officers, one warrant officer, 37

non=-commissioned officers iNCD‘. and 63 "inlm enlisted Soldiers. 7 In Aiul 2020 the

mA-EE-'I,ﬂt A-83-1, I o0 ©; B-4-1, Text Messages [N
WA1T-1, =

4B-4-1, Text Messages Pg 3 i

HA4T-1, pa 1, are atotal of three employees for CID PAD worldwide. Perniod

and handle everything for CID worldwide on a 24/7 basis Jjjjhandle media queries on a daily
r more than — annually — more than 1.2- to 14,000 felony cases every year, and pg 18, "You
“rrn'--'. I '=aming daily with social media.”. i

A-38-1, pg £2-23; A-47-1, pg 14; A-95-1, I FO 25

48.1-1, Emaﬂ'ﬂﬁ'ﬂ! E-Date 18A . Pg EE-M. =

#5ee References: AR 220-1, 15 April 2010, p. 43, "Units are authorized 1o fill a position with a Soldier two
grades below, or ana grade above, the authonzed rank; 5o long as they have the commect Military
Qecupational Specialty (MOS),",

“A-5-1. I PO 5.
16
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According to the Modified Table of Organization and Equipment (MTOE), both the
maintenance confrol and field maintenance sections are led by a Maintenance Control
Officer in the rank of First Lieutenant, who is assisted by a technical expert, the
Engineer Equipment Maintenance Warrant Officer, in the rank of Chi
referred to as the Maintenance Technician hereafter), In Agril 2020,

The maintenance control section is led by a Maintenance Management NCO in the
rank of Sergeant First Class.

in April 2020, |

B 'e!d maintenance specialties include wheeled vehicle
mechanics, vehicle recovery, utilities equipment repair, tactical power generation,
Stryker systems maintenance, construction equipment repair, and small arms repair.
Within small arms repair, one Sergeant Small Arms / Towed Artillery Repairer (Military
Occupational Specialty code 91F) leads two junior enlisted Small Arms / Towed Artillery
Repairers. In April 2020, SPC Guillén was one of the two Small Arms Repairers, and
E/FST did not have an assigned Small Ams / Artillery Repairer NCO to serve as her
supervisor.™

FRegarding the Maintenance Flatoon chain of command, the 65 enlisted Soldiers
were under the administrative control of

“1A-109-1, | PO 1
“B-7-5. I -
94241, | 0 : A-70-1 = Pg 1. In April 2020, I

sl 0 1.
S1A-116-1, N P9 1.

!!-!-!. * pg 3, "At that bme we did not have an NCO in ammaments. We do now. E‘m-
AS|CENY OV

-'h ersees and make sure they were doing the services and getling everything done.",
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. The Maintenance Platoon did not have an

(D)6, HINC)
assigned platoon leader, and NG

54 For accountability and
administrative requirements, in April 2020 the Maintenance Platoon was task organized

into six squads, each led bi an NCO with additional dUti as squad leader. For'

EENES I ° On 22 April, [ISNEIESN squad consisted of
seven Soldiers: the five PLL clerks SIS NSNS 2 d two Small Arms

Repairers, which included SPC Guillén.%6

Daily maintenance-related duties for the RES were planned and scheduled by

Maintenance Control leadership, which consisted of: SIS
™
.
™ .
.
I ™
and managed Equipment Status Report (ESR)
maintenance requirements and assignments to team chiefs and squad leaders.%°

September 2019 and Earlier

Prior to a Regimental Field Training Exercise (R/FTX) in September 2019, Sl

I <olicited her to participate in a sexual@ct
(b)

SA-5-1, ESNEIS o 2, 'l wouldn’t consider [jgj] a platoon leader.”.

54A-109-1, 1,
55A-75-1, pg 1,

%5A-11-1, IDISNEIS ro 1. ‘There were five PLL clerks and two personnel in the armament shop.”.

57A-24-1,M pﬁ 12, From E/FST leadership perspective, duties were “driven by the ESR and
that was dCISMPed By (e NN = NSNS A5 MG o 8, e 5o
back to the maintenance control team. They knew what equipment needed to be fixed, needed to be
serviced.”; A-61-1, [DNSNEIES ro 3. ‘generally [NSNENIEE \vould manage the maintainers and
which ones were in.”; A-77-3, ISEEIEE ro 1. he made sure “everything is kept up with inventory,
issuing parts, receiving parts, tracking maintenance” and S SIS ‘manages all of the
maintenance.”.
58A-61-1, 2, “as the

) ing , Pg, e ere concerns with
the NSNS 2bility to manage that function to meet the intent and maintenance readiness for
the organization.”.

PA-11-1, DESEEIIS o 2; A-118-1, DISNDIEEE o 1; A-77-3, RIS ro 1-

60A-118-1, w pg 1, different tasks and get
ECDs fror & ur T —
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which she translated from Spanish into English as a "threesome."®
reported to have made the comment to SPC Guillen as she retneved a pnnted
document from the E/FST Orderly Room located above her assigned work area
adjacent to the motor pool bays below.™ No witnesses were present to hearF
B unvwelcome solicitation. B),

IS

(b)

Upon returning to her assigned work area, D
I cticed a marked change in SPC Guillen's demeanor. Within approximately an
hour, the significant change in behavior prompted IR
I (Military Occupational Specialty code 915), to ask
SPC Guillen if everything was okay. In recounting (RIS comment made in the
orderty room, SPC Guillen told

a threesome !

encouraged SPC Guillen to report sexual harassment to
the Sexual Assault Response Coordinator (SARC), Vicim Advocate (VA) or her
Commander and First Sergeant.® Despite informing SPC Guillén “of what
she could do,"® she told the Jjjiili] she did not want to self-report™ Neither jjiijtook
further action to confront [l I cr inform the chain of command. ®

), also near the e wanted o have

® A1 1-2.—: pg 4, "There was a time that Specialist Guillen said that
aid something and it was in Spanish about it was like referring to a threesome or something like

that.”; A-11-7 m A-133-3, : pg 15, "[5PC] Guillen came o me once aboul—she
sald 1ha| she thoug 53 smnelrm; vulgar to her.. She said it was something about a
threesome.”; A-133-5, "She said fold her something in Spanish and she
could mot reall;.r trarslate it, but was rigght, b of a threesome”,

2 A-11-2. I 3 25. "She just walked upstairs to the orderly room to print out a copy of a
paper, and she just went up there for less than a minute, and came back down, and that's when she said
it happened.”, A-133-3. I P9 15 "Guillen said it happened in the orderly room, while she was
walking out.”.

& A-102-1, :pg 7, "Mo. We was all ke, we was Just saying, and we are talking, and we were
like "Are you all right’?" And then she was like, no... Jjjtold her in Spanish upstairs thatjwanted to

have a threesome with her®; Former
Fsulemanm comoborates that RN vas ! |g room % !!E &M# ﬁ lg
TEES0T]

e incident.
S 1021 * part.’ anied to have a thressome.”; A-11-2, tpag 4, it was like
referring to a threesome”; A-133-3, . Pg 13, "She said it was something about a threesome.”,
= A-11-6, cpa 1, o of what she can do, but she said she did not want o report

it.” And "So, | told her that she uangntalktuaﬁﬁﬂc a different SARC hecauw

mluﬂdhmmemngn:amumﬂemmm w
Pg at do you want to do? Do you want to make a report? | said,” Dnruuwamtﬂma

report, then we can do that." | sald, "l could take you up there, but | cant go up there without you.”.

% A-11-8, . P@ 1, "linformed her of what she can [could] do.”; A-133-3 5. pg-
15, "Well, what nymwammdn‘?Duwuwantmmahear&pm?"lsald,'ﬂnymwmttnm & 3
report, then we can do that.” | said, "l could take you up there, but | cant go up there without you.”,

AT, . A1 333, : pg 15, "Nah, I'm good. I'm not going to say nothing.”.
& A-1 I-EM: pg ¥, when as if he felt like he needed o report the ncident (o the cham of
command said, "no” A-133-3, I - P2 15. "So. | couldnt go up to the first sergeant and be like

20
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SPC Guillen also told * at the time, and [}
I =bout the solicitation by

A second incident occurred when [ cncountered SPC Guillén conducting
personal hygiene during the Regimental Field Training Exercise (R/IFTX) in September
2019. During a prescribed, nightly perimeter check of his platoon's sector of the E/FST
patrol base, | heard a noise in the wood line and called out. According to
B =-°C Guillen identified herself. SPC Guillen was in the wood line
performing personal hygiene. I continued with the perimeter check. After
completing the check, | returmed through the same area in which Jjjjj first
encountered SPC Guillen without deviating to avoid her. SPC Guillen was again
engaged in parsonal hygian&,m_ recalled, "5o, | continued doing my
missin::ls, and then | turned back around. | ended up at the same spot, and she was still
there.""

The next morning, SPC Guillén told [N 2tout the encounter.™
I stated SPC Guillén recalled the glow of a chemlight move across her and stop™
during perimeter check as she was conducting personal hygiene. ™
According to ISPC Guillén was “uncomfortable™" after the encounter, and
she “left that area and returned a few minutes later"™ to resume personal hygiene. SPC
Guillen believed tried to "watch her wash up™™ and she was "very adamant
about not wanting to get in trouble by telling what happened. She was afraid that she'd

that because it's hearsay. | mean, it would be my word against . And it's hearsay,
especially if Specialist Guillen didn't come forward, and if | go forwa er saying that she doesn’t
want 1o go foreard, then they are just sitting there saying the big F-U and the Soldier probably won't feel
comfortable coming to me ever again.”.

& A-102-1, N P2 B. “she atso told in the dorm®, A-133-1, I ©o 9. “him

saying that wanited to have a threesome with her”,
MA-67-3, . PO 1
f A.100-1, 49, "All | heard was that somebody was there, and | can see, like, the

shadow. was, like, “Who's there?™ She was, like, "Guillén.” So, ke, ckay. 5o, | continued doing my
missions, and then | turmed back around. | ended up at the same spot, and she was sfill there. And | was,
like, “Whio's there?™ "3till me.” | was, like, “Guillén, what are yvou doingy™ “Well, P'm doing hygiena.”.
pB7-1, :pg 8, "When aaked if SPC Guillen told personally, jjsaid, “Like right
after it happ ; the next moming.”; A-67-3, I ring thi Regimental FTX, PFC
Guillen told me the following moming of an indl:ﬁent that happen[ed] the night prior, The incident was that
M tried to watch her wash up in the woods during the Regimental FTX..

1 pg 9, "When she called out, she said that the person didn't move,” And confirmed
the d'mrn till.
"A-67-3, I r5 1."She also stated that when she first [went] into the woods she seen a
d'mrnllght mMove 3cross her and stop.”.
"A-E7-2. I o -
EA-67-3, pg 1.
TTha-87-1, —: Pg 8, "She told me that | was trying to like watch her wash up”; A-ET—E,-
- o
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getin trouble — not NN "™ According to NN /=5
stalking SPC Guillén in the field.™

SPC Guillén also told another close peer I cLout the

encounter. According to . ‘:he didn't have any clothes on® and i}
I =hined a light on her or something."® SPC Guillén did not believe the
encounters were accidental #1181

SPC Guillén also told [l I about the R/IFTX personal hygiene encounter
with [

In addition to SPC Guillén specifically telling the above-named Soldiers about the
personal hygiene incident, many Soldiers in the unit knew of the incident &3

recounted, “I'm pretty sure it got out - was talking about it. |

remember that it was in the field. | heard | 2ctually talking about it to
higher-ups.™ Two Soldiers and two NCOs confirmed SPC Guillén was upset /

disturbed by these incidents.%

The RIFTX concluded approximately 15 September 2019,5

A few days after the R/F TX, I <t least one incident of sexual
harassment by and SPC Guillén's unwillingness to report - decided to act
on her behalf. Following counsel on reporting options from then =

RS,
<< [N oPen-coor policy." S went (o RSN Office,

”ﬁ.—ﬂ?—ﬂ-.*: pg 1.[SPC] Guillen was very adamant about not wanting to get in tfrouble by telling
what happened.”.

™ A-BE-D © PG ?,Fwaa going around saying Jfwas stalking me,".

% A.55.2, » pg. T, 1 guess she - something with water. She said Was
walking throug and | guess shined a light on her or something, and wa on her, Yeah - |

guess she didnt have any clothes on. She had an issue with that.”,

'!'A-ﬁs-i,F: pg 7, “she didn't think it was accidental”; A-67-1 I 03 2. when asked
if SPC Guillen felt the encounter was accidental, replied, "Mah.”,

= A-100-1, - pg 48 "And then, she bmu;r r|!| up to her I that she felt a

litthe bit--she felt weird.”.

B4-100-1 m‘m 48, When asked about the incident stated, “And then the Commander brought

ither up tomy a . When asked how the commander knew said, “some remors”,

™ A.55-2 m: pg 21, “I'm pretty sure it got out |l Mt it. | remember that it
was in the field, | heard ctually talking about it to higher-ups.”.

*4-102-1, N £9 20, "but she was, like, upset”, A-1 1-2.*: A-133-1. I -
So-2, . AG7-3 - P9 1. "She made it very clear that she didn’t wanna be alone
with bl

#B-7-1, 3CR Training Calander .
=7 F o |

M_ w pg 19, “Wel, | asl{edm at the time. | was like, "Is it” — like, "How do
wergoabout this and “And then [ was like, vved, first, you got 10,” like | said, "talk to the
commander.”,
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and encountered [jijdeparting the office late in the day.%° [SEEEE to!d

of DISNEEE harassment by trying to “peek at or startle” SPC Guillen during the
R/FTX.Y DISNDEN reca!'s BDIEEREIEE <Ves got big” and ] told [DIENEEN that
SPC Guillén must report the incident herself.°' [SISEEIE stated no Soldier ever
reported on behalf SPC Guillén regarding allegations of sexual assault, sexual
harassment, or maltreatment.®?

Though E/FST Soldiers must be accompanied by an NCO when visiting the orderly

room,* DSBS did not accompany [BISEEEIE When @] sought to use the open-
door policy.* [DISNDEIEE rcca''s DIENEEI 2sked for assistance to obtain the name
of the RES's SHARP representative to make a complaint on behalf of another Soldier.

, in turn, contacted to obtain the proper contact
information.% At the time, neither NCO had knowledge of the origin of the request, only

that [ESEEEE inauired.* DSBS request for SHARP information was more
consequential in [SISHDEIEE Mmemory, as [[BIEHEEE had direct knowledge of SPC

Guillén’s animosity towards |l ™ I nquired about the use of the
open-door policy on multiple occasions after getting in trouble. [EISNDEIEE asse'ts it

is possible that one of inquiries may have been made with the intent to
address ] concerns about SPC Guillén.®® Although characterized as a Soldier who

struggled with authority, "\l is described by
b

89 A-67-1, IS o 19, I caught [l you know, coming out of the office. I'm pretty sure, if gjjwas
sitting down talking to somebody, | would wait; but [fij was coming out, so | just was like, "Hey, [ijijexcuse
me. Do you got time to talk for a second"; A-67-5, [[SjI{SEiEI: “VVhen | told [E)Isjl Wwas outside of g
office because [fi§ was leaving,,,| don’t remember any specific person being upstairs during that time.".
OA-67-4, .
1 A-67-1 [[SYSIEEY : 9 19. “And then | proceeded to tell [jgj]. And [f§§ was like, “Well’—jji§—his eyes
got bug when | toldsjill And ‘[Eiwas like, "Whoa." But [jgljwas like, "At that point in time how," like, "it
needs to be reported, she would have to come and like report it herself to," like, you know, "get the proper
documentation,".
92 A-5-2, IENISIIIRNEA] - o 11, stated “no” when asked if Soldier ever reported on behalf of Specialist
Guillen regarding allegations of sexual assault, sexual harassment, or maltreatment.
9 A-131-2 [ SISEANS - P9 57, “Soldiers weren't allowed inthe orderly room without an NCO.”; A-92-
1, [SSNEN: r9 11, “E-4 and below, turn around without an NCO.".
% A-67-1, IS P9 19, “She was like, "I'll go up there if you want," but | think she had something to
do at that time.”; A-67-3, [SiSNEE: ro 4. | used the open door policy to tell our previous

name wa
% A-131-2, IS 9 31 _ told me one time, and asked me about who was the
SHARP rep for the squadron.” “SO | went to [SjSEEINEN -
9BA-131-2, [[DEEEAN : 9 31, ‘I learned that afterwards.”; A- 46 1, IS p9 10, ‘l want to say a
little but after | left, or a little bit after | got moved, | want to say
TA-131-2, .
% A-131-2, [SNISIENERNSN ro 35. When asked if this [request] was maybe more significant in [§] mind
because it had to do with someoneffj] cared about, [[SJ{SINISIERN rerlied, “Right”.

9A-131-2, [SNEEIEN o 33. [EM didn't really get along with a lot of NCO’s.”.
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and others as a Soldier that would not make a false report about SPC Guillén.'%

I characterized [fgrelationship with SPC Guillén as being like a sister.’®"  (6).
(b)

October 2019

O 3
1 |
o ) ERRR )
solicitation of SPC Guillén for a threesome and other [N

stated the meeting occurred on a Friday evening while [[Sl
IDIEN \vas performing staff duty. BB \vas wearing civilian clothes'® when

DIENEN >sked DIENE vas the EISNEE to which [@i] answered “yes.”'* [l
then went into [fgjjoffice, and SSIEEEN recounted what

(b)6). d)NEC) |
SPC Guillén had told [jgjij ‘about the [SISNDEISE incident. How ] saidjg wanted
to have a threesome.”'% During this meeting with [ SEDS I

9
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In a closed-door session following the | DGR
]
I <t [
solicitation of SPC Guillén for a threesome to SIS NEISIEEEEE
____W~eo0© ]
e
I = I, - cknowledges,
after the closed-door session ended, [[SISEEN shared that[iij] had reported Sl
sexual harassment of SPC Guillen and SIS
the E/FST "5 DISNEEIE denied any knowledge of incidents or

allegations of sexual harassment in fjjtroop associated with SPC Guillén.®

to

BIGNEEN 'carned of the R/FTX personal hygiene encounter from rumors, and
advised 117:0n 15 October [EISNENIN directed SPC Guillén and Sl
BIEE to fall out of Physical Training formation to address the R/FTX personal hygiene
encounter with SPC Guillén in front of her [ESBEIENE- "¢ In a text to
that same day, SPC Guillen recounted how [[SiSIEIEEN directed her to fall out of

"10A-4-6, IRSIINEANE - PO 3. ‘1 just explained to them, hey, let them read, hey, this is what your Soldier

is saying about one of your (SIS ="d the (SIS said, hey, I'll look into it and
was pretty much like, I'll just speak with [gjilabout

"A-24-7, SIS : P9 4. When asked if anyone else [aside from the IG complaint] ever came to you

after that to say (SRS (hcm. said “No.".
112B-5-7,

(0)(6), )(7)C) — _ _______J

3 A-102-1, IDIENEN: po 30, "I had told them about--basically, what | told the EO. | told them." Early in
[ statement [fi recounted what [gjjtold EO which included telling [[Sj[{SNISIERNSY 2bout the [BEEN
incident and how [fi§ wanted to have a threesome.
T14A-11-3, (YIS - O ©. “sat out at the conference table that's in the orderly room. | think it was
about an hour long.”.
115A-11-3, [N - o © when asked if [S}ISHNIISYN said anything to [l when [li] came out said, “I
want to say that[fi did say something about the sexual harassment...but | can't remember.” When

was asked to put a percentage on it[ff] said, “60-70%" and when asked if [[§jjiili§ most likely told

something about this, SIS said. “Yes.".
T15A-5-2, [EyEHIEA o 11
"7A-100-1, (SR : PO 47, "and then, the [[EEEEANC N brought her [PFC Guillén] up to
my attention", when asked if [[Sj{SHNSEE 2dvised (SIS to address the issue with PFC Guillén,
answered, "Correct.".

T18A-1 1-2, [SENEER: o 8. said, il came-{SMEENE came to me and said, "Can | have a word
with you?" And called PFC Guillen over as well, and told me that[fg] had accidentally walked where she
was at while she was showering or cleaning up, and [fi§ wanted to apologize to me and to her face-to-
face; A-55-2, [[ENISINIISNEANSE : o 7. ‘This was October 15th...we were kinda talking about it. She said,
"We had PT formation this morning, and (SIS \/2s |ooking for me, and pulled me
and [DIENEEISN to the side. He said, Do you remember the field exercise, when | popped out on
you[?] and was saying “l wasn't - he told me | wasn't in trouble or anything.".
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formation and asked, “Do you remember the field exercise, when | popped out on you?”

said she “wasn’t in trouble or anything.” SPC Guillén replied, “of course I'm
not in trouble - maybe you are.” [SISEEEN asked if she had told anyone about the
incident, to which SPC Guillén said she had.'"®

Many of SPC Guillén’s friends and work associates reported that SPC Guillén had
shared accounts of [SSEEIE] inappropriate behavior and sexual comments. SPC
Guillén told them that made her feel “uncomfortable”'?® and described [}
as “nasty,”'?! an “asshole,”?? “rude,”?3 “disgusting,”'?* and “a creep.”'?* DN
BIEN stated SPC Guillén would “try to avoid 126 Whenever [l
[BIEM would approach as they were talking, SPC Guilléen would “scoot or walk away” or
“try to find something else to do.”'?’ recalled SPC Guillén told [SISEEN
DI vas ‘weird” and she was not comfortable around [l" "%

During the course of the investigation, no evidence was found that SPC Guillén
made a report of any type, to include sexual assault or harassment, to a Chaplain,'?® a
healthcare provider,'3° a SARC, or a VA.

119A-55-2, [ SIISNEANSY - PO 7. “She said, "l was - of course, I'm not m trouble." She said, 'Maybe you
are.'[[@j] asked if | told anyone, | said yeah, XXX and S

120A-133-2, [ SIS o 14; A-67-1 [[REE: o 11; A-67-3, I ro 1.

121A-46-1, (G - o 10.

122A-11-2, [y - o 15-

125A-131-2, [ EIEEAN : PO 49; A-3-1, [BICINIS: P9 12.

24A-133-1, IR P9 O

129A-55-2, [ SRR P9 7-

126A-92-1, (DS - P9 13.

127A-92-1, (SNSRI - P9 13. ‘I know that she tried avoiding [fijl)]” and every time she was talking to us
and [fifjwould ocme by, she would try to scoot away or walk away and try...to find something else to do.”.
128A-102-1, [[SHEINEEEN - P9 16. [l Weird” and pg 7, “she was like uncomfortable.”.
129A-91-1,—: pg 5.

130B-5-3, MFR - SPC Guillen Medical Record Review: An extensive search of SPC Guillén’s medical
records found she was screened for abuse/assault/ harassment at 7 of 16 routine medical encounters..

¥1B-7-14, [ SNENEASE A rrointment Orders.
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In addition to N <O te
IBIEE picked on” SPC Guillén. Of the 58 maintainers authorized'34 in the platoon, [l

(be©). eone - ___ |
I \/ould often call on SPC Guillén before calling on others [l
BIEN testified [DIENEEE picking on” SPC Guillen was indicative of an unwelcome
and intimidating affinity [ghad for her.”** IS NDEISEE stated [DIENENIN \vould call
SPC Guillen directly on her cell phone as a way keep track of her vice contacting [[Sill
136 On one occasion in early October, SPC Guillén texted
that she was still at work at 2000 hours because [SSEENIN “ricked

who could go home.”'3" It was [BISEEE] way of bugging SPC Guillé
because ffj] knew SPC Guillén did not like [fgjj-"*® Finally, according tom
[BIEM \would often speak to SPC Guillén in Spanish and she tol JiSSEE most

things [iij] would say were inappropriate. One time, SPC Guillén told [SIESEEN that
BIEBEEEIN. in Spanish, said inappropriate things during in a unit urinalysis.'3°

November 2019 — January 2020

E/FST and 3CR returned from National Training Center (NTC) Rotation 20-02 in
mid-November 2019. 3CR conducted administrative recovery operations in the days
leading up to Thanksgiving 2019. Upon return from the four-day holiday weekend, 3CR
units focused on individual readiness activities thorough the start of holiday block leave
on 21 December 2019."% SPC Guillén took block leave from 23 December 2019 to 05

134B-1-1| BSB MTOE Narrative E-Date 18APR19: ii 42-44.

136A-55-2, DIENEENS  ro 27, “That's just what | think because - [jijwould call her----Call her, make
sure she's always around and stuff.”.

137A-55-2, IDIENEES - P9 28, ‘One time, she said, "I'm still here. [E)EIEIEANEN \vanted to be an

asshole. [j§j] handpicked who could go home. ....That was 8 o'clock [pm]".

138A-55-2, [ EIISNERNSY - PO 28, “When you know someone doesn't like you, you'd try to bug them on
purpose.”.

39A-67-3, SN P9 1-

140B-7-1, 3CR Training Calander .
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January 2020."" During this period of leave, or perhaps over the January 2020 Martin
Luther King holiday weekend, SPC Guillén confided in IS about being sexually
harassed.'#2

February — 21 April 2020

Between late February and 21 April 2020, HQDA and FORSCOM issued a high
volume of guidance directing Army activities in response to COVID-19. In totality, this
guidance established procedures for determining mission essential personnel and
executing “shelter in place” orders. For further details and relevant excerpts of COVID-
19 related guidance, see paragraph 7.g. of this report.

21 April 2020

On 21 April, both
IS 2ssigned SPC Guillén’s duties in the HHT/RES and
A/RES Arms Rooms for the following day, Wednesday, 22 April.

At the weekly maintenance meeting o/a 21 April, (SIS circcted all
troops with inoperable Close Combat Optics (CCO) improperly tagged for code out, to
correct deficiencies for turn-in by the end of the week.'*3 At (SN direction, PFC
OIS contacted SPC Guillén on the morning of 21 April and
asked her to mark, or "red-tag," four broken HHT/RES CCOs for turn-in.”# PFC

followed up with SEREEEER Via text o/a 0936, notifying him that SPC Guillén
would come to the HHT/RES Arms Room at 1000 the following day, 22 April.'4® SPC
Guillén notified her of her assigned duties in the HHT/RES
Arms Room via text on 21 April 146

On the same day, 21 April, [SISHESIES directed [DIDHRIE Via text to send SPC
Guillén to the A/RES Arms Room on the following day to retrieve the serial number of

an M2 .50-caliber machine gun that had not completed annual services. " jiilj
IR id not inform or coordinate with any other member of SPC Guillén's chain of

41B-1-7, SPC Guillén Counseling Packet.

142A-163-1, Guillén Family 270CT20.

143A-61-1, IDNENEIEE) o 5. “at the Tuesday maintenance meeting we had several CCOs that had not
been properly red tagged for code out [jgjiidirected all of the Troops that had those issues ... that they
need to be done by the end of the week.”.

144A-136-1, BISEEEER ro 1, ‘| texted my [DISNEEISEE - to have one of our armorers
contact [SPC] Guillén to red tag 4 of our broken CCO optics.”.

145A-136-1, [N PO -

11eA-11-1, [SSINERN P9 4. “she told [jlithe day before that she needed to go there.”.

A-109-5, NN ro 1. DISEEIS clarified, via telephonic interview on 4 NOV 20, that the
purpose SPC Guillén’s task in the A/RES arms room was to verify the serial number of a weapon that had
not completed services; A-11-1, (SNSRI rg 4. the duty in the A/RES arms room was to “close a
certain service out” on a “service that was completed the week before.”.
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command, 148 m coordinated with SPC Robinson, the A/RES armorer, 1o open
the A/RES Arms Room at 1000 on 22 April, "

Regarding SPC Guillén's assigned duties on 22 April, I recalled approving
a request from “two different troop commanders® to work on weapons in the arms room,
and described the request as "not abnormal® and "within guidance of approved
activities,"1+0 considered SPC Guillén's assigned duties in both the
HHT/RES and A/RES Arms Rooms as mission essential, in accordance with regiment
and RES guidance. '™ did not consider SPC Guillén's duties in the arms
room as mission essential, he interpreted the guidance as weapon maintenance
requirements conducted by the Ground Support Equipment team in the motor pool. 192

Neither NG nﬂrF were tracking weapons maintenance as mission
essential as of 22 April. ™ I considered the duties [Jjj assigned to SPC

Guillén in the A/RES Arms Room on 22 April as mission essential; however,
not aware of SPC Guillén's duties in the HHT/RES Arms Room. ' Aﬂmrdin%
earlier in April SPC Guillén had been performing duties in the RES foofpnint (o

annual services on weapon systems, which had required her to work 2-3
times a week. '35

ase of SPC Guillén's duties on 22 April,
ﬂvem not informed by either Consequently,

WA 1095, . o . clarified, via telephonic interview on 4 NOV 20, thag did
not lnl'n-rm_ nrw ain Guillén's dutes on 22 APR 20.
5.4] coornd

WiA.11-8, 2 inated with SFC Robinson, the RES Armorer, o have his amms
roam open for her by 1000 hrs ",
A43-1, pg 2.

‘51A-E1-1._ pg 5, “it was authorized in accordance with the maintenance readiness
guidance.”.

1581181, pg 3, “when weapons need parts put on them, we don't go to the ams rooms.
We have a section, a shop where they work on the weapons at the motor pool.” Reference SPC
Guillén’s duties in A/RES arms room, *... | don’t understand why that couldn't wait or—I am not exactly
sure, that is just weird to me honesthy™ and whether it was mission essential to his understanding, "not
exacty, no.”

:5:.&.2#4,“ pg 13, 7l didn't know that weapons were in the priority of equipment they would
be working on., A-i /-3, pg 4, when asked whether he understood weapons maintenance to
be mission essential, *Mao | was ing that at the time.”,

HA-109-1. I Fo 2-3. Regarding SPC Guillén's duties in the HHT arms room, | was not
involved in that request .. .| was not aware of it at the time.”,

EEA-109-1, pg 2, “Earfier that month, she was coming in 2 to 3 times a week. ",

1%4-109-5, Via telephonic interview on 4 NOWV 20, confirmed that g did not
inform SPC & chain of command, other than 5 arms room duties on 22
APR 20, #-11&1.mF9 4, had no mm informed, when asked if he expecied
I o report the ck thraugh the chain of command responded “no” that

runs m, A-T0-1, I - 7. VWhen asked if he knew of SPC Guillen's

assig uties on 2 APR Eﬂ.m;mﬂm, “Megative,”; hﬂ-ﬂH pg 3, claimed
“none” reference imaodhvement in the nob or approval of SPC Guillen's duties on 22 APRE 20, and
did not know who assigned them.
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neither nor
in the RES footprint on 22 April. %7

approved or were aware of SPC Guillén’s duties

22 April 2020

On the morning of 22 April, o/a 0550, SPC Guillén answered first
telephonic “check-in,” establishing her status as present for duty. >R
submitted the first E/FST morning accountability report to [[SSENIES via group text
o/a 0556, confirming SPC Guillén’s status as in the “barracks.””*° (IS
submitted the second Maintenance Platoon accountability report to
group text o/a 0855, identifying SPC Guillén as in the “barracks.”’60 SPC Guillén
answered the door of her room for the 0900 barracks check conducted by the E/FST
EEOIDESEEEEEEEE . Hc confirmed her presence but did not enter the
room.?6” E/FST reported the daily PERSTAT to the RES S1 prior to 0900, with SPC
Guillén annotated as “Present for Duty” based on the 0600 accountability report. 762

via

BISEEIE and SPC Guillen exchanged texts, shortly after the 0900 check, while
she was enroute to the HHT/RES Arms Room. %3

opened the HHT/RES Arms Room in building 9420 o/a 0955."64
SPC Robinson opened the A/RES Arms Room in building 9421 o/a 1001.6%

SPC Guillén arrived at the HHT/RES Arms Room o/a 1003, and began tagging the
broken CCOs."% According to [EENEIEE) she was wearing civilian clothes.®” She
then told [IENEIEE she needed to go to the A/RES Arms Room for a serial number,

57A-24-1, DISEEIE ro 13, “‘Afterwards, | found out. Prior to that, | did not know.”; A-5-1, [DEEEIS
pg 9, ‘I was not tracking that she was working that day.”.

158A-11-1, IDIENEER: o 3. “At 0600 I called her myself and talked to her so she was accounted for.”,
Telephonic “check-in” was used to meet COVID-19 guidance. For further details, see paragraph 7.g. of
this report.

199A-70-1, SIS - o 3. “that day, [EJSHNEESNER] he sent me the report ... saying that she
was in the barracks.”; B-2-1, screen shot.

160A-11-1, [EYIEHANISNIEA] - O 3. “At 0900 I talked to her in a messenger” and reported to [[SERISIERN
“through a text message.”; A-70-1, SIS o 3. ‘| got another one from [EyIEHNEIEYER]
around 0850 or 0855ish that she was at the barracks.”; B-2-2, screen shot.

161A-87-1, [DIESNEEI : 9 2. ‘| knocked on her door, and she was there. She opened the door halfway
and | saw her, kind of peeked at the room.”.

162A-86-1, [DIENEEN : 9 4, “did not recall” but submitted 22 APR 20 PERSTAT lists SPC Guillén as
“PDY.”.

163A-11-1, IDIENEE 19 o received o/a 0900 text from [EyEHNENIN that “she was on the way there” to
the HHT arms room.

164B-8-13, 3CR IDS Logs: pg 17.

165B-8-1, Intrusion Detection System (IDS) Log : pg 79.

155A-108-5 [ EENRNISN PO 1.

167A-108-5, [DNENEIES)] ro 2. “she was in civies.”.
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and that she would return.?68 She departed the HHT/RES Arms Room o/a 1015, leaving
behind her debit card, Common Access Card (CAC),'%® and keys. 70

Guillén texted the serial number of the M2 .50-caliber machine gun to -
io/a 1023; this was the last known contact with her.?”?

A screen shot of the text shows 1123 as the time of this last communication between
DIEEEEIE 2nd SPC Guillén, as does 30 July statement.’”2 In
subsequent statements, on 11 August and 18 September, [[SISENI cstimated the
time of the text message as o/a 1020-1030.'"3 The CID investigation determined that a

text message was sent from SPC Guillén’s cell phone to SIS o/a 1023 on 22
April, confirming the weapon serial number.'74

SPC Robinson closed A/RES Arms Room o/a 1113.175

texted SPC Guillén o/a 1105 and again o/a 1206, notifying her that he
had to close the arms room, and did not receive a response.’”6 Unable to make contact
with SPC Guillén, [DISNEBEIE sccured her belongings in his office desk drawer.?””
BIEEEEIE closed HHT/RES Arms Room o/a 1216."¢ iSRS
EIEEERIEN) \walked to the A/RES Arms Room o/a 1231 to look for SPC Guillen, but
the arms room was closed.’”? also texted [DISNEEIEN. SPC Guillén’s
IEISHEEN . who confirmed that she had not seen SPC Guillén since she left the room
earlier that morning.'s° [ EENIEE returned to his barracks room o/a 1430.787

168A-108-5, IDIEMEEN: P9 1. “she said she would be back.”.

16%.e., her military identification card.

170A-108-5, (S SIS : PO -

7TA-11-1, (DS B-2-5. MFR - subject: Last text message from SPC Guillén.

172A-1 1-5, DS ro 1. "My last communication was a text message around 1120 on the 22nd."; B-
2-4, screen shot.

73A-11-1, [ENIEANIENEE] - 9 5. ‘It was around 1030, | believe.” [SySINEIER 11 AUG 20, ‘my next contact
with her was at 1023 hrs. when she texted me the serial number ...” and, when asked if he heard from
her again that day, responded “no sir.”.

174B-2-5, MFR - subject: Last text message from SPC Guillén.

175B-8-1, Intrusion Detection System (IDS) Log : pg 79.

76A-108-5, ([ SDEEN PO 2. text o/a 1206 “You want to finish tomorrow? Need to close the arms
room.”.

77A-108-5, [} EIIEEAN - PO 2 ‘| took her CAC, keys, and debit card to my office and put them in my
desk drawer. | then locked my office door.”.

178B-8-13, 3CR IDS Logs: pg 18.

179A-108-5, IDIENEEIN: P9 2. “This was at about 1231 ... the Ares arms room was closed when we
arrived.”.

180A-108-5, (DS : o 2. responded “No. Why? She was here this

(b)6), (D)) ]
morning, but she left” and reference her personal items locked in SN crawe', [DIENSEIN
stated “I'll let her know.”.

1$1A-108-5, AN PO 2.
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I IR . sioned in with [N in
Building 9421 o/a 1550 and began the troop barracks check at 1600."8? He did not
receive an in-brief or verbal instructions, and based on the written tasking memorandum
from [DISHDINE - DISEEIEEE understood the purpose of the check as an inspection
of room cleanliness, not personnel accountability, which was the responsibility of “first
line supervisors.”'8% He did not see SPC Guillén in her barracks room, only jilili
BRI Wwho was present. Upon completion of the barracks check, o/a 1705, il

B submitted a “thumbs up” emaoji via text to the | IEISEEIEIEEE hich
included IEGEG—GEIONDIER > EISNSIE . having received no
discrepancies from the barracks check, had already submitted ISR final daily

accountability report via text to [ SIS reprorting SPC Guillén as in the
“barracks.”’8 He did not confirm SPC Guillén’s presence in the barracks via visual,
audio, or text means prior to submitting the report.'® Based on the “thumbs up” from
and the | IDISEEIEIEN 2ccountability reports, (SIS submitted
the platoon’s final daily report to (SIS assuming SPC Guillen was accounted for
in the barracks. 8’

SPC Guillén did not return to her barracks room that evening, so

texted [IENEIE) o/a 2003 asking if he had been able to make contact
with her.788 responded to the text o/a 2040, then left his room and headed
to his office; on the way he met [[SISNDIEIEE 2] BISEEIEE ho were also looking
for SPC Guillén. They followed him to his office and he gave them her belongings,
which she had left in the HHT/RES Arms Room. s’ [RISEEIEE 2!so called BISNDIIS
to notify him that SPC Guillén had left multiple personal items in the HHT/RES Arms

182A-75-1 NSNS : 1o 3. ‘| arrived at the barracks to the staff duty, it was around 1550,”; B-2-6, Bldg
9421 CQ Log, 220700-230700APR: lists 1550 asyiS ISR sion-in for duty.

183A-75-1, ISNEIEE: o 3. ‘My understanding was that we just reported that the barracks were kept,
not that we were sending an accountability report ... | wasn’t taking accountability of personnel because |
was just checking their rooms for cleanliness.”; A-75-2, [SESEEDIEE: o 1. @il understood "personnel
accountability was done by first line supervisors over the phone around 0600, 1600, and a third time
during the middle of the day.”; B-2-31, Tomahawk Troop Barracks Check Roster 1-30 APR: pg 2, directs
duty NCO to “check every room for the soldiers in Tomahawk Troop. You will check for the cleanliness of
the common areas.”.

18A-70-1, IIDISEEIEEN - Po 5. received a “thumb’s up ... on a group text” that included “all the
squad leaders,”; A-75-1, (IS - ~o 4 IDISNEIEE)] \vas present ... opened the door ... | believe
she said SPC Guillén wasn’t there.”.

185B-2-7, screen shot.

186A-11-1, IISEEIEE : P9 3. regarding the 221600APR squad accountability report, [ISEEIENE stated
“the personnel performing the room inspections, if they don’t count them out of their room then we know
not to look for them” and when about SPC Guillen’s status in the 1600 report to (SRS stated “yes,
when | didn’t get a word from the barracks check NCO then we were all good ... she was accounted for.”.
187A-70-1, IDISEEIEIEEE: ro 5. regarding the platoon accountability report to [EEEIEEE. “used
the report from [SSNEIEE - | remember specifically it was at 1600, [jijsent the report saying that
SPC Guillen was accounted for.”; [ SEIEE] thumbs up” emoji was submitted too late, o/a 1705, to
meet [[DISNEIEE] susrense for a platoon report to the

188A-108-5, [DIENEIEE: ro 2. ‘| got a text from .. IDIENEDIES] 2t 2003 asking if I had seen her.”.
189A-108-5, INENEIRENS - ro 2. discussion of actions following text with [ EENEINSY o/a 2040.
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Room earlier that day, and that no one had seen her in hours. 0 estimated
the time of the call as o/a 2130; he then drove to the RES area from his on-post
residence. " NN (hcn notified the EIRNMINE
ECICREER. 2" the in
person at the staff duty desk, that SPC Guillén was missing o/a 2200. 92
confirmed three Soldiers notified her, but could not remember their names. %3

The first recorded engagement of the command with the Guillén family wa
IR . C-<c ENENEIEE NENEE e calls calling
R 2t approximately 2000 on 22 April."** [SESEIEIE) remembers speaking to
IBIE] 2t approximately 2200 on 22 April." [SISNEDIEEEE had given DIEEE
IO DIONEIs) rhone number, who in turn gave it to
IBIE] °° JEI@gdecided to call the command on the evening of SPC Guillén’s
disappearance because , had not heard
from (G throughout the day.™’

R c-!od ENENENGE o/2 2208, ENNENS) noificd ENSNENNE . and

called [RISNRIER shortly thereafter.” [DESNEIEIEE departed his residence
enroute to the RES footprint o/a 2215.20

1
conference calls o/a 2221 to o/a 2231, and determined that SPC Guillén had not been
properly accounted for by her [SSIEEIE at the afternoon accountability check or the

190A-11-1, NN P9 5.

YA-11-1, IS ro 5. ‘it was like 2130 or 2145 or something.”.

192A-108-5, IDIENEIE) ro 2. ‘we then went to the Staff Duty NCO to report SPC Guillén missing. This
was around 2200. After that, [BISHEEDIEISI started searching the area for SPC Guillen.”; A-166-
1, DI V=S 2" DR on 22 April 2020; A-55-1, IGEEIEISE ro 4. “And then
after that, | went upstairs to staff duty and | told her — | told the people on staff duty that Guillén was
missing ... that time it was already 8 o’clock ... il was there.”; A-63-1, RISESIEE o 1. RIS
memory of o/a 2200 is consistent with (S EEIEEEEE recollection, not [SNSNEIIISEE cstimation of the
time of staff duty notification as o/a 2000.

193A-63-1,

194A-163-1, Guillén Family 270CT20: pg 3, IEESNEEN nteriected that [She] called DN
at around *pm [on 22 Apr], after hearing nothing from iSJEEN 2!l day.".

195A-11-1, IS EDIS I - |t was around close to 2200. A little bit after
2200.".

19%6A-163-1, Guillén Family 270CT20: pg 3 "...she stated that she SIS SRS ~hone from
..got the number from

WTA-11-1, ISR o 8. “he first phone call she was askmg if I had heard from her [SjiS SRS

cause she hasn’t and her boyfnend hasn’t heard from her.”.

198A-24-1, IS ro 11, ‘It was after 2200. 2210. JEMER as calling because she had some

Soldiers ... looking for [SPC] Guillén.”; A-63-1, SIS B-2-°. DISNEIEE rhone records: show 2208

as time of the call.

199A-24-1, DSBS ro 14, after calling (NSNS | went and notified ill-"; A-63-1, RIDEDIER B-

2-9, DIGHBIEE rhone records: do not identify a call to IS -

200A-132-1, NSRS 1o 5. “..- at 2215 came in.”.
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1600 barracks check ® According to phone records provided by [ he called

ofa 2217, and again ofa 2313, to notify him that SPC Guilléen was
unaccounted for 202 B =stimated his notification by [ 25 closer to
2330, but did not remember the exact time. " | through a series of phone
conversations with [l 2nd the E/FST NCOs from ofa 2208 to o/a 2330,
identified the unique circumstances of SPC Guillen's absence: her performance history
and record of service gave no indication of voluntary absence; she had left her car
behind, in the parking lot, and she had left multiple personal items behind, to include her
debit card, CAC, and keys. ™

B otfed I c/2 2300.““ I cstimated that he notified
B = text ofa 0020, but could not remember the exact time, 206

From ofa 2215 until ofa 0230, |
T conducted a hasty search of the RES footprint for SPC
Guillen, to include RES parking lots, barracks, motor pool, and a walk-thru of both HHT
and A/RES arms room hallways (the arms rooms remained closed during this

search) " S also went to SPC Guillén's |

mMp.11-1 pg 5, m called me ... a little bit after 2200."; A-24-1,
L — i

Pg ? "I get a call from around 2200 or 2230 or 2220,7, A-T5-
Mahr that night, it .. may have 2200 or 2300, | received a phone call frcrn
Hllwﬂﬂrﬂﬂ and | mliwewﬂnamm&ﬁ}fﬂ o h R

. 20 4. "Later that night, it .. may have or . | received a phone call
from ) FEENS———— ! 25 i and | beiieye EG_— 1 3 hree
way call.”, B-2- ,qpmrumtm: show conference calls from ofa 1toofa 1.
P4

MWA.24-1, after NCO conference call, contacted : B-2-2.
phone records: contain two calls to [N /2 2217 and ofa 2313,

a5, pgﬂﬁcaledmealab&mﬂiiﬂ'

TMA-24-1 * scussion of his thought process after being informed of SPC Guillén's
absence on 22 AFR 20; A-5-1, * pg 14, “This was special ... she left all her stuff and plus |
took the advice from .. m whio said ... rhis. doesn’t sound gnud. I've never seen an AWOL like
that before, let's report this fo higher up.”.

W f-132-1, pg 6, °l called around 2330 after | called the MPs. | never woken

* in the night,” but later, when asked if the time of the call was 2300 "Yes. Just tol

what was going on, and what | was doing.”; A-43-1, NN P2 3. T c2lled me at 1t{||:|
[pm] at night on the 22d."

zx,a.-ﬁql.? pg 12, "l would say probably 0020 or somewhere around there, sir. | would have to
look at my phone agan. | sent him a text when | told J that.".

W AA1-1, pa 5, 1 got to the baracks around 2215 or 2220 and linked wp with m
and pg &, rough the arms rooms but we did not go in, | don' t know if they went in |
got there but when | got there we walked down at the areas but didn't go in."; A-132-3, I ra ©.
identified “about 0230° as the time the search ended for the night; A-55-1, IEG—— g 5,

“basically we checked around the maotorpoal. IW
S0 we all searched the matorpool. By that time, it was y 8 or going on 10 o'dock.”; A-B3- I‘h
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BIEEEIR -°° This search was executed in 2-man teams [SISEDINS N

with the exception of [ | accompanied
searches.?®® The DA Form 1594: Staff Duty Journal or Duty Officer's Log for 0700 on 22
April to 0700 on 23 April does not record notification or search activities conducted by

DENDEEE 2" the other Soldiers.2'
23 April 2020

drove
from the Guillén family's home in Houston, Texas, and arrived at Fort Hood o/a 0300.
When QI arrived, [Jili§ contacted [DISHEIES . \who asked i to meet him at the Fort
Hood Visitor's Center at 0800 so he could escort them onto Fort Hood and to the 3CR
footprint.

ceased initial search activities o/a 0230, and instructed those present
they would resume searching for SPC Guillén at 0630.2'2 Additionally, [SISEEDIEEE
instincts led him to conduct an off-post mobile search in his privately-owned vehicle of a
part of Killeen, Texas, known to have active drug and human trafficking as well as
prostitution. SIS had over $300 in cash, and was prepared to recover SPC
Guillén if he was able to locate her.?'3

O/a 0708, DI c:'led the Military Police (MP) Desk to
inquire if they had SPC Guillén in custody or had found her in custody during nightly jail
check with local Law Enforcement (LE).2™#

208A-132-3, DSBS o 6. also asked RINNRIER to wake [DISNEIEE] 2t 0630 “to see if REIER
got a text back or anything like that before formation.”; A-63-1, IR

209A-11-3, NSNS PO 2. “it was around 2200 or so.” “We split into teams, it was myself and

was by SIS rg 3, “We finished
around 0300 in the morning,”.
210B-2-6, Bldg 9421 CQ Log, 220700-230700APR.
211A-132-1, IDISNEIEE 1o 6, ‘| called DISNEIEE around midnight.”; B-3-1, email: 6Ws - RES - SPC
Guillen (Missing Trooper): pg 2, “On 23 APR at 0600, DIGEEIE notified DIDNDIEIE of the issue.”.
212A-132-1, DSOS ro 6-7, “2230 was my first call and then around 0200 [to MPs]. The search |
conducted was just the footprint like in a room. | didn’t to in the arms room, | didn’t bring in the armorers
... I just walked the footprint ... 8 or 9 [Soldiers], not a lot.”; A-132-3, DISEEIEE) ro 6. “about 0230” as
the time the search ended for the night".
213A-132-3, IDISNEIES 1o 5
214 A-135-1, IDEENENREES o 1. “At 0708 on 23 April, [ISEENEES - called the MP Desk to ask if we had
PFC Guillén in custody ... he said that she had last been seen by SIS <t 1330 on the
22nd ... and that she may be missing.”; A-32-1, SIS ro 1. “Around 0700 when | got a call from
BRI of 3CR who stated that they possibly had a Soldier missing ...l asked when the last time she
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, claimed to have seen SPC Guillén
while smoking outside building 9420 with two of his Soldiers, (IS
I He reported to [RIRERIR and that she had exited building 9420
looking "upset," and walked toward building 9421 o/a 1330 on 22 April.2?% This time —
1330 — would also be reported as the last known sighting of SPC Guillén in the first
Missing Trooper report the RES XO submitted to the [l ater that day.2'® According to
EIGEEIEE . he informed [DISEDIE =nd DISERIEE on 23 April, but did not

remember the exact time.2"” did not know SPC Guillén, and based his

report on [DISEEIEESN recognition of SPC Guillén.?’é RIS
R illingly submitted to CID review of their phone records; it was foundjijiiili

B had attended a promotion ceremony, and [SEEIEE \vas in the motor
pool, o/a 1300 on 22 April. Both Soldiers later revised the estimated time of seeing SPC

Guillén to earlier in the day, o/a 1000-1100 on 22 April 219

Military Police Investigators (MP1), contacted by I declined to ping SPC
Guillén’s cell phone since it was determined that she wasn't homicidal, suicidal, or pose

any threat. (SIS structed IR that once 24-hours had passed,

MPI would be able to look into this matter deeper.?20

” 7

was seen, and he said around 1300 the day before, and that she was seen by .
OGO do not remember the time that they informed [EEIIIE of their sighting
on SPC Guillén, only that their notification occurred sometime on 23 APR 20.; A-40-2, [BISHEIEIEE o
2, do not remember the time that they informed [SISEIEIE of their sighting on SPC Guillén, only that
their notification occurred sometime on 23 APR 20.; A-89-1, RIS rJ 3, “I received a call from
EIGEOISE - 2round 0730 on the 23rd ... at that point | made an attempt to contact DES and
then MPI after getting information.”; A-9-1, [BESHEIEISNE ro 4
215A-40-2, [DIEEEIEIEE ro 3. reference SPC Guillén’s demeanor, “No, she wasn't crying. Just her facial
expression looked like upset, | want to say grumpy.”; A-9-1, [BESEIEISE ro 3. “She walked past us. |
didn’t think nothing of it. And then, when she came up missing, that's when my Soldier [E}EHRISENISH
was like, “Hey, [BISNEIEIEN . that was her that walked past that day.”.
216B-3-1, email: 6Ws - RES - SPC Guillén (Missing Trooper).
27A-40-2, IDISNEIEISNE o 2. “We told [RISEREEE so he was like go tell jjjilij- So we went to go find
il and we told him as well. And then like two hours later is when we went to go talk to the IR
and we told him.”.
218A-40-2, [DIENEIEIEE ro 3. ‘| recognized her but we didn't talk about her”; A-9-1, [BESEEIEIEE ro
3, “I've never had any personal interaction with her ... | didn’t even know she existed until she came up
missing that day.”.
219A-40-2, [DIGEEIEIEE ro 3. ‘at the time when we thought we saw her it felt like in the afternoon, we
all agreed that it was 1300. And then when we went to get interviewed by CID, the agent was like, “Can
you make sure it was that time?” So then we went over some of my texts, so it turns out | was at the
motor pool at 1300 ... we cross referenced some texts ... that's how we came up with that time [1100-
1130]."; A-9-1, DISNEIEIEE ro 4. after CID review of his phone information, said “It was probably
11:00.".

220A-32-1, [N Po 1; A-89-1, IRNENER] Py 4.
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notified [[SIENEIES). via phone call, o/a 0730.227
directed 100% personnel accountability and 100% sensitive items inventory of all arms
rooms in 3CR.???

Late in the morning, [DISEDINE 2nd DIDEDINEE 2sked DISERIEE for permission

to communicate with SPC Guillén’s parents. According to assessed it
was appropriate for the E/FST Command Team to speak to the family since SPC
Guillén’s status at the time was AWOL and the command team spoke Spanish.?23

At approximately 0800, (IS arrived at the Fort Hood Visitor's Center and

escorted [DIDIEEGEG— (0 the RES area. [l
B drove his POV with [SIEI in the front passenger seat, and [[SE in the

backseat. They arrived at the RES footprint to meet with SIS at approximately
0805.22* Their meeting lasted for approximately one hour, and then they were escorted
to SPC Guillén’s barrack’s room.

Ofa 0800, ENENENKASIN . 9=thered ISR
to

“check for possible issues and synchronize specialty areas in the search.”??°

21 A-43-1, BISEEIE ro 3. | think it was after PT hours, so 0730, give or take.”; A-88-1,

pg 7, “It was the 23rd. She went missing on the 22nd, so the 23rd, it was right after PT time, so | just got
done with PT. It was like 7:30 in the morning. It was ISR "; B-3-1, email: 6Ws - RES - SPC Guillén
(Missing Trooper): The 0730 notification time is also included in [SISNESIEIEE cmail.

222A-132-1, IDNSNEIEE) o 6. “Yes, around 0630 we were directed to do a 100 percent accountability of
weapons and personnel.”; A-88-1, (DSBS ro 7. ‘| directed a 100 percent accountability of all
people, but it was 100 percent accountability of all arms rooms as well. All Troops. Every single arms
room.” Since (DSBS as not informed until o/a 0730, and [DISNEIEE oathered the Regimental
staff o/a 0800, it is not likely that [ EEIEE) directed 100 percent arms room and personnel
accountability at 0630.

223A-43-1 DISHEIES 1o 10, “Yes (He directed (SNSRI to call the Guillén family 23 Apr). Troop
chain of command. It's the standard, if someone goes AWOL you reach out to the family. On the DD93, it
as IS Ve knew we had been talking to the [l | met with [ji|§ on the 23rd, outside of our
headquarters. But | still felt it was important to reach out to [ The other reason for that, we
knew that [SNEI didn't speak English well and by luck [SISEDIISIEEEEE 2 < both
native Spanish speakers, so | would have had to use them anyway to translate.”.

224A-11-3, NGNS P9 3-4.

225A-127-1, ISEEIEE ro 3. "Whenever we had a missing Soldier, or someone presumed to be in
danger, we gather the regimental staff. So this includes the chaplain, behavioral health, the regimental
surgeon, regimental legal, the regimental S-1, and the PMO. We would pull past legal status, past police
records, behavioral health records, medical records, scour the news, and pull the iPERMS data, so that
we can bring it together, see if there's any at-risk factors for the Soldier that would lead us to brief the
regimental commander to make a decision on what's the best way forward to find or help the trooper."; A-
89-1, RIBNEIR g 8, recalled that "about 0907 [IEEIEE started the chat on the 23rd of April " it was
one of the things [DIEEIEE would do when we had an incident " we would get in legal, myself, the S1,
Chaplain, EBH or Surgeon, and PAO."; B-3-1, email: 6Ws - RES - SPC Guillen (Missing Trooper):
identifies the time as 0800.
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- eonc |
IO crcned A/RES Arms Room to check for SPC Guillén and /
or missing sensitive items from o/a 0828 to o/a 0832.22° ENEIEE 292in opened the

A/RES Arms Room to allow [[SISHEINISEEEEE (o confirm nothing was

amiss from o/a 0836 to o/a 0837.227

O/a 0903, DI /<< escorted to SPC Guillén’s barrack’s

room by

BB unlocked the barracks room and the party entered. [ S took
possession of SPC Guillén’s driver’s license and debit card from a coin purse in SPC

Guillén’s top dresser drawer.?®

Bl opened A/RES Arms Room from o/a 1041 to o/a 1344 to conduct the 100%
sensitive item inventory directed by (GBS

O/a 1103, the MP Desk submitted a ‘Region 6’ attempt to locate SPC Guillén
through the Texas Crime Information Center (TCIC).23° The Region 6 attempt notified all
law enforcement agencies within its regional boundaries: twelve counties of Northeast
Central Texas.??'

The first recorded time the 3CR command reached out to

[ 06 ]
I N /25 approximately 1300 on 23 April

participated in the call. The call was made

b@.ewne
from (NSNS ce!l phone while they were in his POV. Both (SIS

226A-12-1, BISEEIEE ro 2, "On the 23rd, very early we came in and were told to, um, all the platoon
Sergeants, all the PLs, and all the officers came in to search for the Soldier. So | did not sign out the keys
that morning; however, | do believe | was the one that went with ISR on the 22nd, the 23rd. | think
BRI was the guy, | did not sign the keys out Sir, because | specifically took the keys down there
myself. And | was the S SIS that checked the arms room."; A-74-1, [DIEEIS 1o 4-5. "So
the 4 minutes, that's when | walked in with [ "; B-8-1, Intrusion Detection System (IDS) Log : pg
80.

2TA-74-1, DESNEIES o 5. “The 1 minute, that was the walk through with i EESEEIESE " B-8-1.
Intrusion Detection System (IDS) Log : pg 80.

22°A-11-3, NI P9 4; A-24-2, NN o 3.

229A-34-1, DISEEIESE 1o 2. “So, we were looking for NSNS he said we need to do a 100
percent by serial number in our arms room and that was at 0915”; A-74-1, [DIGEEBIEES ro 5; B-8-1,
Intrusion Detection System (IDS) Log : pg 80.

230A-105-1, DES Rounds: pg 2; A-135-1, DISEEIS ro 2.

231The Texas counties covered by Region 6 are: Collin, Dallas, Ellis, Fannin, Grayson, Hill, Hunt,
Kaufman, Limestone, McClennan, Navarro, and Rockwall; the Texas Commission on Law Enforcement
closely associates Region 8 with Region 6, so the notification eventually, and automatically, was released
to an additional twenty-six counties of Northwest Central Texas: Archer, Bell, Bosque, Brown, Clay,
Comanche, Cooke, Coryell, Denton, Eastland, Erath, Hamilton, Hood, Jack, Johnson, Lampasas, Mills,
Montague, Palo Pinto, Parker, Somervell, Stephens, Tarrant, Wichita, Wise, and Young;
https://www.tcole.texas.gov/content/regional-support-field-service-agents.
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talked mostly to [SEI 2sking him many questions to help in the search
efforts.232 further contacted the Guillén family on 23, 26,
and 27 April. During these engagements, the E/FST Command Team continued to
inquire for information. In addition, coordinated gift baskets to give
the Guillén family with the intent to help.?3® They did not sense anything wrong in their
communication with the family.234

O/a 1305, 3CR completed a search of the unit footprint, including all barracks, motor
pools, and unit areas. 3CR leaders coordinated with the Fort Hood Directorate of
Emergency Services (DES) and MPI for a missing person’s report.?3

EDIOIDINE N dcveloped the initial Serious Incident
Report (SIR) and submitted the 6Ws / SIR “Missing Trooper” via email to SIS
o/a 1324, designating SPC Guillén as a “Missing Trooper” and
identifying the time of SPC Guillén’s disappearance as 1330 on 22 April.236

EISEEINIEE rcquested T-Mobile / Sprint Corporate Office ping SPC Guillén’s
cell phone o/a 1328.2%7

At approximately 1330, MPI reviewed video footage from Access Control Points to
see if they could detect SPC Guillén entering or exiting the installation, either in a
vehicle or walking.238

22A-24-1, IDESNEIIES P9 7. ‘| never spoke with the [[SIfsjll until the afternoon. When | asked i
EISNENEE if it would be appropriate to reach out to the [[S)EIEE" A-5-1. ISEDIEE : 9 19, “...on our
way there the il dialed the [N rhone that was in the DD 93, right. And the ] picked
up the phone and [gi§ didn't want to talk and [jgjij gave the phone to the (SIS staorted
talking to us.”; A-70-1, NGNS PJ 9, ‘| was present when IEEEEIGNEOIISNN.
BB \vere talking to the [g- - It was around 13 to 1400, after we took a break of going from the MP
station... It (phone call) was in [SESEEIIIEN truck.”

Z3A-43-1, IDISNEIEE ro 10, “They wanted to put together a care package and provide assistance, like
military families do. We had gathered up some things, a shopping bag or two with snacks and gift cards
and toys for the smaller kids. While (SIS Was trying to coordinate the meeting, my plan was to
have the sit down and hand over the care package at the same time. After a few days, it became
apparent the family wasn't interested in meeting.”; A-5-1, (DSBS P9 20, “At the squadron level,
EDIGEEIEE) . You know, the military wives and you know, my wife, we made up a little bag with stuff,
you know, to give the family.”; B-4-3, Letter to Congresswoman Garcia: pg 2-3.

Z4A-24-1, DISEEIEE ro 8, ‘I don't know. He tried. We tried one more day, we tried to use CID to
deliver the goods to them because they were talking to them and they turned their back. They said we
don't want it."; A-5-1, [DESEIEE : P9 20, ‘I would have continued talking with the family but | ceased that
because they did not want to do anything.”.

235B-3-71, 3CR Search Operation Timeline.

236B-3-1, email: 6Ws - RES - SPC Guillén (Missing Trooper).

27A-32-1, (NN P9 2.

238A-135-1, NN ro -
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O/a 1330, troop commanders completed [SIEEIEIEN directed 100%
accountability of weapons.?3°

T-Mobile / Sprint returned a cell phone ping with a latitude and a longitude near the
Leon River, in the vicinity of Belton, Texas o/a 1458; the location was an open field next
to a new housing development, 1-mile north of where SPC Guillén’s remains would later
be found. MPI coordinated with the Belton Police Department, who dedicated two
vehicles and four detectives to assist in searching the pinged area. Belton Police
Department, in turn, coordinated for aerial drone assistance from State Troopers and
water craft assistance from the Belton Fire Department. The search of the pinged area
yielded no results.?*°

O/a 1504, DIGNEIEE) forwarded the 6Ws / SIR “Missing Trooper” email to MG
Efflandt, including 241 MG
Efflandt acknowledged receipt o/a 1700.242 called MG Efflandt on the
afternoon of 23 April as well, but neither he nor MG Efflandt remember the exact time of
the call.?43

EISEEINIEE submitted the first digital Serious Incident Report (SIR) from
3CR to the Fort Hood I0C o/a 1850 on 23 April.244 3CR submitted the SIR under
category 4 (lll Corps Information Requirements) item “aa” of the command’s SIR policy,
which indicated it as “any other incident determined by a Commander to be of
immediate concern or possible media concern to the Ill Corps Commander. This
includes incidents not covered above that are a media concern. Decision will be based
on the nature, gravity, potential for adverse publicity and consequences as the result of
the incident and not reportable under the DES blotter report (Missing Trooper).”?% In
addition, item 10 of the SIR (Publicity Anticipated) was marked “Yes.”?*6 The SIR
identified 1300 on Wednesday, 22 April as the last positive contact with SPC Guillén.247

The Fort Hood IOC log lists o/a 2155 on 23 April as the time of receipt for the 3CR
SIR, three hours and fifteen minutes after [RISNEIIE sent it via email.24® According to

. |

241B-3-2, email: 6Ws (Missing Trooper).

242B-3-2, email: 6Ws (Missing Trooper).

23A-37-1, MG Efflandt: pg 4, “I believe it was the next day that |jjjiiili told me about her absence,” when
asked if he received a call from [BESEIEE on the evening of 23 APR 20, he responded “Right.”; A-88-
1, DIGEEIEE®]: ro 7. on 23 APR 20 “1 then called General Efflandt. | can’t remember what time | sent a
report later that day.”.

244B-3-3, email: 3rd CR SIR (Cdr Concern Missing Trooper).

245B-3-19, SIR Number 200293; B-3-53, Encl 1 to Memorandum for 3d Cavalry Regiment Commanders,
Serious Incident Report (SIR) Reporting Procedures: pg 4.

246B-3-4, Draft 3CR SIR .

247B-3-19, SIR Number 200293.

248B-3-5, FHTX 10C Log.
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RIS it is likely the IOC took the SIR for action o/a 2155, and a delay of this
nature was not out of the ordinary.?*® O/a 2216, via email, the |OC sent the draft SIR to

the NS >

According to [N
neither the Task Force Phantom nor installation staff altered operations or increased
capacity to enable search operations following receipt of the 3CR SIR.25! According to

, CID coordinated outside law enforcement support and there was no need
to activate the EOC at that point.2%2 According to [ISEIEE . there was no centralized
Task Force Phantom planning team or dedicated planning cell to coordinate staff
activity in support of 3CR search operations until he established an engagement-
focused Crisis Action Team (CAT) o/a 24 June, 63 days after SPC Guillén's
disappearance.? [ISEEIEE 2!so did not recall establishment of a Crisis Action Team
within Task Force Phantom to coordinate staff response or search activities for SPC
Guillén, assessing “what 3CR was doing at the time seemed to be an appropriate
response, and we were again resourcing and providing support where we needed to.”25%4
BISEEIE characterized the search as a “3CR-led active search,” but the overall effort
was “two-pronged” with Fort Hood CID leading the investigation, and the two — 3CR and
CID - coordinating with each other on a daily basis.?>® According to (RIS Task
Force Phantom was “always involved in and briefed on those activities,” particularly
through command channel updates, but there was never a dedicated battle rhythm
event established to coordinate or review support to 3CR search operations.2%

did not recall the establishment of a centralized planning team on Task
Force Phantom staff, a CAT, or any other direct tasks to the coordinating staff upon
receipt of the draft SIR from 3CR on 23 April.2%7
lllat the time, did not remember being made aware of SPC Guillén’s disappearance

249A-100-2, DISNEIEE o 3, “They might have had other reports that were, higher priority than this one at
the time and that's why, the lag time.” When asked, again, if that was normal, [QISEEIE responded
“Yeah.”.

250B-3-6, email: Draft IR (0293) CAT 4 Item aa.

21A-36-1, [IDNEIE - ro 5 TF Phantom was “supporting and resourcing the efforts that 3CR was
conducting” however, in terms of installation emergency operations, he did not “recall an increase in
capacity,” and reference establishment of a staff-led crisis action cell, “| don’t recall specifically” but
“portions of ... staff sections” were “supporting ... the 3CR OPT,” and pg 6, RIS further clarified “it
was primarily a 3CR led active search” and “we never to my knowledge took over relief for that [3CR]
OPT, or search activities ... 3CR seemed to be doing everything that should be done or could be done.”.
252A-36-1, ISHEIEE ro 5. ‘1 don't specifically recall a need to increase the I0C or the EOC at that
point.”.

253A-41-1, DISNEIE ro 7. "l stood up a CAT team after the 23rd,”

25¢A-36-1, |G P9 5

255A-36-1, (IR P 6.

256A-36-1, DIGEEIS ro 6; A-44-1, BISERIER 1o 6. concurred with that assessment of a limited Task
Force Phantom G3 role; A-76-1, [ NSEIEIEN ro 3. “We never cut an order directing” support to 3CR
search operations and characterized coordination as “normal operations.”.

257A-90-1, ISR ro 2, ‘I do not; not at the point you're asking, no. Not that | remember.”.
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until 258 He recalled surging
personnel to Current Operations in order to manage COVID-related operations and
reporting requirements, but does not recall a specific conversation reference the Task
Force Phantom G3'’s role regarding the response to SPC Guillén’s disappearance.?5°
recalled establishment of an engagement-focused CAT, but did not
remember the date of activation.?6% According to (SNBSS Task Force Phantom
G3 Current Operations did not participate in the CAT, which to his knowledge was led
by BIDEDINE ' BISEEIEE] 2/so recalled a decision to not process 3CR reports
and updates of ongoing search activities through operations channels, due to the
perceived sensitivity of the case, but does not remember how that decision was made
or who made it.262 According to [ EEIIE. urdates “stayed within command
channels, and were subsequently exchanged at that level.”?%® Task Force Phantom G3
Current Operations did not issue an operations order or play any role in coordinating
support to 3CR search operations.?* [SISNRIE remembers receiving a phone call from
3CR requesting assistance to coordinate for air assets to search an area behind Brave
Rifles Range on Fort Hood, which he estimates as o/a 23-24 April.?%® However,
according to SIS the Task Force Phantom G3 played no role in receiving daily
search reports or coordinating the response.2%¢

USAG Fort Hood did not activate the EOC to coordinate SPC Guillén search and
response activities. According to SIS C!D is responsible for a “missing person
case,” which is different from a search operation for “a Soldier that’s training” and goes
into “an unaccounted-for status,” which “could cause an EOC activation.”?%” Regarding
the SPC Guillén case, [JISEEIE assessed that “based on the initial information, [it]
was not clear that it was a missing person...the Soldier could’'ve been AWOL, could’ve
been unaccounted for” and the USAG operations staff was not privy to CID
"investigative information.”2¢8 According to S the EOC has been activated in
situations where a Commander assessed a Soldier was missing, and the EOC assisted

258A-125-1, IDIENEIEE - ro 1. ‘it would have been some time after having assumed the position of

259A-125-1, IDNSNEIES) - o 2. “No, not that | remember ... we actually surged personnel to CUOPs to
handle everything associated with COVID.”.

260A-76-1, [DISNEIENSN 1o 2. 'A CAT Team was stood up ... they stayed within command channels.”;
when asked if he remembered when the CAT was established, he replied “No, | don’t remember.”.
21A-76-1, IDISEEIEIEE 1o 2. ‘In CUOPS, we did not have any participation in that CAT team.”.
262A-76-1, IDISNEIEISE 1o 2. ‘these reports were going directly through green tab channels, and that’s
where they stayed.”.

263A-76-1, IR : P9 2-

264A-76-1, IDISNEIEIEE ro 3. ‘We never cut an order directing” support to 3CR search operations and
characterized coordination as “normal operations.”.

265A-44-1, ISR ro 6, “all | remember was, hey, sir, we got a missing Soldier. We need air assets.”.
266A-44-1, ISR 1o 5, “and that’s what | was told. This is in command channels. You do not need to
be a part of this.”.

267A-106-1, [ NEHEIEEES ro 6.

268A-106-1, [DEINEIEEES ro 6.
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with command and control of DES assets and any additional support requirements.?%° In
the case of SPC Guillén, [ISEEIEE does not recall any conversations to potentially
activate the EOC, since it was generally viewed as a “criminal investigation.”?”° jji§j
B recalled an OPT established to coordinate response to SPC Guillen’s
disappearance, but the participants were on the “public affairs side.”?""

O/a 2337, DES published a “Be on the Lookout” (BOLO) for SPC Guillén in the
National Crime Information Center (NCIC), accessible to law enforcement agencies
nationwide. DES Police Intelligence collected information for the BOLO from SPC
Guillén’s military records, public record, and social media. The BOLO was shared
directly with multiple law enforcement agencies.?"?

24 April 2020

O/a 0547 and 0600 on Friday, ISR asked the IOC via email whether they had
received an update to the 3CR SIR and if 3CR suspected “foul play.”273 The |IOC

requested an update from [DISNDIISE Via cmail o/a 0758.274

Between approximately 0900 and 1345, the RES conducted extensive, detailed
ground searches of the entire RES Footprint, including barracks, motor pools, and other
unit areas.?’% Neighboring units, including the 3d SFAB and 36th Engineer Brigade,
executed searches of their respective unit footprints that continued through 25 April 276

O/a 1119, changed SPC Guillén’s duty status from Present for Duty
(PDY) to Absent Without Leave (AWOL) via DA 4187: Personnel Action, effective 0630
on 23 April.?”" IS directed the change in status, determining AWOL to be the
appropriate status due to 24-hours of unauthorized absence.?’® The unit updated SPC
Guillén’s duty status in eMILPO o/a 1137 on 24 April to reflect AWOL status, submitted
the DA 4187 to the Department of Emergency Services AWOL and Deserter Section,
and suspended pay and promotion.279

269A-106-1, NI - PO 6.

270A-106-1, [DISEEIEIES ro 6. “Nobody ever went to [IEEIISE 2nd said, “Hey, we need to
activate the EOC, all hands on deck” ... that conversation, as far as | understand, never happened ...
arguably, though, it is a criminal investigation.”.

271A-106-1, [DEEINEIES ro 7

272A-25-1, NI PO 2-3; A-78-1, NSNS Po 1.

213B-3-6, email: Draft IR (0293) CAT 4 Item aa.

214B-3-7, email: FW: 3d CR SIR (Cdr Concern Missing Trooper).

215B-3-71, 3CR Search Operation Timeline.

276A-89-1, NN P9 35.

2717B-3-9, DA 4187 -- SPC Guillén to AWOL.DA 4187

278A-5-1, DSBS ro 15, ‘| came up to IS and said, how do we report her ... He told me,
hey, look, we're just going to report her AWOL. She's not in, so that's how we initiated a 4187 for AWOL
status.” Further on pg 17, “l| would say, yes, sir, | relied on | IEISEDIEISE the guidance.”.
219B-3-29, email: RE: INFO Missing Trooper SITREP 05 MAY 2020 [BISNEIIEN ; B-3-8. eMILPO
transactions: SPC Guillén.
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U.S. Army Criminal Investigation Command (CID) assumed responsibility of SPC
Guillén's case from MPI, effective 1151, 24 April, and published the first of seven media
releases by CID between 24 April and 6 July. This first release was the announcement
of SPC Guillén's disappearance and a request for public assistance.?° Overall il
, decided to publish three media releases in the first few days, 24-
27 April, to seek public assistance in the disappearance. CID established a relationship
with (SIS 2nd continued almost daily communications with the Guillen family
via phone and text messaging through 6 July, when the remains of SPC Guillén were
identified. Two special agents spoke Spanish and helped facilitate communications
between CID and the family.28

As early as 24 April, SISEDIS NN . issued command guidance
regarding media engagement, to not publish anything publicly without Task Force
Phantom guidance and approval.??

BRI submitted a 3CR SIR update “add-on 01" to the |OC via email at 1516,
providing additional information on Fort Hood MPI activities to trace SPC Guillén’s cell
phone and interview SPC Guillen’s family members and i@l and noted that CID
had “assumed responsibility for the case” earlier in the day.?%3 In this SIR update, 3CR
reported that it would not share any information regarding the active investigation with
media and would refer all inquiries to the Fort Hood Press Center.284 At 1622, il
B via email, confirmed to MG Efflandt that 3CR had submitted the SIR to the
Fort Hood 10C.285

At Task Force Phantom, the initial 3CR SIR was reviewed by I SISHEINEIE

e ———m————e e ) ]
From Fort Hood, the SIR was reviewed by SIS s <!l as the
- All

these individuals either did not recall that the SIR stated possible media concerns or did

280B-4-4, CID Media Release 24 Apr: pg 1, "Fort Hood officials and Special Agents from the U.S. Army
Criminal Investigation Command are asking for the public's assistance in locating Pfc. Vanessa Guillen, a
20- year-old Soldier stationed at Fort Hood, Texas."

2B1A-43-1, RIS ro 10, “But CID had a couple of agents that have been talking with the family and
they were still maintaining contact with the family.”; A-47-1, IR o 4. “We (CID) issued a press
release (24 Apr) from my headquarters, a CID worldwide press release... on 25 April asking for the
public’s assistance to help us find the whereabouts of PFC, at the time, Vanessa Guillén, and then on 27
April, after discussions with the agents, we went ahead and offered a $15,000 reward hoping that that
would garner some tips.”; A-88-1, [BIENEIIEE ro 10. ‘CID was talking to them every day so that | can
pass communication with CID through to them.”.

2270-62-1, IS s2id not to post anything that wasn’'t approved by IlI
Corps.”; A-83-1, DISHEIIEN: ro 8. ‘But basically the guidance | SIS Had from SRS
is that | did have to receive permission from him.”.

283B-3-10, email: 20200424 Add on SIR PFC Guillén.

284B-3-11, Add-on 3CR SIR (updated).

285B-3-12, email: RE: INFO: Missing Trooper Update.
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see it but took no action considering it just another missing or AWOL Soldier. Neither
the initial nor updated 3CR SIRs triggered immediate media engagements by Task
Force Phantom.286

MG Efflandt was being advised on media engagements from both
.287 Most influential advice
came from NSNS \who strongly advocated for protecting the integrity of the
investigation at all costs, for not saying anything “if there was nothing to say,” and for

not contradicting the Guillén family.?® (IS /o' ked

286A-15-1, [DIENEIEE : 1o 1. | also get the SIRs, significant incident reports”. When asked if the SIR
trigged any special activity, "It did not. It is a typical missing soldier or missing formation. It could have
even been the 24th, but nothing stood out at all on her case.”; A-36-1, (IS rJ 4, ‘| don't
specifically remember that SIR as | read my emails.”; A-41-1, [DEESEIEE: 1o 6. ‘I, you know, it doesn't
ring a bell, but that's consistent with the way those kinds of SIRs come up, right, potential for adverse
media, and that a search was being conducted by the unit, and | believe MPI, right, and that MPI had
been... So those are some of the elements that come to my recollection from the original SIR.”; A-57-1,
BIEEEE 1o 2, “So, in the beginning, it was a missing person case that was being handled by CID and
we were in support of... So my sense was that was normal operation. She was considered AWOL at the
time. They had no evidence otherwise. So unlike a crisis where we would have launched in 24 hours, we
were just taking the normal steps of a missing Soldier; A-66-1, [DISESIIE o 5. “No, but | was--l don’t
recall it (SIR) saying anything about potential media.”; A-90-1, (DI ro 5-6, “l don’t
does not recall any media indicators on the SIR). If | could look at it maybe | would remember... But it
doesn’t surprise me that it (SIR) was checked (with potential for media) if that’s the question | guess...No
(the media on the SIR did not trigger formal guidance or action).”; A-98-1, [BISHSIIIEE ro 2.
$7A-66-1, [N P9 1. | was [N
That would have been the Deputy Commanding General of lll Corps.” And Pg 21. “But | could always--|
always had the latitude to go straight to General Efflandt.”; A-71-1, [ SSIIISE: ro 1. ‘| was the
N - -O5- . I
sy 0 000  —}
288 A-36-1, IGNEIS o 11, “Every good officer is always going to listen to their senior noncom to
provide input, advice, that sort of thing. So [BISEEDIISEE \vas rroviding that advice to EENEIE-";
A-41-1, DI 2 ving been there forever, having handled major events
like shootings and things like that, was the mentor and made all kinds of sense.”; A-47-1, RIS rJ 2;
pg 5-6, “I think that's the counsel that [ SIS 2nd the team there at Fort
Hood were listening to is, hey, it's under investigation, we’ve got nothing else to say... | think that just
knowing il that it was probably him. | think [EIISEEIEEE was working as hard as [jjji§f could to get

movement, but | think jjjjij probably got outranked pretty quickly... (SIS SIS 2nd |, you know,
sort of argued a bit about this and his perspective was that he was protecting his commander and the

investigation.”; A-66-1, IS ro 31-32. “They [MG Efflandt and SIS |interface on a very
regular basis...So, the garrison PAO, in some regards, mentors and helps provide a focal point based on

everything that's happened previously. [BISEEIEISEEE has been here IIDIGEDIGISEN - So. he
knows a lot. He was here, you know, to see a lot of different things happen. So yeah, the commander
[MG Efflandt] is very, very familiar with Jifill-"; A-71-1, BISEDIEISE: ©o 3. ‘! don't think the unit had
grasped how big this was going to get yet so it wasn’t being treated as a crisis at that point. It was being
treated as a missing Soldier. CID who worked the case let CID share information and their determination
before we put information out. Part of that guidance was coming from the top who had been there during
the 2009 mass shooting, and then again during the 2014 shootings. And the concern was we don’t want
to put out information that could jeopardize the investigation, or could further, you know, once the
investigation is complete could jeopardize the prosecution and conviction of anyone found guilty through

that investigation.”; A-97-1, [BISHEEIIEE ro 5 “So. yeah DSBS Was running the show with--
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closely with IS 2nd made all decisions and recommendations on media
engagements premised on protecting the investigation at all costs. They both interacted
actively with [SJIESIEIEE C!D. for media engagement decisions and
recommendations.289

In separate and parallel reporting, CID submitted an SIR Executive Summary
(EXSUM) to the U.S. Army Operations Center (AOC) via email o/a 1512 on 24 April.
The report identified SPC Guillén as a “missing Soldier” whose disappearance occurred
under “unusual” circumstances, with last unit contact at 1330 on 22 April.?%® Replying to
the original CID EXSUM email, the Vice Chief of Staff of the Army (VCSA) asked the
Commanding General of FORSCOM (CG, FORSCOM) to let him know “if we have any
developments on this search” o/a 1549.297 The CG, FORSCOM forwarded the email
exchange to MG Efflandt o/a 1629, asking that he “keep [him] posted on this.”292

O/a 1735, the |IOC sent the draft Fort Hood SIR to QIR for review; RIER

forwarded to IR for approval o/a 1740, including [SISHDINE DIDIDINES .
and NS >

290B-3-13, email: FW: EXSUM: Missing Soldier - Fort Hood, TX.
291B-3-13, email: FW: EXSUM: Missing Soldier - Fort Hood, TX.
292B-3-13, email: FW: EXSUM: Missing Soldier - Fort Hood, TX.
293B-3-14, email: DRAFT #3 / SIR (0293) CAT 2 item y.
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O/a 1752, MG Efflandt responded to the CG, FORSCOM with a “Will Comply”
response, and forwarded the email request and original CID EXSUM from CID to il
Bl 2dding that they were “a day late w/ SIR.”2%4 This action did not trigger command
guidance for media engagements.2% MG Efflandt did not recall notifying the Chief of
Staff that they were late on the SIR, or anything out of the ordinary regarding processing
of the SIR through the Task Force Phantom staff.2%

BIBERIR approved the Fort Hood SIR o/a 1807 on 24 April.2%7

BRI assessed that the IOC processed the SIR according to standing policy
and procedure, that it was a “good report” and not unusual to be late meeting
FORSCOM and IMCOM reporting requirements.*® [SISNEIIE a'so noted that it was
common practice for CID to submit Law Enforcement Reports to the AOC before
command channels had reviewed and approved SIRs for submission through the
10C.299

The Fort Hood IOC submitted its first SIR on SPC Guillén’s disappearance to the
FORSCOM Operations Center Watch o/a 1822 and the IMCOM Operations Center o/a
1827 on 24 April as an AR 190-45 Category 2 reportable serious incident, item (y), “Any
other incident that the Commander determines to be of concern to Headquarters,
Department of the Army (HQDA) based on the nature, gravity, potential for adverse
publicity or potential consequences of the incident.”3% Neither ISR nor DRIDIER
remember review of the SIR or the decision to report SPC Guillén’s disappearance as a
Category 2 incident.2%' The 10C included Fort Hood and Task Force Phantom senior
leaders and staff principals on the email distribution.302

294B-3-13, email: FW: EXSUM: Missing Soldier - Fort Hood, TX.

295B-3-15, email: EXSUM: Missing Soldier - Fort Hood, TX.

2%A-37-1, MG Efflandt: pg 7, “ don’t remember the report to FORSCOM being a day late ... I'm not
denying the late report, | just don’t remember that being significant.”.

297B-3-14, email: DRAFT #3 / SIR (0293) CAT 2 item y.

298A-100-2, IRNGNENR) PO 4

299A-100-2, DSBS ro 4, regarding CID report prior to command channel SIR, “I don’t know how often
it happens, but I've seen it several times especially on high profile cases like this.”.

300B-3-14, email: DRAFT #3 / SIR (0293) CAT 2 item y; B-3-47, FRAGORD 3 to OPORD PW 1904-04-
0244 (lliC CCIR).

S01A-44-1, DESERIER ro 5. when asked if he remembered seeing the draft SIR for review and submission
to FORSCOM, “no” and “it wasn't until, | want to say, towards the end of June,” (however, Email
correspondence indicates [N reviewed and forwarded the draft SIR to ISR for approval on
24 April); A-90-1, ISR ro 2, ‘| want to say that | did read a report, | don’t know the timing of it,".
302B-3-18, email: SIR (0293) - CAT 2 item y.
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O/a 1940, the FORSCOM Operations Center Watch team published a Spot Report
designating an initial incident of concern to HQDA (“Missing Soldier”), and submitted the
FORSCOM SIR to the AOC less than an hour later, o/a 2033 on 24 April.303

IO submitted the Law Enforcement Report SIR - the
follow-up to the CID EXSUM sent o/a 1512 - to USAG Fort Hood, CID senior leaders,
and the AOC o/a 2054, reporting SPC Guillén as a “missing person” and noting the time
of report as 2017 on 23 April.3%* The AOC published the SPC Guillén CCIR EXSUM via
email o/a 2107, notifying the Army Deputy Chief of Staff (G-3/5/7) and other senior
leaders, that a Soldier at Fort Hood was “reported missing after their unit could not
locate the Soldier following an extensive search of the unit common areas” and listed
the time of the incident as 1400 on 22 April .39

O/a 2121 on 24 April, the Director of the Army Staff (DAS) asked the AOC to “keep
all updated” and asked the Provost Marshall General to “see what [he] can find out.”3%
O/a 2130, the DAS forwarded the message to the Deputy Commanding General (DCG)
of FORSCOM, asking him to “keep us updated as you learn more” and that it was
“drawing attention.”3%7

25 April 2020

notified SIS that E/FST would no longer be part of the search
for SPC Guillen. This was |jjiiilif decision (rationale was risk of traumatizing troops if
SPC Guillén was discovered by her own unit).3%8

O/a 0739, MG Efflandt provided CG, FORSCOM an update on the missing Soldier,
highlighting no additional insights.30

Between approximately 0900 and 1300, [RISERIEER and RES field-grade officers
collected statements of 53 Troopers that knew, worked with, or had recently seen SPC
Guillén.3'0 Concurrently, between 0900 and 1710, 3CR platoon sergeants and above,
carrying pictures of SPC Guillén provided by her family, executed a 100% barracks
check, and searched the entire 3CR footprint and nearby areas, asking for any
information.3"

303B-3-20, email: SPOT REPORT #398 - INITIAL - INCIDENT OF CONCERN TO HQDA/MISSING
SOLDIER ; B-3-23, email: FW: EXSUM - CCIR 50: INCIDENT OF CONCERN TO HQDA (MISSING
SOLDIER) .

304B-3-21, email: CID Law Enforcement Report-SIR (CAT 2) Initial-420-2020-CID034-006691.
305B-3-23, email: FW: EXSUM - CCIR 50: INCIDENT OF CONCERN TO HQDA (MISSING SOLDIER) .
306B-3-23, email: FW: EXSUM - CCIR 50: INCIDENT OF CONCERN TO HQDA (MISSING SOLDIER) .
307B-3-23, email: FW: EXSUM - CCIR 50: INCIDENT OF CONCERN TO HQDA (MISSING SOLDIER) .
S08A-132-1, NSNS ro 5; A-24-2, BISEEIS ro 1-2; A-43-1, ISR ro 8.

309B-3-24, email: Background missing Brave Rifles trooper, 25 APR 20.

$10A-43-1, DGR 1o 6; A-79-1, NGBS : ro 13; B-3-71, 3CR Search Operation Timeline.
$MA-132-3, IDIEEEIEE ro 8; A-43-1, RISEEEER : ro 6; B-3-71, 3CR Search Operation Timeline.
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CID published the second of seven media releases. This release included a photo of
SPC Guillén and another request for public help.3'?

O/a 1210, DSBS scnt an email update to MG Efflandt, describing the
ongoing search as “a Regimental operation that | am leading and we will not stop until
we find our Trooper.”'®* MG Efflandt forwarded the summary of search operations to the
FORSCOM G3, o/a 1227, including both the CG and DCG of FORSCOM, as well as

, hoting that there was “a lot of interest in the Brave Rifles
Trooper ... for all the right reasons” and that 3CR was treating the search “like a combat
op.”"'* O/a 1248, DCG, FORSCOM forwarded MG Efflandt’'s email update to the
DAS.315

26 April 2020

3CR and the RES developed a comprehensive search plan.3'6
designatedRISNRIEE =S thc DISIDESEE '’ The RES's guiding theory
for the search was that SPC Guillén had either been abducted or, as she was an avid
runner, may have been hurt on any number of local roads, trails, and ditches.3'® The
RES surged search efforts, and developed three concentric rings from her last known
location in the vicinity of the RES footprint.31°

O/a 0900-1700, 3CR coordinated with CID and other law enforcement agencies for
K9 searches from Texas Rangers and Game Wardens for the next day.

3CR and RES leadership immediately recognized the unique circumstances of SPC
Guillén’s disappearance and determined her absence was likely not voluntary,
publishing WARNO 1 to OPORD 39-20. WARNO 1 operationalized the search;
“Effective immediately, 3d CR conducts search party support to law enforcement teams
in and around FHTX [Fort Hood] to aid in the recovery of our missing Trooper.”320

27 April 2020

O/a approximately 0705 to 2200, 3CR coordinated with the 1st Cavalry Division for
aerial searches of the Fort Hood training area by helicopters (HH-60) and Unmanned

312B-4-5, CID Media Release 25 Apr.

313B-3-24, email: Background missing Brave Rifles trooper, 25 APR 20.

314B-3-24, email: Background missing Brave Rifles trooper, 25 APR 20.

315B-3-24, email: Background missing Brave Rifles trooper, 25 APR 20.

¥1°A-43-1, [N Py 639; A-61-1, NGRS Po 10; A-77-1, NSNS PJ 3.

7A-61-1, (NI PO O: A-88-1, [IEMENIENE P9 O

$18A-43-1, ISR o 6.

SOATT-1, BIDEEEER o 3-

320B-3-72, 3CR WARNO 1 to OPORD 39-20 (Missing Trooper Search); B-3-73, 3CR Missing Trooper
BUB 29APR20: 3CR Search Operations Timeline.
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Aerial Systems (UAS). Initial aerial searches yield no results.*?' MG Broadwater, the CG
of the 1st Cavalry Division, contacted [[SESEIEIE) and offered, “Hey, tell me what you
need. You've got it.” The 3CR S3 and IR

coordinated directly and early for air support.3??

Based on leads and information/intelligence pointing to a variety of locations on and
off of the installation, CID continued to conduct parallel search efforts with local, state,
and federal law enforcement agencies. These searches would continue through 2 July.
CID effectively coordinated for support with approximately twenty agencies to assist in
searches, interviews, and leads.

CID published the third of seven media releases, announcing a $15,000 reward for
information.323

Via email to SIS <commended changing SPC Guillen’s duty
status to “missing” based on the circumstances of her disappearance, the ongoing
investigation, and his interpretation of AR 638-8.32* On the same day, (IS
engaged [DISHEDIEIE 2t the Fort Hood Casualty Assistance Center (CAC) for
guidance, who told him she would need to discuss with the Casualty and Mortuary
Affairs Operations Division (CMAOD).325 CMOAD is a division of Human Resources
Command (HRC), located at Fort Knox, Kentucky. SIS Had already
been in contact with SIS on 24 April to discuss a possible “missing” duty
status.326 According to [SISNEIISI 3CR leadership “felt a professional
obligation” to accurately capture SPC Guillén’s status, which they did not believe was
AWOL,; her past performance lacked evidence that would indicate a voluntary
absence.*?’ |JIBNEIE characterized his initial assessment regarding AWOL as “there
was never a feeling that was Vanessa ... we felt like she had been snatched or
something else and missing was the right status.”3?®¢ MG Efflandt characterized the
factors that drove the chain of command to consider SPC Guillén’s absence to be
involuntary as her being a “good ... above-average Soldier ... in a position of trust,” who

21A-43-1, EIEEEEES A-77-1. DI ro 2-3.

S22A-77-1, )

323B8-4-6, CID Media Release 27 Apr.

324B-3-25, email: Duty Status Recommendation: Missing.email: Duty Status Recommendation: Missing,
27 APR 20

325A-115-1, DIGNEIRIE ro 2. regarding her initial interaction with CMAOD, “I explained to him the
situation, that Specialist Guillén was missing, her unit was concerned about her, per the

that had searched all weekend for her ... he just had a feeling that this Soldier had not walked off and
was AWOL. He said okay, (RIS You've been doing this for a long time, you understand that's not
enough, that's not enough to make her missing.“; B-3-25, email: Duty Status Recommendation: Missing.
326B-3-29, email: RE: INFO Missing Trooper SITREP 05 MAY 2020 (SIEEEDIEIS)-

S2TA-127-1, IR ro 4, ‘we felt a professional obligation to somehow appropriately capture her
status, which we didn’t think AWOL completely fit it, but we didn’t know what else to mark her as because
she was not in the formation.”.

#5A-43-1, NSNS P © ERNENER A-32-1, pg. O
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had uncharacteristically left her wallet behind and had not been in contact with her
family.32°

BISEEIE reached out to the Guillen family to coordinate for the family to meet
BIEEEEE . the RES Commander, at 1500 on 28 April 330

3CR continued to coordinate search efforts. From approximately 0900 until 1600, the
RES conducted ground searches of small arms ranges and training areas near the 3CR
footprint. Troopers from the 1st Squadron of 3CR conducted searches of training areas
near Belton Lake.33" 3CR Soldiers, alongside Texas Rangers and Game Warden K9
units, conducted searches of the unit footprint until approximately 1900.332

28 April 2020

CID notified [SISEEIEE that the Guillen family had cancelled the 1500 meeting,
scheduled by [DISEEIEE . and that they did not want to talk to the command
anymore.>* ISR <o29ements with the Guillén family had
been mostly inquisitive, as they had tried to discover information that would help with
search efforts.33* The family found those engagements unwelcome, and decided to
communicate only with CID.335

329A-37-1, MG Efflandt: pg 4.MG Efflandt A-29-1, pg. 4.

330A-5-1, IDIENEIEE ro 22, ‘| offered a meeting with [N said. Yes, |
want to talk to NS So ' BISEEIEE said. 'Okay.” So we set up that meeting; | think it was
1500.”; B-4-3, Letter to Congresswoman Garcia: pg 3.

331B-3-71, 3CR Search Operation Timeline.

332A-77-1, SIS . S-; B-3-71, 3CR Search Operation Timeline.

333B-4-3, Letter to Congresswoman Garcia: pg 3.

>A-5-1, I L e

IO O - B-4-3, Letter to Congresswoman Garcia: pg 3.
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3CR, in conjunction with CID, established a command post to manage the flow of
information, consolidate and prepare reports, and conduct “battle tracking” of search
efforts. 3CR leadership directed the establishment of routine Operations and
Intelligence (O&l) briefs — also referred to as a Battle Update-Brief (BUB) - to
synchronize search efforts.33¢

29 April 2020

CID contacted Texas EquuSearch (TXEQ) telephonically, seeking assistance with
SPC Guillén search efforts.337

As directed by 3CR leadership the day prior, 3CR conducted the first routine O&l
brief focused on synchronizing search efforts. These briefs were initially conducted
daily. On 5 May 20, O&l frequency was reduced to bi-weekly, conducted on Mondays
and Fridays, and was later reduced to weekly updates on the first duty day of the week.
This search-focused O&l continued through 2 July 2020.

30 April 2020

During a news conference in the Pentagon Press Briefing Room, the Secretary and
Chief of Staff of the Army briefed reporters on the Army’s role in Department of Defense
COVID-19 efforts. The Secretary of the Army used the first minute of this brief to
comment on the disappearance of SPC Guillén, the search efforts, and the Army’s
commitment to finding SPC Guillén.338 This Army Senior Leader engagement was the
first in-person comment to media on behalf of the U.S. Army since her disappearance,
but it did not trigger engagement action by either Task Force Phantom or 3CR.

1 May 2020

3CR continued to conduct repeated searches of the barracks33° and developed a
Missing Trooper Battle Drill.34°

BIEIRR stated that as early as 1 May, jjij was advising IS
Bl to publish a command message. OGO

- This advice from the Task Force Phantom PAO conflicted with that from MG

336A-77-1, ISR ro 3; B-3-73, 3CR Missing Trooper BUB 29APR20; B-3-74, 3CR Group Leader
Chat to Establish Operations and Intelligence (O&l) brief (Screenshot).

37A-168-1, IR ro 2.

338B-4-7, Transcript Army Senior Leader: Update on U.S. Army Response to COVID91 30 Apr.
39A-43-1, IR : A-77-1, BISEEEEE ro 4; B-3-71, 3CR Search Operation Timeline.

340B-3-75, 3CR Missing Trooper Battle Drill .
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Efflandt, whose intent was to respond to query, rather than actively engage the media,
because of the ongoing investigation.3+!

2 May 2020

The RES continued ground searches, expanding to Military Operations on Urban
Terrain (MOUT) sites, Improvised Explosive Device (IED) “villages” and training lanes,
urban assault courses, sub-terrain training areas, and bridges.342

4 May 2020

On Monday, 4 May, via Memorandum for Record (MFR), (ISR confirmed a
series of determinations and actions regarding SPC Guillén’s duty status: he did not
intend to send a letter — as required on the tenth day of AWOL IAW AR 630-10 (3 May
marked ten days since SPC Guillén’s absence) — to the Next of Kin (NOK) informing
them that SPC Guillén’s absence could result in trial by court-martial, confinement, or
bad conduct discharge. Since SPC Guillén’s family remained in the local Fort Hood
area, in contact with investigators, [JISEEI determined that such a letter “would be
insensitive, inappropriate, and could be presented to the media in an attempt to bring
discredit to the 3d Cavalry Regiment and the U.S. Army.” Regarding duty status, [jijilij
Bl also noted that “PFC Guillén’s disappearance remains an active investigation by
local and national agencies ... as of 4 May 2020, CID, the FBI, local authorities, and my
unit have not discovered evidence suggesting her disappearance was voluntary.
Furthermore, the SIS stated that her case is being treated as a
missing person case, not an AWOL Soldier.” Finally, [SISESI wrote that “in the event
that evidence demonstrating that PFC Guillén’s absence was voluntary is found, | will
properly notify the NOK and complete the AWOL and dropped from rolls (DFR)
procedure outlined in AR 630-10.7343

341A-37-1, MG Efflandt: pg 14. “So this wasn'’t a significant media event because we didn’t know she was
murdered until 2 July, so it was an event that grew. So there wasn'’t public affairs guidance initially
because it wasn’t an event, it was a Soldier missing, we’re going to find her. Then, we generally
responded to query because it's an ongoing investigation.”; A-66-1, [N o 8. “So on May 1st, |
called the 3CR PAO...So | contacted the SIS NEIIISEN /o had just come back in. [l
was trying to get [jlilcomputer system up. | was like this is the prime opportunity for [EEIESNEIISN to
address this. You know, go out with something public, say, you know--just acknowledge the fact that the
family is here.. [jjillsaid that [[SSESEANEIE \vas returning from doing battlefield circulation that day,
and she had something prepared for him to look at to possibly release. | told her let me know when you
release it, we'll push it out too... And she called me up that evening and said SIS doesn't
want to say anything yet.”; A-88-1, NSNS : ro 11, “They would give us guidance on what we could
send out.”.

342B.3-71, 3CR Search Operation Timeline.

343B-3-26, SUBJECT: Regulatory Next of Kin Notification for PFC Vanessa Guillén (MFR).SUBJECT:
Regulatory Next of Kin Notification for PFC Vanessa Guillén, 04 MAY 20 (MFR).
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On the same day, | <'2nged
SPC Guillén's duty status in eMILPO ofa 1111 from AWOL to Missing; he deleted the
entry 12 minutes later, returning SFC Guillen's status to AWOL. wmcuuld
not remember who directed him to make the change in eMILPO ¥

, could not remember who directed the change in duty status, and
believed it to be the result of confusion. There is no evidence of a signed DA 4187,

with a commander or his designated representative authorizing a change in duty status
on 4 May.

[ (o) i6). (b) (ING), (b) i5) | "1 MG Efflandt informed the CG, DCG, and G3 of
FORSCOM on 4 May o/a 1715 that the 3CR 31 would change SPC Guillén's duty
status to "missing” in 48-hours (on the fourteenth day of absence), pending any

objection or instructions, and that the change would trigger a report to HQDA through
casualty assistance. ¥?

§ May 2020

WE A eMILPO transactions: SPC Guilkén, 4 MAY 20.
MiA. 711,

M A,

”A~35~1.F pg 2, when he asked if 3CR had evidence o indicate involuntary absence,
3CR"... did mot.",

ig.3-20, email: RE: INFO Missing Trooper SITREP 05 MAY 2020.
HE-3-20, email: RE: INFO Mizssing Trooper SITREP 05 MAY 2020,

ﬂ!!! Emal|: H! |H!5 I'Ais.-.ing Trooper SITREP 04 MAY 20.
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The DCG, FORSCOM concurred, via email, with changing SPC Guillén’s duty status
to “missing.”3%3

6 May 2020
informed MG Efflandt, I ISISIDINIESEE

of CMAOD’s determination that it was premature to submit a recommendation
to change SPC Guillen’s status to “missing”; MG Efflandt concurred, and [[SISHEEIE

forwarded the correspondence to [N o his awareness.3%

Based on CMAOD’s guidance, SIS did not submit a DD Form 2812:
Commander’s Preliminary Assessment and Recommendation Regarding a Missing
Person, to the Fort Hood CAC, or initiate an AR 15-6 administrative investigation, to
initiate a TAG “missing” determination.>*° IS characterized the “missing”
determination process as “an incredible source of frustration for [he] and IR~
particularly the standard of evidence of involuntary absence.>*° SIS a'so
characterized the process as “frustrating,” summarizing the CMAOD guidance as “even

if we submitted it, they weren’t going to process it.”*’ | I DI IDIDE

353B-3-28, email: RE: INFO Missing Trooper SITREP 04 MAY 20.

354B-3-30, email: PFC Guillén; FW: Update (INFO) 3CR Missing Trooper SITREP 05 MAY 2020.
3%5B-3-30, email: PFC Guillén; FW: Update (INFO) 3CR Missing Trooper SITREP 05 MAY 2020.
356A-43-1, DIDHEIES ro 5 RIDEDEEE A-32-1, pg. 5.

3S7TA-127-1, ISR ro 5. “this was not a missing person designation. You're going to have to figure
out how to mark her otherwise. It was a little bit frustrating.” Adding, “Even if we submitted it, they weren’t
going to process it, so we just caveated her duty status without marking her as AWOL or missing.”.
3%8A-59-1,

39A-23-1, IDIENEIEE ro 2, “‘most of the cases that we have that ... actually get reported as
DUSTWUN, usually I would say most of them last about 48 hours or less.”; A-85-1, [BIENEIEIEN 1o '
“in the event that we do have a DUSTWUN ... the CAC is removed and | go directly to the unit. The
reason we do that is so that words don't get twisted and communication is clear and concise.”.
360A-115-1, NGB ro 3. regarding direct 3CR to CMAOD coordination, “It was not helpful because
we [Fort Hood CAC] were kept out of the loop” and referring to the Fort Hood CAC files on the SPC
Guillén case, at the time, “if | were to bring in our case files on the Guillén case they are very thin.”.
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19-26 May 2020

On 19 May, MG Efflandt conducted a Facebook Live townhall focused on COVID-
19. MG Efflandt had been told by the Task Force Phantom and USAG Fort Hood PAO
office that there was a potential for the SPC Guillén case to come up. Some of the live
questions asked about SPC Guillén; MG Efflandt chose to answer the questions with
statements of care and compassion, and to affirm Fort Hood was searching for
Guillén.362 This was well received. However, the audience of this engagement was
primarily Fort Hood soldiers and family members, not the local community. The
interaction was reactive.363

On Tuesday, 19 May and again on Friday, 22 May, I IS
requested updates on a potential AR 15-6 investigation and submission of a DD
2812.3% On 26 May, GG . formed

that “the Regimental Commander is not submitting the DD Form 2812 to
report the SM missing. The investigation is still ongoing. Our Regimental JAG will be
having a conference call with HRC this week to discuss a way ahead on the action and |
will be able to provide another update.”365

21 May 2020

SSTA-127-1, IS ro 5, ‘I felt that the general lack of experience hampered the process. The
regulations exist, but with any regulation or doctrine that we have, prolonged use of it makes it more
common to us.”.

362|ntentionally Blank

363A-66-1, ISNEIEE ro 23, “The 19th of May. We had a COVID town hall... And the way they do those
town halls was it was virtual, they sat kind of where you two are sitting in the conference room, and then it
played out live on Facebook... we told--1 came up with several sheets saying hey, Sir [MG Efflandt],
Vanessa Guillén is probably going to come up... These are some ideas of what you might want to say.
He looked over the notes and he says | rather just speak from the heart... But 40 minutes into that, he did
a segway because we started seeing repeatedly from a bunch of people #JusticeforVanessa,
#where’sVanessa, that kind of stuff... And so he--just all of sudden said look I've seen a lot of stuff in the
feed. | want you to know this is very--you know, my heart is breaking for the family, for the Soldiers that
work with her. He was very impassionate about it. He said it very straight forward. We want her back. We
need to bring her back safely. We want to get her back into the group so she can continue her life, you
know. And if you know anything contact these CID agents. And | think he said the 1-800 number. It wasn'’t
a 1-800, but he made it clear, you know, use the BOLO and call the CID agents if you know anything. And
then he said so now we’re going to get back to the subject at hand. So that was the first time that a public
statement had been made.”; A-71-1, [BISEEIEISE 1o 7. ‘So he took a podcast from the town hall,
and so he was aware of Vanessa being missing, and that it was effective — | don’t remember the exact
words but that's it's effective as a whole and that he was also concerned for her and that if anybody had
any information to please contact CID.”.

364B-3-31, email: Follow up — DD Form 2812.

365B-3-31, email: Follow up — DD Form 2812.
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Fort Hood Public Affairs Office published the first of ten media releases between 23
April and 17 July. This release included an update of the search.36%

The first Task Force Phantom media engagement that was not a repost of a CID
media release occurred on 21 May, 29 days after the disappearance. According to il
Bl he assessed a growing social media promotion — especially in Spanish social
media — of a rally/protest to take place the following day. SIS drafted a command
statement and coordinated with | to engage MG Efflandt for approval of
a Fort Hood media release, anticipating the impending rally.*¢” According to both |jiilii

, they recommended the media release come from MG
Efflandt. MG Efflandt decided it was appropriate for the release to come from the
Garrison PAO.3%8 There are statements that affirm MG Efflandt stated he did not want to
be “the face” of the Guillén case “yet.”3%9 The context of MG Efflandt’s statement was
based on the perceived need to protect the integrity of the investigation, and the belief
that the appropriate level of command to engage at that time was at the 3CR level.37°
The intent of the media release was to correct a narrative that the Army was not doing
anything to find SPC Guillén. The timing of this release was deliberately tied to the
expected protest scheduled the next day.3"

366B-4-8, Fort Hood Media Release dated 21 May: Fort Hood Officials provide update on search, first
since disappearance 29 days later.
367A-66-1, ISR o 24. “Well, in that same timeline, we discovered through media again--sharing
with us that there was a large protest being planned for the 22nd. This was not just the family
now...Seeing that they were going to have a protest and nothing had been put out yet, | drafted what
would be--what | considered a star note... | consolidated all of that stuff into a letter, sent it up to General
Efflandt’s office, and this is where | say | went direct... | got word back from
Bl sent a note and said basically he [MG Efflandt] doesn’t want to put this out. So, I grabbed il

r and we went up to talk to him one on one.”.
368A-66-1, ISR ro 28, “And so | got him to agree to putting out something with the same data...
But we attributed the quotes to IEIEHEIEISN - VWhen | asked him he said I'm not ready to be the face
on this yet. | don’t know if it was a desire to try and keep it at a lower level or what the motivation was
behind that. | was kind of deflated to be honest with you when he said that because--and | explained to
him--I was like, Sir, we're at the point where we can't roll this back in. We have to put something out. And
people are asking why leadership is not addressing this. It's all over social media. Why is leadership not
saying something?”.
369A-66-1, ISR o 29, “When | asked him [MG Efflandt] he said I'm not ready to be the face on this
yet. | don’t know if it was a desire to try and keep it at a lower level or what the motivation was behind
that. | was kind of deflated to be honest with you when he said that because--and | explained to him--I
was like, Sir, we're at the point where we can’t roll this back in. We have to put something out. And
people are asking why leadership is not addressing this; A-98-2, IBIESNEBIEIEE: ro 1. ‘That is correct, |
heard that [MG Efflandt not ready to be the ‘face’ of this yet] through the JIEIEEEIEEEN | was notin
that meeting. That was the discussion they had coming out of that meeting”.
370A-98-2, IS NEIISEE 1o 1. ‘Now it was more appropriate that the immediate commander like 3CR
commander would make a statement or the PAO himself could, to say for his concern, this is the
statement that's made at this time.”.
3T A-47-1, IR o 17, "Social media. Again, things being put into the media's space that were
patently false. The premise that nobody cared; that nobody was doing anything. We didn't combat that
well enough, at Army as a whole, we didn't combat that well enough."; A-66-1, (IS g 26. ""The
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23 May 2020

IDIGEEIE) first engagement with the Guillén family — specifically, |EEl
HEIEN vas on 23 May at the 3CR Headquarters. CID also participated in this

engagement which [ENSHEIEEE) used to give [ a comprehensive update. During
this meeting [IENEIEE) <xpressed his desire to meet with SPC Guillén’s [N >">
described that Jjijiilagreed to pass his request to her [ but was
visibly angry.3"3

Though CID had been communicating almost daily with the Guillén family since 24
April, the last E/FST Command Team contact had been 27 April; 3CR leadership had a
gap of 26 days where the command did not communicate with the family.37

In the intervening gap (28 April-1 May), the Guillén family leveraged Facebook to
bring awareness to SPC Guillén’s disappearance on social media. On 1 May, the family
— specifically, IO — c=me to Fort Hood
and participated in a rally outside the East Gate.3”® In addition, the family posted fund-
raising announcements to help search efforts (3-9 May), posted press conference
videos (21 May), and announced and posted videos of a peaceful protest at Fort Hood
(22 May). The family remained active on Facebook, posting 14 out of 26 days with a
total of 27 posts. Themes of the Guillén family Facebook posts included requests for
assistance, frustration with Fort Hood and the U.S. Army, and mistrust of the same.376

21st [May]"Seeing that they were going to have a protest and nothing had been put out yet" And that way
it's in the news the day before then they have the protest, they can't say that haven't heard anything.
372A-88-1, INNSNEIEE : ro 10, "l said that | would really like to meet with

S73A-88-1, INISNEIEE) : o 10, “CID was talking to them every day so that | can pass communlcatlon
with CID through to them. | invited them to meet with me several times and then finally on the 23d of May,
HEEIGE Met with me in my headquarters. That was really the first time | can give her a
comprehensive update --and CID was in there as well. We kind of laid out where we were. Here is what
we're searching, this is what we have done. | said that | would really like to meet with | IEISEE - he
was receptive, but she was angry.”; B-4-29, Email_Example Weekly 3CR to TF Phantom SITREP 3CR
Missing Trooper SITREP 29MAY20.

S74A-43-1, IRISEEIEE ro 10, ‘I told CID to pass the family the message that any time they wanted to
meet with us, we were available, but would respect their desire not to be contacted... In hindsight looking
back, | wish I had reached out personally myself earlier to [[jigJl] because il spoke English and [Jig
was the go-between on a lot of stuff and given [gii] my phone number and offered whatever [ needed.";
A-47-1, B rg 24 “Well, we did advise them (TF Phantom/FT Hood command) that, Hey, these are
right and left limits on what you can say and can’t say....It’s their (TF Phantom/Ft Hood) call... You (TF
Phantom/Ft Hood command) just can’t get too deep into the investigation”; B-4-3, Letter to
Congresswoman Garcia: pg 3-4; B-4-9, PAO Message Visualization.

3758-4-10, 1 May News Atrticle; B-4-11, Facebook - @findvanessaGuillén: pg 227-259.

376B-4-11, Facebook - @findvanessaGuillén: pg 227-259; B-4-41, Timeline - #lamVanessaGuillen; B-4-
42, Ft. Hood Press Summary Slide.

58

cu



cul
FCCG

SUBJECT: AR 15-6 Investigation - Fort Hood’s command involvement in, and response
to, the disappearance and death of SPC Vanessa Guillén and other specific topic areas.

29 May 2020

Texas EquuSearch executed several foot and ATV searches, sonar searches of
Belton Lake, sonar searches of 3 smaller lakes on Fort Hood, and aerial searches of the
Leon River.3”” These searches would continue through 2 July.

2-5 June 2020

BIEGNEE \vas to transition to retirement o/a 12 June. O/a 2-5 June, [BISHDIR
assumed the role of Task Force Phantom{igii]->"® There was no clear date for the
change in responsibility. (SIS continued to work closely with [[BISESEIESEE and
CID to make decisions on media engagements. [[SISEEEN \vas considered
inexperienced as was the [ 'ead for media engagements
and drove recommendations to the Task Force Phantom leadership.37®

8 June 2020

first engagement with (Sl of SPC Guillén occurred o/a 1015
during the video teleconference with Congresswoman Sylvia R. Garcia (TX-29). il
of SPC
Guillén. The executive summary of this family engagement notes that

HEIEN had a “clear lack of trust in the Army’s investigation and actions.” The outcome
of the engagement was a commitment by 3CR for a follow-on virtual meeting on 15
June and a potential visit to Fort Hood by the Guillén family. The gap between the last
call to (SIS by the E/FST Command Team on 27 April and this engagement by

SNBSS vas 42 days.*®

37TTA-168-1, IR o 4-5.
378A-66-1, IISEIEE ro 37, “And by the second of June, | started SFL tap... And | started pulling back.
And by the 12th or 13th, I turned everything over to (BN

S79A-36-1, IDIENEIE - ro 11, “Now that said any I EEDISEDISEE 'stens to RN
OIS | \/2s providing that advice to [DISNEIE - A-41-1, DISESIS : o ©.
“So the friction was that because i} Wwas. you know, kind of out over her skis in this position with all
this stuff beginning to kind of close in, [SjSINISIERISIE having been there forever, having handled major
events like shootings and things like that, was the mentor and made all kinds of sense.”; A-71-1, il

: pg 4, “l want to say it wasn'’t a specific date, per se, Sir. It was more of a phased thing
where like | said [SNEEIEES would come in the morning and | would come in the evenings. And then
he was slowly transitioning out. He would either call or text. | think it was more of a phase kind of thing
rather than go for a specific date... And so | remember | took il because BISIDER  DIGEEINIS
Bl and | hadn’t really built a relationship with anybody upstairs yet.” pg 6, “So we were working with CID
to identify some of those that we would see on social media.”; A-98-1, IDISNEIEIEE: ro 1. ‘That was
the discussion they had coming out of that meeting. Early on [RISEBIR Was still actively being the Corps

at Fort Hood, he and [SIGEEIEE would go into the meetings more so than I. | would sit in a couple

of the meetings after [JISNEIME had excused himself because of his helping out the [DISEEIE yound
and inexperienced.”.
380A-37-1, MG Efflandt: pg 16, “I'm not denying it was a high profile event. | didn’t recognize the triggering
point. We grew into that” pg 17. “...we can’t wait to be first with the truth...have some level of truth and
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10 June 2020

Fort Hood Public Affairs Office published the second of ten media releases. This
release included an update of the search translated to Spanish.38"

informed [[ISNDIIEIE hc had spoken to [IENEIEEE]. \who now
concurred with submitting the DD Form 2812 and moving forward with the “missing”
designation.382 However, 3CR did not initiate actions through CAC or directly to CMAOD
to begin a “missing” determination process.383

transparency in there, and then you don’t exercise these other things, then you create a vacuum that the
social media just fed on... They fed on the vacuum, so the scope of things that Fort Hood needs to fix
grew beyond what | think was factually grounded... Not early on, no, sir. I'd be first with the truth.” pg 30
“We’d respond to the query, we thought that was appropriate and it wasn’'t adequate.”; B-4-12,

EXSUM - Congresswoman Garcia 8 Jun: pg 1, “It was clear that | iSJEI has a lack of trust in the
Army's investigation and actions up to this point.”; B-4-9, PAO Message Visualization.

381B-4-13, Fort Hood Media Release dated 10 Jun (English and Spanish): Fort Hood officials provide
update on search efforts.

382B-3-32, email: SPC Guillén: Draft DD Form 2812, Missing Designation.

383A-115-1, IDIGEIEE - ro 3. “through the month of May ... | reached out to the unit, and asked, hey, are
you going to declare her missing ... and he [SISNBINE sa ASISEEIE is not going to do that right
now, we're doing something else.”; A-115-1, [DISIEIE: ro 3, “through the month of May ... | reached
out to the unit, and asked, hey, are you going to declare her missing ... and he [[ISNEIE said the
command is not going to do that right now, we’re doing something else.”; A-59-1, RIS ro 2.
regarding a 3CR request, “Not to my knowledge. No commander made that decision.”; A-85-1, il
BISEEIS : rg 2, ‘| never received an official request” based on the results of a 15-6 or other
commander determination.

384A-59-1, (SNSRI o 2. ‘new facts weren't really developed until, you know, very late in the game.”.
35A-85-1, | EININNRS : Y 4-

386A-85-1, NSNS : o 6. ‘| reached out to the provost marshal's office down there; | reached out
to Quantico. | just wanted somebody to tell me, "Hey, her absence is involuntary," and | never got that.”.
S87A-23-1 IENEIES - po 2. ‘| believe the unit was providing us with the information that they had ...
and | don't want to imply that they were withholding information but what they were providing wasn't the
type of information that would under the AR 638-8 construct, flip this into a DUSTWUN.”.
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15 June 2020

CID published the fourth of seven media releases; increasing the reward for
information to $25,000.3%

The Guillén family retained Ms. Natalie Khawam as the family attorney.3°'

16 June 2020

3CR coordinated for Texas EquuSearch to conduct sonar searches of smaller lakes
in the area: Tank Wash Lake, Bird Lake, and Bird Bath Lake.3%2

*°A-59-1, I L N S N O

3°A-59-1 NN P9 2 IR A-42-1, pg. 2.

390B-4-14, CID Media Release 15 Jun: Reward increased: Missing Fort Hood Soldier.

391B-4-15, [l EXSUM - Congresswoman Garcia 16 Jun: pg 1, “Ms. Khawam, introduced herself as an
attorney and announced that she now represented the Guillén Family as of 15 JUN 20.”.

392A.168-1, RIS P9 5; A-89-1, EESNEIES o 28-30.
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18 June 2020

Fort Hood Public Affairs Office published the third and fourth of ten media releases.
These releases announced initiation of a 3CR sexual harassment investigation and
highlighted the continued aggressive search efforts.3%

19 and 22 June 2020

3CR learned there were several posts from moderators and others on the
#findvanessaguillen social media pages that alleged SPC Guillén was being held in
tunnels under Fort Hood. The first mention had been on 02 June 2020.3°%* In response to
the tunnel allegations, the RES — with 3CR Geospatial Intelligence experts, the Provost
Marshal, CID — coordinated with DPW Environmental biology and conservation experts
to conduct analysis of natural caves on Fort Hood in order to determine the potential
likelihood of a Trooper falling in. The RES, CID, and DPW Environmental conducted a
targeted search of eight caves, yielding no results.3%

21 June 2020

The first planned public engagement focused on SPC Guillén, other than a press
release, was a pre-recorded Facebook video by MG Efflandt posted on 21 June, 60
days after the disappearance. The message focused on Fort Hood showing care and
compassion.3%

AR 360-1 requires commands to have a designated spokesperson, though it is not
required to be in writing. There was no consensus among [ EIGIDIEEEE

I OO <s (o who was the

393B-4-16, FT Hood Media Release 18 Jun SH Investigation: 3CR [jgjjill initiates an investigation; B-4-17,
Ft Hood Media Release 18 Jun Aggressive Search: 3CR continues to aggressively search.
394A-89-1, RIS ro 41; B-3-77, #FindVanessaGuillén Screenshots (pg. 5): re: allegation's by [l

IO G he!d in caves/tunnels on FHTX.
39A-89-1, RIDEEIER P9 39-41.

396A-15-1, IDNENEIES - 1o 26. ‘| remember that [MG Efflandt Public Service Announcement 21 Jun].
That was on Facebook. | recall that... Yeah, | think the discussion was that with all the family attorney and
basically bashing us in the family holding these gatherings calling to shut down Fort Hood and we are not
doing enough, that prompted that video to show some type of compassion to the family. And we were
doing something; A-71-1, IIEDIEEEIGIENE: °o 5. ‘And it kind of just developed in a conversation, a
group conversation; and that was our final idea, was we needed to put out the video on social media,
because the video would do better on social media than still photos... So we decided to do the video. At
that point Ill Corps had been the ones to put out the press release. We decided it would be crucial; and
since the headquarters was putting out the press release just to have the DCG headquarters on there to
put out the PSA... And | had a conversation with General Efflandt and we posted it that weekend.”; A-98-
1, IDIGEEIEISE : 1o 25, ‘He did [recalls MG Efflandt’s video]... More in the lane of a command
information video of--we put out the words and the video always balances better in social media than a
straight up press release document.”.
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designated spokesperson for Task Force Phantom. There was no spokesman
designated in writing.3%7

23 June 2020

Congresswoman Garcia publically stated that the Army “suspected foul play” in the
SPC Guillén case.3%8

Fort Hood Public Affairs Office published the fifth of ten media releases. This release
announced [Fort Hood was going to provide] an update to the Congressional Delegation
and Guillén family.3%°

The first time MG Efflandt met with the Guillén family,
, respectively, was during the 23
June meeting with Congresswoman Garcia at Fort Hood. 4%

TA-117-1, DI NEIESEE 1o 37, ‘| want to say the short answer is no [was there a spokesman for llI
Corps?]; A-125-1, [DIEEEIEIE) ro 5. “- - we did not have a designated representative out speaking for
the command.”; A-66-1, [DIDERIE ro 3, “We really didn’t have a spokesman per se.”; A-71-1 il
pg 2, “I guess it would’'ve been [BIENEIGS I (A NYthing
in writing that designated them?] No; A-90-1, [DESIEIEE rJ 7. “No.[does not recall if there was a
designated spokesman for Il Corps]”; A-98-1, [BNSEIEIE 1o 27, ‘| don't think so [is there a
designated spokesperson?]. | think its situational dependent.”.
3%8“Houston Rep. Sylvia Garcia: Army suspects foul play in case of missing Fort Hood soldier,”
https://www.houstonchronicle.com/news/houston-texas/texas/article/sylvia-garcia-fort-hood-soldier-
vanessa-guilen-15360765.php, Sig Christenson, 23 JUN 20.
399B-4-18, Ft Hood Media Release 23 Jun: FT Hood Leadership update to Congressional delegations.
400A-37-1, MG Efflandt: pg 6, “That sounds right. | don’'t know the exact date, that sounds right because |
think we did the briefing to the family on 22 June and CID said “we suspect foul play”, they made a
declarative statement. There was the first press conference right after that and that took things to a new
tier.”; B-4-19, Congresswoman Garcia CODEL EXSUM 23 Jun.
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24 June 2020

In a presser, IS 2''cocd IS \vas being held in a cave or tunnel

complex on Fort Hood.#%' Responding to social media allegations, the RES, CID, and
DPW Environmental had already searched eight caves 4-5 days prior.4%2

25 June 2020

informed MG Efflandt of his intent, “pending final coordination and
guidance,” to “move PFC Vanessa Guillén from AWOL into a DUSTWUN status.”403
EDIGEEIEE) added that he would “lead this effort personally” and that he “believe[d]
the Regiment's extensive search efforts and CID's determination of the case at this
point both support that PFC Guillén's disappearance is an involuntary absence.”#%

26 June 2020

On Friday, 26 June [ A N

, who concurred that the public announcement of suspected foul play wa

sufficient evidence of involuntary absence, and that the unit should initiate a request to
designate SPC Guillén as missing / DUSTWUN “soonest.”405

Fort Hood Public Affairs Office published the sixth of ten media releases. This
release included an update on search efforts translated into Spanish.4%

29 June 2020

401 A-89-1, IR o 36-42; MSN article (in Spanish), 27 June: https://www.msn.com/es-
us/news/other/madre-de-vanessa-guill%C3%A9n-pide-a-autoridades-de-fort-hood-que-busquen-en-
t%C3%BAneles-bajo-tierra-de-la-base/ar-BB162lal?li=BBqdrQU&srcref=rss, This article was re-published
in 4 major Spanish speaking markets (i.e. Los Angeles, New York,). The article references the emotional
press engagement [SEI made at the Fort Hood on June 24. Can also be viewed here, starts
around minute marker 12:20 and is all in Spanish without real-time translation,
https://www.youtube.com/watch?reload=9&v=5-3ZwBn2DUI, Google's translation: “Why don't they close
the base and the whole organization goes searching in tunnels...what are they hiding in the tunnels? If
they don't hide anything, let that damn base be closed and let people | trust enter the tunnels, the ships,
everything, everything; to those buildings with the tunnels below. What are they hiding?”.

402A-89-1, QNN Pg 41.

403B-3-38, email: PFC Guillén status update: il to MG Efflandt (25 JUN 20).

404B-3-38, email: PFC Guillén status update: il to MG Efflandt (25 JUN 20).

405A-23-1, IDNESNEIS o 2. “Sometime around 24 or 25, 26 June ... we were included on a larger note,
if I remember correctly, (IS said that the investigation was going to cite foul play as
the reason for PFC Guillén's absence and that the unit was looking to change her duty status from AWOL
to missing.”; B-3-34, email: (Info/Action); FW: PFC Guillén; FW: Update (INFO) 3CR Missing Trooper.
406B-4-20, Ft Hood Media Release 26 Jun: 3CR leaving no rock unturned in search.
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On 29 June, [DIGHEIE nformed Fort Hood and 3CR leaders of his discussion
with [ISHEIEE . the requirement to submit an SIR through the Fort Hood CAC, and a
requirement to notify the Guillén family within four hours of submission.40”

30 June 2020

On Tuesday, o/a 1157, the 3CR S1 submitted an updated SIR to the Task Force
Phantom G1, Fort Hood CAC, and CMAQOD. Fort Hood CAC submitted the DUSTWUN
casualty report to CMAOD o/a 1330.4°¢ CMAOD submitted CCIR #48 (Duty Status
Change from AWOL to DUSTWUN) to the TAG o/a 1759. The CCIR informed TAG that
“information derived from investigating authorities have indicated that their belief is that
PFC Guillén's absence is a result of foul play. Based on this information Regimental
Command has updated the family indicating they are changing her accountability status
from AWOL to DUSTWUN...a Casualty Assistance Officer has been assigned to be a
liaison and provide updates as they occur to the family.”409

EDIGHEIEE) dcleted the AWOL entry, via DA 4187, changing SPC Guillen’s duty
status to “missing as of 1130-1230 22 April 2020 until present.”'0 At the direction of
EISEDINEEEE changed SPC Guillén’s duty status from AWOL to Missing
in eMILPO o/a 2054, with an effective date of 23 April.#’” The 3R S1 and Task Force
Phantom G1 completed actions to reinstate SPC Guillén’s pay effective 23 April, and
promotion to SPC effective 11 June.#2

CID published the fifth of seven media releases. This release announced
unidentified remains had been found.*'3

At approximately 1708, (IS \vas contacted telephonically by CID. il
Bl requested the RES keep SPC Robinson under guard and not let him out of
sight; CID wanted to speak with SPC Robinson at some later point.*'* SIS
telephoned IS o/2 1712, and directed him to have an NCO
watch SPC Robinson for the next 24-hours. SPC Robinson was already restricted to the
barracks and under quarantine, as a Soldier he worked-out with had been diagnosed

407B-3-34, email: (Info/Action); FW: PFC Guillén; FW: Update (INFO) 3CR Missing Trooper.
408B-3-35, email: FW: PFC Guillén, Vanessa; B-3-41, 652066 Guillén_Vanessa 10768777 Guillén
Vanessa Initial DUSTWUN Report.
409B-3-36, email: FW: PFC Guillén, Vanessa.
410B-3-37, DA 4187 -- SPC Guillén to missing.
AA-27-2, IS o 4, “We got that from I IEEEIEEI (0)(6) () (NC)] had to sign that, IR

. Based on what he was getting from CID, | just had that paperwork.”; B-3-8, eMILPO
transactions: SPC Guillén: 30 JUN 20, to missing.
M2A-27-2, ISR ro 4. “spoke directly to the Corps G-1 to help me promote her in the system as well
and generate and update the code ... SIS NESIIEE assisted with that.”; B-3-16, DA 4187 -- Promotion
to SPC; B-3-34, email: (Info/Action); FW: PFC Guillén; FW: Update (INFO) 3CR Missing Trooper.
413B-4-21, CID Media Release 30 Jun: CID releases new information in search for SPC Vanessa Guillén.

“14A-132-3, NI Po 12-13.
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with COVID-19.4" RISNEINS to'd DISNEIEE not to notify SPC Robinson he was
being restricted for CID, but to tell him it was related to breaking COVID-19 quarantine
protocol.416

O/a 1720, ISR otified DSBS on-duty as the RES Staff Duty
B until 0700 the next morning, of the impending watch over SPC Robinson that
would be in the A/RES Conference Room. He instructed [jjji§ to spot check the watch
throughout i shift.4'”

BRSNS to'ephoned IENEIEISII———. 0/2 1729 to see if he
could take the first shift watching over SPC Robinson. [iSHDSIENNEENENEEEEEEE

A/RES, would relieve him in 2-3 hours.4'8

notified SPC Robinson o/a 1730 that he was being restricted for
violating COVID-19 quarantine protocols.*'® At approximately 1734, BISEEIRIS
escorted SPC Robinson to the RES Staff Duty area, and instructed S SIS to
guard Robinson until the first guard from A/RES arrived. [ was in direct
eyesight of Robinson the entire time while SPC Robinson was under Staff Duty
watch.420

BISERIE arrived in uniform, unarmed, at the A/RES area between 1745 and 1755,
and met with [ NEINEINSI " the DS office. IR
provided instructions to [N SPC Robinson was to remain in the conference
room, observed at all times. He could go to the bathroom, shower, or his room if
needed, but under escort.*?! At approximately 1755, [SESEEIEES instructed SPC
Robinson to go to his room and get a blanket, sleeping bag, and whatever else he
would need to spend the night in the conference room. ISR cscorted SPC
Robinson to his room and returned without incident. SPC Robinson entered the
conference room carrying his blanket in a garbage bag.*??

The conference room door, the only entry/exit point, remained open. SPC Robinson
was in civilian clothes, in possession of a cell phone which he was actively on
throughout his time under guard, and wearing on-ear headphones. His demeanor was
described as relaxed, but upset about having to be under guard.*23

#5A-111-1, DS : o 10; A-132-3, EISEENEE: ro 14-16; A-81-1, ENEHENES : ro 3-4-
416A-111-1, D EENEES : po 10; A-132-3, ISHENES: ro 14-16; A-81-1, DSBS : ro 3-4-
7A-132-3, ENENENNE - P9 16-17; A-2-1, NGRS P9 3.

“18A121-1, NI PO 1-2.

+19A-132-3, NGNS o 16; A-2-1, NN PO 2

“0A-2-1, RS- P9 2

“1A-121-1, NSNS - P9 3; A-61-1, NSNS Py 3-4.

“2A-81-1, NN P9 4

5A-19-1, [ENENANE : P9 28:3; A-2-1, ENEINENEISI - po 284; A-81-1, ENENENGS: P9 5

66

cu



cul
FCCG
SUBJECT: AR 15-6 Investigation - Fort Hood’s command involvement in, and response
to, the disappearance and death of SPC Vanessa Guillén and other specific topic areas.

At approximately 1820 — and every 20-25 minutes thereafter, until around 2140 —

conducted an unannounced spot check of SPC Robinson. il was

obvious about observing the conference room as jjjjij walked by, to reinforce to SPC
Robinson that he was being monitored, beyond just RIS ***

departed the RES area o/a 1829, and would not return until after SPC
Robinson fled.*25

SPC Robinson requested to go to his barracks room and retrieve his Nintendo DS
and charger o/a 1832. [ISNEIE cscorted SPC Robinson to his room on the second
floor of Bldg. 9421, and maintained observation of his actions in the room. They
returned to conference room without incident.*?8

escorted SPC Robinson to the male latrine adjacent to the conference
room and returned without incident o/a 1850.4%7

EDISEEIEIE cntered the conference room o/a 1903 to see if they needed
anything. [DISEERIEE as sitting on the couch, SPC Robinson was sitting at the
conference room table. Neither made any requests, so [[SISEESIIE dcrarted and
returned to the RES Staff Duty desk.*%®

O/a 2045, DISHEIEE] arived in uniform, unarmed, to relieve RIS - BN
B had not returned; therefore, he was not present to in-brief S SEIEEEN as he

assumed guard duty. Outside the conference room — away from SPC Robinson’s
hearing, but still in sight - IS conducted a handover brief with SIS
passing on SN instructions: SPC Robinson was to remain in the conference
room, observed at all times. He could go to the bathroom, shower, or his room if
needed, but under escort.4?°

At approximately 2100, [RISESIEE departed the A/RES area.*3° O/a 2103, il
B otified (DI via group text that he had been relieved and

was on duty. ' [DISNEDIIEE 2'so notified [DISNEIEE that the handover between
BISEDINE I '2s complete without incident o/a 2105.432

“24A2-1, S PO 2

4251211, NI Po 2810.

426A-121-1, NI PO 3-489.

2TA121-1, NI - PO 3-489.

“20A-121-1, NN P9 9: A-2-1, NI P9 34
“9A-121-1, NN P 5 A-19-1, ENEINGINRANS - PO 2
“0A-121-1, RN P9 5 A-19-1, ENEINEINRENS o 2
“1A-111-1, [N : o 13-

“2A-2-1, NN 9 4
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EIGEEINIS < tered the conference room o/a 2108 to see if they needed
anything. [[EIEEEIEE] \Vas sitting on couch, SPC Robinson was sitting at the
conference room table. Neither made any requests, so [[SIEESIIE derarted and
returned to the RES Staff Duty desk.*** (S EISIS srot checked SPC Robinson
without incident, and returned to the RES Staff Duty desk o/a 2115 and again o/a
2140.434

O/a 2150, SPC Robinson requested to use the latrine in his barrack’s room. il
accommodated his request and escorted Robinson to his room. After using
the latrine, SPC Robinson spent a couple of minutes looking for something in his room
but failed to find it; [ SIS did not know what he was looking for. SPC Robinson
knowingly left the Nintendo DS in his barrack’s room.435

EIEOIEEEEEEEEEE st a group text message o/a 2158, “Just got off
the phone with the [[SIEEIIISE 7o be clear, if SPC Robinson leaves his new
quarantine circumstances, tackle his ass and call the MPs.” [ NSEIIS] \vas not on
any of the leadership group chats, and did not receive this message.*3¢

Approximately 2200, [SISEEIEIE] and SPC Robinson returned to the conference
room without incident. Immediately upon returning, [EINESEIEIE] sat on the couch and
SPC Robinson took a seat at the table. believed SPC Robinson had
called his mother, and recalled overhearing SPC Robinson say, “Don’t believe what you
hear about me.”*3” SPC Robinson made or received a call o/a 2201, and was
whispering into his phone; SIS could not discern what was being said.*3®

At approximately 2202 to 2204, SPC Robinson moved to the conference room door
and began slowly pacing back and forth, occasionally leaning on the door. il
I Vcrbally directed SPC Robinson that he needed to get away from the door
and sit down. After a couple more warnings from [ EEIEIE SPC Robinson sat
down.43°

SPC Robinson fled the conference room, escaping o/a 2205.
attempted to pursue, and then notified IS of SPC Robinson’s escape.44°

EDIOEDINIE sitting at the RES Staff Duty desk, heard a loud bang — like a door
slamming — at approximately 2205 to 2208. [SISEIEIS ran towards the noise and

“SA19-1, NSRS : PO 284; A-2-1, [NEAENEANS : PO 4.
“4A-2-1, [ NENRAS - PO 285.

495A-19-1, [ EENNRN - P9 8-9

3eA-111-1, NSNS : o 13.

“7A-19-1, RS P 3.

“5A-19-1, NS - P 3.

“9A-19-1, EEEREIS - P9 4

“0A-19-1, I NENERENS - P9 4
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observed a black male in civilian clothes running away from the RES area. Due to the
limited visibility jjjij could not determine if it was SPC Robinson. [SiSHEIIE ran to
the empty conference room, then back outside where she met with SIiSEIEN- He

informed her that SPC Robinson has fled. [SSESIIE notificdBISNEIS and
BISEEIEE of SPC Robinson’s escape.*’

MPs arrived on scene at approximately 2210.442 Local and national news quickly

reported SPC Robinson, a suspect in the disappearance and murder of SPC Guillén,
committed suicide.*43

1 July 2020
CID published the sixth of seven media releases. This release named suspects.***

Fort Hood Public Affairs Office published the seventh of ten media releases. This
release announced a 2 July press event.*4®

“1A-2-1, NN P ©.

42A-19-1, [N - P9 4.

443 Thayer, Rose L. (2020, July 1) Fort Hood soldier suspected in disappearance of Spc. Vanessa Guillen
kills himself after human remains found. Retrieved from https://www.stripes.com/news/us/fort-hood-
soldier-suspected-in-disappearance-of-spc-vanessa-guillen-kills-himself-after-human-remains-found-
1.635883; KHOU 11 Staff. (2020, July 1) Disturbing details reveal what happened to Vanessa Guillen the
night she disappeared from Fort Hood: Authorities say 20-year-old Spc. Aaron David Robinson killed
himself as officers moved in to arrest him. Retrieved from https://www.khou.com/article/news/local/
vanessa-guillen/vanessa-guillen-update-coming-from-fort-hood-on-thursday/285-4fad41df-19e7-4b08-
81a5-eb424db9b49b.

444B-4-22, CID Media Release 1 Jul: Guillén Investigation Update.

445B-4-23, Ft Hood Media Release 1 Jul: Ft Hood Senior Commander hosts press conference.
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2 July 2020

Fort Hood Public Affairs Office published the eighth of ten media releases. This
release included a Fort Hood senior leader update translated into Spanish.446

The first planned live event by Task Force Phantom was a press conference by MG
Efflandt and SIS o~ 2 July, 71 days after the disappearance. They
provided an update on the investigation, and discussed the discovery of unidentified
remains. This engagement was assessed by OCPA and the FORSCOM, Fort Hood,
and CID PAO teams as not well executed. Specifically, it appeared insincere and was
executed inconsistently.447

3 July 2020

Upon identification of SPC Guillén’s remains, the Fort Hood CAC submitted an
updated casualty report of "deceased" to CMAOD on 3 July.##

6 July 2020

CID published the final of seven media releases. This release confirmed
identification of the remains as SPC Guillén.*4°

Fort Hood Public Affairs Office published the ninth of ten media releases. This
release confirmed identification of the remains as SPC Guillén, translated into
Spanish.4%0

446B-4-23, Ft Hood Media Release 1 Jul: Ft Hood Senior Leader, CID discuss investigation.

“TA-117-1, IDISEBIEEE: ro 17, “And that's really, and there was a couple of, you know, reporter's
questions that got cut off and like that, but that's a very unfortunate tone from an outsider looking in that
played into the "Fort Hood is covering this."; A-15-1, [DEEEIEIE: P9 26, “Terrible [Assessment of the 2
Jul press conference] because--we couldn't speak a lot because of the investigation. | think it was--you
know, he made some mistakes--where General Efflandt made some mistakes is | think he kept calling it
Fort Bliss or something. | don't remember what it was. He made a couple of mistakes. And it just wasn't
sincere, | think... It did not come across sincere. It was checking a block, | want to say.”; A-57-1, jilF
Bl ro 12, “No, this is July 2nd. This is when we knew we had human remains and it had not been
identified yet and there were issues between the lawyer and the family getting information or not getting
information based on what was allowed by law. And the

G EEEIEE A d at that time he didn't have any new facts. And you saw--I mean, if
you've watched it, it became a hostile interview that wasn't protected.”; A-6-1, [SNSIEIEENS: ro 14 ‘| think
by that point, it went about as well as it could be expected which is to say it was a train wreck.”; A-97-1,

: pg 23, “Good guy, but I think I IEDISEDIEISEE came out a little aggressive and it
didn’t come across well.”; A-98-1, JDIEHEIEIEN: ro 8. "..-was just was it the right time to do it...".
448B-3-42, 652066 Guillén_Vanessa 10769735 Guillén Vanessa Initial STACH Report.

4498-4-25, CID Media Release 6 Jul: SPC Vanessa Guillén’s remains identified.
450B-4-26, Ft Hood Media Release 6 Jul: Remains positively identified. English and Spanish.
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17 July 2020

Fort Hood Public Affairs Office published the final of ten media releases. This
release announced the Memorial Service for SPC Guillén.45"

The first time MG Efflandt met SIS \v2as the unit memorial service on
17 July.452

September 2020

3CR published a revised Missing Trooper Battle Drill.453
b. Facts Pertaining to Family and Media Engagements.

The command required Spanish translation services to effectively communicate with
IS ¢ During 3CR engagements with the Guillén family, the unit used
two medics to assist with Spanish translation for the command.*%® A significant
inaccurate and erroneous narrative was being promoted by Spanish media outlets.
Three of the Fort Hood media releases — on 10 and 26 June, and 2 July — were
translated into Spanish. These conditions led Fort Hood to request additional Spanish
translation capabilities.*%®

451B-4-27, Ft Hood Media Release 17 Jul: Brave Rifles mourn SPC Guillén at Memorial Ceremony.
452A-37-1, MG Efflandt: pg 13, “..the only deliberate decision on engagement [of the Guillén Family] was
at the memorial.”.

453B-3-75, 3CR Missing Trooper Battle Drill .

44A-43-1 DSBS ro 10, “...he other reason for that, we knew that [ didn't speak English
well and by luck [BISHEDIGISEE < both native Spanish speakers, so | would have had to
use them anyway to translate.”.

455A-40-1, [ EEIERAIENN o . I e
IEIGNDIEISEN - And pg 2 “That | was going to serve as a translator for the CG and the [[Sji{sjll A-54-
1, ENENENRAIIN 9 . N
pg 2. “They’re like hey, IS . e need you as translator for the Guillén case for the family.”.
455A-36-1, IDIEEIE - ro 13, “So we wanted to make sure that we didn't let too much information out that
could tip off a potential suspect. And again, the families, we didn't want to come out and be adversarial or
confrontational to the families, so we were willing to take a couple of shots so to speak in social media in
order to protect the family and protect the family's feelings.”; A-37-1, MG Efflandt: pg 14, “But when you
have the first two events where you don't state the jurisdiction and have some level of truth and
transparency in there, and then you don'’t exercise these other things, then you create a vacuum that the
social media just fed on. They fed on the vacuum, so the scope of things that Fort Hood needs to fix grew
beyond what I think was factually grounded.”; A-71-1, IEEISEEIEIEN : ro 4-5. ‘It was prior to Salma
Hayek tweeting. Although, part of me as a media manager, we kept monitoring it in social media and we
were watching it grow as well... There was a lot of misinformation so we wanted to put something out that
would hopefully correct some of that information. ” pg 6, “There wasn’t an engagement plan. At this point
we were a bit overwhelmed with just keeping up with information at this point.” pg 9, “We initially asked for
help with social media, and then | also asked for help with Spanish speakers, because a lot of it was on
Spanish media. | just couldn't keep up with it by myself.”; A-98-1, IS ISEIEIEN: ro 5. ‘That was when
we started to see the surge of unit search activities. And part of that was being pushed out in response to
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The Guillén family received unit information from one or more Soldiers in the unit.*5”
During the 23 June press conference, made several references to
“someone important” giving her information about the unit; in her view, this source
confirmed the Army was lying to [gi§ and covering up something.**® [ had
been able to get phone number from

EISEEIS . \who had received the number from SN - °°

Through the first 60 days, no individuals were identified to interact with the media.*6°
in coordination with [JINIEEER. determined
that there should not be an in-person media engagement. The first video engagement
was a Facebook Live video by MG Efflandt on 21 June expressing care and concern
and asking for help finding SPC Guillén.467

It took 71 days after SPC Guillén disappeared for the first live public engagement, a
press conference that occurred on 2 July, to take place.*%? The 2 July press conference
was conducted by both MG Efflandt and [SIEEDIIESE ‘% The Task Force
Phantom/Garrison PAO office did not support executing this engagement.*%* MG
Efflandt recalled that he was getting guidance for the press conference from higher
headquarters, but did not recall if it was FORSCOM or HQDA..#6% Based on a statement

the social media blitz that the family and others were doing. And the rumors, misinformation at the time
that the Army wasn'’t doing anything. And how do you push back on that? Without directly calling--
guidance was given very early on from General Efflandt that family remarks would not be countered,
directly.”.

457A-163-1, Guillén Family 270CT20: pg 3, BISEEER o2ve DIENEIS rhone number to IR Who
gave it to [[NEN-

458Congresswoman Garcia/Guillén Family Press Conference 23 June Video:
https://www.fox7austin.com/video/699283.

49A-163-1, Guillén Family 270CT20: pg 3, BISEEIE c2ve [DIENEIEE rhone number to RIlIER Who
gave it to [BNEN-

460B-4-9, PAO Message Visualization.

461See Citation 368 (EIENENES citc. pg 26 cite).

462B-4-9, PAO Message Visualization.

463B-4-24, Ft Hood Media Release 2 Jul.

464A-57-1, EIREEIER o 11, “The only thing that occurred that | would not have done is this press
conference on the day that it was done...July 2nd.”; A-98-1, I ESEIEIE: ro 15, “The agreement had
to be late June, because the press conference | think happened on 1 July was a direct result of that VTC,
like you will do this General Efflandt.”.

485A-37-1, MG Efflandt: pg 15, “Then, the third period up until my lateral movement, | don’'t know how to
characterize it. It was a ‘controlled environment’ in terms of what we were allowed to message and when.
So in our engagements, SITREPs -- and there was a difference of opinions, like tactics, everybody’s got
an opinion on tactics, and in the engagement SITREPS that we would send up, | would list as decision
points. Most of them had to do with events that were going to be tied to public release of information like
pursuing disciplinary action, appropriate action, or release of a 15-6. Like, for decision point, | plan to do
this on this date, recognizing that there will be media package. During that phase, it was a controlled
environment that was synchronized from the Department of the Army on down... One of the AAR
comments in my notes was apparently we cut PAO slots from the Corps HQ a while back, maybe we
need to relook that... So we were not as sphisticated as we should have been at Fort Hood.".
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from BG Hannah, HQDA Chief of Public Affairs, the 2 July press conference was
decided on based on consensus between HQDA, OCPA, FORSCOM and CID.466

MG Efflandt did not deny the disappearance of SPC Guillén was a high profile event.
He did not recognize the trigger point that made the case high profile; the command’s
realization of the high profile nature of the disappearance grew or evolved over time. In
addition, the command created a vacuum by not being first with transparent truth that
was filled by a narrative in social media that was not factually grounded. In addition, MG
Efflandt felt the media response early on was inadequate.*6”

According to [SISHESIEIEE VG Efflandt’s guidance early on was for the
command to not contradict the Guillén family.468

focused on providing
social media manager / monitoring capability.*c° jjjjij work is evident on the PAO slide of
the Task Force Phantom Operations and Intelligence (O&l) briefs detailing trends in
social media regarding the disappearance of SPC Guillén. The garrison had |

whose Position Description included

management of the command’s social media accounts and Fort Hood website. In times
of crisis communication, this employee monitored multiple social media platforms and
disseminated command-approved products to these platforms.470

According to NSNS ot Hood PAO monitored social media
through software.*”! According to [SISEIEE. Task Force Phantom / Fort Hood

466B-4-30, MFR OCPA.

467A-37-1, MG Efflandt: pg 16, “I'm not denying it was a high profile event. | didn’t recognize the triggering
point. We grew into that” And pg 17. “...we can’t wait to be first with the truth... have some level of truth
and transparency in there, and then you don'’t exercise these other things, then you create a vacuum that
the social media just fed on... They fed on the vacuum, so the scope of things that Fort Hood needs to fix
grew beyond what | think was factually grounded... Not early on, no, sir. I'd be first with the truth. Pg 30
“We’d respond to the query, we thought that was appropriate and it wasn’'t adequate”.

468A-36-1, IDIDEI - ro 14, “But | recall that aspect of not confronting the family in social media coming
from General Efflandt.”; A-98-1, I NSEEIIEE: ro 19- “Not--in direct confrontation. If the family said this
we were not going to come back and say the family was lying or had misinformation.”.

4OA-71-1, IIDIEEDIEIEE 1o 4. “Although, part of me as a media manager, we kept monitoring it in
social media and we were watching it grow as well... And then the next conversation was what do we
follow-up with; did we want to do another social media post, did we want to do an article, did we want to
do a press release... | was tracking it in the Spanish media.”.

AOA-71-1, IIDIEEEIEIE o 6. ‘We only had one social media manager, and between him and _
kind of split some of the responsibilities.”; B-4-31, PD Public Affairs Specialist: pg 2-3, “...management of
the command Social Media and internet website... In times of crisis communication, monitors multiple
social media platforms and disseminates command approved products to these platforms.”.

ATA-57-1, IR ro 21, “So there are several media monitoring programs out there. You need a real-
time social media across the board monitoring system. There are two that | know of that are actually--that
most of the others only cover like the top thousand sites. The one that our office uses is called Zignal
Labs.”; A-98-1, I IENEIEIEN: ro 17, ‘So by using our media analysis software that we have, again,
they are watching this Spanish speaking Facebook social media sites.”.
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augmented the Task Force Phantom PAO staff with two additional Soldiers from Fort
Bliss to help monitor social media. NCOs were also pulled from separate brigade
elements, but their skill sets were not what was needed by Task Force Phantom PAO.
Task Force Phantom / Fort Hood PAO also requested support through FORSCOM to
OCPA for additional social media and Spanish-translation capabilities.*”> To help with
social media capabilities, elements from the Theater Public Affairs Support Element
were identified and committed to support Fort Hood, but that capability did not arrive
until the first week of October. Fort Hood assessed that this additional capability also did
not have the needed social media expertise.*"3

According to [N - social media activity known as

doxxing - the public disclosure of private or identifying information of an individual,
typically with malicious intent - challenged Task Force Phantom / Fort Hood and
presented personal risk to Senior Leaders on Fort Hood. Doxxing negatively impacted

three key leaders in particular: [N ER <
According [ISNESIS NN . [ 2sk Force Phantom / Fort Hood did

not have written standard operating procedures or policy guidance for conducting public
affairs functions and operations, to include how to operate during a crisis.4’®

According to MG Efflandt, BG Hannah and Mr. Brady, Deputy Chief of Public Affairs,
gave him different advice.*’® This caused MG Efflandt to reach out to LTG White,

A2A-71-1, DI EEIEESE o ©. ‘So we asked for Spanish speakers and we asked for social media
assistance from FORSCOM...And so we brought [SISEEIISI |- to the headquarters to
help us monitor social media, kind of do a rundown, a summary on what jjjjij was seeing in Spanish
media. And we would ask for help with the social media aspect. And we did get two Soldiers from Fort
Bliss who came to help monitor social media. At Ill Corps we pulled up the NCOs from our brigade
separate, but it just wasn't necessarily what we needed. The skill set wasn't what we needed; so we had
the people but not the skill set.”.

43A-125-1, DI ro 24. ‘My sense is that the request for actual help meaning like what
resources, what additional resources or support you need was late when | came. It wasn’t until this week
that | just got the final folks of the TPASE (Theater Public Affairs Support Element) actually on the
ground. This week. | still don't think we have anybody who is truly social media savvy outside of the folks
who we have already pulled in our organization and we have asked for some expertise there on it. | don't
think we have received that.”.

474A-128-1, DSBS : o 5- “‘And there was a period of time where mv -- | and my family were
receiving threats. [SISHDIISE \/2s receiving threats because, in social media, we were tied
to the case, falsely of course...”; B-4-32, Task Force Phantom Analysis PAO 9 Sep: Slide [DISNEINES

A5A-71-1, IDISNEINISE 1o 13, ‘I don't think there was any SOP on how to handle a missing Soldier
case.”; A-98-2, DIGHEIGIS 1o 4. ‘| have the guys still looking but we don’t have a standard SOP.
When it comes to a crisis, the standard, you like paper, you like pencils, the organization within our office
we don’t have SOP that doesn’t apply here. This is a crisis, this is the information during a crisis, and this
is how we operate during the crisis.”.

478A-37-1, MG Efflandt: pg 12-13, “FORSCOM was supportive, but not really a voting constituent with its
resources. When | talked to OCPA, if | talked to Amy, or talking to the Deputy, | could get two different
directions of advice. But different perceptions of what actions should occur in the media space from
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forward deployed with HQ, Il Corps, and request the redeployment of IR
IEIE SR 02 4 July. ‘"’

According to (BSOS FORSCOM PAO was actively
engaged with the disappearance of SPC Guillén from an early date. The FORSCOM

PAO maintained situational awareness, reported critical information to the FORSCOM
CG, and supported Task Force Phantom / Fort Hood PAO. FORSCOM was frustrated
with the unwillingness of Fort Hood's PAO team to follow recommendations to actively
engage. In addition, FORSCOM created an engagement plan on 16 June that was not
fully implemented. 478

LTG Quintas, FORSCOM DCG, assessed that SPC Guillén's case became a high-
profile event in the June 2020 timeframe. Crisis action teams from OCPA, OCLL, PMG,
FORSCOM, and Task Force Phantom began meeting regularly to better synchronize
actions, with increased frequency as required to address specific events
(announcement of identified remains, release of |G Inspection results, etc.). This
included events held the 3-star level, led by either LTG Quintas or LTG Piatt (Director,
Army Staff). FORSCOM also required increased frequency of reporting and increased
detail to promote situational awareness from the brigade to HQDA levels.4"®

The Director of the Army Staff (DAS) directed the standing up of a Crisis Action
Team (CAT) to address the disappearance of SPC Vanessa Guillén. The triggers for
standing up this CAT were National level media interest and the Selma Hayek social
media post. The DAS’ guidance for the CAT was to help the unit with messaging. The
purpose of the DAS CAT was to define the problem and make recommendations to
Army Senior Leaders. There was a total of five (5) actual CAT meetings from 15 June

FHTX. To be fair, these differences may have been a function of elapsed time. Sometime during this
when talking to LTG White he asked me if | need the Corps PAO to return from theater. Based on

previous experience and | told him no but | said, | will the take the | I DIGIDIDOEEEE

ATA-117-1, IDIEEEIEEE  ro 4. “And so | left on July 2nd. | arrived back here at Fort Hood, Texas,
July 4th, went into quarantine, and started immediately working on the Guillén case.”.
AEA-AT-1, B A-6-1. DSBS : 1o 6. ‘| think that's the counsel that SIS 2nd the
team there at Fort Hood were listening to is, hey, it's under investigation, we’ve got nothing else to say. |
think some of the frustration that | felt was, well, you can say that you're looking for her or you can say
that you care or you can show that you're not trying to hide things... The obvious frustration, | think il
at FORSCOM expressed this too and expressed it to jijiill. if that’s the case, what you're doing is not
working. Try something else... | know that by this point, il at FORSCOM was sharing my frustration in
terms of engagement and we were just working on how creatively could we get them to the point where
they're out”; A-71-1, INENENENGIENN; A-63-1, NOISNEIEEN A-°7-1, IDISNOIEE: P 1. We
knew fairly early on that CID had a very active role in this and they were taking the lead on the
investigation... o, they kept us in the loop. | kept General Garrett--1 would push notes to General Garrett
as the situation changed to keep him--to keep him engaged.” Pg 8. “Good guy, but | think he came out a
little aggressive and it didn't come across well. By that point, we were all frustrated by some of the
misinformation, rumors and speculation and what not.”; B-4-33, FORSCOM Engagement Plan.
479A-164-1, LTG Quintas.
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through 1 July. By the 2nd or 3rd meeting,

stated that the CAT had no sense of how Task Force Phantom
was handling the problem. The HQDA impression was that

was engaged but “outgunned”. Two tasks that came out of the CAT: 1)
Directed FORSCOM and Task Force Phantom to develop a timeline for the
disappearance of SPC Guillén, and 2) the CAT had to determine key and critical Army
Senior Leader engagements with media and Congress. HQDA stressed that the unit
and Task Force Phantom did not understand the magnitude of the event. According to
, it was apparent to the team that there was a debate between CID
and Task Force Phantom/3CR on who owned the information and what could be
released. From the CAT lens, it seemed at the time that the unit was doing all they
could but it had been brewing for so long that it could not be unraveled. In addition, the
CAT was supposed to help with the preparations/questions for the Congresswoman
Garcia’s visit to Fort Hood. He admitted that the intent was to help arm the unit for the
visit but likely created more burden for the unit.4&

BGOSR noted that in one of the SVTC (he could not remember

exact date) | IDISHEIEIEN rccalled that MG Efflandt made a statement noting that
he did not understand why we (the Army) were treating this missing Soldier differently.
MG Efflandt explained that his concern came from the precedent it was setting. The
DAS responded that we never leave a fallen comrade.*8’

OCLL directly communicated with Il Corps and provided guidance on congressional
engagements reference the SPC Guillén’s disappearance.*®? As commanders, MG
Efflandt and [ EEIEEE made decisions on and engaged with non-DoD parties.*8
made decision on local law enforcement and
Texas EquuSearch.*® It is unclear at this point who made decisions on engaging
LULAC and the Alianza Latina Internacional.

Task Force Phantom / Fort Hood did not initially know that the Guillén family was
working League of United Latin American Citizens (LULAC), a Hispanic Organization
focused on protecting the rights of Latinos. They realized LULAC was a key non-DoD
party involved in the case when they participated in the 23 June Congresswoman
Garcia visit to Fort Hood. Once recognized, Fort Hood immediately engaged LULAC
specifically their local chapter. Fort Hood included them in their civic and community

40A-165-1, (I

481A-165-1,

482B-4-35, OCLL Task Force Phantom Email.

483A-37-1, MG Efflandt: pg 20, “I said, “okay, let the Corps be the face of that”; with the exception of Rep
Garcia--a conversation, we had a dialogue with public affairs engagement we took on at Ill Corps.”; A-88-
1, DISEEIEESE 1o 29, ‘In regards to the family, | think | said | kind of took over comms with the family.”;
B-4-36, EXSUM REP Garcia CODEL FHTX.

484See Facts Page 50 "CID effectively coordinated for support with approximately 20 agencies to assist in
searches, interviews and leads."
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engagement and grew those engagements to include other non-DoD patrties like the
NAACP and the local Korean/American organization.4>

The Task Force Phantom / Fort Hood leadership designated S ISEEIENE
to engage non-DoD parties at Fort Hood
IR had community relations and congressional engagements in his portfolio. 8

Between 22 April and 28 June, no PAO engagement plan or any other standard
public affairs products were created at the Task Force Phantom / Fort Hood level.#87 On
11 May, BIGHDIGEEEEEE <turned from Intermediate Level Education to
the 3CR Headquarters. jjjiij assessed the situation and created a 3CR
#findvanessaguillen social media plan, a battle drill, and a social media crisis action
checklist to guide the response.#8¢ These guidance documents were not leveraged by
3CR, since verbal and email guidance from the Task Force Phantom / Fort Hood PAO
was not to conduct any media engagements to protect the integrity of the investigation
at all costs.*8°

In an email originating from the DAS’ office, Senior Commander, Fort Hood was
tasked, by Army Senior Leaders through FORSCOM, to develop a community
engagement plan and provide updates.*%

On 28 June, MG Efflandt approved an engagement plan to correct “2020
misinformation regarding FHTX.” The plan aimed to inform key groups - such as the

485A-36-1, IDIENEIEIE ro 21, “So we knew that information was getting passed, just we weren't passing it
directly. Which again, we learned a lot of lessons in two months. And that's some of the things that we are
doing now; we've reached out to the local LULAC chapter and have improved the relationship with her,
and including the organization in many more of the engagements that we had.”; B-4-37, DISEDIEE cmail
regarding events.

485A-36-1, [DIDNEIES ro 1. “Again as the [DIENDINSE  surrort whatever the iR
HEIGEEIGIEE nceds done. A lot of times | will backfill meetings that he can't attend for whatever
reason. Normal deputy type duties and responsibilities. In addition to that | also have the portfolio of
community relations, as well as Congressional delegations.”.

487A-37-1, MG Efflandt: pg 14, “So there wasn’t public affairs guidance initially because it wasn’t an event,
it was a Soldier missing, we’re going to find her. Then, we generally responded to query because it's an
ongoing investigation.”.

488B-4-40, Email .

489A-66-1, IREDEER: ro ©. il said that DSBS \vas returning from doing battlefield
circulation that day, and |jjjli had something prepared for him to look at to possibly release. | told g’ let
me know when you release it, we’ll push it out too... And jjijlij called me up that evening and said iR
BEERR doesn’t want to say anything yet."; A-83-1, [DISEEIEISE: ro 8. ‘But basically the guidance |
had from SIREREER is that | did have to receive permission from him...l was sitting down with him kind of
going over what was going on on social media, "Should we share something? What should we share?"
But then also working with 11l Corps because we wouldn't release anything at our level before it was
reviewed by CID, PAO, lll Corps PAO. So there was never anything coming out of our office.”.

490B-4-38, Email Tasking SMC Ft Hood: “Key tasks from ASLs: OPR FORSCOM; OCR PMG / CID,
OCPA, OCLL, OTJAG, OGC, TIG: Direct Senior Commander, Fort Hood, TX, to develop a community
engagement plan and provide weekly updates to ASL. Plan for first weekly ASL update during 8 JUL at
1300 EST — Meeting Invitation to follow.”.
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Guillen family, assigned Soldiers, civic leaders, and the general public - of the facts
associated with SPC Guillén’s disappearance, and address concerns expressed by third
parties while protecting the integrity of the investigation. This was the first published
command guidance to respond to the Guillén family, media, and non-DoD
engagements.*9! Eight key actions associated with this plan were to:

1) Establish an Operational Planning Team (OPT) to meet at least twice weekly to
brief MG Efflandt and Task Force Phantom CSM as an IPR and for decision. The
media Work Group needed to meet daily except weekends. The 1st Cavalry Division
Commanding General agreed to support the media work group with representation
from his PAO shop.

2) Established Fort Hood CCIR to support the plan; Congressional queries, media
narratives, by name attacks, etc.

3) Identified dates of execution against the activities in the plan.

4) Concurrently prepared supporting briefing materials. Designated [SIEEE
R as the keeper of all products and iteration of the plan.

5) Resource the OPT and WG's to action the plan immediately, move at the speed of
war. ldentified offensive and defensive sections in the plan.

6) Identified best practices from MG Efflandt’s time at Cyber Command that
included: go to where the audience is (Instagram, Twitter, SnapChat); Facebook is
for old people and they are not giving us a problem; if they needed software, then
buy the license (outlined that TRADOC had done this for their COEs); have 1 or
more counter # themes; recommended contacting [[ISHDINISINEEEEEEE
who offered to retransmit Task Force Phantom messages across their social media
accounts and sites.

7) Guided that Task Force Phantom responses (especially on social media) must
address the breadth of complaints, if not in volume then in scope.

8) Supported DIRLAUTH to OCLL for Congressional engagements. Provided
guidance to go back to FORSCOM and ask specifically about engaging the CASA's
and LULAC.

491B-4-39, Email MG Efflandt Move at the Speed of War.
78
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c. Facts Pertaining to the 3CR SHARP Program.

The Il Corps SHARP program office exercises oversight of the Il Corps/ Fort Hood
subordinate units’ SHARP programs to include 3CR. Between approximately DEC 2018
until 01 April 2020, the Ill Corps/ Fort Hood SHARP program reported to the Director of
the Fort Hood Ready and Resilient (R2) Program office. In reporting to the R2 program,
the Il Corps/Fort Hood SHARP program did not have direct, routine access to the lll
Corps/Fort Hood Commander.

. ®veomno |
B A IO orimary duty is policy enforcement and policy

compliance.”9?

Until late 2019 ISR characterized the lll Corps/ Fort Hood SHARP program
as reactive and ineffective; a five on a scale of one to ten. He now assesses the |l
Corps/ Fort Hood program as trending positive.4%3

is responsible for the execution of an effective 3CR SHARP Program.
DIGEEIEE) rublished 3CR Policy Letter #3 (a combined policy) - Sexual
Harassment/ Assault Response and Prevention (SHARP) and Special Victims Counsel
(SVC) dated 06 JAN 20.4%* This policy articulates several main points: does not tolerate
sexual harassment or sexual assault within 3CR, informs 3CR Soldiers that the
retaliating against, or ostracizing Soldiers who make complaints, is not tolerated in 3CR,
and if 3CR Soldiers witness or otherwise know of incidents of sexual harassment, they
are obligated to act and mandated his subordinate commanders take prompt action to
investigate all complaints of sexual harassment and sexual assault.

published 3CR Policy Letter #3 six months after he took command. Prior to publishing
3CR Policy Letter #3, [SISNEIE rclied on his predecessor's SHARP policy.

The 3CR MTOE authorizes one full-time active duty SARC and one full-time DAC
VA to assist in advocating, implementing and executing the 3CR SHARP Program. il

[

Il 3CR SHARP Team also consists of: one Regimental Staff Judge Advocate, one
Physician, nine Physicians Assistants, 222 Combat Medics, eight Chaplains, eight
Chaplains Assistants and one Sexual Assault Medical Forensic Examiner.49°

492A-45-1, BIDEEES ro 18, “As ISNEIISEE MY rrimary duty is policy enforcement, policy
compliance and the recommendations are just that.” Enforcement is defined as actions taken to
induce/compel compliance. Compliance is defined as conforming with requirements.

493A-45-1, IS ro 20, “Serving in five different chairs, the lack of support for getting after collateral
duty SARCS and VAs, lack of support for TEAL, 4833 misfires, I'd have to give ita 5.” pg 10 When il
B \vas asked about recent progress and Major General Richardson” IS stated, he “very
much so” saw it as trending positive.

494B-6-14, 3CR Policy #3 SHARP and SVC 6 JAN 20.

495B-6-26, 3CR SHARP Enablers Matrix.
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Additionally, subordinate commanders and collateral duty SARCs and
VAs are involved in the 3CR SHARP Program.

stated he
did not immediately have a “seat” at his commander’s table from which he could advise
and rates [[ISNEIEIEN participation in the SHARP program as “a

strong 5"#% on a scale of 1 to 10.

BN Subsequently, EENEEEGNGGIONDIER © fulfil VA duties as a

result of GOSN N ISP rotired in October
2020. IR = trained Pioneer squadron SHARP asset, is currently serving as the

Throughout the 3CR, subordinate commanders, leaders and Soldiers reported 3CR
SHARP program information was posted on unit bulletin boards and included sexual
assault and sexual harassment policies, victim services, victim’s rights; definition of
terms, and the names and contact information for unit and Regimental SARCs and VAs.

BIEGNEIEE) conveys his intent for SHARP in his “People Line of Effort” in the 3CR
Command Plan.*%® When questioned about [ENEENEE. five of the seven current
3CR Squadron Commanders reported S ESEIIE) verbally advocated the SHARP
program.*®® One Squadron Commander recalled a January 2020 training meeting in
which [BIESHEIEE) stated, “If we understand one thing, it needs to be SHARP,” but
then noted “In the first six months of IS 2! training was NTC
related.”% Another squadron commander stated, “SHARP was always present, but
readiness for training, maintenance and Command Discipline Programs were
emphasized more frequently.”®" A third Squadron Commander noted, “Over the last
two months (JUN-JUL 2020) the SHARP Program and People have been my
Commander’s #1 priority. Prior to that maintenance, then training had been higher
ranking priorities.”%2 A troop commander shared, “People and taking care of Soldiers is

45A-60-1, [ENEINEINRANS] PO 8.

- |

4%8B-6-27, 3CR Training Guidance 11NOV19.

O9A-43-1, DIDEEIE A-A-11, BISEEIEE o 2, “Emphasis on SHARP was always present, but
readiness for training, maintenance and Command Discipline Programs were emphasized more
frequently”; A-A-3, IS 1o 2. “ BRI rlaced an emphasis on SHARP from the time [ji§ arrived
and that has increased in recent months.”; A-A-7, [BISHEIE A-A-S. DISIDIS -

S°A-A-3,

TA-A-11, [

02A-A-8, (NN P9 3-
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priority but often times the taskings and upcoming missions seem to overtake what will
actually be the priority.”03

When interviewed, four of the five Squadron Commanders did not recall SHARP
being specifically mentioned in their initial counseling with , however, one
recalled “emphasis being placed on treating other with dignity and respect” during his
initial counseling.%%* Another Squadron Commander wrote, °
placed an emphasis on SHARP from the time he arrived and that has increased in
recent months. It was apparent from the time we arrived in | ISHSIIENE that the
Regiment had a problem and SIS rrovided guidance and prioritization, particularly
post-NTC, to invest in “people”, which included SHARP.”5% All reported SHARP as a
discussion point in subsequent counseling sessions with an increased emphasis in the
past 90 days (AUG-OCT 2020).5% Many of the 14 Troop Commander’s echoed these
sentiments noting priorities frequently change.

Within 3CR, training on SHARP has been conducted per AR 350-1.57 Additionally,
all 3CR Squadron Commanders interviewed attended the Fort Leavenworth centralized
battalion Pre-Command Course.5% Half of the 3CR Troop Commanders interviewed
reported attendance at the Fort Hood Company Commander / First Sergeant Course
which includes a block of instruction on SHARP.50°

Despite PCC attendance, Squadron and Troop commanders interviewed indicated a
lack of understanding on how to support Soldiers who make sexual harassment or
sexual assault complaints.?'° Troop commanders knew a reprisal plan is required

S3A-A-14, BISEEIEE ro 3, ‘People and taking care of Troopers is priority but often times the taskings
and upcoming missions seem to overtake what will actually be the priority.”.

S4A-A-11, NI P9 2. [N A -3, ISR P9 2, “Not in
great detail in my first one”; A-A-7, [DICGEEIEIE rg 2. ‘I do not recall SHARP being specifically
mentioned in my initial counselling. Culture of dignity and respect was discussed.”; A-A-8, [[EjiSEEAN
pg 2, “In my first counseling it was not mentioned, FEB2020".

S°A-A-3, SN Po 3.

S06A-A-11, IDISEIE ro 2. ‘Since the additional attention on sexual assault and harassment in the last
90 days, more pointed discussion occurred during counseling.”; A-A-3, (IS ro 2, “Yes. My most
recent counseling we talked about it for 10 or 15 minutes.” and “ The [[ijiillp!aced an emphasis on
SHARP from the time he arrived and that has increased in recent months.”; A-A-8 [SIESHEIEE] Po 2. ‘It
was in writing in my most recent, September 2020.”.

S07A-88-1, IS ro 19; See References: AR 350-1 dated DEC 17, pg 18, CH 2-8 para q, pg 45,
CH 2-46 para cc and Table F-1 pg 175.

S0BA-A-3, IEEEIE 1o 3, "Beyond unit-led 350-1 training or the SHARP 360, little to none".

S09A-45-1, ISHEIEE ro 36, “the company commanders on the installation need to go through a
deliberate block of instruction at a pre-command course. It [has] to be more than an half of an hour.” il is
stating all company grade commander go to a troop school prior to command and he believes more than
a half hour of training at the course.

S10A-A-15, IDIEEIE ro 5. "I will report the complaint directly to the SQDN SARC; A-A-5,

pg 3, “l do not recall any specific training on how to lead and support Soldiers who make complaints.”; A-
A-6, IS rg 6, When asked about actions required for receipt of sexual harassment or sexual
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following a Soldier's complaint, yet were not able to articulate specific actions required
to support Soldiers who report.>!!

One troop commander noted, “I do not recall any specific training on how to lead and
support Soldiers who make complaints.”2

The 3CR SHARP program was not routinely briefed at the Regimental New Comers
brief. NSNS also reports he had “to fight” to get SHARP included in the
program.”" (IS . < oted it was not briefed at the
September 2020 Regimental New Comers brief.5'4

is responsible for the RES SHARP program. He published two SHARP
policies shortly after assuming command in MAY 2019. His two SHARP policies, RES
Policy Letter #6, Sexual Harassment Complaint Procedure and RES Policy Letter #7,
SHARP Program are dated 29 May 2019. His policies expressed his commitment to the
Army’s policy against sexual harassment and sexual assault as well as communicated
to his Soldiers sexual harassment and sexual assault would not be tolerated in his
formation. RES Policies #6 and #7 prohibits the retaliation against and ostracizing of
Soldiers who make complaints. The policies detailed how RES Soldiers can file
complaints. The reporting policy for sexual harassment is found in RES policy letter #6
while the sexual assault reporting process is in located in RES policy #7. Assistingjiilili
Bl and the RES SHARP program is B

e.eone
[ i:epor;s “ k?kow E)rm_ .people really seem to respect the
B when they talk to him.”

lIl Corps was unable to provide E/FST SHARP policies signed by (IS -

assault said, "Notify the VA/SARC to ensure Soldier has an advocate to assist them with resources
available to victim.".

511A-A-1 thru A-A-19 Interviews with 3CR Squadron & Troop Commanders, : Commanders interviewed
did not provide concrete examples of how they encourage Soldiers to make complaints aside from
documenting and verbalizing their support in training session.

S2A-A-5, GBI ro 3. | do not recall any specific training on how to lead and support Soldiers who
make complaints.”.

513A-60-1, [DIENEIEE ro 7. ‘let’s start with the newcomers brief. So SHARP and EO wasn't being
invited to the newcomer’s brief so how do you talk about SHARP without SHARP rep. pg 7-8, "So we
actually got to him and said, 'hey, sir, we need to be there' but the problem was not that he did not invite
us, it was that [ SIS \vouldn't tell us. So you would have the chaplain there but you wouldn’t
have the SHARP and EO.".

S1“A-B-4, DISEEIEE ro 2. ‘It was only after that engagement that all of a sudden every SARC/VA in
Regiment was required to be at the every Regimental Newcomers Brief.”.

#15A-49-1, NSNS P9 O.
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Defense Equal Opportunity Management Institute (DEOMI) Organizational Climate
Survey (DEOCS) assist commanders in assessing and monitoring many factors in their
command. DEOCS are required within 60 days of assuming command.5'®

EIENEIE N D= OCS surveys were reviewed.
Other 3CR Squadron and Troop DEOCS were not reviewed.

Commanders who complete DEOCS early in command use the initial survey results
as a baseline from which to affect change. SNSRI completed his DEOCS survey
in his tenth month of command,®'” 23 April 2020. [EENEIEEE received his initial
DEOCS results consisting of more than 300 pages. 1877 Soldiers of the 3CR’s
authorized 4400 Soldiers participated in the survey. The 40% participation rate was
consistent with DOD averages however the length of the survey results exceeded
typical reports. Absent an initial DEOCS prior to 10" month of command, [EIEDIREI
did not have an established baseline required to build his program or inform prevention
activities.

Eight climate factors®'® - Inclusion, Discrimination, Sexual Harassment, Sexual
Harassment Retaliation, Sexual Assault Prevention, Sexual Assault Reporting
Knowledge, Sexual Assault Response, and Sexual Assault Retaliation - are rated by
demographic sub-groups and assigned a grade based on the percentage of favorable
responses to associated survey questions. The four grades are: Improvement Needed
(below 50%), Caution (50-69%), Adequate (70-89%), and Excellent (90% and above).

total responses in aggregate measured across the eight climate
factors were: 12.5%, or one, was rated as Improvement Needed, 75%, or six, of the
factors were rated as Caution, and 12.5%, or one, were rated as Adequate.®'® The
difference in perception between ranks was again reflected in the sub-group ratings.
Senior Officers, Junior Officers, and Senior Enlisted rated Inclusion as Adequate while
Junior Enlisted rated the same factor as Improvement Needed. Sexual Assault
Prevention was rated as Excellent by senior officers, adequate by junior officers and
Senior Enlisted, and Caution by Junior Enlisted. Sexual Assault response was rated
similar with excellent for senior and junior officers, adequate for senior enlisted and
caution for junior Enlisted. Repeating the findings in the Squadron and Troop reports,
Junior Enlisted rated Sexual Assault Report Knowledge as Improvement Needed.

516B-6-21, FORSCOM Supplement 1 to AR 600-20 (19 Jun 2018): pg 5, para 13a; “All Active Army
commanders will conduct an initial command climate assessment within 60 days of assuming command,
to be followed by a subsequent assessment annually thereafter while retaining command.”; B-6-23, AD
2018-07-6 (Prioritizing Efforts-Readiness and Lethality (Update 6)) dated 25MAY2018.

57B-6-7 IDIGEDINISEE 2 1/APR20 DEOCS .

5180f the 16 factors measured in the DEOCs, these eight factors were selected because they measure
respondents' knowledge pertaining to sexual assault and sexual harassment, and leadership factors
which influence a Soldier's willingness to report: trust and inclusion.

5°B-6-7, IIDISEEIEIEEE . 21~APR20 DEOCS : pg, 10-11 Score Card.
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Soldier comments collected in COL Overland's DEOCS supported the Fort Hood
Independent Review Committee (FHIRC) findings as well as statements made by
Soldiers interviewed in the course of this investigation. Write-in comments ranged from
positive to negative with Soldiers expressing concems about transparency, command
climate, sexual assault, sexual harassment and operational tempo (OPTEMPO).

— |ﬂthur h‘H‘llH Us. A

Mocda

|ivaper i
Bl tETH

Climate Factor Rating Units
l- % +£_} i % '*.I'r']
P 6% 75%
Trust in Leadership 164%] =5 %) {-11%)
Caution % %
Inclusion at Waork 124 |- 4%) (-12%)
e 68% 74%
Sexual Harassment 1805¢) (-5%) (-14%)
Caution 73% 78%
Sexual Assault Prevention Climate ([ |- B9 (-11%6)
MNeeds
|I'I'|Ffﬁ'i!ﬂ'ltﬂt EUIH Eﬁ
Sexual Assault Reporting Knowledge (453 (-4 9] [-13%)
Ao iate 76% 83%
Sexual Assault Response Climate g (-6%) {-13%)
Cantion 63% 72%
Sexual Assault Retaliation Climate 157 (-6%) (-15%)
Caution 66 T5%
Sexual Harassment Retaliation [ET] {-2%%) (-14%)
SUMMARY:
1/16 - Needs Improvement, 14/16 - Caution and 1 f16 - Adequate

Cmssrn Suderpaale
150-63%] I70-85%])

Figure 7-2: NENEEEENSE DECOCS (21 April 20

Statements of concem regarding the command climate expressed by Soldiers
assigned to the 3CR in the 21 April 2020 3CR Command Climate survey include:

“3CR is the most undisciplined organization | have work[ed] in in my entire career.
NCOs are afraid to discipline soldiers because they are constantly being threatened
by the ] He is consistently belittling troop leadership in front of soldiers, "0

S2B-6-7, 3CF. . 21APR20 DECCS .
B4
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“I've tried to make a report before. Absolutely nothing got done about it causing me
to lose all faith in our leadership’s ability to care for their soldiers. Now as my
leadership gets to pretend nothing ever happened to make their lives easier, | deal
with this every day.”%?!

“Our SHARP program is a joke and we have known predators still coming to work as
though they’ve never done anything. The people who file reports frequently have
their lives upended and destroyed due to rank differences.”%?

“When the person accused of any sexual misconduct is a lower enlisted, leaders go
above and beyond to punish the soldier while if the person committing the
misconduct is high ranking, leadership like to keep it to the lowest level and try their
hardest to convince victims and witnesses not to make an official complaint.”523

“There are many incidents within the unit that soldiers are told not to file or seek
criminal investigation for due the position that the accused is in many of the soldiers
are given corrective actions for reporting these crimes.”5%

assumed command IEISHEIEIEE 2nd received his initial DEOCS
results consisting of 69 pages in his fifth month of command. Seven of the eight factors
(87.5%) were rated caution and one factor (12.5%) rated adequate. ISR
completed his second command climate survey 23 SEP 20. [SISHEIE subsequent
2020 DEOCS survey did not indicate marked improvement in the [jjilijicommand
climate.

Despite the increase of survey participants from 136 in 2019 to 301 in 2020, ratings
remained relatively the same. Ratings continued to reflect significant differences in
command climate perceptions between ranks. In this report, Officers rated Sexual
Assault Response as Excellent (97%) and Enlisted rated it as Caution (66%). This
report indicates no significant change in responses to the RES Equal Opportunity / Fair
Treatment and SAPR Climate survey ratings from October 2019 to September 2020
and the results are consistent with ratings from the Regiment and Troop level DEOCS
Reports.

521B-6-7, 3CR, [ EIENEENS. 21APR20 DEOCS .
522B.6-7, 3CR, [ SIS 21APR20 DEOCS .
5238.6-7, 3CR, [ SIS 21APR20 DEOCS .
524B.6-7, 3CR, [ NEIENNS. 21APR20 DEOCS .
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Figure 14— DEOCS (1 October 19 and 23 September 20)

Comments from S combined DEOCs surveys include:

“Males and Females are not always treated equally. Senior leaders like to joke about
EC and when an individual takes a stand against it, the one who makes the joke is
upset that someona argued with them, though they wera in the wrong. This sort of
thing happens often at the senlor NCO level "%

“This organization is unfit to exist. The US Amy as a whole has a bad reputation
from the current unit, 3CR. Leadership is not fit for duty and favoritism is a major
deal. Some of the most senior leaders in this ﬁuadmn tell inappropriate jokes and
stories. But if | did it I'd get in a lot of trouble.”

*My 15G treats Hispanic soldiers better than other races. He repeatedly speaks
Spanish with and jokes with them. | also see multiple senior NCOs outside of my
Flatoon try to speak with or engage in small talk with female junior soldiers in ways
they do not with males. It is a topic that has been addressed within my Platoon and
Squad but is something that makes my soldiers uncomfortable as well as it"%7

assumed command in [ =nd received his initial DEOCS
results consisting of 44 pages on 22 April 2019, EfFST Enlisted Soldiers rated all eight
factors of Equal Opportunity (EO) and Sexual Assault Prevention and Response
(SAPR) activities as Improvement Needed or Caution. Three of the eight factors were

55B8-6-8, RES, ,010CT19 DEOCS.
“¥g.g-8, RES, = 010CT19 DEOCS.
“9B-6-8, RES, guumems. 010CT19 DEOCS.
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rated (37.5%) Improvement Meeded and five (62.5%) were rated Caution. The
Improvement Needed factors were Inclusion (42%), Discrimination (40%), and Sexual
Assault Report Knowledge (38%). There were less than five senior enlisted and officer
responses in the unit, thereby data is not displayed for their responses. i (81, (B} (THC did
not complete a second command climate survey.

Other Caval
Climate Factor Unit ”{‘;ﬂr
[ % +/-)
7% 7559
Trust in Leadership [-18%] [-23%)
I Prﬂ-':l‘dl':lﬂt 53% EIE%
Inclusion at Waork [43%] [-15%] [-225%]
BE% 75%
Sexual Harassment [-127%) [-19%)
FEL. T95
Sexual Assault Prevention Climate [-18%] [-24%)
Needs
Improvemeant 1% Eﬂﬁ
Sexual Assault Reporting Knowledge [39%] [-12%] I-21%]
Caution 78% 83%
Sexual Assault Response Climate [B05] [-18%)] [-235]
Caution B5% 73%
Sexual Assault Retaliation Climate [529%] [-13%] [-21%]
Caution B6E% To%
Sexual Harassment Retaliation [B056] [-B%) [-16%]
SUMMARY:
B/16 Needs Improvement; 8/16 Caution

[ WP Adequesle
[50-61] Im
Figure 7-4: 1NN DEOCS (22 Aprl 19

Comments from i) (81, (B) (T HC] April 2019 DEOCs surveys include:
"NCO's not encouraging soldiers to go to the promotion board. They [NCOs] barely

spend time with them when [the] Soldier [needs] help to study for the board, no
mock board. Every time they process finance, they always lose the papers and it

ar
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takes almost a year to [process]. Some leader discouraging his Soldier for his/her
professional growth.”%8

“Some Soldiers discriminate [against] me because of my race.”®?°

“No, they don’t correct the individuals that mess up; they let them get away with stuff
because they favorites.”30

Command climate and the implementation of an effective SHARP program are
closely linked. A successful SHARP program requires commander’s intent, guidance,
advocacy, and support.

In making his initial assessment, [[SIIEEIEES) confirmed he knew the 3CR

command climate needed work when | IO ONNEEE
said, IS \ou could just feel it—the SIRS were high, the

misconduct...We had new Commanders [Squadron]...Everybody was learning their
people. Half of the Troop Commanders were new, and at the Regimental level, having
some of the SIRS coming in, | felt the velocity...it was too many for me, so we needed
to work on standards and discipline. The way | saw | it, the organization was performing
well. We performed very well at NTC [2019]. We had a great safety record...Did very
well the whole CTC. But the performance of an organization and the health of an
organization is the unit and the Soldiers. So | was very cognizant about that. | just felt
that we needed more time with people based on the climate surveys. | felt like we were
not walking the talk. We needed to work on standards and discipline, and take it to the
next level, and | felt like we weren’t there.”%3

EDISEEIEE) also commented, “Prior to shelter-in-place [COVID], we were
executing training. We were working up to coming out of individual training. Right up
until the holidays [2019], we were doing NTC. We completed a (regimental-level) NTC
rotation. We did a JRTC rotation with one Squadron going into the holiday period.
Coming out of the holidays, we went back into the field in January [2020]....and we
were doing individual training during January, February, and March....time for the
fundamentals and working at squad level; we really wanted to train and certify leaders,
team[s], and squad[s] and have the whole spring period to do squad level training.” “We
really needed to focus on the people line of effort.”5*? IS stated his “people
line of effort” encompasses the 3CR SHARP program.533

5298-6-11, NGNS . 23APR19, DEOCS.
5298-6-11, D IGNSIESEE 23APR19, DEOCS.
5308-6-11, BSOS 23APR19, DEOCS.
51A-86-1, [ NNENRNS PO 1

52A-86-1, [N PO 2

3A-86-1, [NNEMNEANS] - P9 10.
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G EEDIEE ublished supplemental guidance for 3CR, codified in
his Equal Opportunity Action Plan (EOAP) in response to his April 2020 DEOCS.5%34
Many commanders will share their DEOCS results with their SARC to assist with the
development of the EOAP. (NSNS stated he did not have the opportunity to
review the DEOCS results nor participate in the development of the EAOP.53% The July
2020 EOAP identified seven areas of emphasis. Two of the seven areas of emphasis
are specific to SHARP. Area #2 Sexual Assault Reporting and Resources and Area of
emphasis #3- Sexual Assault and Harassment Bystander Intervention.536

This reinforced 3CR Policy Letter #3 and RES Policy Letters #6 and #7, on reporting
sexual harassment and sexual assault and prohibiting retaliation against and ostracizing
of Soldiers who make complaints. SARCs, VAs, and commanders interviewed believe
the 3CR Commander’s policy would be enforced; but most indicated they have yet to
witness a situation which required it to be enforced.5¥” However, the Fort Hood
Independent Review Committee interviews and surveys of Soldiers (E-1 to E-4) do not
believe the policies would be enforced and this distrust serves as a barrier to
reporting.538

Soldiers interviewed stated they are hesitant to report allegations of sexual
harassment and sexual assault. The majority of lower enlisted interviewed stated they
are hesitant to report or would not report.53® NCOs interviewed also confirmed the lower
enlisted’s perspective.5*? Soldier’s hesitancy to report SHARP complaints were

534B-6-4, 3CR Command Climate Survey Results and Equal Opportunity Action Plan, dtd 27JUL20.
535A-60-1, [NENEIENS) : o 22, “So this is DS Al 21st 2020 [DEOCS] you are
supposed to have access to it, right? A. | don’t. Q. You have never seen this? A. No.”.

536B-6-4, 3CR Command Climate Survey Results and Equal Opportunity Action Plan, dtd 27JUL20.
S7A-A-15, EEEIE PO 4; A-A-3, EEEEEEE: o 4; A-A-S, IR o 4; A-B-7, IINEINE g 2
S38A-113-1, IDIENEIEIS o 14, when asked if lack of trust is a barrier to reporting, IS
responded in the affirmative and pg. 7 rates trusts “a 3 or 4” on a scale of one to ten. (IS (°g. 8)
BB SARCs and VA's noted that the lack of predictability, “and telling Soldiers you are going to one
thing and then you don’t do it, you lose trust.”; A-51-1, RIS g 32, ‘I think most victims fear
retelling their story. Being revictimized. Or and they fear, more often than not on Fort Hood, like 89
percent of our sexual assaults have some kind of collateral misconduct with them. Primarily alcohol.”; B-6-
22, MFR Fort Hood Independent Review Committee.

539A-133-1, IDIENEIES) - ro 28, ‘I don't want to say it is normalized, but it happens so much that when
people do it, you don't think of anything. It is just normal. It is just the environment that we are in
basically.”; A-3-1, )

540 A-B-4, IEHNEIEE : o 3, stated one barrier to “Fear of reporting you think you will be labeled as a
problem child.”; A-B-6, [SISHEIE: rg 3, wrote, “ Yes Soldiers are hesitant to report due to them thinking
they are too low in rank to speak [out] on a higher ranking Soldier and do not want their name out.”.
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validated by four Squadron Commanders,*! fourteen Troop Commanders,>*? ten
SARCs and VAs,>3 four command climate surveys and the Independent Review
Committee report.

In response to real or perceived barriers to reporting, [EISHEIESE) stated, “There’s
good people here, it’s just that toxic leaders go unchecked and unpunished.”%*

Despite policies prohibiting retaliation and ostracizing, and the belief
would enforce his policies, Soldiers still report fear of retaliation/ reprisal and being
ostracized as an obstacle to the 3CR SHARP program. Rank and lack of trust in
leadership are also barriers to reporting. “The perception from soldiers is they worry
about retaliation.”*>

Since April 2020, there seems to be a renewed emphasis on SHARP. “Right around
the timeframe when [SPC Guillén] went missing, is when things started picking up...|
think the Soldiers just started seeing the news and seeing the climate and they reached
a point where they came to the conclusion that it's not okay, this isn't normal. They
finally, | believe, started coming out to discuss their issues to try to fix it.”546

With the renewed emphasis following 22 April 2020 — in the FY21 training guidance,
People is key task #1, but does not explicitly address the 3CR SHARP program — most
3CR leaders are well versed in identifying behavior indicative of sexual assault and
sexual harassment as well as the reporting types, but are unable to identify the steps to
manage reports of sexual assault or sexual harassment.

As of summer 2020, 3CR Soldiers, current Squadron Commanders as well as new
Troop Commanders report increased leader involvement in basic SHARP training. il

SYA-A-3, BISEEIE po 4. “Yes. | have had 1x reporting during 18 months of command of sexual assault
involving two troopers. | think many Troopers don’t report for a number of reasons (fear, understanding,
embarrassment) but mathematically it doesn’t make sense that | would have so few reports. | have over
680 people of all genders in the formation, the vast majority under 25. Based on that numerical factor, |
think there is likely a reporting issue in the Squadron.”; A-A-7 [BISEIEE ro 4. “Yes for some the same
reasons discussed in the SHARP classes- blame self, working through grief, etc. After some listening
sessions some Soldiers initial term mostly, hold their SSG or SFC in such high regard that they don’t fully
understand that the SHARP program is the Commander’s program and the confidentiality of a SARC or
VA is to assist them, if or when, that I"leader “misuses” their position.”.

S2A-A-10, DIEHEIS A-A-9.

SEA-113-1, DISHENES A-51-1, BISEDIS A-60-1, IENEIENS ro 6. noted Soldiers are hesitant to
make complaints or report assault or harassment to their leaders and find it "easier to report it to a battle
buddy than their leaders"...”but most of the time it dies with that battle buddy." he did note "but there are
times where their battle buddy comes straight to me or straight to an EO or SARC.”; A-8-1,

A-B-4, DIGHBIEE ro 3, said because they know they lose reporting option if they just do to any leader.
Another reason is they don't trust, the opinion of a few [Soldiers] | have talked to, Regimental leadership.
54A-B-2, [N

5A-B-7, [

54A-49-1, NSNS P 6.
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credits

and I

implementing solid squadron level SHARF programs.

d. Facts Pertaining to Reassignment of NN

NCO Assignment Procedures

On 17 September 2020,
explained the assignment process for NCOs to 3CR., Basic assignments are initiated at
Human Resource Command (HRC) at Fort Knox, Kentucky, to meet demand and need
at Distribution Management Sub-Level (DMSL) planning. HREC places personnel on
assignment instructions to Fort Hood, then directly to the 3CR DMSL. HRC places
enlisted Soldiers in the rank of SGM (E-9) on assignment instructions directly to specific
squadrons within 3CR.

JCR assigns NCOs below the rank of SGM (E-9) to subordinate units. This
assignment is informed by Unit Status Report (USR) shortages and gains/losses across
JCR, which are briefed weekly during a meeting between the 3CR CSM, squadron
CSMs, and unit 51558 With this information, 3CR Personnel Services analyzes current
strength, and anticipates gains/losses 90-days out to identify and fill gaps within 3CR.
Once the analysis is complete, the 3CR CSM verifies it is correct before being pushed
out and added to squadron-level gains rosters.?*? Exceptions to this process may be
rehabilitative, talent management, career progression, medical adjustments, and special
intra-post transfers conducted by an interview process between the CSMs of gaining
and losing organizations.

3CR is attached to HQ, Il Corps for full ADCON. The Il Corps Officer and Enlisted
Assignments section is responsible for verifying positions in the modification table of
organization (MTOE).

If enlisted Soldiers need to be reassigned within 3CR, the Squadron CSMs and S1s
will be involved in this process. The reassignment of enlisted Soldiers in the rank of
SGT (E-5) and below is coordinated between the respective squadron CSMs and First

WiB.7.5, 4187 : pg 1-3; B7-7, [ PO 1.

“‘A-ETJ_: pg 4.
o s 0 1
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Sergeants. The reassignment of enlisted Soldiers in the rank of SSG (E-6) through
MSG (E-8) is approved by the 3CR CSM.5%0 The reassignment of enlisted Soldiers in
the rank of SGM (E-9) is approved by the Il Corps CSM.5%%"

Rehabilitative Transfers

Intra-post and rehabilitative transfers for performance or leadership of NCOs in units
attached to Ill Corps are conducted at the Il Corps-level with three supporting
documents: DA Form 4187: Personnel Action, a Letter of Acceptance by the gaining
organization, and a Letter of Release submitted by the losing organization. The Il Corps
CSM is the approval authority. It is the responsibility of the gaining and losing CSMs to
cross-talk and execute the interview and acceptance process.552

Within 3CR, all rehabilitative transfers for performance or leadership of enlisted
Soldiers in the rank of MSG (E-8) and below are coordinated between the respective
squadron CSMs, the troop-level chains of command, and approved by the 3CR CSM.
Rehabilitative transfers for performance or leadership of enlisted Soldiers in the rank of
SGM (E-9) are approved by the Il Corps CSM. The counseling packet of the transferred
individual is provided to the gaining organization, and an exchange of information
regarding the individual occurs between the gaining and losing CSMs.

The 3CR CSM, with input from squadron CSMs and the respective first sergeants,
approves whether enlisted Soldiers in the rank of SGT (E-5) through MSG (E-8) will be
moved to a leadership position.5%® The Il Corps CSM approves non-Centralized
Selection List (CSL) leadership positions for enlisted Soldiers in the rank of SGM (E-
9).%%4 HRC approves CSL leadership positions for NCOs in the rank of SGM (E-9) and
field-grade officers.

All rehabilitative transfers for company-grade officers, those in the grade of Second
Lieutenant to Captain (O-1 to O-3), are approved by the 3CR Commander with input
from the respective squadron commanders. Rehabilitative transfers for field-grade
officers, those in the grade of Major (O-4) and above, are approved by the IlIl Corps
Chief of Staff, who executes the field-grade slate managed by the Il Corps G1.5%

The following timeline conveys events and characterizations concerning SIS -
The characterizations were made during the investigation, but are placed in time to
approximate the respective witnesses’ experience with IS -

SS0A-27-1, IR ro 1. “Who in 3CR decides where the need to move leadership assignments” pg 2
“NCO SSG and above”.

%51 Exhibit A 37 1 DIGEDIISE statement dated 14 OCT 20, pg 4 “We weighed in a bit on E8'’s,
but primarily, it was focused on E-9s.”

552A-93-1, [ NEENNAIN P9 -

559A-27-1, [ P9 7
554A-53-1, NN PO 7-

555B.1-5, IIIC Terms of Reference.
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May 2018
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September 2019

A few days after the R/FTX — approximately between 16 to 18 September 2019 -

I, Cren-door policy to repnr‘tF harassment by
trying to “peek at or startle” SPC Guillén during the RIFTX " For further detalls, see
Paragraph 7.a. September 2019 and Earlier.

Oectober 2019

B vas promoted to _ This promaotion also changec
[l "iitary Occupational Specialty code o |
S Crcating an MTOE mismatch. [

A-5-2, - P9 355. B-T-10, I F¢ 1-2; B-7-2,
A1 L . o -

$614.5.7 ' pg 385 B-7-9 I < 1-Z.

1,56 R

WA--E?-L”: pg 7. “There was obvigusly, he had issues with [ W h=d =
different mindset with work hours or the tagking that needed to get done, maintenance wise, bul g was
alsn_ and you know, they collided with each other frequently bul other than t 'R
was professional.”

HAGT, I A-57-5.
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would continue to occupy a jjjijij billet as a ] until i} reassignment on [DISNDIIE
L L

, needed to move DIDIDIS - B
stated, “That was a conversation that | had with

I OXGR O R
il was a ] Because the MTOE changed, our FSTs were no longer authorized [jijil-
They were only authorized jjjilij, so that prompted me to move my jjjiij out of the FSTs
into my maintenance troop, where they are authorized, and prompted me to move my
R back to the FSTs. Now, | wanted to make this move immediately, but their
BEOIGEDIEE 2d | discussed it. We decided to move |jjij after NTC because
and had systems in place for NTC, so we actually did
the move after NTC.”%5 Statements by consistently refer
to as over strength and excess on the E/FST MTOE as motivation for the
move.5%6

ISR r<ported an
Paragraph 7.a. October 2019.

regarding
.97 For further details, see

On 9 October 2019, in a closed-door session following the

[ 6. 00 |
M reported NS - il solicitation of

SPC Guillén for a threesome to RIS EDIISE °°: For further details,
see Paragraph 7.a. October 2019.

a

O/a 15 October 2019, [DISEEIE 'carned of the R/FTX personal hygiene
encounter from rumors, and advised ISR to address the issue with SPC
Guillén.5®° For further details, see Paragraph 7.a. October 2019.

EEDICRDIGIEN stated, | did talk to EEE NS
i.e., NGRS | think at NTC, about having to go speak with il

S65A-29-1, DB 1o 2, “That was a conversation that | had with | EEDISEDIS
Bl He was a jjiilij- Because the MTOE changed, our FSTs were no longer authorize jjijij- They were
only authorized jjjilij. so that prompted me to move mjjjjiiij out of the FSTs into my maintenance troop
where they are authorized and prompted me to move my [l back to the FSTs. Now, | wanted to
make this move immediately but their | IEIEEESIEIEE 2nd | discussed it. We decided to move him

after NTC because IIIIIIEDIGEDINISE 2 d had systems in place for NTC, so we actually
did the move after NTC.".

506A-132-1, NGNS PO 2; A-29-1, GG P 3.
57874, NN ECN DO -
S68A-102-1 IENEI  po 97, ‘I told them basically what | told EO.” Early in his statement he recounted

what he told EO which include | O 3 oy
REIENOIEN A -2, SRS g 4.

S69A-100-1, NSNS : ro 47, "and then, IEDISEEIEISE | brought her [PFC Guillén] up to
my attention", when asked | DICEDINISE (o address the issue with PFC Guillén,
BISEOIE answered, "Correct.".
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about wha , | mean wa are talking 10 or 11 months ago. | can't remember

avery word, but about
_ because FST was close to the TOC where | was.” -
Movember 20198

Shortly after the unit returned from National Training Center (NTC) Rotation 20-02 at
Fort Irwin, California, which took place around 18 October to 18 November 2012 I
I vanted to move |
based o |
—

- pg 6, "1 did talk t , | think at NTC, abaut
t what . | mean ‘we are tafking or 11 months ago. | can't

hawing to go spe ——-

remember every word, bul about |sm. | said, | spoke to and | will
keep my eye on|jjjj because F5T was close i the where | was

AS-2, - P9 3-_

SRA07-1, I P9 :A-1ED-E.*. pa 1 A2 D 0o 2 A-35-1.

STOA.132-2,

[ HE

W e 1 A-45-1. (N ©0 2511
MAE! I g o oy
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December 2019

On or about December 2019, | had conversations with and

, separately, about moving IS B stated “they

approved the move,™"™

January 2020

T57.5-2, N P 6
STEA-B1-1,
_— 0
————]

=77 A-61- 1.

.|
I
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—

February 2020
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but the reality is a lot of Soldiers do not get counseled, A lot of NCOs do not get
coungeled, %
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e. Facts Pertaining to Arms Room and Key Control Policies and Procedures.

The standards for planning, designing, constructing, maintaining, and operating an
arms room were derived from multiple documents: DODI 5200.08, DODM 4140.01,
DODM 5100.76, DLM 4000.25-2, Army Regulation (AR) 190-11 (2019), AR 190-51
(2019), AR 710-3, and DA Pam 710-2-1. There was no statutory or regulatory
requirement found in these references for 3CR or the RES to have a regiment or
squadron-level policy/SOP governing arms room operations or daily opening and
closing procedures.

[l Corps & Fort Hood Reg 190-8 (2011) Chapter 7, Paragraph 7-1: Arms Room
Administration specified general duties of the armorer and provided guidance on
conducting arms room activities. The regulation briefly outlined arms room opening
procedures, but the step-by-step instructions on opening and closing procedures were
received by the armorer from the Intrusion Detection System (IDS) system administrator
at the time the armorer was issued a valid PIN number.

3CR did not have a policy/SOP specifically governing arms room operations or daily
opening and closing procedures.®®3 3CR had a Physical Security Plan dated 7 October
2019 that included a paragraph on key control; however, the policy had not been
signed.5%

The RES did not have a policy/SOP governing arms room operations or daily
opening and closing procedures.?%® COVID-19 impacts compounded the problem.6%

603A-12-1, RIS o 1. I'm not gonna say that they don't have an SOP, but | have not seen it”; A-124-
1, BISEEIE ro 1, regarding 3CR arms room policy, when asked if he saw or was familiar with a
regimental arms room policy, he stated “not that I can think of”; A-34-1, (BIESEEIEISN o 1. “ -1 would
imagine they have one in place, but | have never laid my eyes on that”; A-43-1, (RIS ro 18 “I know
that | have reviewed a book of policy letters, but | don’t know, specifically, specifically remember an arms
room policy in that book”.

604B-8-8, 3d Cavalry Regiment Physical Security Plan 70CT19: pg 24.

605A-124-1, DIGEIEE ro 1. regarding RES Arms room policy. "I don't know that | remember seeing one.
What we had at the troop level was the format essentially from DPS that was updated to reflect where our
arms room was. | don't know if there was one."; A-43-1, RIS r9 18, regarding a RES arms room
policy, “We have a physical security SOP, but not specifically an arms room policy...I do not recall if |
have a separate arms room policy.".

606A-108-8, [IESNEIES) o 2. regarding changes to arms room procedures due to COVID restrictions,
EIGEEIEE stated, “Along those lines sir, only so many people were required to come in. Once we
came in and do what we needed to do, we were out for the day, sir.”; A-12-1, DICEDIE ro 2. “...it was
difficult due to the COVID environment.”; A-124-1, DISEEIEE o 1. ‘I suppose the only difference with
COVID and not COVID for the arms room was how many people would be around.”; A-34-1 il
BIDEDIS o 2, “...then COVID happened and... whether it was us being lackadaisical with the keys or
missing things to get someone in the office for an hour or two at a time...”; A-74-1, [N ro 1.
the investigator asked, “Did your duties as [gjji@jlichange in any way, shape, or form prior to COVID and
then during COVID?” (DN responded, "l would say yes.”; A-88-1, [BSNEIEIEE ro 7. regarding
COVID impacts, "It was challenging, sir...Nobody understood COVID, but when you tell 4400 Troopers
that they have to stay in their barracks room or stay at home...".
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Troops of the Regiment relied on and utilized the DES Arms Room Book and SOP
Template.?%” The DES Arms Room Book and SOP Template established the “basic
minimum standards,” and it was expected that commanders would develop the template
further to increase arms room security as necessary.%%® None of the troop-level arms
room SOPs had been modified from the DES template by the troop commanders;
therefore, none of the troop-level arms room SOPs contained comprehensive opening
and closing procedures.5%°

Per AR 190-8, an approved key depository is a lockable container, such as a safe or
filing cabinet, or a key depository (made of at least 26—gauge steel, equipped with a
tumbler—type or keyed locking device and permanently affixed to a wall) will be used to
secure keys. The key depository will be located in a room where it is kept under 24—
hour surveillance or in a room that is locked when unoccupied. An electronically-
controlled key depository may be used if it is constructed of at least 26—gauge steel, can
be affixed to a wall, and produces an inventory report with information equivalent to that
contained in the DA Form 5513. If the key depository is designed as a drawer-style
system that is positioned on the floor, the system will be secured to an immovable
object such as to the floor or to a building support beam unless the empty weight
exceeds 500 pounds and is not mounted on rollers.

Arms Room Opening Procedures

The following troop-level procedures were an amalgamation of various requirements
scattered across the regulations and policies described above, to include Il Corps &
Fort Hood Regulation 190-8 and the instructions provided by the IDS system
administrator. Armorers learned this opening procedure through practice.

To open the arms room, the Unit Key and Lock Custodian (UKLC) issues the arms
room keys from the key depository in the company/troop-level orderly room to the
armorer.%'% The UKLC and armorer document the transfer on DA Form 5513: Key

S07A-12-1, RIS o 1. ... we take our guidance from the DES here on Fort Hood. They publish on
their AKO for the format that they encourage you to use because it covers most of what they try to cover.
Our SOP isn't gonna be any different from the Fort Hood DES SOP. The key control SOP, we have
added a thing or two just to ensure more security at the troop level.”.; A-34-1, [SISESIEIENE ro 3
regarding development of the troop’s arms room SOP, “I believe that it was a policy letter, a policy
number, and it was something that was pulled from the company, it was based off the DES or whatever
they know.”.

608B-8-10, DES Arms Room Book and SOP Template : pg 2, “This Arms Room Book was established to
help units in the set up and operation of their arms room. The basic minimum standards were applied by
the DES Physical Security, in the make up of this book. Commanders are encouraged to add-to this book
and all regulations to increase the security of their arms rooms.”.

609B-8-10, DES Arms Room Book and SOP Template .

610A-108-1, IDNEENEIE) ro 1. "We usually have to get the keys from the commander or the unit's key
control. We usually have to sign on a DA Form 5515 to sign the keys out. Once you get the keys, you
make your way to the arms room.”; A-124-1, ISEEIEE rJ 2, “...to open the arms room you need one of

102

Cul



cul
FCCG
SUBJECT: AR 15-6 Investigation - Fort Hood’s command involvement in, and response
to, the disappearance and death of SPC Vanessa Guillén and other specific topic areas.

Control Register and Inventory.8'" Upon reaching the arms room, the armorer initials
and documents the date and time of the arms room opening on the exterior Standard
Form 702: Security Container Check Sheet.5? After opening the arms room door, the
armorer closes and locks the door behind them and inputs their issued IDS PIN
number.8'® The armorer then conducts a 100% inventory, to include ammunition and
privately owned weapons, documenting the opening inventory on DA Form 2062: Hand
Receipt/Annex Number as “For Opening Inventory Purposes Only” at the top of the
form.%'* The armorer then opens the arms room issuing/receiving window to conduct
arms room operations.%1%

the unit key control custodians who can go over and withdraw the arms rooms keys [from] Ops."; A-74-1,
EIGEEIES o 2. "l would go into the XO's office when he showed up to sign out the arms room key.".
611 A-108-1, IS ro 1. "We usually have to sign on a DA Form 5515[3] to sign the keys out.”; A-
12-1, RIS 1o 2. 'EEEER as the one to issue the keys to Robinson."; A-34-2, [EESNEIEN: 9
1, “I met with SPC Robinson the morning of 22APR2020 and issued him the keys.”; B-8-12, FTH
Regulation 190-8: Chapter 7-1 (2) pg 12, “Signs for all keys required for the daily operations of the arms
room from the unit key and lock custodian or the unit commander.”; See References: AR 190-51 Chapter
7-1, App D-2 pg 57, Maintain a key control register at all times to ensure continuous accountability for
keys of locks used to secure government property.”; See References: AR 190-51, App D-2 (2-3,5), Make
certain that personnel designated to issue, receive, and account for keys in their absence, clearly
understand local key control security requirements; (3) Maintain a key control register at all times to
ensure continuous accountability for keys of locks used to secure Government property; (5) When a key
control custodian or alternate need to sign for a key(s) they will have the other key control custodian sign
the key(s) over to them on a key control register.; See References: AR 190-51, App D-3, pg 57, “Keys will
be signed out to authorize personnel in person, not digitally on a key control register. The key control
register, DA Form 5513 (Key Control Register and Inventory) is approved for use to meet the
requirements of this regulation.".

612A-108-7, [DISNEIES) o 1. “There's a form outside that you have to put your initials on and the time
that you opened the arms room.”; A-74-1, [SNSEIEEE o 2. "Once you fill that form out you can stick it
back in the sleeve, ... so once you do that just lock it up and then that same form that you filled on the
outside.”; B-8-12, FTH Regulation 190-8: Chapter 7-1 (4) pg 12, “Annotates the opening of the facility on
a SF 702 (Security Container Checksheet)”.

613A-108-1, I IESNEIEES o 2. "You open it and close the door behind yourself, you input your pin, once
you input your pin..."; A-124-1, BISESIEE ro 2, “...go down to the arms room, open the door, punch in
their pin, does what needs doing in the arms room.”; A-74-8, [BIEEIEES P9 3. “would put my pin in and
turn the lights on | will put my keys in my pocket, close the door and deadbolt the door.”; B-8-12, FTH
Regulation 190-8: Chapter 7-1 (5) pg 12, “Opens the arms room, enters PIN, and locks themselves within
the arms room.”.

614A-108-5, [ NEIENEENSY ro 1. “---you can begin the opening inventory...We conduct the open
inventory...”; A-74-5, [DESEIEE ro 3. “And from there | would open the cages and count the weapons
in the arms room... And for the opening and closing it's the same paperwork, it's a 2062”; B-8-12, FTH
Regulation 190-8: Chapter 7-1 (6) pg 12, "immediately conducts a visual count of arms and ammunition,
including privately owned weapons and ammunition. This inventory will be recorded on DA Form 2062
and marked, 'For Opening Inventory Purposes Only' at the top of the form”.

615A-108-1, (DSBS ro 2. "We sign out weapons and we have to sign them out on a 2062 and a Ft
Hood Form 550. Sign the weapons out or if we are waiting for someone to bring weapons back we will
wait for them as well."; A-74-1, [DESHEIEES) ro 3, "And then | would issue out what this or whatever they
needed me to do”.
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Arms Room Closing Procedures

[l Corps & Fort Hood Regulation 190-8 did not describe closing procedures. The
following troop-level procedures were an amalgamation of various requirements
scattered across the regulations and policies described above, to include Il Corps &
Fort Hood Regulation 190-8 and the instructions provided by the IDS system
administrator, executed in reverse order. Armorers learned this closing procedure
through practice.

At the end of arms room operations, the armorer conducts a 100% visual and
physical inventory.86 After the completion of the inventory, the armorer ensures all
weapon racks and internal padlocks were locked, and documents the closing inventory
on DA Form 2062: Hand Receipt/Annex Number as “For Closing Inventory Purposes
Only” at the top of the form.8"7 The armorer inputs their issued IDS PIN number, exits
and closes the arms room door, and locks it with an approved high-security padlock and
hasp.6'® The armorer initials and documents the arms rooms closing on the exterior
Standard Form 702, and relinquishes the arms room keys to the UKLC The armorer and
UKLC sign and date the DA Form 5513.6"° The UKLC then returns the keys to the key
depository in the company/troop-level orderly room.

Supplemental Arms Room Opening and Closing Procedures

There were no supplemental regiment, squadron, or troop-level arms room
procedures in effect on 22 April 2020. Neither the 3CR Commander nor the A/RES

61A-108-8, [ IEEIEES) 1o 2. “When closing the arms room up you usually can get an NCO or an
Officer to come down and do a weapons count and close it out, sir... Once they do the closing inventory,
counting everything...; A-124-1, DISEGIEE ro 2, “...we have another NCO come in and preform a count
before they close it. To close the arms room is the same [opening] process in reverse”; A-74-1, il
BIEERR ro 3, "l would secure the arms room, go find my NCO and let them know | need an arms room
close out. And then | would bring that NCO down and open the arms room back up, we would inventory
everything by number and make sure everything was all there."; A-74-6, [SNESEIE 1o 3. “And then |
would bring that NCO down and open the arms room back up, we would inventory everything by number
and make sure everything was all there.”.

S7A-74-4, SNSRI o 3. “And for the opening and closing it's the same paperwork it's a 2062 that
we just marked down. We would sign that and have accountability of everything and then | would proceed
to lock up the cages’.

618A-108-6, [DISNEIES o 2. “Once they do the closing inventory, counting everything, you make sure
all the weapon racks are locked, put your pin in, close the arms room...”; A-74-3, [DISEEBINES ro 3.
“...insert my pin, and close the arm[s room] door...".

619See References: AR 190-51, App D-2 (2-3,5), Make certain that personnel designated to issue,
receive, and account for keys in their absence, clearly understand local key control security requirements;
(3) Maintain a key control register at all times to ensure continuous accountability for keys of locks used
to secure Government property; (5) When a key control custodian or alternate need to sign for a key(s)
they will have the other key control custodian sign the key(s) over to them on a key control register. App
D-3, pg 57, “Keys will be signed out to authorize personnel in person, not digitally on a key control
register. The key control register, DA Form 5513 (Key Control Register and Inventory) is approved for use
to meet the requirements of this regulation.
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Commander prescribed any supplemental procedures or modified any arms rooms
opening and closing procedures in April 2020.52° All relevant A/RES Arms Room
personnel, including the A/RES Commander, A/RES XO and Arms Room Officer,
UKLCs, and armorers, stated there were no authorized changes to A/RES Arms Room
procedures.5?!

3 March 2020

The Fort Hood Department of Emergency Services (DES) Physical Security branch
conducted an annual arms room inspection of both HHT/RES and A/RES on 3 March
2020. The HHT Arms Room received a “Not Adequate Rating,” and the A/RES Arms
Room received an “Adequate Rating.”®?> The RES commander was aware that the
squadron had previous issues with key control.523

DES Physical Security found the following deficiencies regarding HHT/RES key
control and arms room. Annotation of the location and quantity of keys was not properly
completed on the DA Form 5513: Key Control Register and Inventory. The Unit Key and
Lock Custodian (UKLC) did not maintain the DES Key Control Sample Book. The UKLC
did not have a current DES-approved SOP. HHT/RES did not consistently conduct
routine 8-hour checks of the arms storage facility. HHT/RES had not completed a semi-
annual key and lock inventory in over a year. HHT/RES stored M249 barrels in the
supply room rather than in the Arms Room. The primary UKLC should not have had
access to the arms room keys as they did not have a completed and approved DA Form
7708: Personnel Reliability Screening and Evaluation, commonly referred to as a local
records check or background check. Finally, the UKLC was not maintaining the
personal retention keys, and was missing the alternate set of personal retention keys.%%*

The HHT/RES Commander conducted the following corrective actions. The
HHT/RES DA Form 5513 was redesigned to match the DES Key Control Sample Book.
The unit obtained DES approval of the UKLC/Arms Room SOP. The Staff Duty

620A-124-1, DIGNEIE o 1. regarding supplemental procedures, “No. So you're asking about arms room
opening and closing procedures? We did not change any of those due to COVID.”.

621A-108-1, [DNENEIS) ro 2. "No, sir."; A-108-8, (NSNS ro 1. "l did not authorize deviations to
the arms room SOP with respect to COVID-19 sheltering in place”; A-12-1, IS ro 1, Regarding
supplemental procedures, ISR A8-81, “To my knowledge, the commander is the only one who can
publish changes to his policy and he did no such thing”; A-124-1, DISEDIEE ro 1, regarding
supplemental procedures, “No. So you're asking about arms room opening and closing procedures we did
not change any of those due to COVID.”; A-43-1, BISHEIEE ro 18, "l never discussed any changes to
arms room procedures. | can’t think of any changes we would have made due to COVID. | don’t know
why that would be appropriate.”; A-74-7, [DESHEIES ro 1. “To my knowledge there were not any
changes”.

622B-8-11, HHT/RES Physical Security Inspection Report 3Mar20 p.1: pg 124-125.

623B-8-9, RES, 3 CR, lll Corps, Physical Security Inspection Results (Rollup): the commander was
provided an inspection out brief that contained PowerPoint slides that illustrated a 43% (3/7) failure rate of
the Squadron’s arms rooms.

624B-8-11, HHT/RES Physical Security Inspection Report 3Mar20 p.1: pg 124-125.
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OIC/NCOIC counseling was changed to reiterate the necessity of routine 8-hour checks
of the arms storage facility. The unit moved the M249 barrels to the HHT/RES Arms
Room. The local records check was completed for the UKLC, resulting in a completed
and approved DA Form 7708. The Commander and UKLC conducted a thorough key
and lock inventory, and remedied the key control program as required.52%

DES Physical Security found minor deficiencies regarding the A/RES Arms Room.
A/RES did not consistently conduct routine 8-hour checks of the arms storage facility
and used 10 commercial “master locks” to secure racks and containers in the arms
room.626

22 April 2020

On 22 April 2020, SPC Robinson reported to
to get the keys for A/RES arms room.%?’

retrieved the arms room keys from the key depository located in the A/RES orderly
room and issued the key to SPC Robinson. Neither [SSEEEE nor SPC Robinson
signed for the arms room keys on DA Form 5513: Key Control Register and Inventory
as prescribed by AR 190-51.628 SPC Robinson left the troop orderly room and arrived at
the A/RES arms room on or about 1000. SPC Robinson annotated on the exterior
Standard Form 702 that the arms room was opened at 1000 and he input his PIN to
disable the IDS alarm system at 1001.52° There is no evidence that SPC Robinson
closed and locked the arms room door behind him, and then conducted an opening
inventory.

There is no evidence that SPC Robinson conducted a closing inventory. At 1113,
SPC Robinson input his PIN to arm the IDS alarm system, exited, and closed and
locked the A/RES arms room door.%3 He documented the arms room closing time on
the exterior Standard Form 702 as 1100.53' After 1113, SPC Robinson returned the
arms room keys to [N <tuned the keys to
the key depository in the A/RES orderly room. Neither SPC Robinson nor [SISEREE
annotated the time the keys were returned on the DA Form 5513.632

625B-8-11, HHT/RES Physical Security Inspection Report 3Mar20 p.1: pg 126-128, HHT/RES Arms Room
Book; Commander’s Report of Action Taken.

626B-8-6, A/RES Physical Security Inspection Report 3Mar20: pg 1.

627A-34-2, IDIEGNEIES] : o 1. ‘| met with SPC Robinson, the morning of 22APR2020 and issued him
the keys”; A-34-2, IDIESNEIEE: ro 2. ‘| was. | was the one who issued the keys. | issued the keys to
Robinson.".

628A-34-2, IDIENEIES : o 1. ‘| believed he had logged the book in the Ops office, but forgot to check
and sign the issue before leaving”; B-8-3, Standard Form 702: Security Container Checksheet.

629B-8-1, Intrusion Detection System (IDS) Log : pg 76; B-8-3, Standard Form 702: Security Container
Checksheet.

630B-8-1, Intrusion Detection System (IDS) Log : pg 79.

631B-8-3, Standard Form 702: Security Container Checksheet.

632B-8-2, DA Form 5513: Key Register and Inventory: pg 3.
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f. Facts Pertaining to Sexual Harassment by SPC Aaron Robinson.

SPC Aaron Robinson enlisted in the U.S. Army as a Combat Engineer (Military
Occupational Specialty code 12B) on 10 October 2017. He completed Basic Combat
Training (BCT) and Advanced Individual Training (AIT) at Fort Leonard Wood, Missour.
Upon graduating AIT, SPC Robinson was assigned to Alpha Troop, Regimental
Engineer Squadron (A/RES), 3rd Cavalry Regiment (3CR), Fort Hood, Texas, where he
served as a Vehicle Driver for 2 years and 8 months and deployed to Irag from May
2018 to December 2018. He was assigned the addilional duty of troop armorer in
October 2019. SPC Robinson died by suicide on 30 June 2020.

March 2019

Approximately March 2015, IR st met, then PFC Robinson at a
RES training event on Fort Hood. They both deployed with 3CR to Iraqg for
approximately 9-months, located at different FOBs. They did not have a professional
relationship other than being in the same squadron and they did not have a
personal/social relationship 533

Approximately from 13 April 2012 to 28 June 2019, SPC Robinson texted
I 't began with small talk, elevated to playful banter, and then increased with
urrwanted sexual advances. SPC Robinson would send direct texts for[Jjj to come to
his room 84

At 1219, 28 June 2019, SPC Robinson sent her a text “this is coming from nowhere
but want to have sex?" Which Jjjjjjreplied "I should smack you for that nonsense lol."5%
Robinson responds, *I'm joking but if you want to smack me you know where | live." On
29 June 2019 t'ocked him on [ cell phone 5%

From the point ] blocked his cell phone number, the harassment increased with
SPC Robinson approaching Jjjjj in person, with incentives of food and attempts to
coerce her to come to his room. While

near the D Troop, Regimental Engineering Squadron {D/RES) CQ

. the sexual harassment intensified. Robinson would noticeably stare ajjjl and
would often follow [jjjj arcund the unit area, as if stalking Jjjj. He would often stare at
[ from the second floor of Bldg. 9421, while jjjifwas on the first floor on [N
On one occasion, whiljii] was on [ near the CQ area, SPC Robinson
approached [jjjijwith a pizza and tried to convincefjjjlj to accompany him to his room; at
night, i} was frightened. This harassment continued until approximately September
2019, a point were Robinson abruptly disengaged. %7

E0p.28-1, _I pg 2. A-T2-1, ‘pg 2
MA.28-1, : pg 2-4; A—?E-!. pg 2-3.
8.9.2 ikl

SPC Robinson Texts.
S¥p 081, - pa 3; A-T2-1 ‘pg 2.
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notified 2 I © the
Robinson harassment. [jjijasked I {© stop by to prevent Robinson from

pursuing i this was effective during the times | w23 present. N

only shared that Robinson was harassing [jj with one other person, *
, @ Soldier that has since ETS'd from the Army. states that |

cannot recall any eye witnesses (o these accounts and affirms that Robinson never
touched g ***

I did not make a complaint about SPC Robinson's conduct to a supervisor, any
member of Jijchain of command/responsibility, SARC or SHARF personnel because
[ did not believe proper action would be taken by those [jjjjjj reported it to. il
describes a climate of drunkenness in the barracks, and an unsafe environment.
Ultimately, [l fe't that the command climate at the troop would not have
Suppﬂﬂeﬂ a complaint of sexual harassment against SFC Robinson if jjjj had made
one 538

2 July 2020

In the early morning of 2 July 20, |l 52w & news clip reporting SPC
Robinson had committed suicide, having been the primary suspect in the SPC Guillén
disappearance and homicide 50

That same day, 02 July 20, | rerorted that [ had been sexually
harassed by SPC Robinson, as outlined above, to

I TR NN
EEEEE- his is the first time anyone from I |c2rmed of the

Robinson sexual harassment incident | dismissed the complaint, seemingly
aggravated by it, as was described as normal for his personality. ®1 (B)G), (BHINC) |

At 1414, 02 July 2020, sent I ¢ VWhatsApp message saying
that she is going to contact CID regarding the investigation. No text response from
I but claims to have telephoned Jiiiiand told i to proceed to CID 2

On 02 July 200 c2'led the Fort Hood CID main telephone line (254) 287 -
2722 and reporied the sexual harassment. The male CID representative that answered

©&25.28-1,

i s ey
a2 S 79
PeA-28-1, e
S14.28-1,

siap op. 1

ng—-i-ﬂ'ﬂ? ATZ-1, . 3 2.

pg-iE'B A-T2-1, I PO 2
P.q-* A-TZ-1. I P9 3.

A P S ——
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the call transferred [ to another line [[SISENIEEE \where the male CID
representative took the complaint. He asked for IS to screenshot and send the
Robinson text messages from jjjij phone to him jjjilii complied.%4*

August 2020

BISERER had not heard back from CID since 2 July, and called the main telephone
number a few times with no answer. jjjiij followed up via telephone to the CID
representative whom taken the report; i alleges he never answered or returned any
of jiij calls.®*

On 6 August 2020, DISEEIR submitted an informal complaint for sexual
harassment against SPC Robinson to the | IO
BISERIR recalls doing an intake form and other documents and recalls [N
taking notes. [ESNENEE is unaware if IO
BISEEES . \vere aware of the complaint. [SISNREER was aware.®4

31 August 2020 to 15 September 2020, DISEEIR informed the FHIRC of the
alleged sexual harassment while they were conducting their query of Fort Hood. 84"

September 2020

On 29 September 2020, [SIENEE filed a formal complaint of sexual harassment

by NN o the ENENENENS SARC. BESNNE worked in the NSNS

October 2020

On 6 October 2020, RINNIEE. the HENNDNSNEIGISIN for the DN

, first learned about the Robinson sexual
harassment allegation when he conducted his first interview with
does not believe the chain of command has been informed of this allegation, but did
notify them following his interview on 28 October 2020.64°

OIS Had no knowledge regarding alleged sexual
harassment of SPC Guillén by SPC Robinson. They also had no knowledge of SPC
Robinson sexually harassing anyone other than SIS - °°°

54A-28-1, RN PO 6; A-72-1, RENNRNER: PO 4 B-9-1, IENENENENS Texts.
645A-28-1, IR - ro 5&13; A-72-1, RIEREER - ro 4

646A-28-1, NSNS ro 6. 12-14; A-72-1, RISESIER : ro 4.

S4TA-72-1, IR PO 8-

5A-28-1 NN P9 15.

649A-28-1, INEIEINE : o 6. 12-14; A-72-1 RIDEEEEE : o 8.

550A-28-1, NSNS P9 17; A-72-1 EEENENER: o 9; A-96-1, NSNS P9 5.
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g. Facts Pertaining to HQDA and FORSCOM COVID-19 Guidance.

The following is a summary of HQDA and FORSCOM guidance issued between late
February and 21 April 2020 directing Army activities in response to COVID-19. The
selected excerpts established procedures for determining mission essential personnel

and executing “shelter in place” orders.

28 February 2020

HQDA issued Execute Order (EXORD) 144-20 directing Army activities in response
to COVID-19.

29 February 2020

FORSCOM issued an EXORD in Response to COVID-19 Outbreak, which included
instructions to review and update installation HPCON Frameworks as a key task and
directed units to see DoD Force Health Protection (FHP) Supplement 2, which was
attached as Annex, F, Appendix 3, Tab E in the EXORD.%5" In addition to referencing
DoD FHP Supplement 2, FORSCOM’s EXORD directed Corps and Division Senior
Commanders to be prepared to maximize a proportion of installation workforce that can
perform duties via telework.6%2

DoD FHP Supplement 2, dated 25 February 2020, contained COVID-19 specific
recommendations and a risk-based framework to guide installation commanders in
planning. This guidance included maximizing telework and limiting installation access as
recommended response measures.553

4 March 2020

HQDA EXORD 144-20, FRAGO 2 directed all ACOMs, ASCCs, and DRUs to assess
units / locations in the USNORTCHCOM AoR where additional prudent measures are
required for mission assurance. This FRAGO placed priority on unique capabilities
essential to: force projection, decisive action, deterrence, and continuity of
operations/support to continuity of government and homeland defense. While FRAGO 2
did not direct implementation of these measures, it included restricting units to a military

651See References: FORSCOM EXORD in Response to COVID-19 Outbreak, 29 February 2020,
paragraph 3.A.2.D.

652See References: FORSCOM EXORD in Response to COVID-19 Outbreak, 29 February 2020,
paragraph 3.C.5.

653See References: Under Secretary of Defense Memorandum, “Force Health Protection (Supplement 2)
— Department of Defense Guidance for Military Installation Commander’s Risk-Based Measured
Responses to the Novel Coronavirus Outbreak,” 25 February 2020.
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installation, minimizing in-person attendance at meetings, and maximizing the use of
VTCs and teleconferences as potential options.654

6-7 March 2020

HQDA EXORD 144-20, FRAGO 3 directed ACOMs, ASCCs, and DRUs to identify
all mission essential personnel and prepare and update all telework agreements. %%
FORSCOM FRAGO 1 directed all subordinate commanders to do the same.

9 March 2020

ALARACT 21/2020 included recommended generic talking points for HCPON
measures based on the framework established in DoD FHP Supplement 2. These
talking points included references to limiting access/closing installations or facilities at
HPCON C, cancellation of all non-mission essential activities, and maximizing telework
at HPCON D. This ALARACT also included a product from the Army Public Health
Center (APHC) depicting HPCON levels for COVID-19 (version 1.1, 4 March 2020),
which included measures to limit installation access and implement remote work; and
extended periods of restricted movement at HPCON D.

10 March 2020

FORSCOM FRAGO 2 issued the recommended HPCON talking points from
ALARACT 21/2020.55%6

12 March 2020

HQDA EXORD 144-20, FRAGO 5 included two memorandums, Annex L1 dated 10
March and Annex L2 dated 12 March, cosigned by the Director of the Army Staff (DAS)
and the Administrative Assistant to the Secretary of the Army (AASA). While both
memorandums included guidance to prevent the spread of COVID-19, the 12 March
memorandum directed HQDA Principal Officials to implement maximum telework,
cancel visits by outside personnel, and maximize alternate locations and vacant spaces
to increase personal separation. While included as annexes and references, the
FRAGO did not direct subordinate units to implement any of the mitigation measures
contained in these memorandumes.

654 See References: HQDA EXORD 144-20 (FRAGO 2), 4 March 2020, paragraph 3.B.2.C. to
3.B.2.C.1.G.

655 See References: HQDA EXORD 144-20 (FRAGO 3), 6 March 2020, paragraph 3.B.2.l. and 3.B.2.J.
656See References: FORSCOM EXORD in Response to COVID-19 Outbreak (FRAGO 2), 7 March 2020,
Appendix 9 to Annex J.
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14 March 2020

HQDA EXORD 144-20, FRAGO 7 contained a coordinating instruction to “see”
Reference KK, a 13 March memorandum cosigned by the DAS and AASA. The
memorandum further clarified restrictions at HQDA facilities though the order did not
direct subordinate units to implement similar measures at their level.%%”

HQDA EXORD 144-20, FRAGO 8 issued Annex R which defined Health Protection
Measures for HPCON levels 0 through D. The HPCON Framework in Annex R matches
the conceptual HPCON Framework from DoDI 6200.03 Figure 8, referenced in the
annex. FRAGO 8 did not direct any specific actions relative to the framework in Annex
R.

16 March 2020

FORSCOM FRAGO 4 directed installation Senior Commanders to use the
Readiness COVID-19 Whiteboard Assessment (Appendix 12 to Annex C) when
determining what installation facilities will be affected as they adjust HPCON.5%8 This
assessment assumed the workforce will telework with only key and essential personnel
reporting for duty at HPCON C.

18 March 2020

FORSCOM FRAGO 5 further defined measures by HPCON levels to limit the virus’s
spread. HPCON C measures included: limiting or cancelling in-person meetings or
gathering, sheltering in-place indoors, and enforcing tele-work or shift work.6%°

19 March 2020

FORSCOM FRAGO 6 issued an updated Readiness COVID-19 Whiteboard
Assessment (Appendix 13 to Annex C) and directed all FORSCOM installations to go to
HPCON B IAW with the measures outlined in the assessment.%6° Additionally, the order
specified that commanders may exercise their authority to assign Soldiers an alternate
workplace and assign duties to perform remotely. %’

657 See References: HQDA EXORD 144-20 (FRAGO 7), 14 March 2020, paragraph 3.C.45.

658See References: FORSCOM EXORD in Response to COVID-19 Outbreak (FRAGO 4), 16 March
2020, paragraph 3.C.7.S. and Appendix 12 to Annex C.

659See References: FORSCOM EXORD in Response to COVID-19 Outbreak (FRAGO 5), 18 March
2020, Appendix 3 to Annex F paragraph 4.A.2.D 4.

660See References: FORSCOM EXORD in Response to COVID-19 Outbreak (FRAGO 6), 19 March
2020, paragraph 3.C.21. to 3.C.21.A and Appendix 13 to Annex C.

661See References: FORSCOM EXORD in Response to COVID 19 Outbreak (FRAGO 6), 19 March 2020,
Appendix 2 to Annex F, paragraph 4.D.3. and 4.D.5.
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23 March 2020

HQDA EXORD 144-20, FRAGO 12 was the first instance where HQDA directed
Army wide HPCON measures, ordering Army Commands to designate all camps, posts,
and installations as HPCON B.%62 FRAGO 12 did not define specific HPCON B
measures for commands to implement beyond the guidance already listed in Annex R.

HQDA EXORD 144-20, FRAGO 13 (23 March 20) subsequently issued Annex CC,
an Army Public Health Center document which contained additional HPCON guidance,
and directed all commands to assume HPCON C for mission essential activities and
HPCON D for all personnel not identified as mission essential.®®3 According to Annex
CC, HPCON C actions include the potential for severely restricted access to military
installations and implementation of remote work. Annex CC further states individuals
under HPCON D measures could expect to remain at home for extended periods of
time.

FRAGO 13 narrowly defined mission essential as those functions in support of
COVID-19 operations and life, health, and safety of personnel and installations.%64

FORSCOM FRAGO 9 directed all FORSCOM installation to assume HPCON C
using the baseline measures in the FORCOM Installation HPCON Measures (Appendix
16 to Annex C). FORSCOM HPCON C measures included implementing telework pans
and reducing staff to mission essential/critical personnel.®%5 This FRAGO also defines
mission essential functions as, “those functions in support of COVID-19 operations and
life, health, and safety of personnel and installations.” This guidance authorized
commanders to determine which functions are essential but directs that all personnel
not required to continue operation of mission essential functions be placed on tele-
work.566

26 March 2020

HQDA EXORD 144-20, FRAGO 14 (26 March 20) rescinded FRAGO 13 in its
entirety to include the definitions of mission essential and non-mission essential
activities and personnel, and Annex CC. However, FRAGO 14 reissued a directive for

662 See References: HQDA EXORD 144-20 (FRAGO 12), 23 March 2020, paragraph 3.C.65.

663 See References: HQDA EXORD 144-20 (FRAGO 12), 23 March 2020, paragraph 3.C.65.

664 See References: HQDA EXORD 144-20 (FRAGO 13), 23 March 2020, paragraphs 3.A.3.C. and
3.B.2.v.

665See References: FORSCOM EXORD in Response to COVID 19 Outbreak (FRAGO 9), ?? March 2020,
paragraph 3.C.21. to 3.C.21.A. and Appendix 16 to Annex C.

666See References: FORSCOM EXORD in Response to COVID 19 Outbreak (FRAGO 9), ?? March 2020,
paragraph 3.C.21.B. to 3.C.21.D.
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the Army to assume HPCON C.%67 FRAGO 14 did not further specify which HPCON C
measures commands should implement. While Annex CC was not reissued as part of
an HQDA order, the APHC document and other similar products remain available on the
center’s website. %68

27 March 2020

FORSCOM FRAGO 10 issued version 4 of Appendix 16 to Annex C and directed
Senior Commanders to use the HPCON C measures as their baseline. The updated
appendix did not change previous guidance on telework or staffing.569

30 March 2020

FORSCOM FRAGO 12 slightly modified the definition of mission essential tasks and
functions and granted Senior Commanders the authority to increase or modify mission
essential tasks based on real world or unforeseen requirements. This FRAGO also
added that telework, VTC, or other virtual technology should be the primary mode of
communications for non-mission essential functions.6’° FRAGO 12 maintained previous
guidance that non-mission essential personnel should be placed on telework but added
that leaders are still expected to perform daily Soldier checks, either virtual or in person
while social distancing.6”!

8 April 2020

HQDA EXORD 144-20, FRAGO 18 directed ACOMs, ASCCs, and DRUs to provide
weekly updates to HQDA on any HPCON measure taken above HPCON C and
provides specific examples of these measures.%”2 This requirement was later rescinded
in FRAGO 22 (22 April 2020).

15 April 2020

FORSCOM FRAGO 20 included the requirement for commands to update COVID-
19 personnel status through the Army’s Disaster Personnel Accountability and
Assessment System (ADPAAS) on a daily basis. In addition to tracking whether an
individual is affected by COVID-19, the ADPAAS reporting module also requires

667 See References: HQDA EXORD 144-20 (FRAGO 14), 26 March 2020, paragraphs 3.A.4. to 3.A.6.
668Army Public Health Center website
https://ephc.amedd.army.mil/HIPECatalog/searchResults.aspx?hotlist=88.

669See References: FORSCOM EXORD in Response to COVID 19 Outbreak (FRAGO 10), 27 March
2020, paragraph 3.C.21 and Appendix 16 to Annex C v4.

670See References: FORSCOM EXORD in Response to COVID 19 Outbreak (FRAGO 12), 30 March
2020, paragraph 3.C.21.B. t0 3.C.21.B.3..

671See References: FORSCOM EXORD in Response to COVID 19 Outbreak (FRAGO 12), 30 March
2020, paragraph 3.C.21.1.

672 HQDA EXORD 144-20 (FRAGO 18), 2 April 2020, paragraphs 3.C.81. to 3.C.81.L.
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reporting the sponsor’s work status i.e. working on site, working off site, or not
working.673

673See References: FORSCOM EXORD in Response to COVID 19 Outbreak (FRAGO 20), 15 April 2020,
Appendix 2 to Annex F paragraph 4.J.F. to 4.J.6.F., and Tab 22 and 23.
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8. Findings and Recommendations.

a. Findings and Recommendations Pertaining to LOI 2 — Accountability.

Line of Inquiry Organization | Page
8.a.(1)  Standards of Determination (Accountability) 117
8.a.(2) Findings 130
o What were 3CR (from Regiment to Squad level) accountability
policies and procedures in place in April 2020, to include COVID- 130
19 considerations?
o Did 3CR (from Regiment to Squad level) accountability 131
procedures comply with published standards and procedures?
o Were the measures followed within the Regimental Engineer

Squadron on the date the Squadron last accounted for SPC
Guillén? Identify and explain any procedures that diverged from
required accountability measures.

o Considering HPCON and pandemic protocols, what personnel
from the Regimental Engineer Squadron were present on the date 137
of her disappearance?

135

o Did SPC Guillén report for duty on the day that she disappeared?
To whom did she report? What duties were assigned to her on 137
that date, and who assigned them?

o Did Command Teams implement procedures to verify compliance 141
with Fort Hood and 3CR COVID-19 “shelter in place” guidance?

o When did SPC Guillén’s unit first determine she was missing? 144
How did they determine she was missing?

o Were there any false or incomplete accountability reports made 146
regarding SPC Guillén?

8.a.(3) Recommendations 147
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(1) Standards of Determination.

Army Requlations

Army Regulation (AR) 600-8-6: Personnel Accounting and Strength Reporting (1
April 2015), places responsibility for Soldier accountability on Commanders at all
echelons.®”* AR 600-8-6 defines personnel accounting as “the recording and tracking of
by-name data on personnel when they arrive, depart, change duty location, change duty
status, change assignment eligibility and availability (AEA), or change grade.”®”> The
Electronic Military Personnel Office (eMILPO) is the personnel accounting system of
record for all Regular Army personnel, and is executed “primarily at brigade (BDE) and
below.”87®¢ Commanders and Human Resource officers “are directly responsible for the
accurate and timely submission of personnel data into eMILPO,” and accountability “at
all times is essential to facilitating accurate personnel status (PERSTAT) reporting.”%”7
Unit commanders report all changes in PERSTAT occurring during the reporting period
to the S1, each duty day, and S1s ensure changes in PERSTAT are entered into
eMILPQ.678

In accordance with AR 600-20, Army Command Policy (6 November 2014),
commanders exercise primary command authority over a military organization, and are
responsible for everything their command does or fails to do.5”° The key elements of
command are authority and responsibility.®8° In accordance with para 2-1, commanders
subdivide responsibility and authority and assign portions of both to various subordinate
commanders and staff members. In this way, a proper degree of responsibility becomes
inherent in each command echelon. Commanders delegate sufficient authority to
Soldiers in the chain of command to accomplish their assigned duties, and commanders
may hold these Soldiers responsible for their actions. Commanders who assign
responsibility and authority to their subordinates still retain the overall responsibility for
the actions of their commands.%8"

The chain of command assists commanders at all levels to achieve their primary
function of accomplishing the unit’'s assigned mission while caring for personnel and
property in their charge.?8? A simple and direct chain of command facilitates the
transmittal of orders from the highest to the lowest levels in a minimum of time and with
the least chance of misinterpretation.®83 Effective communication between senior and

674See References: AR 600-8-6, para 1-6.

675See References: AR 600-8-6, para 1-6.

676See References: AR 600-8-6, para 1-6.

677See References: AR 600-8-6, para 1-6.

678See References: AR 600-8-6, para 1-6 and para 1-24.
679See References: AR 600-20, para 1-5 and para 2-1.
680See References: AR 600-20, para 1-5.

681See References: AR 600-20, para 2-1.

682See References: AR 600-20, para 2-1.

683See References: AR 600-20, para 2-1.
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subordinate Soldiers within the chain of command is crucial to the proper functioning of
all units.%8* The NCO support channel (leadership chain) parallels and complements the
chain of command. It is a channel of communication and supervision from the CSM to
the 1SG, and then to other NCOs and enlisted personnel of the unit.8® Commanders
define the responsibilities and authority of their NCOs to their staffs and subordinates.
Among other duties, the NCO support channel assists the chain of command plan and
conduct day-to-day unit operations within prescribed policies and directives.68

Fort Hood, 3CR, RES, and E/FST manning quidance in place in April 2020,
to include COVID-19 considerations

Il Corps and Fort Hood

On 18 March Fort Hood assumed HPCON B.58” Beginning 23 March and extending
into early April, MG Efflandt issued a series of directives and General Orders
implementing travel and Shelter-in-Place restrictions for all Fort Hood tenant units. The
first, a Travel Restriction Order published on 23 March, restricted Soldiers from traveling
outside of a 40-mile radius from the installation.®® The next day, on 24 March, MG
Efflandt, via memorandum, directed all Fort Hood commanders and leaders to shift to
“Mission Essential Manning” effective 1400, further directing that all personnel
determined as “non-mission essential” by their leadership “shelter in place”.68 On 25
March, via operations order, Task Force Phantom directed all commanders to assume
Health Protection Condition (HPCON) C for mission essential activities, defined as
COVID-19 response; Defense Support of Civil Authorities (DSCA) missions; operations;
life, health, and safety of personnel; Supply Support Activity (SSA) and Shop Stock List
(SSL) Activity to include unit pickups; services and non-mission capable maintenance
on Equipment Readiness Category (ERC) A and pacing items; and all required aviation
maintenance to include phase maintenance.®® There is no evidence that Task Force
Phantom issued an accountability standard via order; however, FRAGORD 11 on 25
March directed mission essential military personnel to continue to perform duties, and,
“‘when not at work performing mission essential duties, military personnel follow all
published guidance from their chains of command or supervisor.”6%1

684See References: AR 600-20, para 2-1.

685See References: AR 600-20, para 2-18.

686See References: AR 600-20, para 2-18.

687B-2-10, FRAGORD 07 to PW 20-02-0079: pg 1, paragraph 3.A., “Effective immediately this FRAGORD
elevates the Fort Hood HPCON posture to Bravo.” and pg 12, para 3.C.15, “Fort Hood is HPCON level B
as of 18 1200 MAR 2020.”.

688B-2-11, Memorandum for See Distribution, Commanding General's Travel Restriction Order Due to
COVID-19.

689B-2-12, Fort Hood Transition to Mission Essential Manning Guidance. Memorandum.

690B-2-13, FRAGORD 11 to PW 20-02-0079: pg 10, para 3.B.59, 25 MAR 20.

691B-2-13, FRAGORD 11 to PW 20-02-0079: pg 10, para 3.B.61.a, 25 MAR 20.
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On 27 March, MG Efflandt issued a “shelter in place” General Order that superseded
the 23 March travel restrictions, authorizing mission essential functions as directed in
FRAGORD 11 to PW 20-02-0079. The General Order, which was punitive in nature,
also imposed a 2200 to 0530 curfew for all Soldiers residing on and off-post, maintained
the 40-mile travel restriction, and limited additional Soldier travel to “support mission
essential functions or the activities of daily living,” such as healthcare, grocery shopping,
or other designated activities.®®? Finally, on 3 April, MG Efflandt issued a revision to the
General Order that removed hunting and fishing as authorized activities of daily living.
These restrictions were in effect on 22 April 2020.5%3

3rd Cavalry Regiment (3CR)

On 24 March, NSNS nitiated reduced manning in support and Bell County
orders and implementation of HPCON B+ (minimal manning) on Fort Hood. 3CR
transitioned the “posture of our force” to execution of “Mission Essential operations.”6%
FRAGORD 7 to 3CR’s COVID-19 response order directed squadrons to “man and
execute missions” designated as mission essential and that “readiness essential
activities” would be “nominated for approval by the [gjjjij during the daily COVID Battle
Update Brief (BUB) (Monday -Thursday 1600 CST) update prior to execution.”®® 3CR
executed a confirmation brief by squadron command teams on 24 March, and a back
brief on 25 March.5°¢ FRAGORD 7 established the key task of “Maintain Readiness:
Continue priority maintenance, maintain ongoing planning efforts for upcoming
operations, and sustain systems of record across all lines of effort” and provided the
following definitions: The order further defined Mission Essential personnel as “a key
leader or Trooper, by echelon, whose non-delegable function is deemed essential to the
successful completion of the mission” and clarified that Readiness Essential personnel
included those required to “continue priority maintenance: GLDS/Deadline Parts
maintenance/SSA Operations.”¢%”

On 26 March, [ISHEIEE) issued guidance to squadron command teams (via
email) to “ensure all understand mission essential personnel and mission essential
functions. We all need to know who is working, when, where, and whether their duty fits
within intent for reduced manning / reduced exposure and necessity;” the email further
defined mission essential to include “critical supply and maintenance operations to
include: SSA operations, parts / supply pickup, Non-Mission Capable (NMC)
maintenance on PACERS and aviation maintenance. To be clear — services and routine

692B-2-14, GENERAL ORDER: Shelter in Place Order for Personnel under the Authority of the Senior
Commander.

693B-2-15, GENERAL ORDER: Shelter in Place Order for Personnel under the Authority of the Senior
Commander.

694B-2-16, 3CR FRAGORD 7, OPORD 33-20: pg 1, para 2, 24 MAR 20.

695B-2-17, 3d CR Mission R6 Intent Guidance HPCONB+(FRAGO 7)_Rifles 6 _24MAR20.

69%6B-2-17, 3d CR Mission R6 Intent Guidance HPCONB+(FRAGO 7)_Rifles 6 _24MAR20.

697B-2-18, 3CR FRAGORD 8, OPORD 33-20: pg 2, para 3.a.ii, and pg 18, para d.x, 25 MAR 20.
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maintenance generally do not fit in the mission essential category unless for Crisis
Reaction Battalion (CRB) operations or aviation maintenance.”®®® On the same day, the
Regiment issued FRAGORD 9, implementing reduced manning in support of HPCON C
(mission essential manning).6®® The order further specified that 3CR would resume
collective training NET 1 June 20, and all training “not directly related to mission
essential activities” would cease unless approved by MG Efflandt.”°® On 21 April 20, o/a
1300, [DIENEIES) further clarified mission essential guidance to squadron command
teams via email, included the following maintenance operations as “mission essential” —
“‘Equipment services (priority: PACERS; Weapons; critical legacy fleet to include
Wreckers, Fuelers, Command and Control (C2) platforms, Field Feeding Equipment;
Commo Equipment)”°! There is no evidence that regiment directed squadrons to report
the exact number of Soldiers conducting mission essential duties in the footprint on a
daily basis.”%?

Regimental Engineer Squadron (RES)

On 24 March, QISR ordered all RES Soldiers to “remain in their primary
residence from 24 MAR 20 until 03 APR 20, or until recalled by the chain of
command.”’% The [gji] directed all Soldiers to “remain in their residence at all times
except for “essential activities (getting food or other essential household items and / or
seeking medical treatment)” and if they “left their residence, they were to notify the
chain of command / NCO support channel.”’% Regarding mission essential duties, the
squadron designated “Medics, Food Service Troopers, select Mechanics, and select
supply clerks” as “mission essential in order to maintain readiness” and directed
command teams to “notify these Troopers of their work requirements and report the
number of Troopers, by essential task, daily to Squadron.””% On 26 March, RIS
forwarded [ISHEIEIEN cmail to Troop Command Teams, defining mission essential
functions and instructing command teams to “ensure all understand mission essential
personnel and mission essential functions. We all need to know who is working, when,
where, and whether their duty fits within intent for reduced manning / reduced exposure

698B-2-19, Email, [DNEEINIE . ‘Mission Essential Functions and Personnel.

699B-2-20, 3CR FRAGORD 9, OPORD 33-20: pg 1, para 2, 26 MAR 20.

700B-2-20, 3CR FRAGORD 9, OPORD 33-20: pg 19, para d.x.3, 26 MAR 20.

701B-2-22, Email: 211300APR 20; [DISNEIES). ‘Guidance: Maintenance and Inventories.

702A-127-1, IS ro 2, “when the COVID-19 response started, no. And | don’t remember the exact
date, but eventually, that became a reportable item to the regiment, and eventually, to Corps. | don'’t
remember exactly when that started.” No records of these reports were provided or are known to exist; A-
27-2, DISERE ro 2, regarding a specific report on names/numbers of personnel conducting mission
essential duties, “No, sir. There were mission essential personnel that were named in the back brief
before we went to shelter-in-place. There were mission essential personnel that had to go to work every
day.”.

703B-2-24, Memorandum, [RESNEIEE . ‘COVID-19 Place of Duty”.

704B-2-24, Memorandum, [RESNEIEE . ‘COVID-19 Place of Duty”.

705B8-2-24, Memorandum, [RESNEIEE . ‘COVID-19 Place of Duty”.
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and necessity.””% On 21 April, o/a 1523, [RISEEIE forwarded the [ email
clarifying mission essential functions, and adding “weapons” as a maintenance priority,
to the Troop Command Teams to include [BISEDINEINEEEEEEEEEEE '
I directed the XO and Maintenance Control Team to “draft a plan for my approval,
to get back to the maintenance operations” noting that “the Squadron will work quickly
to refine guidance at our level so we can start executing all of the activities outlined on
this list.””°¢ (NGNS characterized the maintenance guidance in effect in April
2020 as “mission essential vehicle services, which would only include PACERs” and
“normal services” and repairs “regarding the readiness of NVGs, weapons, CBRN”
equipment could still be processed.”®®

The squadron’s 25 March back brief to the [[JJigl] |1AVV 3CR FRAGO 7, established
an HPCON B+ mission essential footprint of 18 leaders and Soldiers, with another three
on call for Unit Status Report (USR) duty.”'® Squadron leadership (4) worked daily,
0900-1700, within the footprint (Commander, Command Sergeant Major, Executive
Officer, S3). The Staff Duty Officer and Non-Commissioned Officer, Runner, and two
Charge of Quarters accounted for five personnel daily with 24-hour coverage. The
Physician’s Assistant and two medics manned the Medical Clinic on a daily basis,
augmented by two additional medics for sick call and quarantine support each morning
from 0800-1000. Four cooks per shift operated the Dining Facility. And the Squadron
S1, S2, and S4 reported for duty in the footprint for USR as required.”!" The squadron
also identified an additional 21 Soldiers to perform mission and readiness essential
activities as required, which would be reviewed for avoidance at HPCON C, which Fort
Hood instituted on 25 March.”'? Two Soldiers provided Human Resource support from
0900-1000 on work days. Two Soldiers provided Signal support, and an additional
seven Soldiers provided Supply support for approximately two hours a day. Finally, 10
Soldiers were authorized to support maintenance operations from 0900-1600 during
work days, which included leadership, to perform “overdue services, SSA pickup,
deadline repairs, as needed, drivers / TCs.””"® According to the [[DIEEEIIS I
I issued additional verbal guidance to further restrict the number of Soldiers in
the motor pool, with no more than 10 mechanics on duty and no more than 10
personnel from other Troops in the motor pool at any given time, limited to two Troops
per day with offset work locations.”'

706B-2-27, Email: (RIS F\V: Subject: Mission Essential Functions and Personnel.

707B-2-22, Email: 211300APR 20; [DISNEIES) Guidance: Maintenance and Inventories.
708B-2-22, Email: 211300APR 20; [DISNEIEE). ‘Guidance: Maintenance and Inventories.
70°A-61-1, [N PO 2

710B-2-26, Pioneer slide 25 MAR 20 FRAGORD 7 back brief.

711B-2-26, Pioneer slide 25 MAR 20 FRAGORD 7 back brief.

712B-2-26, Pioneer slide 25 MAR 20 FRAGORD 7 back brief.

713B-2-26, Pioneer slide 25 MAR 20 FRAGORD 7 back brief.

"4A-61-1, [DIEEIEE) ro 2. “we told them that there were only to be 10 mechanics and 10 personnel
per troop in a motor pool at any one time ... we assigned specific days to troops, so two troops would
have a day.”.
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According to [RISEEIE . by late March the volume and fluctuations in COVID-19
guidance and reporting requirements shifted focus and energy away from daily, routine
practices to COVID-19 requirements.”'® The squadron instituted a daily 1000
Commander’s Update Brief (CUB) via Skype or Microsoft Teams, during which Troop
Command Teams briefed accountability and daily mission essential duties, IAW il
I 24 March direction on reporting requirements.”'® According to ISR the
session typically lasted 15 to 30-minutes each day, and the intent was for troop
commanders to brief mission essential requirements, the number of personnel required
to conduct mission essential duties in the footprint, and the tasks, 24 to 48-hours out.”"”
BRI also recalled denying troop commander requests for Soldiers to perform
mission essential duties during this forum.”'® The squadron did not establish a
requirement for Troops to submit a written report by-name, or number, of the personnel
who would be performing mission or readiness essential duties in the footprint on a daily
basis.”' ‘gl ¢xrected troop commanders to keep track of Soldiers performing
mission essential duties in the footprint.”2° Regarding compliance, RIS Was
unaware of “any issues” and expected troop commanders and first sergeants to report
accountability and duties at the daily 1000 CUB.”?!

Echo Forward Support Troop (E/FST)

E/FST written guidance, in place on 22 April, consisted of an event-oriented
counseling DA4856 Counseling Statement to Soldiers outlining the Fort Hood General
Order.”??> The DA4856 defined mission essential functions as specified by MG Efflandt’s
27 March General Order.”?®> A sample of maintenance platoon Soldier and NCO

TSA-43-1, IDISEIEE 1o 1. “There was that level of chaos, on top of the shelter in place,” and “we didn’t
know how long it would last. There was some turmoil in there as well.” pg 18, “There was a lot of
frustration and fatigue associated with the COVID procedures changing all the processes for everything.”.
716B-2-24, Memorandum, SIS ‘COVID-19 Place of Duty” : pg 2, “Troop command teams will
continue to update the Squadron by 1000 daily and will attend the 1000 synch virtually via Skype for
Business.”.

"TA-A3-1, IR : o 2, ‘It wasn't that hard to figure out who was mission essential They would brief
me 24 to 48 hours out ... at the 1000 MS Teams session.” pg 1, Length as 15-30 minutes.

8A-43-1, IDISEIEE ro 2, when asked if he recalled denying requests, stated “absolutely.”.

OA-43-1, GBI ro 2, ‘I didn’t require a list of people who were at work on a daily basis,” and when
asked how he verified compliance, “the troop commander and 1SG reported those at our daily meetings.”;
A-5-1, DIGHBIEE - ro 11, when asked if the Troop Command Team owed a written report with those
mission essential numbers or names to squadron, “No, sir.”; A-61-1, [DISHEIEES) : °o 4, Regarding
reports of mission essential personnel, “They were 90% of the time verbal, sir. The only time that they
would have been written was if we did not have the meeting for some reason.”; A-86-1, [BNEEEIIES: ro
3, “Those type of reports, no. The PERSTAT was the one collected. They would also say on MS Teams
chat “100% accounted for.”.

"20A-43-1, EISEEIEE ro 2, “Troop commanders should have” kept track of who was mission essential
each day.

21A-43-1 ISEEIE ro 2, “Troop Commander and 1SG reported those at our daily meetings.”.
722A-24-1, NGBS - po 10, “... they all got counseled. DA4856. With the shelter in place restrictions.”;
B-2-30, Sample signed E/FST DA4856 Shelter in Place RFI 351.

723B-2-30, Sample signed E/FST DA4856 Shelter in Place RFI 351.
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statements were signed 30-31 March 2020.7%* Soldiers also received the Fort Hood
“shelter in place” General Order.”?® The E/FST written guidance did not include the 10-
Soldier restriction on personnel authorized in the motor pool; according to [N
HEIGEEIEIEE . this guidance was disseminated verbally, to platoon sergeants.”2°
recalled the 10-Soldier restriction but do not recall the exact written or
verbal source.”?” The 10-Soldier limit did not include Soldiers who had been assigned
additional mission or readiness essential duties, which would require short duration
presence in the Squadron footprint.”? [ G Managed the 10-Soldier limit as it
applied to E/FST Soldiers and their maintenance duties in the motor pool on a daily
basis.”?® Soldiers performing duties in the motor pool were required to be in uniform.”3°
The E/FST Command Team expected any Soldier reporting for mission essential duties
in the footprint to be in uniform, and made spot corrections; however,
stated that it would not be unusual for a Soldier to wear civilian clothes for a mission
essential duty that required brief presence, such as SPC Guillén’s duties on 22 April.”3

Prior to the 1000 daily CUB with the Squadron Commander, (ISR received
the overall accountability report from SIS . but did not receive a detailed report
of E/FST Soldiers and their assigned mission essential duties in the footprint.”32
According to [DISEEIEE . he did not brief specific names or tasks at the 1000 daily
CUB, instead that E/FST had “10 people working here in the motor pool and everyone is

724B-2-30, Sample signed E/FST DA4856 Shelter in Place RFI 351.

"22A-24-1, DISHEIE 1o 10, “Yes, and they all got counseled.”.

726A-24-1, DISHEIEE 1o 12, when asked about the 10-Soldier limit on essential personnel, whether

guidance or changes was issued in writing, “No.”; A-5-1, [DISEEIE : ro 5. when asked if the procedures

and standards were written in a troop SOP or order, responded “No, sir” and although he did not

remember if the 10-Soldier limit was issued by the Squadron in an order, he remembered, pg 7, “it was

disseminated to the troopers and there was only 10 troopers at the motor pool.”.

2TA-70-1, IS EEIISE: 1o 6. ‘| can’'t remember if it was the 27th or 28th [of March], and it was

some guidance put out that we just couldn’t have more than 10 or 15 people in the motor pool at all” and

regarding the process of determining who had to work, “There was nothing in writing.”.

726A-118-1, DSBS : ro 2. “they wanted only 10 people in the motor pool at any given time and

those 10 people were working on O2 parts until those parts were installed and then they were released.”;

A-5-1, DIGHEIEE ro 10, regarding SPC Guillén’s duties outside the motor pool on 22 APR 20, “she

wouldn't have been included in that 10 troopers that had to work.”.

"29A-118-1, IDIENEIIEN ro 2. “we would pretty much look at the ESR, figure out what was coming in,

what we had in, and then we would say, “all right, how many people do we need to complete this task,”

and that is how we would bring our people in.”.

30A-75-1, NGBS 1o 5. “Uniform. We were going to be working on vehicles.”.

A-11-1, DISEEIEE po 7. ‘For quick missions like Specialist Guillén was doing, it was okay for

civilians because she was going to be in and out.”; A-5-1, [DIENSIE 19 25, “If they have to work and

they are a part of that 10-man work schedule, they were supposed to be in uniform.”; A-70-1 il

IDIGHEIEEN: ro 10, ‘I can see how just to get a serial number wouldn’t require you to stay here all day

... if you just needed to go to the orderly room or do something real quick ... it really didn’t matter. | don’t

think it was guidance put out per se.”.

32A-5-1, IDESNEIE ro 10, “By name, no, sir. Not by name. We had just a general accountability ...
would get the reports from ... the platoon sergeants and he would tell me ... all troopers

are accounted for. That's what | would tell (SIS "
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accounted for, etc.” based on accountability report.”3 In April 2020, il
I did not execute a battle rhythm event with the E/FST chain of command and
Maintenance Control Team to review mission essential duty requirements, and jjjj did
not approve mission essential duties on a daily basis.”** SIS re'ied on il
to manage and assign mission essential duties in the motor
pool, within the 10-Soldier physical restriction.”3® assumed that [RIDEDIES
attended [DISNEEIEN r'atoon sergeant meetings, and that IS
I informed of Maintenance Platoon duties.”*® However, [RIREREES
stated that he did not attend the [jjjifiilijrlatoon sergeant meetings, and SIS
did not receive daily troop requirements from or squad
leaders / team chiefs, and considered it only a “courtesy” if jjj were informed. 73’

According to the
managed the mechanics, the wheeled vehicle and engineer fleet maintainers,
but did not “specifically task specialty maintainers,” such as small arms repair. gl
RIS coordinated and assigned maintenance requirements directly
with team chiefs / squad leaders via group chat, which according to [SISHDIENIEE

recollection included did not typically
assign duties that would require a Soldier to report for duty at a location other than the
motor pool, such as one of the troop arms rooms.”#? According to
B would normally assigned duties for small arms repair that jjjjij had coordinated

"SSA-5-1, NN P9 11.
BAA-5-1, DSBS ro ©. regarding a battle rhythm event to determine the Soldiers who would perform

duties, “No, we didn't. Specific people who come in for that day, no, sir.”.

S5A-5-1, DIDHENS o S IS - \vould contact the platoon sergeant and

say, hey, this is who we need tomorrow.”.

36A-5-1, DIENEIS ro ©. regarding [DIENEIENE daily meetings, 'RISEEIEE Wwould attend, [l
Liceaga would attend, and some [SISEEIEE in the maintenance sometimes would attend. Mainly SSG
EEIGEDIIEE \Vould attend those meetings with the first sergeant.”.

BTA-70-1, [DIE DS ro 6. ‘| would have expected like a courtesy if anyone from either
DI ccded something, that they would have told me, but
they never told me, per se, or there wasn't a procedure that, | guess, required it.”; A-77-3, [RISEDIE 9
2, when asked if he attended any of [ NSNS training meetings, responded “No, | do not.”.
738A-61-1, IS Po 3.

9A-118-1, IDISNEIISE ro 3. regarding [DIESNEIEES. Ve were in the same group chat so if | pushed
out who was coming in he would see that message.”; A-77-3, RISESIEE r9o 2, ‘It would come down to

what needed to get done. Sometimes | would make the list if | was on duty, sometimes [BSEEIBIE]
would make the list” which was distributed “Mostly through text. We basically had a group so that
everyone can see it.”.

740A-118-1, IDNEEIEIEN 1o 3. When asked if he lacked visibility on duties outside the motor pool, “That
is accurate. Usually, when weapons need parts put on them, we don’t go to the arms rooms. We have a
GSE section, a shop where they work on the weapons at the motor pool.”; A-77-3, IS ro 3.
“when we were sheltering in place ... the list that we made were the people that were only coming in to
the motor pool.”.
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with the Troop XOs.”#! According to [N it vas not

uncommon for , to coordinate tasks with
the Troops XOs and assign them directly to squad leaders, without informing them, if
the task was not an ESR-driven maintenance requirement to be performed in the motor
pool.” DRSS informed [DISNBIEE of duties he assigned to mechanics in the
motor pool on a daily basis, via text during “shelter in place” restrictions.”*3 However,
according to NSNS . he did not always receive this information, but he understood
that IS received it from the Maintenance Control Team.”# According to [iili
I submitted a daily report of Soldiers present in the motor pool and the
maintenance duties they had performed to [DESEDIRIS - +°

3CR (from Regiment to Squad level) accountability policies and procedures in
place in April 2020, to include COVID-19 considerations

In late March, 3CR issued a series of accountability procedures following release of
the Fort Hood Senior Commander “Shelter in Place” General Order. Effective 24 March,
3CR required “100% accountability each day, 2x a day (1x via phone, 1x via visual,
FaceTime, WhatsApp, etc.)” and directed squadron command teams to “organize
checks of their footprints daily to maintain accountability and adherence to social
distancing standards, good order, and discipline.””#® In the 26 March 20 email to
squadron command teams, [[SIIEEIEE) a/so directed a “physical (in person) check
on all Troopers no less than 3 times a week” and telephonic “voice (not text)” checks on
all Troopers “every day including weekends.”’4” On 27 March, via order, 3CR clarified
that the “intent of in-person checks is, in part, to enforce travel restrictions. Facetime
and other digital means are not sufficient.”’48 During interview, [N stated
that in his opinion, “everybody was pretty clear on accountability ... it is a big deal for
me” and, regarding accountability in the barracks, “leaders could go and check the
barracks pretty easy” to gain visual accountability of their Soldiers.”®

A-11-1, BISEEIEE ro 4. ‘The armament missions mostly came from [SNSEEIISEE because
il would talk to [SIESEIES)] to find out what needed to happen for day and that's how we established
the personnel needed to come in.”.

"2A-118-1, DIGHEIEE 1o 3. BIDEDIISE | scd to do that [task the squad leader for
small arms repair]. It wasn'’t a huge problem to me, it wasn'’t like a low blow to me. jjjjij understands the
things that | usually have going on at the motor pool are very busy.”; A-77-3, [ISESIEE ro 3. regarding
tasks to armaments, “During that time | wasn’t aware of anything that was going on with that side.”.
TSA-77-3, BISEEIE o 2, “the text of required personnel was “sent up to the first sergeant and the
commander so they were tracking who was going to be there.”.

T44A-24-1, DIGEEIS o 12-13, whether he was informed by SIS of Mission essential
duties, prior to the daily CUB, “No, not me. [DISNBIEE" and he and DISEDIGISEE \'<<
informed, “Not every day. Sometimes they fail to tell us.”.

745A-109-1, IDIESNEIES ro 2. ‘Every day | would send up a report to [SISNEIEEESN \who was at work
that day and what tasks had been completed.”.

746B-2-17, 3d CR Mission R6 Intent Guidance HPCONB+(FRAGO 7)_Rifles 6_24MAR20.

747B-2-19, Email, [ SNSRI Mission Essential Functions and Personnel.

748B-2-21, 3CR FRAGORD 10, OPORD 33-20: pg 11, para i.c.vii, 27 MAR 20.

49A-86-1, [ ENENENISN P9 5
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3CR maintained normal PERSTAT reporting throughout the COVID-19 restriction
period, and remained the only directed, written accountability report required on a daily
basis.”®® Troops reported by-name PERSTAT to the squadron S-1 prior to 0900 daily.”>"
These Troop-level reports were vetted by Troop 1SGs, and the first morning
accountability check generated each Soldier’s reported duty status.”>? Soldiers were
reported as Present For Duty (PFD) if they were accounted for on that day, with no
differentiation between “shelter in place” in their primary residence or if they would be
physically present in the 3CR footprint performing mission essential duties.”®® Squadron
S1s submitted PERSTAT to the 3CR S1 before 1030 daily.”®* There was no
requirement for 3CR to submit daily PERSTAT to HQ, Ill Corps.”®

, issued accountability procedures via the 24
March “shelter in place” order, directing the chain of command to conduct twice-daily
“check-ins” with all of their Soldiers prior to 0900 and 1700. The memorandum specified
that one of the check-ins must be audio or visual “(Facetime, WhatsApp, in-person,
etc.).””%6 Soldiers were also directed to “notify your chain of command / NCO support
channel” ... “if you leave your residence.””®” Troops reported accountability to the
squadron S1 daily, prior to 0900, in accordance with standing PERSTAT reporting
procedures; there was no requirement for the troops to report the results of the second
accountability check at 1700, unless a Soldier was unaccounted for.”®® On 27 March,
via email to Troop Command Teams, [JISEEIE disseminated the Fort Hood Senior
Commander’s “Shelter in Place” General Order, requiring command teams to distribute
to Soldiers before the next morning’s 1000 synch session.”®® The squadron also issued
the restrictions via order on 1 April, which included guidance that Facetime and other
digital means was insufficient for in-person checks.”®® According to SIS . cach

70A-27-2, ISR 1o 1, regarding daily PERSTAT, “accountability is generally through the first
sergeant, rolled up to the battalion, then to the Regimental S-1 by 1030 every day.”, and pg 2, regarding a
specific report on names/numbers of personnel conducting mission essential duties, “No, sir. There were
mission essential personnel that were named in the back brief before we went to shelter-in-place.”.
">1A-86-1, IS P9 2

752A-27-2, IR ro 1; A-86-1, DIENEIEES o 2; B-2-23, Regimental PERSTAT reporting policy.
TS3A-27-2, RIS ro 1.

TS0A-27-2, ISR o 1; B-2-23, Regimental PERSTAT reporting policy.

755A-13-1, DSBS ro 2. whether the lll Corps G1 receives daily PERSTAT reports, “No, we do not,
it is a weekly or monthly rollup of just raw strength and numbers.”; A-27-2, BIDESIE ro 3, regarding
PERSTAT, “It does not go up to Corps.”.

756B-2-24, Memorandum, SIS . ‘COVID-19 Place of Duty” .

757B-2-24, Memorandum, [RISEEIEE . ‘COVID-19 Place of Duty” .

758A-24-1, DSBS ro 8, ‘no later than 1800, that's when it was due to us. That one was not required
for us to push up, but it was required for us to do. The only one we were required to push was the one in
the morning. We conducted the second one ... if we were unable to establish accountability, then we
needed to report it.”; A-86-1, (NGBS 1o 2. ‘PERSTATSs were still submitted” but did not mention
another required report when asked.

759B-2-28, Email, 11IC General Order, Shelter in Place, 271348MAR.

760B-2-29, FRAGORD 2 to OPORD 20-16 (RES COVID-19 Response): pg 7, para 3.f.3.vii, 1 APR 20.
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Troop “took the guidance differently ... some implemented extra checks, some did two
checks per day.”’®

E/FST issued an “event-oriented counseling” DA4856 Counseling Statement to
Soldiers outlining the Fort Hood general order.”®? E/FST required platoons to gain
accountability twice daily, NLT 0630 and 1830, “via voice telephone communications
during the weekday” (0730 and 1830 on weekends).””®* According to [DESEIEIES . i
one daily check was “digital,” the second must be visual.”64 expected the
“squad leader or team chief” to gain “eyes on” Soldiers on a daily basis.”® The
counseling statement informed Soldiers of the Fort Hood curfew policy, specifying that
all Soldiers “living in barracks, on-post family housing, and off-post private residences”
were “ordered to be at and remain inside their normal place of residence between the
hours of 2200 and 0530” and to inform their first-line supervisor if departing their
residence for an authorized activity.”®® In practice, based on verbal instructions, platoon
sergeants submitted two daily accountability reports to the first sergeant (NLT 0800 and
1800).7%7 In addition to accountability standards, the counseling statement directed
Soldiers to conduct Physical Readiness Training in teams of two to three individuals
each duty day according to the following criteria: 0630-0730 for mission essential
Soldiers reporting to work in the motor pool; 1000-1100 for married Soldiers, to be
conducted in the parking lot; 1300-1400 for Soldiers who live in the barracks.”%®

The E/FST DA Form 4856 “event-oriented” “shelter in place” counseling directed
“visual inspection of Soldiers living in government quarters” by a “designated NCO."76% A
duty NCO would, according to (IS minimize the number of people in the
barracks and avoid overlapping daily checks by multiple members of the chain of
command.””° [ISEEIEEE rublished a duty roster for the month of April 2020 that

"S1A-43-1, | PO 2.
7627\-24-1 :pg 10, “... they all got counseled. DA4856. With the shelter in place restrictions.”;
() (6). (b) (7)(C)

B-2-30, Sample signed E/FST DA4856 Shelter in Place RFI 351.

763B-2-30, Sample signed E/FST DA4856 Shelter in Place RFI 351.

784A-24-1, IDISNEIES 1o 7. “During COVID we had to do one visual means and the other could be
other means, phone call, text, or a physical checks,” and pg 17, “if one was digital, the other had to be
visual, every day.”.

765A-24-1, IDISHEIEE ro 8. “Either the squad leader or it could be team leader. On one day, | expected
the team chief or squad leader to be there, for eyes on. Then, send that up to the platoon sergeant.” this
expectation was not written. pg 8, “it came from the commander, from the squadron, through verbal
communication.”.

766B-2-30, Sample signed E/FST DA4856 Shelter in Place RFI 351.

%TA-24-1, ISEEIE - ro 8, “The first report, that's the one we reported up ... had to be done before
0800” and the second report “in the evening between 1600 ... and no later than 1800, that's when it was
due to us.”.

768B-2-30, Sample signed E/FST DA4856 Shelter in Place RFI 351.

769B-2-30, Sample signed E/FST DA4856 Shelter in Place RFI 351.

T0A-24-1, NSNS o 17. “For the first couple of days, there was confusion. There were people
being checked five or six times a day by different people ... we can’'t have this many people circulating
around during shelter in place.”.
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specified a daily tour of duty at 0900 and 1600, and instructed the duty NCO to “check
in with the CQ for both buildings and check every room for the soldiers in Tomahawk
Troop” and “check for the cleanliness of the common areas.”””! The checks “had to be
physical” with the duty NCO'’s reporting discrepancies to platoon sergeants.’’?
According to (IS accountability was the “whole point” of the daily barracks
check, and |SISEEIEE understood that as the purpose when he performed the duty.’”?
considered accountability to be the “implied” purpose of the duty NCO
barracks check, but could not remember seeing it in writing.”"*

B did not understand that accountability was the purpose of the barracks check
when they performed the duty on 22 April.””> Duty NCOs did not receive verbal
instructions or an in brief from the 1SG or other members of the Troop NCO chain of
command upon beginning their tour of duty.””®

During “shelter in place” restrictions in April 2020, the E/FST Command Team relied
on [DIESNEIEE to gain and report daily accountability of Maintenance Platoon Soldiers
and ensure that they met administrative requirements.””” [ SEIES) required squad

771B-2-31, Tomahawk Troop Barracks Check Roster 1-30 APR: pg 2.
2A-24-1, NSNS o 10, barracks check “... had to be physical. Twice a day ... two NCOs ...
knocking on doors and eyes on the barracks Soldiers,” pg. 8, and “the barracks report | don’t get. When
the platoon sergeant tells me, all are accounted for ... that there was no discrepancy during the barracks
check,”.
A-24-1, [DESEEIES o1, visual accountability “was the whole point of the barracks checks,”; A-77-3,
. pg 3, understanding of the purpose of the barracks check was “to check each room and make
sure that the Soldiers were living in good living conditions. To make contact with the Soldiers and then if
the Soldiers were not in their rooms, you had to call the squad leader and make sure they knew.”.
4A-70-1, IIDISEEIEEE : oo 4. ‘! don’'t remember seeing it in writing, but it was implied that that
was the function. It was to have a physical check ... so it was implied ... if someone didn’t see face-to-
face to notify their first line.”.
SA-75-1, DSBS : ro 3. “My understanding was that we just reported that the barracks were kept,
not that we were sending an accountability report. It wasn’t--on the memo that was sent in late March,
early April--1 don’t know the exact day that it was sent, for the list of personnel doing the barracks checks
in April. The backside stated that it was a check for cleanliness, not an accountability check sent to the
squad leader. You are supposed to do an accountability check at the same time anyway. So when | went
through to check the barracks, | wasn’t taking accountability of personnel because | was just checking
their rooms for cleanliness.”; A-87-1, SIS ro 1. ‘my duty was to ensure the Soldiers were
being taken care of ... ensure that the barracks were clean ... but yes, that's pretty much it. Just ensuring
everything’s clean, everything’s organized, and nothing illegal is going on in the rooms.” He added, ‘I did
see all my Soldiers face-to-face. The people that | could not see | would call their first line supervisor.”.
5A-24-1, DSBS 1o 8-9. when asked if barracks NCO were told to have eyes on every Soldier,
“Yes sir ... it was verbal ... and it's on the roster,” however, pg9, [DISHEIE 'ater stated “They just need
to go to the desk and sign in. They just need to do it when they start their check,” and regarding the two
barracks checks per day, “I didn’t care if they both went together. | didn’t care if one did one check and
one did the other.” There is no evidence of an in-brief, in-person, explaining the instructions to each NCO
as he or she assumed duty.
TTA-24-1, DSBS ro O the platoon sergeant was there for “administrative duties, accountability
purposes,” pg.2 and for instructions to barracks check NCO, “I can’t get a hold of this person. Platoon
sergeant’s phone number is right there to call.”; A-5-1, (NS ro 5. ‘platoon sergeants would go to
First Sergeant's office or our offices and then they'd turn and say, this is how it's going to be, 0900 and
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leaders to report accountability of their Soldiers three times a day, NLT 0630, 0900, and
1600.778 One check per day was required to be voice or visual.””® SPC Guillén’s il
) established accountability of his
Soldiers through a voice call at 0600, with text message sufficient for the second check
before 0900.78° He conducted a 1300-1600 phone or text check-in for non-barracks
personnel, and a similar final afternoon accountability check for barracks personnel that
enabled a final report to [[ENEIIE) at 1600.7%
assumed that the duty NCO gained visual accountability of Soldiers at both the 0900
and 1600 barracks checks.”®? For these barracks checks, Soldiers were not required to
be present in their room — absence was permitted if Soldiers were conducting
authorized activities — but they were expected to inform “their first line supervisor if they
leave their residence.”83

1700 visual checks at the barracks and call the people that are off post for accountability."; A-70-1, il
pg 3, “First Sergeant sat us down, the platoon sergeants, and told us how he wanted
accountability done.”.
BA-70-1, BIDIGEEISE: 1o 3. ‘| wanted my numbers before 0630 ... | put a measure, another one
before 0900,” and pg 4, “the next check would be at 1600 for the text that First Sergeant required...”.
SA-70-1, IDIGEEDIIEEN  ro 3. ‘it was at least one call a day and the other checks could bet a text”
and regarding his understanding of the troop’s standard, “I don’t remember seeing anything in writing ...
we have to do at least one physical check, one voice check, and one written text.”.
780A-11-1, IDNSNEIREES - PO 2. “At 0600 | would wake up and call everyone to get accountability for the
morning, “ and for 0900 and 1600 checks; pg 3, “if they were not present they had [to] send, either a text
or call, to tell where we were gonna be at the time of the inspection — the face to face.”.
BA-11-1, IS PO 2, “At 1600 there was another room inspection, face to face with barracks
Soldiers and we would call the married personnel again.” For the 1600 check, he reported accountability
to [DIEGNEIEES o 3. ‘when | didn’'t get a word from the barracks check NCO then we were all good.”.
782A-11-1, IS - po 2, “at 0900, the personnel in the barracks would get a room inspection to get a
face to face accountability,” and for the 1600 check, he reported accountability to [BEEIEIEE o 3.
“‘when | didn’t get a word from the barracks check NCO then we were all good.”; A-70-1, [ EEEIEIS -
B ro 3. “there was barracks checks at 0900 and another barracks check at 1600 to involve a
physical check,” and for the 0900 platoon check, “in conjunction with that check it was another roster of
NCOs that did barracks checks” and pg 4, “so the next check would be 1600 for the text that the Frist
Sergeant required and the 1600 barracks checks.”.
"83A-24-1, IDISHEIE o ©. “We gave precise guidance on where you were supposed to be, at any
given time, you should be in the barracks,” pg 10, but Soldiers could be out of their barracks rooms for
“basic needs stuff. Any exceptions to that. Usually, when you leave your room, you are supposed to let
someone know ... if there is a reason the person is not at their place of residence ... a text, or anything
like that.”; B-2-30, Sample signed E/FST DA4856 Shelter in Place: Requirement to inform supervisor of
departure from residence.
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(2) Findings.

Directed Question: What were 3CR (from Regiment to Squad level) accountability
policies and procedures in place in April 2020, to include COVID-19
considerations?

1. After careful consideration, | find by a preponderance of the evidence that 3CR
required squadrons to conduct accountability checks twice daily, one audio (every day
to include weekends) and the other visual (in-person, not less than three times a week)
in April 2020. Squadrons submitted one daily accountability report to the 3CR S1 NLT
1030 for daily PERSTAT."8

2. After careful consideration, | find by a preponderance of the evidence that the
RES required troops to conduct accountability checks twice daily, NLT 0900 and 1700,
with one of those checks being audio or visual in April 2020. On 1 April, the squadron
clarified that one of the checks had to be visual, conducted in-person. Troops submitted
one daily accountability report to the Squadron S1 NLT 0900 for daily PERSTAT."8

3. After careful consideration, | find by a preponderance of the evidence that
E/FST required platoons to conduct and report accountability checks twice daily, NLT
0630 (0730 on weekends) and 1830, in April 2020. Via verbal instructions,
expected one of the checks to be visual, performed by a leader in the Soldiers’ chain of
command. E/FST also established twice daily (0900 and 1600) duty NCO barracks
checks, the purpose of which (cleanliness or accountability) was not clearly understood.
Duty NCOs did not report accountability to the Troop Command Team, only
discrepancies, to platoon sergeants.”®

4. After careful consideration, | find by a preponderance of the evidence that the
OIS 'covired squad leaders to report three
daily accountability checks at 0630, 0900, and 1600, with at least one of those checks
audio or visual, in April 2020. In addition, [SISEIEE assumed a designated E/FST
duty NCO gained visual accountability of all Soldiers in the barracks twice a day, at
0900 and 1600.787

5. After careful consideration, | find by a preponderance of the evidence that SPC

Guillen’s GOSN r<ouired three daily accountability checks for his

784See infra Part 8.a.(1), Standards of Determination, pg. 126 for discussion of Regimental accountability
procedures.

785See infra Part 8.a.(1), Standards of Determination, pg. 127 for discussion of Squadron accountability
procedures.

783ee infra Part 8.a.(1), Standards of Determination, pg. 128 for discussion of Troop accountability
procedures.

"87See infra Part 8.a.(1), Standards of Determination, pg. 129 for discussion of Platoon accountability
procedures.
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assigned Soldiers: voice call before 0600; text before 0900; and phone or text prior to
1600, in April 2020. In addition, [SISHEEIEEE assumed that a designated E/FST duty
NCO gained visual accountability of all Soldiers in the barracks twice a day, at 0900 and
1600.788

Derived Question: Did 3CR (from Regiment to Squad level) accountability
procedures comply with published standards and procedures?

6. After careful consideration, | find by a preponderance of the evidence that 3CR
accountability procedures and standards in effect on 22 April 2020 complied with AR
600-8-6 and Task Force Phantom / Fort Hood guidance.

(a) There is no evidence of Task Force Phantom / Fort Hood “shelter in place”
accountability standards for all Fort Hood units, and Task Force Phantom also
did not require 3CR or other Fort Hood units to report daily PERSTAT."8 Via
order, Task Force Phantom directed that Soldiers “follow all published guidance
from their chains of command ... when not at work performing mission essential
duties.””®0

(b) 3CR required daily PERSTAT submissions from the Squadron S1s, who in
turn received daily, by-name status from their Troops, in accordance with AR
600-8-6.79"

(c) On 24 March, 3CR directed checks twice a day, one via phone and the other
via visual means, and to squadrons to “organize checks of their footprints daily to
maintain accountability and adherence to social distancing standards, good
order, and discipline.””®2 On 26 March, [SIEEIS) 2dded physical, in-person
checks at least three times a week.”®® The next day, 27 March, 3CR issued
FRAGORD 10 to OPORD 33-20, further clarifying that “Facetime and other
digital means are not sufficient,” for in-person checks.”%

(d) In-person, face-to-face checks are appropriate measures to maintain
accountability during “shelter in place” restrictions. Requiring face-to-face checks

788See infra Part 8.a.(1), Standards of Determination, pg. 130 for discussion of Squad accountability
procedures.

789A-13-1, [N NSNEIEINS) ro 2; For lll Corps guidance ref PERSTAT, see infra Part 8.a.(1) pg. 127.
790B-2-13, FRAGORD 11 to PW 20-02-0079: pg 10, para 3.B.61.a, 25 MAR 20; For Il Corps guidance ref
duties, see infra Part 8.a.(1) pg. 119.

791For Regimental PERSTAT policy see infra Part 8.a.(1) pg. 127; For Standard per AR 600-8-6, para 1-6,
see infra Part 8.a.(1) pg. 118.

792B-2-17, 3d CR Mission R6 Intent Guidance HPCONB+(FRAGO 7)_Rifles 6_24MAR20: slide 4,
Coordinating Instructions; See infra Part 8.a.(1) pg. 126.

793B-2-19, Email, [SNESNEIEES] . ‘Mission Essential Functions and Personnel; See infra Part 8.a.(1) pg.
126.

794B-2-21, 3CR FRAGORD 10, OPORD 33-20: pg 11, para i.c.vii, 27 MAR 20; See infra Part 8.a.(1) pg.
126.
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three times a week is a reasonable approach to limiting personal contact in
compliance with “shelter in place” distancing, while still maintaining Leader
responsibility to personally account for their Soldiers, which contributed to the
confusion of junior leaders.

7. After careful consideration, | find by a preponderance of the evidence that the
RES accountability procedures and standards in effect on 22 April 2020 complied with
3CR standards.

(a) DISEEI® 24 March order directed the chain of command to execute twice
daily checks NLT 0900 and 1700, in accordance with 3CR guidance, but did not
mandate physical or in-person accountability. The order required one of the daily
checks to be audio or visual, making no distinction between digital visual
(“Facetime, WhatsApp”) and “in-person” means.”®

(b) BIBERE subsequently clarified, via email to Command Teams and
FRAGORD, that digital means were not authorized for in-person checks, in
compliance with 3CR’s revised 27 March guidance.”®

(c) In-person, face-to-face checks are appropriate measures to maintain
accountability during “shelter in place” restrictions. Requiring face-to-face checks
on a daily basis is not a reasonable approach. Daily face-to-face checks create a
dilemma for Troop-level leadership, requiring significant daily chain of command
presence in conflict with the competing requirement to limit in-person interaction
and congregation of Soldiers during “shelter in place” restrictions, which
contributed to the confusion of junior leaders.

8. After careful consideration, | find by a preponderance of the evidence that the
Forward Support Troop accountability procedures and standards in effect on 22 April
2020 did not comply with published Squadron standards.

795B-2-24, Memorandum, [SISEEIEE . ‘COVID-19 Place of Duty” ; See infra Part 8.a.(1) pg. 127.
796B-2-28, Email, IlIC General Order, Shelter in Place, 271348MAR; B-2-29, FRAGORD 2 to OPORD 20-
16 (RES COVID-19 Response): pg 7, para 3.f.3.vii, 1 APR 20; See infra Part 8.a.(1) pg. 127.

132

cu



cul
FCCG
SUBJECT: AR 15-6 Investigation - Fort Hood’s command involvement in, and response
to, the disappearance and death of SPC Vanessa Guillén and other specific topic areas.

(b) E/FST accountability instructions consisted of a DA4856 counseling
statement to all Soldiers and leaders (according to a provided sample, signed by
Maintenance Platoon Soldiers 30-31 March 2020) and the Fort Hood “Shelter in
Place” General Order.”” According to [ SEIEE these instructions were
reinforced, verbally, with the NCO support channel.”®® The E/FST DA4856
established two daily accountability checks and required at least one of those to
be audio, via voice telephone call, in accordance with the Squadron standard.”®®
The E/FST DA4856 added two additional “visual inspection(s)” of Soldiers in the
barracks by a “designated NCO,” on a daily basis.?% There is no evidence of
other written instructions, via order or signed policy, directing accountability
procedures and standards within E/FST.

(c) The four directed E/FST checks met the twice daily requirement established
by the Squadron; however, there is no evidence of E/FST accountability
procedures issued in writing that required the chain of command or NCO support
channel to gain daily visual accountability. "' IS directed Troop chains of
command to gain daily accountability, and expected Leaders to see their Soldiers
daily.892 According to [SIEEEINN. he expected the “squad leader or team chief”’
to gain “eyes on” Soldiers on a daily basis.2% Neither [SIESEIEE direction, nor

expectation, are published in the available written guidance issued
to E/FST leaders and Soldiers.

(d) E/FST assigned a “designated” NCO the responsibility of visual inspection of
Soldiers in the barracks, to minimize the number of NCOs required to be present
to conduct in-person checks in the barracks.®84 E/FST duty NCO instructions, in
the form of the April 2020 tasking memorandum that is available, did not
communicate the purpose of the daily barracks check in a clear manner. il
R described accountability as the “whole point” of the barracks check, and
both DSOS stated that they understood accountability as
the intent.8%5 The written instructions required the duty NCO to “check every room

797B-2-30, Sample signed E/FST DA4856 Shelter in Place RFI 351; See infra Part 8.a.(1) pg. 128.
798A-24-1, IDENEIRNE - ro 8; See infra Part 8.a.(1) pg. 128.

799B-2-24, Memorandum [ESEEIE . ‘COVID-19 Place of Duty” ; see infra Part 8.a.(1) pg. 127; See infra
Part 8.a.(1) pg. 127 for FST procedures.

800B-2-30, Sample signed E/FST DA4856 Shelter in Place; See infra Part 8.a.(1) pg. 128.

801B-2-30, Sample signed E/FST DA4856 Shelter in Place: the only written instructions to FST leadership,
which contains no expectations or responsibilities for the chain of command; See infra Part 8.a.(1) pg.
128.

802B-2-14, GENERAL ORDER: Shelter in Place Order for Personnel under the Authority of the Senior
Commander; B-2-24, Memorandum DISEEIE . ‘COVID-19 Place of Duty” ; B-2-29, FRAGORD 2 to
OPORD 20-16 (RES COVID-19 Response): pg 7, para 3.f.3.vii, 1 APR 20; See infra Part 8.a.(1) pg. 127
for squadron standards.

803A-24-1, IDNNEINS - o 8.

804A-24-1, MBI : po 17; See infra Part 8.a.(1) pg. 128.

805A-24-1, DB : ro 11; See infra Part 8.a.(1) pg. 128.
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for the Soldiers in Tomahawk Troop” and also “check for the cleanliness of the
common areas.”®% |f accountability was the true purpose of the check, as
explained by [DISEEIIE and in keeping with the squadron commander’s intent,
it was not clearly established in the written instructions, and should have been
established via verbal orders to NCO’s upon assumption of duty.7

(e) The published E/FST guidance did not establish a requirement for Soldiers to
be physically present or available to their chain of command to enable visual, in-
person accountability. The E/FST counseling statement restated the “Shelter in
Place” General Order mission essential duties and authorized daily activities
(such as grocery shopping, health care, etc.), but established no additional
Soldier requirements, such as a mandatory time to be in the barracks for
accountability, to ensure compliance (other than a requirement to notify a
supervisor if departing the room).8%8

9. After careful consideration, | find by a preponderance of the evidence that the
Maintenance Platoon accountability procedures and standards in place in April 2020 did
not comply with published Squadron standards.

(a) DISEEIE did not take appropriate actions to issue clear verbal or written
guidance and implement accountability procedures and standards that required
the chain of command to visually account for Soldiers, as directed by published
Squadron standards.

(b) BIEGHEIES rcquired squad leaders to report accountability of their Soldiers
three times a day, NLT 0630, 0900, and 1600, with at least one of those checks
via visual or audio means, in accordance with E/FST standards.8% Visual checks,
however, were conducted by the Troop duty NCO, in accordance with E/FST
published procedures, but not in accordance with Squadron standards.?1°

(c) There is no evidence of a written or verbal order issued to squad leaders
directing that they gain visual accountability of their Soldiers in accordance with
Squadron standards.8'

(d) IDIGNEIEE)] adherence to E/FST accountability standards, which did not
comply with published Squadron standards, was reasonable but not appropriate

806B-2-31, JIIENEIEISN Barracks Check Roster 1-30 APR.

S07A-75-1, NSNS - ro 3; A-87-1 IDIEEIEEN: ro 1-2. for barracks check purpose as understood
on 22 APR 20; See infra Part 8.a.(1) pg. 128, for FST duty NCO standards and procedures.

808A-24-1, ISR : ro 10; B-2-30, Sample signed E/FST DA4856 Shelter in Place: Requirement to
inform supervisor of departure from residence; See infra Part 8.a.(1) pg. 128.

809A-70-1, IIDICNEIEISEN : 0o 4; See infra Part 8.a.(1) pg. 129.

810See infra Part 8.a.(2), Finding 2-8, para (c) pg. 128 regarding SIS 'ack of compliance with
Squadron standards.

811See infra Part 8.a.(1) pg. 129, for Maintenance Platoon accountability standards.
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to ensure the Maintenance Platoon NCO support channel maintained
accountability of their Soldiers.

10. After careful consideration, | find by a preponderance of the evidence that
accountability procedures and standards in place in April 2020 did
not comply with published Squadron standards.

e L= Ly

Directed Question: Were the measures followed within the Regimental Engineer
Squadron on the date the Squadron last accounted for SPC Guillén? Identify and
explain any procedures that diverged from required accountability measures.

11. After careful consideration, | find by a preponderance of the evidence that the
execution of the 0600 and 0900 accountability checks and barracks check, and
PERSTAT report, on 22 April 2020 complied with published RES accountability
procedures and standards.

(&) The E/FST NCO support channel conducted the moming accountability
checks in accordance with published standards on 22 April.

conducted the first, 0600 moming check via voice call, in accordance with E/FST
standards, speaking to SPC Guillen, via phone, while she was still in her

1. I PO & See infra Fart B.a.(1) pg. 130, for squad accountability standards.
a2A-11-1, I 0 3 See infra Pant 8.a.(1) pg. 130, for squad accountability standards.
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barracks room 8" He reported through I ' IR i@ text, and
this information was then compiled into the E/FST PERSTAT, which the Troop
submitted to the Squadron S1 before 0900 in accordance with E/FST and
Squadron standards 81~

(b) In accordance with Maintenance Platoon standards, I submitted a
second accountability report via text to [ o/a 0855. It is not clear

whether “ made direct contact with SPC Guillen to confirm her status
for this report.® ™

(c) conducted the 0900 E/FST duty NCO barracks check,
speaking to SPC Guillén and confirming her presence in her barracks room. 37
did not understand accountability as the purpose of the check,
but did visually confirm his Soldiers and notified supervisors if any other Soldiers
were not in their rooms, ™8

12. After careful consideration, | find by a preponderance of the evidence that the
execution of the 1600 accountability check and barracks check on 22 April 2020 did not
comply with published RES accountability procedures and standards.

BMA-q H.— pg 3; See infra Part 7.a, pg. 139, for [ 2ccountabilty procedures on
22 APR 20.

S=A-56-1. . oo 4. “did not recall” but submitted 22 APR 20 PERSTAT lists SPC Guillén as
"PDY", For PERSTAT standards, see infra Part 8.a.(1) pg. 127; See infra Part 7.8, pg. 30.

BA.11-1, . pg 3; See infra Part 7.3, pg. 30,

17 A-8T7-1, ' pg 2 See infra Parl T.a, pg. 30.

85.57.1, ‘pg 1-2: See infra Part 7.3, pg. 30: See infra Part 8.a.(1) pg. 128,

S3A-T5-1. I . rJ 3; Seeinfra Part 7.a pg. 32 for conduct of the check on 22 APR 20; See infra
Part 8.a.(1) pg. 128 for discussion of FST duty NCO responsibilities.

E0p.24-1, : pg B-8; See mfra Parl 7.a pg. 32 for conduct of the check on 22 APR 20; See
infra Part g.a.! ! I pg. !!E for discussion of FET duty MCD responsibilities,

”1A-?&1.m: pg 3, Directions in the FST Duty NCO roster were to "check every room for the
soldiers in Toma reop, YWou will check for the cleanliness of the common areas,”; B-2-31,
Tomahawk Troop Barracks Check Hoster 1-30 APH; See infra Part ¥.a pg. 32 for conduct of the check an
22 APR 20; See infra Part 8.a8.(1) pg. 128 for discussion of FST duty NCO responsibilities.
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(=

Directed Question: Considering HPCON and pandemic protocols, what personnel
from the Regimental Engineer Squadron were present on the date of her

disappearance?

13. After careful consideration, | find by a preponderance of the evidence that
there is no record of the exact number of personnel prasent in the Squadron footprint on
22 April, the date of SPC Guillen's disappearance.

(a)

(b) Daily Troop PERSTAT reporting to the Squadron S1 did not specify duty
location for Soldiers who were listed as “Present for Duty (PFD)," in other words,
a Soldier could be considered “PFD" in their off-post residence, on-post
residence or barracks, or in the footprint, 324

(¢) The Squadron did not require or receive written reports of the Troops' mission
essential personnel in the footprint on a daily basis %5 Troop commanders
provided verbal updates on mission essential duties at the daily 1000 CUB;
however, there is no written record of these reports and the information was not
provided by-name with sufficient specificity to determine the exact number of
Soldiers present in the footprint, 89

Directed Question: Did SPC Guillén report for duty on the day that she

disappeared? To whom did she report? What duties were assigned to her on that
date, and who assigned them?

a:nJ.ﬂ.-11-1,w: pg 3, for his aclions on 22 APR 20; See infra Parl 7.a, pg. 30; See infra Part
8.a(l)pg. , Tor Maintenance Platoon accountability standards.

EA-”-LF: pg 3; See infra Part B.a.(1) pg. 130 for Squad accountabiity procedures.
EMB.2.23 Regimental PERSTAT reporting policy; See infra Part 8.a.(1) pg. 127 for Regiment and
Squadron PERSTAT procedures.

A4, I o 2 Seeinfra Pant 8.a(1) pg. 123.

M,ﬁ,.-|13-1.—2 Pg 2 A-S-1. - £S 11; See infra Part 8.a.(1) pg. 123.
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14. After careful consideration, | find by a preponderance of the evidence that
SPC Guillen reported for duty to (SIS . Vvia text, and notified him that she had
departed her barracks room and was enroute to HHT to perform her assigned duties
shortly after o/a 0900 on 22 April, in accordance with RES standards.

(a) On the morning of 22 April, o/a 0550, SPC Guillén answered
first telephonic “check-in,” establishing her status as present for duty.??”

(b) SPC Guillen notified her [SISESEIIEN uron leaving her place of residence in
accordance with SIS 24 March COVID-19 place of duty memorandum
and E/FST instructions in issued “shelter in place” counseling statements.828

(c) SPC Guillén did not report to a supervisor, in-person, in the squadron footprint
prior to performing her assigned duties in the HHT arms room o/a 1003 on 22
April.82° There is no evidence that E/FST issued instructions to Soldiers to report,
in-person, to their supervisor if their duties required physical presence in the
footprint.

15. After careful consideration, | find by a preponderance of the evidence that
, assigned SPC Guillén the task of
retrieving the serial number of an M2 .50 caliber machine gun that had not completed
annual services in the A Troop arms room on 22 April.

(@) On 21 April, BISHEEIEEE notified [DISNEIE of SPC Guillén’s task in the A

Troop arms room.®3° There is no evidence that [ EEIEES informed any other
member of the Maintenance Control Team or the E/FST chain of command. 83"

(b) EISEEIE coordinated with SPC Robinson, the A Troop armorer, to open
the A Troop arms room.832

16. After careful consideration, | find by a preponderance of the evidence that-
, assigned SPC Guillén the
task of marking, or “red tagging,” four non-mission capable Close Combat Optics
(CCOs) for turn-in in the HHT Arms room on 22 April.

827A-11-1, IS : po 3; See infra Part 7.a, pg. 30.
828A-11-1, DI ro 3; See infra Part 7.a, pg. 30; see infra Part 8.a.(1) pg. 127 for RIS
; see infra Part 8.a.(1) pg. 128 for [DIENEDIEIE] -

829A-11-1, IDEENEIRIS : o 3; See infra Part 7.a, pg. 30.
8303ee infra Part 7.a, pg. 28.

831See infra Part 7.a, pg. 28.
832A-11-8, [DIENEIIS - ro 1; See infra Part 7.a, pg. 28.
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(a) At RISEEIER direction, , contacted SPC
Guillén on the morning of 21 April and asked her to mark, or "red tag," the CCOs
for turn-in.833

(b) SPC Guillén informed [SISNENEIES of her duties in the HHT arms room.834

17. After careful consideration, | find by a preponderance of the evidence that
SPC Guillén’s duties in the HHT and A Troop arms rooms were mission essential in
accordance with 3CR guidance.

(a) On 21 April via email to squadron command teams o/a 1300,
included “weapons” as a priority mission essential “equipment service.”®3® On 21
April, o/a 1523, BISEEIE forwarded QISR cmail to the Troop Command

Teams, including ST **

(b) Prior to 21 April, the standing guidance from the [[Jjigll] issued on 26 March,
was that “services and routine maintenance generally do not fit in the mission
essential category unless for Crisis Reaction Battalion (CRB) operations or
aviation maintenance.”3” There is no evidence of Regiment or Squadron written
guidance, via order or email, establishing weapons maintenance as a mission
essential priority prior to 21 April.

(c) SPC Guillén’s 22 April arms room duties were assigned on 21 April, the same
day that ISR refined mission essential guidance, and [JIIR forwarded to
Troop Command Teams, which included “weapons.” Both | ISISEDIIESEE
received the updated guidance email directly from IR on 21

April 838

(d) BIENEIE considered normal services and repairs to maintain the
readiness of “NVGs, weapons, CBRN” to be mission essential in April 2020,
although that was not consistent with 3CR guidance prior to 21 April.&° il

, both considered SPC Guillén’s assigned
duties on 22 April to be mission essential in accordance with guidance.° il

833See infra Part 7.a, pg. 28.

834A-11-1, IENEIS : po 4; See infra Part 7.a, pg. 28.

83°5B-2-22, Email: 211300APR 20; [DIESNEIES) Guidance: Maintenance and Inventories; See infra Part
8.a.(1) pg. 120 for Regimental mission essential guidance and email: 211300APR 20.

836B-2-22, Email: 211300APR 20; [DISNEIES) Guidance: Maintenance and Inventories.

837B-2-19, Email, (SIS ‘Mission Essential Functions and Personnel: provides standing il
guidance prior to 21 APR 20; See infra Part 8.a.(1) pg. 120 for Regiment and Squadron guidance
regarding mission essential maintenance.

838B-2-22, Email: 211300APR 20; [DIENEIES) . Guidance: Maintenance and Inventories.

839A-61-1, DSBS : o 2; See infra Part 7.a, pg. 29 for review of SPC Guillén’s assigned duties.
840A-61-1, DSBS : o 5; See infra Part 7.a, pg. 29 for review of SPC Guillén’s assigned duties.
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considered SFC Guillen’s duties on 22 April as mission essential, within
published guidance at the time.®!

(e) I =< I < not aware that "weapons” were considered
mission essential maintenance on 22 April.** I considered only
weapons maintenance conducted in the motor pool to be mission essential, but
he admittedly focused on management of services in the motor pool *? However,
even before the 21 April guidance clarifying weapons as a maintenance priority,
w was aware that SPC Guillén was working two to three times a

week earlier in April, to conduct annual services on weapon systems 54

(f) The preponderance of evidence supports

assessment that SPC Guillén's duties on 22 April were mission
essential. However, confusion on
weapons maintenance as a mission essential activity is reasonable given the
changes to guidance on 21 April and the lack of clear approval process for
mission essential duties outside the motor pool #45

18. After careful consideration, | find by a preponderance of the evidence i}

I

; pg & Seeinfra Part 7.a, pg. 29 for review of SPC Guillén’s assigned dubes,
WA—EA-Lw pg 13; A-TT-3, pg 3-4; See infra Pant 7.a, pg. 29 for review of 5PC
Guillén's ass uthes, _

S0A.-118-1, I o 3-4; See infra Part 7.3, pg. 29 for review of SPC Guilén's assigned duties
SHA-109-1, I o 2 See infra Part 7.a, pg. 29 for review of SPC Guillén's assigned duties.
Eicee infra Part 8.a.(2), Finding 2-21, pg. 124 regarding FST duty review and compliance measures,
A1 1B~E-F pa % A-T0-1, I FJ 7 A-77-3, I P9 3: See infra
Part 7.a, pg. £9.

*7A-109-1, I P9 2-3; A-116-1, IR P9 3 A-70-1, I Fo 7 A
2 puall P2 2. See infra Part 7.a, pg. 29.

BSes infra Part 8.a.(2), Finding 2-21, pg. 124 regarding FST duty review and compliance measures.
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the E/FST Command Team and verify that her duties complied with “shelter in
place” guidance.

Derived Question: Did Command Teams implement procedures to verify
compliance with Fort Hood and 3CR COVID-19 “shelter in place” guidance?

19. After careful consideration, | find by a preponderance of the evidence that

(a) IAW AR 600-20, commanders are responsible for everything their command
does or fails to do. Commanders assign responsibility and authority to their
subordinates, but retain overall responsibility for the actions of their
commands.®*° The NCO support channel parallels, complements, and assists the
chain of command.8%°

(b) DISEESEN 26 March guidance required command teams to “ensure all
understand mission essential personnel and mission essential functions. We all
need to know who is working, when, where, and whether their duty fits within
intent for reduced manning / reduced exposure and necessity.”8%!

(c) 3CR required squadrons to submit the routine PERSTAT accountability report
on a daily basis (NLT 1030).852 While 3CR directed squadrons to execute a
second daily check, there was no requirement for squadrons to submit a second
daily report to confirm accountability and compliance with “shelter in place”
restrictions.?53 3CR did not require squadrons to submit daily reports on the
number of Soldiers performing mission essential duties in the footprint.8%4

(d) 3CR accountability procedures in place in April 2020 were not sufficient to
verify that squadron command teams were in compliance with the RCO’s
guidance to know “who is working, where, and whether the duty fits within intent”
or that Squadrons were conducting a second daily accountability check.8%

849Gee References: AR 600-20, para 2-1.

850See References: AR 600-20, para 2-18.

851B-2-19, Email, [SyNEMENE Vission Essential Functions and Personnel.
82A-127-1, YIS - P9 2; A-27-2, [SJIEIR - P9 2; See infra Part 8.a.(1) pg. 127.
83A-127-1, ISR - P9 2; A-27-2, [SJIEMR) - 9 2; See infra Part 8.a.(1) pg. 121.
84A-127-1, ISR - P9 2; A-27-2, [SJEIEIR - 9 2; See infra Part 8.a.(1) pg. 121.
855B-2-19, Email, [syN{SIMSMER . ‘Mission Essential Functions and Personnel.
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(a) IAW AR 600-20, commanders are responsible for everything their command
does or fails to do. Commanders assign responsibility and authority to their
subordinates, but retain overall responsibility for the actions of their
commands.?® The NCO support channel parallels, complements, and assists the
chain of command.8%’

(b) DISNEER directed command teams to “notify [these] Troopers” of mission
and readiness essential duties, such as “select Mechanics” and “supply clerks,”
that would require authorized Soldiers to depart their primary residence and work
in the squadron footprint. He also directed Troop Command Teams to report the
“number of Troopers, by essential task, daily.”8%8

(c) There are no records of approved, by-name roster of Soldiers present in the
squadron footprint on a daily basis; nor are there records of the second required
daily accountability report to ensure compliance with “shelter in place”
restrictions. The squadron did not require Troop Command Teams to submit a
written report of Soldiers performing duties in the footprint on a daily basis.°
The squadron also did not require troops to submit the results of the second, NLT
1700 mandatory accountability check.869

(d) [DISNEEE] rc'ied on the daily 1000 CUB to (verbally) review Troops’
accountability and mission essential duties, with the intent to approve 24-28
hours in advance, and recalled disapproving requests.®' However, in the case of

ecalled approving SPC Guillén’s 22 April duties in advance,

85%6See References: AR 600-20, para 2-1.

857See References: AR 600-20, para 2-18.

858B-2-24, Memorandum, [RISEEIEE . ‘COVID-19 Place of Duty”; B-2-27, Email: [SESIE . F\V: Subject:
Mission Essential Functions and Personnel; See infra Part 8.a.(1) pg. 121 for Squadron standards.
89A-43-1, RIRNEIE : o 2; See infra Part 8.a.(1) pg. 77-78 and pg. 123 for Squadron standards.
860A-24-1, IISNEIS : ro 8; A-86-1, INENEIENE: ro 2; See infra Part 8.a.(1) pg. 123 for Squadron
reports.

81A-43-1, IR : o 2; See infra Part 8.a.(1) pg. 123.

862A-5-1, IGNEIEE : o 9&11; See infra Part 8.a.(1) pg. 124.
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at a CUB, with the request being made “by two different troop commanders.”863

(a) In addition to command responsibility as previously described in para 9.b. of
this report, AR 600-20 defines the purpose of the chain of command as assisting
commanders at all levels achieve their primary function of accomplishing the
unit's assigned mission while caring for personnel and property in their charge. A
simple and direct chain of command facilitates the transmittal of orders from the
highest to the lowest levels.8%® Effective communication between senior and
subordinate Soldiers within the chain of command is crucial to the proper
functioning of all units. The NCO support channel (leadership chain) parallels and
complements the chain of command. It is a channel of communication and

863A-43-1, IDISHEIEE o 2; See infra Part 7.a, pg. 29.

84A-5-1, IDIEEEIEE ro ©. ‘| was not tracking that she was working that day.”; See infra Part 7.a, pg. 29.
8658-2-19, Email, [N ‘Mission Essential Functions and Personnel; B-2-24, Memorandum, il
R COVID-19 Place of Duty” ; See infra Part 8.a.(1) pg. 127 for Squadron standards.

866See References: AR 600-20, para 2-1.
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supenvision from the CSM to the 150, and then to other NCOs and enlisted
personnel of the unit %7
(b) As occurred on 22 April, SPC Guillén's tasks could emanate from multiple

sources: the E/FST chain of command, the Maintenance Control Team, and
other Troop XO's and armorers in the squadron. % All of these tasks should have

been directed through her chain of command, IS
R
[
e
|

Directed Question: When did SPC Guillén’s unit first determine she was missing?
How did they determine she was missing?

22. After careful consideration, | find by a preponderance of the evidence that
SPC Guillen's troop-level leadership S d:termined she was missing
between ofa 2208 and ofa 2330 on 22 April, but not through the implementation of
established accountability procedures. Instead, they were informed on the night of 22

#iSee References: AR 800-20, para 2-18,

EEZee infra Part 7.a, pg. 19 for review of Maintenance management processes within the Sgquadron; See
infra Part 7.a, pg. 29 for review of SPC Guillén's tasks on 22 APR 20,

"EZee infra Part 8.a.(1) pg. 124 for FST chain of command procedures for review of assigned tasks.
EMA.-24-1, - pg 13, "Afterwards, | found out. Pricr to that, | did not know.", A-5-1, R
pg 9, °l was not trackmng that she was working that day.”; See infra Part 7.3, pg. 28-30
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Apnl through the initiative of her fellow Soldiers who contacted the Staff Duty Officer
and her squad leader.

(a) Based on n the
afternoon of 22 Apnl, IR channel did not leam that SPC
Guillen was unaccounted for until SRS ©/2 2130 phone call to N

-

(b) Cross-talk among Soldiers to establish SPC Guillén's whereabouls
culminated with [ 1 0'iying the

_. in
person o/a 2200.%* The Soldiers’ notification of [N C/ =

2130-2200 was reasonable and appropriate, because they were in possession of
SPC Guillén's personal effects and were unable to make contact with her
throughout the afternoon of 22 April.

(c) I roified I ©'a 2208 " . notification of

. and Jjjj actions to question [ 2nd enable the Soldiers fo
search the motor pool, were appropriate and reasonable.

(d) I determined SPC Guillen was missing through a series of phone
calls and texts from ofa 2208 to ofa 2330. NN mntactem.
T 2 conference calls ofa 2221 to ofa , an
determined that SPC Guillén had not been properly accounted for by herF
B 2t the afternoon accountability check or the 1600 barracks check.
According to phone records provided by [EEEEE. He called R ©/a
2217, and again o/a 2313, to notify him that SPC Guillén was unaccounted for 872

estimated the time of his notification by || 25 closer to
2330, but did not remember the exact time, ¥

(e) I (dcntified the unigue crcumstances of SPC
Guillen's absence - that she left personal effects, including her vehicle, behind
and her performance and service record did not indicate likelihood of voluntary
absence 7

(f) determination that SPC Guillén was likely missing between o/a
2208 and o/a 2330 was reasonable, given the evidence available to them and the

!!Fﬁ-ﬁﬂ-'l. _EEE iHrEI !EIIT !.-EI. pa. 53.

35,241, pa 11 A—ﬂ:i-—‘l,w See infra Part 7.a, pg. 33.
pg 11, discussion in detail reference conference call; See infra Part 7.a, pg. 32.

45241,

EEa.24-1, = pg 14; Seeinfra Part 7.3, pg. 34,

BTEA.5-1 g 13; See infra Part 7.2, pg. 34.

’".ﬁ.-?#—1-: pg 14; A-5- 1 ro 14; See infra Part 7._a, pg. 33.
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confusion caused by false accountability reports earlier in the day (ofa 1600-
1700).

Derived Question: When did the chain of command last have contact with SPC
Guillén?

23. After careful consideration, | find by a preponderance of the evidence that the
text I received from SPC Guillén's phone with the M2 serial number o/a
1023 on 22 April is her last contact with the chain of command or NCO support
channel 378

(a) CID confirmed ofa 1023 as the time of the last text from SPC Guillen's
phone.®™ | find the method employed by CID to be more credible than
B Frevious testimony. | find the method employed by CID confirms the

screen shot wa phone with “1123" as the time of the textis a
delayed transmission.

Directed Question: Were there any false or incomplete accountability reports
made regarding SPC Gulllén?

24_ After careful consideration, | find by a preponderance of the evidence that

PDF
ril.

(=) I thumbs up” emoji report 1O
ola 1705 on 22 April did not provide a complete or descriptive report of the

barracks inspection that he conducted, and gave the impression to recipients that
all E/fFST Soldiers in the barracks were accounted for.™" N should

have provided a detailed report of personnel accountability to E/FST platoon
but his execution of the inspection was reasonable because he did

not understand the scope of his duties and did not receive verbal instructions
prior to assuming duty.

EMA-1 1-1.F; pg 5, citing 1030; A-11-8, I P9 <. @ccurate statements citing 1023;
See infra Part [.a, pg. 31.

&MB-2-5, MFR - subject: Last text message from SPC Guillén: pg 1, SAC Neff, 26 OCT 20, verified the
accurate time of text as o/a 1023 on 22 APR 20; See infra Part T.a, pg. 31.

EEA.H.E.H pg 1, includes inaccurate statement citing 1123 as time of text; B.2-4, screen
shot; See infra Far /.a, pg. 31.

H1A.TE.1W: pg 3: Seeinfra Part 7.a pg. 32 for conduct of the check on 22 APR 20 See infra

Part 8.a.(1) pg. of discussion of [ resconsibiities.
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(3) Recommendations. In view of the above findings, | recommend:

(a) Reinforce current Army Senior Leader efforts — particularly SMA Grinston's
“This is My Squad” initiative - to develop squad leaders and focus on building
capable leaders at the company-level and below.

i. As SMA Grinston has stated, the squad leader is "directly tied to the
successes or failures of our company ... and [Junior NCOs] make decisions
every day — in garrison or in other units in combat — that can have a direct
impact on the company and the mission.”

ii. Multiple failures at the Troop level and below by the chain of command
and the NCO support channel are likely the result of inadequate training and
professional development of junior leaders. These include an over-reliance
on text messages to communicate up and down the chain of command;
poorly issued and written instructions for duty NCOs; lack of leadership
enforcement and standardized methods to ensure Junior Leaders and
Soldiers adhere to accountability standards. Clear squad and platoon-level
leadership would have provided SFC Guillen a consistent and predictable
expectation of duties that had been approved by her chain of command.

fli. Building cohesive teams and a “This is My Squad® approach to small unit
leadership is a challenge in units that are not organized in traditional platoon
and squad [/ section formations. Howewver, given the likelihood that
inexperienced leaders will lose consistent sight of Soldiers who work in very
specific, low density skill sets across multiple formations and locations, the
ethos embodied by the SMA's initiative is all the more important.

(b) HQDA G-3/5/7 review the Modified Table of Organization and Equipment
(MTOE) of Forward Support Troops / Companies and similarly organized
company-level formations (for example, Headquarters and Headquarters
Companies) to ensure sufficient leadership positions are authorized to enable
execution of chain of command responsibilities in accordance with AR 600-20.

mﬁ*” 1 pg 3; A-TO1 - pg 5; See infra Part 7.2 pg. 32 for conduct of
m See infra Part 5.a. discussion of I ccrcnsibiites
and platoon standards,

Eﬂ.‘l.ﬁ.rl'l-'l,q: pg 3; See infra Part 7.a pg. 32 for conduct of the check on 22 AFR 20; See infra
Part 8.a.(1) pg. 130 for discussion of squad accouniability procedures.
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i. In Echo Forward Support Troop (E/FST), platoon and below-level
leadership positions were assigned as additional duties, creating an
ineffective and confusing chain of command. This situation was exacerbated
by the inexperience of the NCOs who performed these additional duties
without a clearly defined understanding of their responsibilities.

ii. Within E/FST, the Maintenance Platoon was not authorized a platoon
leader, and the squadron did not assign an officer to serve in that position.
The Maintenance Control Officer was supervised and rated by the squadron
executive officer and did not exercise authority and responsibility as a
platoon leader. The Maintenance Platoon Sergeant was not an authorized
position, performed as an additional duty with only administrative
responsibilities, such as accountability. The Maintenance Control Sergeant
and the Maintenance Platoon Sergeant did not communicate effectively nor
share and clearly delineate leadership responsibilities. Maintenance team
chiefs performed the additional duty of squad leader. In the case of
BIEE he was assigned as theESNEEI \Vith direct supervision of PLL
clerks, but performed the [SISHDIESIEEEEEEEE /ith SPC Guillén,
a small arms repair Soldier, included in his squad for administrative
purposes.

iii. Clearly identified and authorized leadership positions would enable Troop
and Company-level chain of command and NCO support channels to
exercise their authority and responsibility. It would also enable a supervision
and rating scheme that reinforces Troop and Company-level authority and
responsibility. In April 2020, supervision and rating of the Maintenance
Control Team was held at squadron-level, inhibiting the E/FST Command
Team'’s ability to supervise the leaders who assigned duties to mechanics
and other Soldiers assigned to the Troop. The E/FST Command Team did
not exercise their authority and responsibility to approve mission essential
duties assigned to E/FST Soldiers, a critical failure in a COVID-19
environment under “shelter in place” restrictions. The squadron’s approach
was imbalanced and hampered command at the troop-level.
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b. Findings and Recommendations Pertaining to LOI 3 - Command Actions
Following SPC Guillén’s Disappearance.

Line of Inquiry Organization |  Page
8.b.(1) Standards of Determination (SIR/CCIR) 150
8.b.(2) Findings 159
. How and when was SPC Guillén’s disappearance reported
through the chain of command? When were serious incident 159
reports filed?
. Did SPC Guillén’s chain of command follow required protocols
for Critical Information Reporting and Serious Incident 161
Reporting following SPC Guillén’s disappearance?
. Was SPC Guillén’s status changed from “present for duty”? If 164
so, what were her status(es) and why?
. How did the search or location efforts evolve and / or intensify 166
up to the date her death was confirmed?
. Were 3CRs actions directed by the commanders or their staffs 166
in searching for SPC Guillén, reasonable and sufficient?
o Did the command teams report appropriately to and interact
effectively with DES / CID and local, state and federal law 167
enforcement agencies?
J Were there any irregularities in the manner in which the 168
command teams handled SPC Guillén’s disappearance?
. Did commanders react appropriately to SPC Guillén’s 170
disappearance?
8.b.(3) Recommendations 177
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(1) Standards of Determination.

Headquarters, Department of the Army (HQDA) CCIR Policy

In May 2019, HQDA revised Senior Leader Commander’s Critical Information
Requirements for Army Commands, Army Service Component Commands, and Direct
Reporting Units to conduct either immediate telephonic or 1-hour email notification to
the U.S. Army Operations Center (AOC) based on the urgency of the incident.®* HQDA
organized CCIR into three categories, with the first two categories requiring immediate
telephonic notification and the third category requiring only 1-hour email notification.8
CCIR 50, defined as an incident of concern to HQDA based upon the gravity, nature,
and potential for significant adverse publicity, or consequences of the incident; CCIR 50
could be categorized as either Category 1, 2, or 3. CCIR 50 that met the Category 1 and
2 reporting threshold required Army Commands to execute immediate telephonic
contact to the AOC upon receipt or first notification, followed by email spot report within
1 hour; 5Ws email within 4 hours; and SIR within 12 hours. If the CCIR was deemed to
be Category 3, Army Commands were not required to conduct immediate telephonic
notification, but all other reporting requirements remained in effect.86

U.S. Army Forces Command (FORSCOM) and U.S. Army Installation Management
Command (IMCOM) CCIR and SIR Policy

U.S. Army FORSCOM policy in effect in April 2020 established reporting procedures
for Commander’s Critical Information Requirements (CCIR), defined as information
identified by the Commander as being critical to facilitating timely decision making, and
Serious Incident Reports (SIR) derived from AR 190-45.88” FORSCOM defined SIR as
“any incident that might concern HQDA ... based on severity of the incident, as a
Category 1, Category 2, or a Category 3” in accordance with AR 190-45.888 Category 2
SIR required telephonic notification to the FORSCOM Operation Center NLT one hour
and a written SIR NLT 24-hours; for CCIR, the written SIR was due NLT 12 hours.889
FORSCOM also established a CCIR (24) that required Commanders to report any
incident “involving FORSCOM Soldiers or units that may generate high media interest
and / or international concern.”° Under the IMCOM policy in effect in April 2020,
garrisons were required to report actual or alleged AR 190-45 incidents (Category 1 and
2) to the IMCOM Operations Center. IMCOM CCIR 20, any serious incidents reportable

884B-3-43, FRAGORD 4 to HQDA EXORD 222-17, HQDA Senior Leader CCIR: para 1.E.1, 13 MAY 19.
885B-3-43, FRAGORD 4 to HQDA EXORD 222-17, HQDA Senior Leader CCIR: Attachment 1, CCIR
Reporting Matrix.

886B-3-43, FRAGORD 4 to HQDA EXORD 222-17, HQDA Senior Leader CCIR: Attachment 1, CCIR
Reporting Matrix.

887B-3-44, FORSCOM Enclosure 4, SIR Definitions: pg 1.

888B-3-44, FORSCOM Enclosure 4, SIR Definitions: pg 1.

889B-3-44, FORSCOM Enclosure 4, SIR Definitions: pg 1.

890B-3-45, FORSCOM Commander’s Critical Information Requirement List: pg 4.
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under AR 190-45, required a garrison email report NLT 1300Z / 0600S the following
day.89"

Il Corps and Fort Hood CCIR Policy

Il Corps’ CCIR guidance in effect on 22 April 2020 established reporting procedures
for Fort Hood tenant unit commanders for all AR 190-45 Category 1 and 2 serious
incidents.®%? For “immediate” reporting requirements, commanders notified the Il Corps
commander via email (may call at discretion) within one hour of the initial 5Ws email to
the IOC (who, what, where, when, way ahead), copying the Deputy Commanding
General, Chief of Staff, and Deputy Chief of Staff.8%3 Any incidents determined to meet
AR 190-45 Category 2 (y), “incident of concern to HQDA” criteria, as previously defined,
required “immediate” reporting, with email notification of the FORSCOM CG, Ill Corps
CG, DCG, COS, and DCOS and a follow-up digital SIR due to the Fort Hood 10C within
8 hours of initial notification; Fort Hood I0OC would submit the report to FORSCOM
within 12 hours.8% |l Corps also established “Category 4, lll Corps Information
Requirements” for reportable incidents that do not meet AR 190-45 reporting criteria.
Category 4 (aa) defined reporting requirements for “any other incident determined by a
Commander to be of immediate concern or possible media concern to the Ill Corps
Commander. This includes incidents not covered above that are a media concern.
Decision will be based on the nature, gravity, potential for adverse publicity and
consequences as the result of the incident and not reportable under the DES blotter
report.”8% For Category 4 (aa) incidents, commanders were required to submit a digital
SIR within 24-hours, and did not require commander to commander telephonic or email
notification.8%

U.S. Army Garrison (USAG) Fort Hood’s serious incident report policy established
“wake-up” criteria for the Garrison Commander (and key staff) and “during duty hours”
CCIR requirements consistent with published Il Corps guidance. In both cases, the
USAG policy includes a requirement to report, “any other incident that the Director /
Office Chief determines to be of concern to the Garrison Commander based on the
nature, gravity and / or potential for adverse publicity.”®” Incidents that meet “wake-up”
criteria require a call to the Garrison Commander and a follow-up 5Ws email to the I0C
within one hour; other reportable incidents during duty hours require immediate in-

891B-3-46, US Army IMCOM Regulation 190-45-1, U.S. Army IMCOM SIR and CCIR: pg 2, para 8; and pg
5, para 9.3.9.20.

892B-3-47, FRAGORD 3 to OPORD PW 1904-04-0244 (IlIC CCIR): pg 1-2, para 3.b.(2), 061030SEP19.
893B-3-47, FRAGORD 3 to OPORD PW 1904-04-0244 (IlIC CCIR): pg 1-2, para 3.b.(2), 061030SEP19.
894B-3-48, Annex A to FRAGORD 3 to OPORD PW 1904-04-0244: page 2, 061030SEP19.

895B-3-48, Annex A to FRAGORD 3 to OPORD PW 1904-04-0244: page 5, 061030SEP19.

89%6B-3-48, Annex A to FRAGORD 3 to OPORD PW 1904-04-0244: page 5, 061030SEP19.

897B-3-49, FHTX Garrison Policy DPTMS-01 Serious Incident Reporting: pg 2, para 4.a.(8), 10 JUN 19.

151

cul



cul
FCCG
SUBJECT: AR 15-6 Investigation - Fort Hood’s command involvement in, and response
to, the disappearance and death of SPC Vanessa Guillén and other specific topic areas.

person or telephonic reporting to the Garrison Commander and a follow-up 5Ws email
to the IOC, or the next day if during non-duty hours.8%

3CR SIR Policy

3CR SIR policy and procedures in effect in April 2020 defined serious incident
reports as “commander to commander” reporting requirements for the squadrons
organized into categories in accordance with AR 190-45 and IIl Corps and Fort Hood
policy.8%° 3CR directed squadrons to submit reports to the “Regimental Commander,
Regimental Command Sergeant Major, Regimental Executive Officer, and Regimental
Judge Advocate, as well as appropriate coordinating Regimental staff” and assigned the
3CR XO the task of “submitting all SIRs to the Ill Corps Installation Operations
Center.”% Category 2 reportable incidents, in accordance with AR 190-45, required an
immediate Squadron to Regimental Commander telephonic report, followed by a “6Ws
SIR email” within an hour.?' Category 2 SIR required a formatted SIR report “within 4
hours of the telephonic notification,” and restated the Ill Corps and Fort Hood standard
of 8 hours to the I0C.°%? 3CR policy included Category 2 (y), “incident of concern to
HQDA,” requiring immediate notification of commanders, from RCO through FORSCOM
CG, with standard “immediate” timeline for formal SIR reporting at 4 hours to Regiment;
8 hours to Fort Hood I0C; and 12 hours to FORSCOM, in accordance with Ill Corps
policy.%03

Within Category 4, lll Corps Information Requirements, 3CR also established a
reporting requirement (aa) for “any other incident determined by a Commander to be of
immediate concern or possible media concern to the |l Corps Commander. This
includes incidents not covered above that are a media concern. Decision will be based
on the nature, gravity, potential for adverse publicity and consequences as the result of
the incident and not reportable under the DES blotter report.”®°* Category 4 (aa)
incidents required “priority” voice, telephonic notification of the RCO within 8 hours,
followed by email 6Ws within an hour following notification. SIR format was due to

898B-3-49, FHTX Garrison Policy DPTMS-01 Serious Incident Reporting: pg 1, para 4.a, 10 JUN 19.
899B-3-52, Memorandum for 3d Cavalry Regiment Commanders, Serious Incident Report (SIR) Reporting
Procedures: pg 1, para 3.

900B-3-52, Memorandum for 3d Cavalry Regiment Commanders, Serious Incident Report (SIR) Reporting
Procedures: pg 1, para 3, 19 DEC 19.

901B-3-52, Memorandum for 3d Cavalry Regiment Commanders, Serious Incident Report (SIR) Reporting
Procedures: pg 2, para 4.b., 19 DEC 19.

902B-3-52, Memorandum for 3d Cavalry Regiment Commanders, Serious Incident Report (SIR) Reporting
Procedures: pg 2, para 4.b., 19 DEC 19.

903B-3-53, Encl 1 to Memorandum for 3d Cavalry Regiment Commanders, Serious Incident Report (SIR)
Reporting Procedures: pg 2.

904B-3-53, Encl 1 to Memorandum for 3d Cavalry Regiment Commanders, Serious Incident Report (SIR)
Reporting Procedures: pg 5.
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Regiment within 12 hours of telephonic notification, and to IOC within 24-hours, in
accordance with Il Corps standards.%%

Regimental Engineer Squadron (RES) Policy

According to [DISESIEE . the RES did not issue a squadron-level SIR policy in April
2020, and relied on the standards and procedures directed in the 3CR policy.%%¢ The
troop commanders would submit SIRs to the RES XO, copying the Command Sergeant
Major; according to (ISR . “when they hit our inbox, | will either call or text the

907

Department of Defense Instructions (DODI) and Army Regulations (AR)

Army Regulation (AR) 600-8-6, Personnel Accounting and Strength Reporting (1
April 2015), outlines duty statuses for Soldiers. AR 600-8-6 directs commands to
execute an eMILPO transaction “any time the duty status of a Soldier changes to meet
the definition of another duty status.”° Unauthorized absences for periods of less than
24-hours are not reported in eMILPO; a DA Form 4187 (Personnel Action) is required to
support unauthorized absences in excess of 24-hours, and will be authenticated by the
unit commander or designated representative, which include S1s or adjutants.®%® AR
600-8-6 provides 32 duty status codes, defining Absent without leave (AWL) as
“Soldiers who are absent from place of duty without permission or authorization for
more than 24-hours.”'% All duty status changes must be supported by authorizing
documentation, such as a DA Form 4187.°"" There is no definition for “missing” in the
current AR 600-8-6. Table 2-1 does not include a “missing” duty status; however,
“‘missing (MIS)” is a duty status option in eMILPO and included in the eMILPO Field
User’'s Guide.%'?

Army Regulation (AR) 190-45, Law Enforcement Reporting (27 September 2016),
establishes policies and procedures for offense and serious incident reporting within the
Army, to include AWOL, desertion, and special category absentee offenses.

In accordance with paragraph 1-4, garrison commanders will ensure that installation
provost marshals (PMs) or directors of emergency services (DESs) enter into State

905B-3-53, Encl 1 to Memorandum for 3d Cavalry Regiment Commanders, Serious Incident Report (SIR)
Reporting Procedures: pg 5.

906A-43-1, ISEEIEE ro 5. “We would just follow the Regimental policy.”.

07A-43-1, [RNEINENNE P 5.

%08See References: AR 600-8-6, para 2-2.

909See References: AR 600-8-6, para 2-3.

910See References: AR 600-8-6, pages 9-10, table 2-1.

911See References: AR 600-8-6, para 2-2.

912S5ee References: AR 600-8-6, pages 9-10, table 2-1; See References: The Electronic Military
Personnel Office Field User's Guide, version 4.7.2, The Adjutant General Directorate Field Services
Division, page 122, SEP 13.
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government user agreements for access to State Law Enforcement telecommunications
systems and agencies; and ensure that installation PMs or DESs execute liaison
coordination and information exchange with civilian LE authorities within their
geographic area of responsibility.®'® Senior commanders will ensure their senior MP
commanders, installation PMs or DESs provide oversight and technical assistance for
MP-related issues to subordinate garrison and installation staff.®4

Army Regulation (AR) 190-45, Law Enforcement Reporting (27 September 2016),
establishes reporting responsibilities for serious incidents. Chapter 8 directs
Commanders at all echelons to report “any incident that might concern HQDA as a
serious incident” without delaying “due to incomplete information” as well as “in cases of
doubt.”'S Incidents are defined according to two broad categories (Category 1, para 8-2
and Category 2, para 8-3), and if “occurring on Army installations and facilities are
clearly reportable.”'® Category 2 includes (y), “any other incident that the commander
determines to be of concern to HQDA based on the nature, gravity, potential for adverse
publicity, or potential consequences of the incident.”!”

AR 190-45, para 4-12, directs installation PM or DES or other LE officials to
establish formal memorandums of understanding (MOUs) with their civilian counterparts
to establish or improve the flow of information between their agencies, especially in
instances involving military personnel.®'® Coordination between military LE personnel
and local civilian LE personnel is essential to improve information sharing, especially
concerning investigations, arrests, and prosecutions involving military personnel. The
MOUSs clarify jurisdictional issues for the investigation of incidents, define the
mechanism whereby local LE reports involving active-duty Service members will be
forwarded to the appropriate installation LE office, encourage the local LE agency to
refer victims of domestic violence to the installation Family Advocacy Office or victim
advocate, and foster cooperation and collaboration between the installation LE agency
and local civilian agencies. Para 4-12 provides the following minimum components of
the MOU:

1) A general statement of the purpose of the MOU.

2) An explanation of jurisdictional issues that affect respective responsibilities to—
and investigating incidents occurring on and off—the installation. This section should
also address jurisdictional issues when a civilian order of protection is violated on
military property (see 10 USC 1561a).

913See References: AR 190-45, para 1-4.
914See References: AR 190-45, para 1-4.
915See References: AR 190-45, para 8-1.
916See References: AR 190-45, para 8-1.
917See References: AR 190-45, para 8-3.
918See References: AR 190-45, para 4-12.
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3) Procedures for responding to incidents that occur on the installation involving a
civilian alleged offender.

4) Procedures for local LE to immediately (within 4 hours) notify the installation LE
office of incidents and investigations involving Service members.

5) Procedures for transmitting incident and investigation reports and other LE
information involving active-duty Service members from local civilian LE agencies to
the installation LE office.

6) Notification of when a Soldier is required to register as a sex offender either
through military judicial proceedings or civilian judicial proceedings.

7) Procedures for transmitting civilian protection orders (CPOs) issued by civilian
courts or magistrates involving active-duty Service members from local LE agencies
to the installation LE office.

8) Designation of the title of the installation LE recipient of such information from the
local LE agency.

9) Procedures for transmitting the DD Form 2873 (Military Protective Order) from the
installation LE office to the local civilian LE agency with jurisdiction over the area in
which the Service member resides.

10) Designation of the title of the local LE agency recipient of domestic violence and
CPO information from the installation LE agency.

11) Respective responsibilities for providing information to victims regarding
installation resources when either the victim or the alleged offender is an active duty
Service member.

12) Sharing of information and facilities during the course of an investigation in
accordance with 5 USC 552a (b) (7) (The Privacy Act of 1974).

13) Regular meetings between the local civilian LE agency and the installation LE
office to review cases and MOU procedures.

Regarding AWOL personnel, AR 190-45 para 4 also directs commanders to notify
the installation PMO or DES of a Soldier’s reported absent without leave (AWOL). Upon
receipt of an AWOL report, the installation PMO or DES will initiate an LER, and a
corresponding information blotter entry.%'®

919See References: AR 190-45, para 4-10.
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Army Regulation (AR) 190-9, Absentee Deserter Apprehension Program and
Surrender of Military Personnel to Civilian Law Enforcement Agencies (28 September
2015) describes provost marshal procedures and responsibilities for Soldiers in
absentee or deserter status. In accordance with para 2-1, the unit commander notifies
the installation PMO / DES desk sergeant within 48-hours after a Soldier has been
identified as AWOL. The installation PMO / DES desk sergeant will, upon receipt of an
AWOL report, initiate a law enforcement report in DA Form 190-45-SG (Army Law
Enforcement Reporting and Tracking System (ALERTS) (system generated form))
according to AR 19045, and query all law enforcement databases to confirm / deny
any high risk caution indicators according to Appendix C.%0

Army Regulation (AR) 630-10, Absence Without Leave, Desertion, and
Administration of Personnel Involved in Civilian Court Proceedings (13 January 2006),
provides policies and procedures for reporting unauthorized absences and
administering absent without leave (AWOL). An “absentee” is a Soldier who has been
absent without authority from his unit, organization, or other place of duty for more than
24-hours, but has not been administratively classified as a deserter.®?' In accordance
with para 2-2, the unit will report the Soldier absent and take the following actions:
conduct an immediate inquiry to determine the Soldier’s location and possible reasons
for absence; notify the Provost Marshal within 24-hours of the Soldier's absence; record
the results of the inquiry on DA Form 4187; and notify the NOK of the Soldier by letter
mailed on the 10th day of AWOL.%22 A Soldier is defined as a “deserter” and dropped
from the rolls of his or her unit when absent without authority for 30 consecutive days.%%3

DODI 1300.18, Department of Defense (DoD) Personnel Casualty Matters, Policies,
and Procedures (8 January 2008, incorporating change 14 August 2009) and AR 638-8,
Army Casualty Program (7 June 2019) describe the Army Casualty Program. AR 638-8
defines a casualty as “any person lost to an organization by reason of having been
declared deceased, Duty Status-Whereabouts Unknown (DUSTWUN) or EAWUN,
missing, injured, or ill.”%2* The casualty report is a management tool used to document
and track reportable individuals who become casualties.®? Casualty reports are
required when any active duty Soldier becomes deceased, DUSTWUN, EAWUN,
injured, or ill.%26 Timely and accurate casualty reporting is the unit commander’s
responsibility.®?” Human Resources Command (HRC) Casualty and Mortuary Affairs
Operations Division (CMAQOD) uses the Duty Status-Whereabouts Unknown
(DUSTWUN) casualty code to annotate missing Soldiers. DODI 1300.18 and AR 638-8

920See References: AR 190-9, para 2-1.

921See References: AR 630-10, Section |l Terms, page 29.
922See References: AR 630-10, para 2-2.

9233ee References: AR 630-10, Section || Terms, page 29.
924See References: AR 638-8, para 2-1.AR 638-8, para 2-1.
9253ee References: AR 638-8, para 2-3.AR 638-8, para 2-3.
9263ee References: AR 638-8, para 2-6.AR 638-8, para 2-6.
927See References: AR 638-8, para 2-7.AR 638-8, para 2-7.
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define “missing” as “the casualty is not present at his or her duty location due to
apparent involuntary reasons and whose location is unknown.”92 DUSTWUN is defined
in AR 638-8 as “a transitory or temporary casualty status used when the reason for a
member’s absence is uncertain and it is possible that the member may be a casualty
whose absence is involuntary, but there is not sufficient evidence to make a
determination that the member’s actual status is missing or deceased.”®?°

Commanders are responsible for determining if a Soldier's absence is voluntary or
involuntary. Commanders must then submit a request via the servicing Casualty
Assistance Center (CAC) to CMAOD before reporting a Soldier as a DUSTWUN
casualty. In accordance with AR 638-8 Chapter 11, para 3, if after 24-hours a Soldier’s
duty status is still unknown, the responsible CAC will contact the CMAOD for guidance
regarding whether or not the circumstances warrant submitting a DUSTWUN report. %3
Evidence of involuntary absence is required for CMAQD to approve this initial
determination, in accordance with current regulations.®3' A Soldier is normally retained
in a DUSTWUN status for a maximum of 10 days. According to [SlSESIEISN. during
this 10-day period the unit appoints an investigating officer to conduct an informal
investigation under AR 15-6 to determine the nature of the absence, and based on the
findings the commander will complete the DD Form 2812 (Commander’s Preliminary
Assessment and Recommendation Regarding Missing Person).%32 If the involuntary
absence still cannot be determined from the facts, the Soldier will be reported as
AWOL, in accordance with AR 630-10. If evidence of involuntary absence becomes
available, the unit will coordinate with the servicing CAC to develop and submit a CCIR
to HRC, and the CAC will immediately submit a supplemental casualty report updating
the Soldier’s casualty status accordingly. If a Soldier remains in a DUSTWUN status
after 10 days, the Adjutant General (TAG) of the Army will appoint an initial board or
inquiry (BOI) and collect the DD Form 2812 and AR 15-6 investigation report from the
responsible Casualty Assistance Center (CAC). Members of the BOI will gather the
facts and supporting information to assess whether sufficient evidence exists to make a
determination of Missing, AWOL, Deserter, or Deceased. If classified as Missing, the
Soldier’s status will remain as such until the BOIl is presented evidence that could assist
the BOI in making a different determination.®33

9283ee References: AR 638-8, Section Il Terms, page 79.

9295ee References: AR 638-8, Section Il Terms, page 78.

930See References: AR 638-8, para 11-3.

1A-85-1, IDIENEIEISN 1o 2. ‘the big ticket with that, if I may, is involuntary absence ... when they call
up like that, we are going to ask -- "Hey, what evidence do you have that the absence is involuntary?"
That's the big ticket right there.”.

932A-85-1, IDIENEIESE ro 3. “in the event that they went DUSTWUN on a Soldier, they would initiate
an investigating officer and the investigating officer would do a 15-6 to determine, for lack of a better term,
"life or death" of the service member, and then those proceedings would submitted to us at HRC, along
with the commander's recommendation on the DD 2812.”.

933See References: AR 638-8, para 11-3 and para 11-6.
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Army Doctrinal Publications

Army Doctrinal Publication 6-0, Mission Command: Command and Control of Army
Forces (31 July 2019) describes the fundamentals of mission command, and how
commanders, supported by their staffs, combine the art and science of command and
control to understand situations, make decisions, direct actions, and lead forces toward
mission accomplishment.®3* Mission command is the Army’s approach to command and
control that empowers subordinate decision making and decentralized execution
appropriate to the situation.% Mission command is the Army’s approach to command
and control.?3¢ The mission command approach to command and control requires active
participation by personnel of all ranks and duty positions. Subordinate officers,
noncommissioned officers, and Soldiers all have important roles in the exercise of
mission command.®¥” Command is the authority that a commander in the armed forces
lawfully exercises over subordinates by virtue of rank or assignment (para 1-80).
Inherent in command is the authority that a military commander lawfully exercises over
subordinates, including the authority to assign tasks and the responsibility for their
successful completion.®3 With authority comes responsibility. Commanders are legally
and ethically responsible for their decisions and for the actions, accomplishments, and
failures of their subordinates. Commanders may delegate authority, but delegation does
not absolve commanders of their responsibility to the higher echelon commander.
Commanders are always accountable for what happens or fails to happen in their
command.939

Staffs support commanders in making and implementing decisions and in integrating
and synchronizing combat power. Staffs provide timely and relevant information and
analysis, make estimates and recommendations, prepare plans and orders, assist in
controlling operations, and assess the progress of operations for the commander.
Primary responsibilities of any staffs are to support the commander; assist subordinate
commanders, staffs, and units; and inform units and organizations outside the
headquarters.®*0 Staffs support commanders in understanding, visualizing, and
describing the operational environment; making and articulating decisions; and
directing, leading, and assessing military operations.%*' Staffs make recommendations
and prepare plans and orders for their commander.%4? Staffs also prepare and
disseminate information to subordinates for execution to assist commanders in
controlling operations.®*? Staffs support and advise their commander within their area of

934See References: ADP 6-0, Preface, page iii.
935See References: ADP 6-0, para 1-14.
9%6See References: ADP 6-0, para 1-74.
987See References: ADP 6-0, para 1-70.
9%8See References: ADP 6-0, para 1-81.
9395ee References: ADP 6-0, para 1-82.
940See References: ADP 6-0, para 4-17.
941See References: ADP 6-0, para 4-18.
9425ee References: ADP 6-0, para 4-18.
9435ee References: ADP 6-0, para 4-19.
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expertise. While commanders make key decisions, they are not the only decision
makers.%* Effective staffs establish and maintain a high degree of coordination and
cooperation with staffs of higher echelon, lower echelon, supporting, supported, and
adjacent units. Staffs help subordinate headquarters understand the larger context of
operations. They do this by first understanding their higher echelon headquarters’
operations and commander’s intent, and nesting their own operations with their higher
headquarters. They then actively collaborate with subordinate commanders and staffs
to facilitate a shared understanding of the operational environment. 4%

(2) Findings.

Directed Question: How and when was SPC Guillén’s disappearance reported
through the chain of command? When were serious incident reports filed?

25. After careful consideration, | find by a preponderance of the evidence that
SPC Guillén’s disappearance was reported through the chain of command, to the Acting
Senior Commander of Il Corps and Fort Hood by 1700 on 23 April; through law
enforcement channels by CID, up to the U.S. Army Operations Center (AOC), by 1512
on 23 April; and serious incident reports were filed, up to the AOC, by 2107 on 24 April.

(a) Based on the timing of [ EEIE) conference calls with E/FST NCO'’s (o/a
2221 to o/a 2231 on 22 April), it is more likely than not that [ Was
notified that SPC Guillén was missing o/a 2313 on 22 April, via phone call from

first recorded phone call to [N occurred
o/a 2217 (lasting approximately five minutes), while he was still conducting
conference calls with the E/FST NCOQO’s to gather information on the
circumstances of SPC Guillén’s absence and failure to account for her during the
afternoon accountability checks.%46

(b) I . "otificd SN f
SPC Guillén’s absence via text o/a 0020 on 23 April.**’ RISEEIEE had already

been notified by [[EIENEIIISI ©/2 2300 on 22 April. 948

(c) IS rotificd EIEMENSNN . 2 phone call o/a 0730
on 23 April %49

944See References: ADP 6-0, para 4-20.
945See References: ADP 6-0, para 4-21.

%46A-24-1, IDICEIEES ro 14; A-5-1, ICHEIEE ro 13, EIEEEIEE called me at about 2330.”; B-2-
9, DIGHBIEE rhone records; See infra Part 7.a, pg. 33.

“TA-A3-1, ISR ro 3; A-5-1, DISEEIEE o 12; See infra Part 7.a, pg. 34.
%48A-43-1, GBI o 3; See infra Part 7.a, pg. 34.

949A-43-1,_ pg 3; See infra Part 7.a, pg. 37.
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d) DI s bmitted the “6Ws / SIR “Missing Trooper” via email
to NS ©/2 1324 on 23 April.%%°

(e) DISNEIE®) forwarded the 6Ws / SIR “Missing Trooper” email to MG
Efflandt o/a 1504 on 23 April; MG Efflandt acknowledged receipt o/a 1700.9'

(f) IS notified MG Efflandt via phone call on the afternoon of 23 April,
but the evidence is not sufficient to establish the time of the call.952

(9) DIGHEIEIEEE: submitted the first digital SIR to the Fort Hood 10C o/a
1850 on 23 April as a Category 4, Il Corps information requirement.®%3

(h) CID submitted an SIR EXSUM to the AOC, via email, o/a 1512 on 24 April,
identifying SPC Guillén as a “missing Soldier” whose disappearance occurred
under “unusual” circumstances.%*

() DI submitted SIR update “add-on 01" via email to the Fort
Hood IOC o/a 1516 on 24 April.9%%

(j) The Fort Hood IOC submitted its first SIR on SPC Guillén’s disappearance to
FORSCOM Watch and the IMCOM Operations Center, o/a 1822 on 24 April, as
an AR 190-45 Category 2 reportable serious incident.%

(k) FORSCOM submitted the SIR on SPC Guillén’s disappearance to the AOC
o/a 2033 on 24 April %57

() CID submitted Law Enforcement Report SIR, reporting SPC Guillén as a
“missing person” under AR 190-45, to the AOC, Fort Hood, and CID senior
leaders o/a 2054 on 24 April %58

9%0B-3-1, email: 6Ws - RES - SPC Guillén (Missing Trooper); See infra Part 7.a, pg. 39.

951B-3-2, email: 6Ws (Missing Trooper); See infra Part 7.a, pg. 40.

952A-37-1, MG Efflandt: pg 4, “l believe it was the next day that jjjjijiilif told me about her absence,” when
asked if he received a call from [ ESEIEE o the evening of 23 APR 20, he responded “Right.”; A-88-
1, DIGEEIEISE 1o 7. ‘I then called General Efflandt. | can’t remember what time | sent a report later
that day.”; See infra Part 7.a, pg. 40.

953B-3-3, email: 3rd CR SIR (Cdr Concern Missing Trooper); See infra Part 7.a, pg. 40.

954B-3-13, email: FW: EXSUM: Missing Soldier - Fort Hood, TX; See infra Part 7.a, pg. 46.

955B-3-11, Add-on 3CR SIR (updated); See infra Part 7.a, pg. 44.

9%6B-3-17, B-3-17; B-3-47, FRAGORD 3 to OPORD PW 1904-04-0244 (IlIC CCIR); See infra Part 7.a, pg.
47.

957B-3-23, email: FW: EXSUM - CCIR 50: INCIDENT OF CONCERN TO HQDA (MISSING SOLDIER) ;
See infra Part 7.a, pg. 48.

9%8B-3-21, email: CID Law Enforcement Report-SIR (CAT 2) Initial-420-2020-CID034-006691; See infra
Part 7.a, pg. 48.
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(m) The AOC published the CCIR EXSUM that SPC Guillén was “reported
missing” via email o/a 2107 on 24 April.®%°

Directed Question: Did SPC Guillén’s chain of command follow required
protocols for Critical Information Reporting and Serious Incident Reporting
following SPC Guillén’s disappearance?

26. After careful consideration, | find by a preponderance of the evidence that the
RES did not comply with 3CR CCIR / SIR reporting requirements and standards.

(a) For a Category 4 (aa) incident of immediate concern, 3CR required voice /
telephonic notification to the RCO within 8 hours, a 6Ws email within an hour
after notification, and digital SIR to Regiment within 12 hours.%°

(b) DIEEEIEE rhone records indicate a call to SIS o/a 2313, and
estimated the time of his notification by [ via phone call,
as o/a 2330.°" DISEEIEE recalls notifying [RISNEIEE. via text, o/a 0020 on 23

April 20.%2 1t is more likely than not that ISEEIENE notified RIDNRINE that
SPC Guillen was missing within one hour of his notification by SIS -

(c) DIEERmE notified [SIESNEIERS) Vvia phone call o/a 0730 on 23 April,
approximately 7 hours after [ notified him (o/a 0020) and

approximately 8 hours after [ EEIE notification by IS (o/a 2313).
Based on the time of initial commander notification (o/a 2313), it is more likely
than not that ISR met the Regimental standard (8 hours) for il
notification.%3

(d) IONENEIAEN. submited the 6Ws email to |ENENENAIEIN
B o/a 1324 on 23 April, approximately 6 hours after [gjjjjij notification, failing

to meet the one hour standard established by 3CR.%64 However, the delay in
development of the 6Ws email is not unreasonable given the ongoing
development of the situation by the Squadron and Troop chain of command, and

959B-3-23, email: FW: EXSUM - CCIR 50: INCIDENT OF CONCERN TO HQDA (MISSING SOLDIER) ;
See infra Part 7.a, pg. 48.

960B-3-53, Encl 1 to Memorandum for 3d Cavalry Regiment Commanders, Serious Incident Report (SIR)
Reporting Procedures: pg 5; See infra Part 8.b.(1), page 153 for Regimental standards.

S1A-24-1, DISEEEEE : ro 14; A-5-1, DIGEEIE ro 13; See infra Part 7.a, page 33; See infra Part
8.b.(2) Finding 3-24, page 160.

962A-43-1, BISEEIEE ro 3; A-5-1, BISHEIEE ro 12; See infra Part 7.a, page 34; See infra Part 8.b.(2)
Finding 3-24, page 160.

963A-43-1, IDISHEIEE ro 3; See infra Part 7.a, page 33; See infra Part 8.b.(1), page 153 for Regimental
standards; See infra Part 8.b.(2) Finding 3-24, page 160.

964B-3-1, email: 6Ws - RES - SPC Guillén (Missing Trooper); See infra Part 7.a, pg. 39; See infra Part
8.b.(1), page 153 for Regimental standards; See infra Part 8.b.(2) Finding 3-24, page 160.
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more likely than not had no impact on the Squadron’s adherence to 3CR
standards for SIR submission to the RXO.

(e) The timing of the Squadron’s submission of the digital SIR to the RXO is not
clear. However, [SISHDINISE submitted the initial 3CR SIR to the Fort
Hood 10C o/a 1850 on 23 April, approximately 11.5 hours after [j§jjij telephonic
notification. Therefore, it is more likely than not that SIS received the
formal SIR from the Squadron within 12 hours of [gjjjij notification, in accordance
with 3CR SIR policy.%

27. After careful consideration, | find by a preponderance of the evidence that 3rd
Cavalry Regiment complied with Il Corps and Fort Hood CCIR / SIR reporting
requirements and standards.

(a) For Category 4 (aa) incidents of immediate concern, Ill Corps and Fort Hood
required commands to submit a digital SIR to the IOC within 24-hours, and did
not require notification through command channels.6¢

(b) BIEGHNEIEE®) called MG Efflandt and sent the 6Ws via email o/a 1504 on 23
April, in accordance with Il Corps policy authorizing Commander’s discretion
when email notification is not directed.%” email to MG Efflandt is
the first confirmed 3CR notification of Task Force Phantom and Fort Hood
leadership. Neither MG Efflandt nor [[SESEIEIS) remember the exact time of
telephonic notification.%8

(c) DI submitted the initial SIR to the Fort Hood 10C o/a 1850 on 23
April, approximately 4 hours after S SIS notification email to MG
Efflandt, in compliance with the Ill Corps 24-hour standard for Category 4 (aa)
incidents.%°

28. After careful consideration, | find by a preponderance of the evidence that
Task Force Phantom leadership and Fort Hood IOC did not comply with either Il Corps
and Fort Hood CCIR policy or FORSCOM'’s CCIR / SIR reporting requirements and
standards.

965B-3-3, email: 3rd CR SIR (Cdr Concern Missing Trooper); See infra Part 7.a, pg. 30; See infra Part
8.b.(1), page 153 for Regimental standards; See infra Part 8.b.(2) Finding 3-24, page 160.

966B-3-48, Annex A to FRAGORD 3 to OPORD PW 1904-04-0244: pg 5; See infra Part 8.b.(1), pg. 152 for
Il Corps and Fort Hood standards.

967B-3-2, email: 6Ws (Missing Trooper); B-3-48, Annex A to FRAGORD 3 to OPORD PW 1904-04-0244;
See infra Part 7.a, pg. 40; See infra Part 8.b.(1), pg. 152 for Il Corps and Fort Hood standards.

9%8A-37-1, MG Efflandt: pg 4; A-88-1, [DIESEIEEN 1o 7; See infra Part 7.a, pg. 40; See infra Part
8.b.(2) Finding 3-24, page 160.

969B-3-3, email: 3rd CR SIR (Cdr Concern Missing Trooper); See infra Part 7.a, pg. 40; See infra part
8.b.(1), pg. 152 for Ill Corps and Fort Hood standards; See infra part 8.b.(2) Finding 3-24, page 160.
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(a) FORSCOM policy regarding Category 2 SIR required telephonic notification
within one hour and a written SIR NLT 24-hours.%70

(b) Il Corps and Fort Hood policy regarding Category 2 SIR required immediate
notification of the FORSCOM CG, Ill Corps CG, DCG, COS, and DCOS; and
submission of the SIR to FORSCOM within 12 hours of initial notification (SIR
from the unit to the IOC within 8 hours, and SIR from the IOC to FORSCOM
within the next 4).9"

(c) 3CR submission of the initial SIR to the IOC o/a 1850 on 23 April met the
standard Category 2 SIR standard (8 hours), occurring approximately 4 hours
after initial notification.%72

(d) Fort Hood I0C submitted the first SIR on SPC Guillén’s disappearance to
FORSCOM Watch o/a 1822 on 24 April, as an AR 190-45 Category 2 (y)
reportable serious incident, “any other incident that the Commander determines
to be of concern to HQDA based on the nature, gravity, potential for adverse
publicity or potential consequences of the incident.”9"3

(e) In accordance with the Il Corps and Fort Hood standard, the IOC should
have submitted the SIR to FORSCOM Watch NLT o/a 0304 on 24 April (12 hours
after initial notification, | ISHEIEIEE 6VVs email o/a 1504 on 23 April). Il
Bl aprproved the SIR o/a 1808 on 24 April, and Fort Hood I0C submitted the
SIR to FORSCOM and IMCOM o/a 1822, more than 15 hours late according to
the Il Corps standard. It was 3 hours, 17 minutes late according to the
FORSCOM 24-hour standard for SIR submission of Category 2 incidents.
According to [SISEEIEE it was not irregular for Fort Hood IOC SIR submissions
to FORSCOM to be late, particularly when considering off-duty hours and time
required to refine and gain updates from the reporting unit.®"*

(f) There is no record of immediate notification of the FORSCOM CG by the Fort
Hood and Task Force Phantom leadership prior to GEN Garrett’'s email
exchange with the VCSA and MG Efflandt. GEN Garrett, the FORSCOM CG,
was notified by the Vice Chief of Staff of the Army (VCSA) o/a 1549 on 24 April,
and requested an update from MG Efflandt o/a 1629. It is more likely than not
that the FORSCOM CG first learned of SPC Guillén’s disappearance on 24 April

970B-3-44, FORSCOM Enclosure 4, SIR Definitions; See infra Part 8.b.(1), pg. 151 for FORSCOM
standards.

971B-3-48, Annex A to FRAGORD 3 to OPORD PW 1904-04-0244: pg 2; See infra Part 8.b.(1), pg. 152 for
[Il Corps and Fort Hood standards.

972B-3-3, email: 3rd CR SIR (Cdr Concern Missing Trooper); See infra Part 7.a, pg. 40; See infra Part
8.b.(1), pg. 152 for Ill Corps and Fort Hood standards; See infra Part 8.b.(2) Finding 3-24, page 160.
973B-3-17, email: SIR (0293) - CAT 2 item y (241822APR20); B-3-47, FRAGORD 3 to OPORD PW 1904-
04-0244 (IlIC CCIR); See infra Part 7.a, pg. 47.

974A-100-2, [RIENEIE - ro 4, characterized it as a “good report.”; See infra Part 7.a, pg. 47.
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from the email exchange following the CID report, prior to Fort Hood IOC SIR
submission to FORSCOM, and this did not have an impact on the chain of
command’s response to SPC Guillén’s disappearance.

29. After careful consideration, | find by a preponderance of the evidence that
U.S. Army Garrison Fort Hood did not comply with IMCOM’s CCIR / SIR reporting
requirements and standards.

(a) IMCOM policy in effect in April 2020 required garrisons to report any serious
incidents under AR 190-45 (CCIR 20) NLT 1300Z / 0600S the following day.%">

(b) Fort Hood 10C received 3CR’s formal SIR o/a 1850 on 23 April %76

(c) In accordance with IMCOM policy, Fort Hood IOC should have submitted the
SIR to the IMCOM Operations Center NLT 0600 on 24 April. The Fort Hood IOC
SIR submission o/a 1822 on 24 April was approximately 12 hours late; however,
as [JIBERIE mentioned regarding FORSCOM reporting, it was not irregular for
SIR submissions to IMCOM to be late.®””

Directed Question: Was SPC Guillén’s status changed from “present for duty”? If
so, what were her status(es) and why?

30. After careful consideration, | find by a preponderance of the evidence that the
RES changed SPC Guillén’s duty status on 24 April from “Present for Duty” to “AWOL”
after 24-hours of unauthorized absence in accordance with AR 630-10 and AR 600-8-6.

(a) In accordance with AR 630-10, a Soldier is an “absentee” when determined to
be absent without authority from the unit for more than 24-hours. SIS
determined AWOL to be the appropriate status due to SPC Guillén’s
unauthorized absence for 24-hours.?”® Without affirmative evidence of involuntary
absence, AWOL designation after 24-hours of absence is reasonable and
appropriate in accordance with AR 630-10.

(b) The unit took appropriate actions in accordance with AR 630-10 and AR 600-
8-6: [DIENEIE authorized the change in status to AWOL via DA Form 4187;

975B-3-46, US Army IMCOM Regulation 190-45-1, U.S. Army IMCOM SIR and CCIR: pg 2, para 8; and pg
5, para 9.3.9.20; See infra Part 8.b.(1), pg. 151 for IMCOM standards.

976B-3-3, email: 3rd CR SIR (Cdr Concern Missing Trooper); See infra Part 7.a, pg. 40; See infra Part
8.b.(1), pg. 152 for Ill Corps and Fort Hood standards; See infra Part 8.b.(2) Finding 3-24, page 160.
977A-100-2, IDISNEIEE ro 4; See infra Part 7.a, pg. 47.

78A-5-1, IDIENEIRES ro 15 and pg 17; See infra Part 7.a, pg. 34 [DIGNEIIE A-4-1. pg- 43.

164

cu



cul
FCCG
SUBJECT: AR 15-6 Investigation - Fort Hood’s command involvement in, and response
to, the disappearance and death of SPC Vanessa Guillén and other specific topic areas.

the unit provided the signed DA 4187 to the DES; and the RES S1 executed the
eMILPO transaction to change SPC Guillén’s duty status to AWOL.%7°

(c) The RES changed SPC Guillén’s duty status from “AWOL” to “Missing” on 4
May o/a 1111, and changed it back to “AWOL” duty status o/a 1123, o/a 12
minutes later. This action was taken without appropriate commander or
designated representative authority, and was an irregular response that deviated
from AR 600-8-6.980

31. After careful consideration, | find by a preponderance of the evidence that
3CR changed SPC Guillén’s duty status to “missing as of 1130-1230 22 April 2020 until
present” and deleted the AWOL entry on 30 June in accordance with AR 638-8 and AR
600-8-6.

(a) Public announcement of a “suspicion of foul play” on 23 June 2020 triggered
CMAOQD determination on 26 June that sufficient evidence of involuntary
absence existed to change SPC Guillén’s casualty status to DUSTWUN in
accordance with AR 638-8.%1

(b) On 30 June o/a 1157 the RS1 submitted an updated SIR to the Task Force
Phantom G1, CMAOD, and CAC. Fort Hood CAC submitted the DUSTWUN
casualty report to CMAOD o/a 1330.%2 CMAOD submitted CCIR #48 to the TAG
(Duty Status Change from AWOL to DUSTWUN) o/a 1759.983

(c) On 30 June, [DISNEIS) avthorized deletion of the AWOL entry, via DA
4187, changing SPC Guillén’s duty status to “missing as of 1130-1230 22 April
2020 until present” in accordance with AR 600-8-6 and AR 630-10.984

979B-3-29, email: RE: INFO Missing Trooper SITREP 05 MAY 2020 (INESNEIS)] ); B-3-8. eMILPO
transactions: SPC Guillén; See infra Part 7.a, pg. 43. eMILPO transaction;

%80See infra Part 7.a, pg. 54 for [N 2ctions; See infra Part 8.b.(1), pg. 154
for AR 600-8-6, para 2-3, standards.

%B1A-23-1, [DISNEIEE ro 2; B-3-34, email: (Info/Action); FW: PFC Guillén; FW: Update (INFO) 3CR
Missing Trooper; “Houston Rep. Sylvia Garcia: Army suspects foul play in case of missing Fort Hood
soldier,” https://www.houstonchronicle.com/news/houston-texas/texas/article/sylvia-garcia-fort-hood-
soldier-vanessa-guilen-15360765.php, Sig Christenson, 23 JUN 20; See infra Part 7.a, pg. 64; See infra
Part 8.b.(1), pg. 158 for AR 638-8 para 11-3 and 11-6 standards.

982B-3-35, email: FW: PFC Guillén, Vanessa; B-3-41, 652066 Guillén_Vanessa 10768777 Guillén
Vanessa Initial DUSTWUN Report; See infra Part 7.a, pg. 66.

983B-3-36, email: FW: PFC Guillén, Vanessa; See infra Part 7.a, pg. 66.

984B-3-37, DA 4187 -- SPC Guiillén to missing; See infra Part 7.a, pg. 66; see infra Part 8.b.(1), pg. 157 for
AR 600-8-6; see infra Part 8.b.(1), pg. 154 for AR 630-10 standards.
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(d) 3CR changed SPC Guillén’s duty status from AWOL to Missing in eMILPO
o/a 2054 on 30 June, with an effective date of 23 April, in accordance with AR
600-8-6.985

(e) Following CMAOD'’s determination, 3CR actions, in conjunction with the Fort
Hood CAC and Task Force Phantom G1, to change SPC Guillén’s casualty
status to “DUSTWUN” and updated her duty status to “missing” were reasonable
and appropriate, and in accordance with applicable regulations.

Directed Question: How did the search or location efforts evolve and / or intensify
up to the date her death was confirmed?

32. After careful consideration, | find by a preponderance of the evidence that
3CR's approach to the search effort for their missing Trooper was with high intensity
from the very beginning of the operation, and never let up. Their continuous
coordination with CID, local and regional law enforcement as well as coordination with
1st Cavalry Division, led to an immense search for SPC Guillén.

(a) Within the first 24-hours of SPC Guillén’s disappearance, the RES initiated
and executed a deliberate search of the unit footprint while simultaneously
coordinating with the other organizations. 8¢

(b) CID conducted parallel search efforts, with local, state and federal law
enforcement agencies; coordinated for support with approximately 20 agencies
to assist in searches, interviews and leads. Texas EquuSearch conducted
multiple searches on foot, ATV, sonar search of lakes on the installation and an
aerial recon of the Leon River.%7

(c) The search evolved slightly when 3CR responded to allegations that SPC
Guillén was being held in tunnels or caves on Fort Hood. Having previously
exhausted searches of the sub-terrain training areas, the unit executed a
deliberate targeted search of natural caves, yielding no results. %8

(d) The Regiment approached this effort as a sustained, deliberate operation,
consistent with the mission and intent—to recover SPC Guillén and return their
Trooper to their formation.

Directed Question: Were 3CRs actions directed by the commanders or their staffs
in searching for SPC Guillén, reasonable and sufficient?

985A-27-2, ISEEIE ro 4; B-3-8, eMILPO transactions: SPC Guillén: 30 JUN 20, to missing; B-3-8,
eMILPO transactions: SPC Guillén: 30 JUN 20, to missing; See infra Part 7.a, pg. 66; See infra Part
8.b.(1), pg. 154 for AR 600-8-6 standard.

986 See infra Part 7.a., pg 35.

987 See infra Part 7.a., pg 77.

988 See infra Part 7.a., pg 53.
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33. After careful consideration, | find by a preponderance of the evidence that
3CR’s actions were both reasonable and sufficient in conducting the search for SPC
Guillén.

(a) BISEER directed an immediate, extensive search for SPC Guillén
throughout RES footprint.%°

(o) I
operationalizing the search and giving it significant importance, and established a
routine update that captured where search efforts were conducted and the level

of search that was done.9%

(c) 3CR coordinated with 1CD for air within days and established search patterns
and zones of the entire training area.®®’

(d) 3CR’s comprehensive search effort exploited multiple resources and multiple
sweeps.

(e) The complete search included air fly over, route reconnaissance and
Troopers walking the ground through the maijority of the training area. Command
teams immediately demonstrated a bias for action and sustained it throughout
the operation.

Directed Question: Did the command teams report appropriately to and interact
effectively with DES / CID and local, state and federal law enforcement agencies?

34. After careful consideration, | find by a preponderance of the evidence that
command teams reported appropriately to and interacted effectively with both DES and
CID, as well as comprehensive interaction with local, state and federal law enforcement
agencies.

(a) 3CR notified MP immediately that SPC Guillén was missing, in compliance
with published guidance.%?

(b) DES submitted a Region 6 search, issued BOLO, and input SPC Guillén into
NCIC in compliance with published guidance.®%

(c) CID and DES long standing relationships with local law enforcement (LE),
developed through years of partnership and cooperation and enhanced through

989 See infra Part 7.a., pg 35.
990 See infra Part 7.a., pg 49.
991 See infra Part 7.a., pg 50.
992 See infra Part 7.a., pg 35.
993 See infra Part 7.a., pg 43.
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routine meetings to share information (e.g. Chiefs of Police Meeting, Region 6
CID meeting), proved effective during this case. However, coordination between
military LE personnel and local civilian LE personnel should be codified in a
memorandum of understanding (MOU).

Directed Question: Were there any irregularities in the manner in which the
command teams handled SPC Guillén’s disappearance?

35. After careful consideration, | find by a preponderance of the evidence that the
RES deviated from AR 600-8-6 by changing SPC Guillén’s duty status from “AWOL” to
“Missing” on 4 May o/a 1111 without appropriate commander or designated
representative authorization via signed DA 4187. This action was irregular, but also
reasonable given chain of command confusion regarding duty and casualty status
authorities o/a 4 May, early in the process of coordination with CMAOD.

(a) In accordance with AR 600-8-6, para 2-2, all duty status changes must be
supported by authorizing documentation, such as a DA Form 4187.9%4

(b) Neither EEEEEGEN OO -
IS could remember who directed the change in status on 4 May.**° il

, could not remember who directed the change in duty
status, and believed it to be the result of confusion.®*° [IEEINEE deleted the
entry 12 minutes later, returning SPC Guillén’s status to AWOL. %%

(c) The Squadron did not provide a signed DA 4187 authorizing a status change
on 4 May. More likely than not, neither the RES Commander nor the E/FST
Commander, or designated representative such as the S1, authorized this
change in duty status. This transaction was not appropriate or authorized;
however, it was reasonable given the circumstances on 4 May. The erroneous
transaction was more likely than not caused by ongoing confusion regarding
authority to make a “missing” determination, and multiple initial lines of
communication between squadron, regiment, CMAOD, and Fort Hood
leadership, regarding a possible “missing” status for SPC Guillén. On the same
day, 4 May, [SISHEEE vas engaged in direct coordination with CMAOD, and
MG Efflandt informed FORSCOM senior leaders that 3CR intended to change
SPC Guillén’s duty status to missing in 48-hours.%%

9%4See infra Part 8.b.(1), pg. 117 for AR 600-8-6 standard.pg. 154 for AR 600-8-6 standard.

99°A-21-1, (Qé§)1_ See infra Part 7.a, pg. 54 DIGNEIEES A-16-1 (MFR);

996A-52-1, IDIENEIES]; Sce infra Part 7.a, pg. 54.
997A-21-1, DN B-3-8. eMILPO transactions: SPC Guillén; See infra Part 7.a, pg. 54.

998A-59-1,m: IR]Iq 2; B-3-29, email: RE: INFO Missing Trooper SITREP 05 MAY 2020
I (dentinies U4 MAY 20 as the initial date of 3CR coordination with CMAOD; See infra .a,
pg. 55.
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36. After careful consideration, | find by a preponderance of the evidence that
eyewitness accounts of SPC Guillén in the 3CR footprint o/a 1300-1330 were
inaccurate, but reasonable for initial chain of command Serious Incident Reports, given
the information available to command teams on 23 April.

(a) claimed to have seen SPC Guillén while smoking outside
building 9420 with two of his Soldiers ({SISNDISIINEEENEEEEEEEEE); <
reported to SIS (hat she had exited building 9420
looking "upset,” and walked toward building 9421 o/a 1330 on 22 April. % il
I cid not know SPC Guillén, and based his observation on i

I rccognition of SPC Guillén.9%° According to ISR he
informed [DISHDINISIEE o 23 April, but did not remember the

exact time.1001

(b) Based on CID review of [l »hone records,
it was found that SIS attended a promotion ceremony, and il

was in the motor pool, o/a 1300 on 22 April; both later revised the
estimated time of seeing SPC Guillén to earlier in the day, o/a 1000 or 1100 on
22 April 1002

(c) DI S dcVveloped the initial Serious Incident Report

and submitted the “6Ws / SIR “Missing Trooper” via email to [N
o/a 1324, designating SPC Guillén as a “Missing Trooper” and

identifying the time of SPC Guillén’s disappearance as 1330 on 22 April 7003

(d) S <ror to SIS, more likely than

not, formed the basis for the first, inaccurate identification of the last known
sighting of SPC Guillén as o/a 1330 on 23 April. [IEHEIEEE. more likely than
not, used IS naccurate report in the 6Ws email
to 3CR leadership, and this information was used in the first SIR submitted by
3CR to the Fort Hood I0OC o/a 1850 on 23 April. 1004

(e) DI 2ctions to report a possible sighting are

reasonable given the desire to provide as much information as possible to assist
search efforts. The inaccurate time of sighting in their initial report was more
likely than not unintentional. [ SIS vse of the initial inaccurate report for

999A-40-2, IDIENEIES - D-: ro 3; A-9-1, DSBS ro 3; See infra Part 7.a, pg. 36.

1000A-40-2, [DISNEIES] - O-: ro 3; A-9-1, DISNEIEN ro 3; See infra Part 7.a, pg. 36.

1001A-40-2, [DIEEEIES] - D-: po 2; See infra Part 7.a, pg. 37.

1002A-40-2, [IGHEDINISE ro 3; A-9-1, DISEEDIEIEE ro 4; See infra Part 7.a, pg. 36.

1003B-3-1, email: 6Ws - RES - SPC Guillén (Missing Trooper).

1004B-3-3, email: 3rd CR SIR (Cdr Concern Missing Trooper); See infra Part 7.a, pg. 40; See infra Part
8.b.(1), pg. 152 for Ill Corps and Fort Hood standards; See infra Part 8.b.(2) Finding 3-24, page 160.
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the first SIR submission to the Fort Hood IOC is reasonable based on the
evidence available to him on 23 April.

Directed Question: Did commanders react appropriately to SPC Guillén’s
disappearance?

37. After careful consideration, | find by a preponderance of the evidence that the
RES and 3CR command teams’ decision to report SPC Guillén’s disappearance as a
Category 4 incident of immediate concern to the Il Corps Commander was appropriate
and reasonable based on the circumstances of her disappearance and evidence
available to them on 23 April.

(a) BISEE otified [IEEIENS Via phone call o/a 0730 on 23 April. 1005
notified MG Efflandt via 6Ws email o/a 1504 on 23 April, and
called the same day.1006

(b) FORSCOM and Il Corps and Fort Hood policy in effect in April 2020 did not
establish a specific reporting requirement for Soldier absence under unknown
circumstances, and Soldiers designated as AWOL after 24-hours were not
reportable as either Category 1 or 2 Serious Incidents in accordance with
Chapter 8, AR 190-45.1007

1005A-43-1, IDISEIE ro 3; See infra Part 7.a, page 37; See infra Part 8.b.(2) Finding 3-24, page 160.
1006A-37-1, MG Efflandt: pg 4; A-88-1, [ISNEIEISN 1o 7; B-3-2, email: 6Ws (Missing Trooper); See
infra Part 7.a, pg. 40; See infra Part 8.b.(2) Finding 3-24, page 160.

1007B-3-43, FRAGORD 4 to HQDA EXORD 222-17, HQDA Senior Leader CCIR: para 1.E.1, 13 MAY 19;
B-3-47, FRAGORD 3 to OPORD PW 1904-04-0244 (llIC CCIR): pg 1-2, para 3.b.(2), 061030SEP19; See
infra Part 8.b.(1), pg. 114, for FORSCOM policy; See infra Part 8.b.(1), pg. 152, for Ill Corps and Fort
Hood policy; See infra Part 8.b.(1), pg. 155 for AR 190-45 standard.
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(c) decision to report SPC Guillén’s
disappearance as an SIR complies with AR 190-45 guidance for commanders to
report “in cases of doubt” or when information remains incomplete.'°%® The facts
as known on 23 April, to include the unique circumstances of SPC Guillén’s
disappearance (personal effects left behind); her record of service and lack of
evidence to support a voluntary absence; involvement of CID; and search
operations that were expanding beyond the 3CR footprint indicated that SPC
Guillén’s disappearance met the subjective criteria as an incident of immediate
concern to the Ill Corps commander.

38. After careful consideration, | find by a preponderance of the evidence that the
Task Force Phantom and Fort Hood leadership decision to report SPC Guillén’s
disappearance to FORSCOM and IMCOM as a Category 2 incident of immediate
concern to HQDA was appropriate and reasonable based on the circumstances of her
disappearance and evidence available to them on 24 April.

(a) O/a 1735 on 24 April, the IOC sent a draft Fort Hood SIR on SPC Guillén’s
disappearance to [l for review as a Category 2 as an AR 190-45
Category 2 reportable serious incident, item (y), “Any other incident that the
Commander determines to be of concern to Headquarters, Department of the
Army (HQDA) based on the nature, gravity, potential for adverse publicity or
potential consequences of the incident.”100°

(b) B forwarded to ISR for approval o/a 1740, including [l
approved the SIR o/a 1807

L ®e.O;Onc .

on 24 April.7970 The Fort Hood IOC submitted its first SIR on SPC Guillén’s
disappearance to FORSCOM Watch o/a 1822 and the IMCOM Operations
Center o/a 1827.7011

(c) The VCSA, GEN Martin, was informed of SPC Guillén’s disappearance
through CID reporting on the afternoon of 24 April, prior to Fort Hood IOC’s SIR
submission to FORSCOM and IMCOM. O/a 1549 GEN Martin asked GEN
Garrett to let him know “if we have any developments on this search.”’0’2 GEN
Garrett forwarded the email exchange to MG Efflandt o/a 1629, asking that he
“keep [him] posted on this.”7073

10083ee infra Part 8.b.(1), pg. 154-155; AR 190-45, para 1-4.pg. 118; AR 190-45, para 1-4.

1009B-3-14, email: DRAFT #3 / SIR (0293) CAT 2 item y; See infra Part 7.a, page 47.

1010B-3-14, email: DRAFT #3 / SIR (0293) CAT 2 item y; See infra Part 7.a, page 47.

1011B-3-17, B-3-17; B-3-47, FRAGORD 3 to OPORD PW 1904-04-0244 (IlIC CCIR); See infra Part 7.a,
page 47.

1012B-3-13, email: FW: EXSUM: Missing Soldier - Fort Hood, TX; See infra Part 7.a, page 47.
1013B-3-13, email: FW: EXSUM: Missing Soldier - Fort Hood, TX; See infra Part 7.a, page 47.
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(d) IS co ot remember review or approval of the SIR. 1014
MG Efflandt does not remember discussion with I regarding the
lateness of Fort Hood’s SIR submission to FORSCOM on 24 April.'9'5 Given
FORSCOM and Army Senior Leader interest in SPC Guillén’s disappearance, it
was reasonable and appropriate for Fort Hood to report her absence as a
Category 2 incident of concern to HQDA; however, no evidence exists regarding
the discussion and review process that resulted in that decision by IR
and the Fort Hood 10C.

39. After careful consideration, | find by a preponderance of the evidence that
MG Efflandt and the Task Force Phantom and USAG Hood staff did not respond in a
reasonable and appropriate manner to notification of SPC Guillén’s disappearance on
23 April 2020.

(a) In accordance with ADP 6-0, mission command is the Army’s approach to
command and control that empowers subordinate decision making and
decentralized execution appropriate to the situation.°'® Staffs support
commanders in understanding, visualizing, and describing the operational
environment; making and articulating decisions; and directing, leading, and
assessing military operations.®'” Staffs provide timely and relevant information
and analysis, make estimates and recommendations, prepare plans and orders,
assist in controlling operations, and assess the progress of operations for the
commander. Primary responsibilities of any staffs are to support the commander;
assist subordinate commanders, staffs, and units; and inform units and
organizations outside the headquarters.'018

(b) From 23 April through o/a 24 June, there is no evidence of establishment of a
Task Force Phantom or Installation-level coordinating staff body or dedicated
forum, through either an OPT or CAT, to enable MG Efflandt to gain
understanding of the situation, make decisions, and direct action in response to
3CR SIR submission and HQDA / FORSCOM inquiries, and in support of 3CR
operations to find SPC Guillén.

(c) Following the VCSA’s and GEN Garrett’s interest in SPC Guillén’s
disappearance, MG Efflandt provided a series of updates through 25 April to the

1014A-44-1, BISEEEEE - ro 5. when asked if he remembered seeing the draft SIR for review and
submission to FORSCOM, “no” and “it wasn’t until, | want to say, towards the end of June,” pg. 5
(however, email correspondence indicates [ reviewed and forwarded the draft SIR to [RIDEDIS
for approval on 24 April); A-90-1, DISESIEE ro 2, ‘| want to say that | did read a report, | don’t know the
timing of it,”; See infra Part 7.a, page 47.

1015A-37-1, MG Efflandt: pg 7, “l don’t remember the report to FORSCOM being a day late ... I'm not
denying the late report, | just don’t remember that being significant.”; See infra Part 7.a, page 47.

1016See References: ADP 6-0, para 1-14.

1017See References: ADP 6-0, para 4-18.

1018See References: ADP 6-0, para 4-17.
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FORSCOM leadership team, who in turn informed the DAS, LTG Piatt. MG
Efflandt characterized the search as a 3CR-led “combat” operation. MG Efflandt’s

25 April update to MG Richardson included both | ISISEDIISEE
£ ). 0 V)R

(d) Task Force Phantom senior staff and Fort Hood leadership received the initial
SIR on SPC Guillén’s disappearance from the IOC o/a 1827 on 24 April.1020
However,

do not remember directing or coordinating actions in response to the
3CR SIR or subsequent updates to FORSCOM senior leaders from 23 — 25 April
2020.1021

(e) B remembered a 3CR XO or S3 phone call requesting assistance to
coordinate air assets, but does not remember any specific staff action to
coordinate non-3CR unit activity.'%?? [ SNSRI remembered a decision to
not use operations channels to receive reports or coordinate support, with all
information remaining in command channels.'%?3 Task Force Phantom did not
issue an operations order and the G3 did not play any role in coordinating
support to 3CR search operations.'024

(f) USAG Fort Hood did not activate the EOC to coordinate SPC Guillén search
and response activities. While there was precedent for establishing a Tier One
CAT to coordinate search operations for a missing Soldier, IS recalled
no conversation or discussion regarding a potential EOC role regarding search
operations to find SPC Guillén, with the prevailing view being that it was primarily
a “criminal investigation.”1025

(9IS 'ccalled establishment of a Task Force
Phantom staff OPT or CAT, without Task Force Phantom G3 Current Operations
participation.'926 According to SIS . the Task Force Phantom staff did not
establish a centralized, coordinating OPT or CAT to enable 3CR search
operations and response until he activated an engagement-focused CAT o/a 24
June."”” DIGEEIEEE does not recall the establishment of a CAT or OPT from
within Task Force Phantom staff upon receipt of the initial 3CR SIR, and
remembered no specific Task Force Phantom or Installation staff activities to

1019B-3-24, email: Background missing Brave Rifles trooper, 25 APR 20; See infra Part 7.a, page 49.

1020B-3-18, email: SIR (0293) - CAT 2 item y; See infra Part 7.a, page 48.

1021A-125-1, [DISEEIEE : po 2; A-36-1, DISEEEEE : ro 5 A-41-1, BISEEEES: ro 7; A-76-1,
pg 2; A-90-1 BDISHEIE: o 2; See infra Part 7.a, page 41.

1022A-44-1, BISEEEER - o 6; See infra Part 7.a, page 42.

1023A-76-1, [DNESNEIES) : o 2; See infra Part 7.a, page 42.

102¢A-76-1, IDIEEIEE) : ro 3; See infra Part 7.a, page 42.

1025A-106-1, IDISNBIEEE 1o 6; See infra Part 7.a, page 41.

1026A-106-1, IDIENEDIEIEE 1o 7; A-76-1, IDISEEIEE] : ro 2; See infra Part 7.a, page 42.

1027A-41-1, (IS : ro 7; See infra Part 7.a, page 41.
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coordinate resources or response to enable SPC Guillén search operations. 028
According to [JISEEIE . command channel updates kept the leadership
informed, but the staff did not establish a specific battle rhythm or process to
review and coordinate support to 3CR.1029

40. After careful consideration, | find by a preponderance of the evidence that
BISESIE took reasonable and appropriate action to deviate from AR 630-10
requirements and not send the 10-day letter to SPC Guillén’s next of kin o/a 4 May or
drop SPC Guillén from rolls after 30 days o/a 24 May.

(a) DIBEEE determined that the 10-day NOK letter “would be insensitive,
inappropriate, and could be presented to the media in an attempt to bring
discredit to the 3d Cavalry Regiment and the U.S. Army,” particularly because
SPC Guillén’s family remained in the local Fort Hood area, in contact with
investigators.1030

(b) In the 4 May memorandum, [RISEEIEE also noted that “PFC Guillen’s
disappearance remains an active investigation by local and national agencies ...
as of 04 May 2020, CID, the FBI, local authorities, and my unit have not
discovered evidence suggesting her disappearance was voluntary. Furthermore,
the CID Special Agent in Charge stated that her case is being treated as a
missing person case, not an AWOL Soldier.”103

(c) BIBEEIE =/so established his intent to “properly notify the NOK and
complete the AWOL and dropped from rolls (DFR) procedure outlined in AR 630-
10” when evidence demonstrating voluntary absence was found. 1932

(d) DISNEIE decision to deviate from AR 630-10 requirements was
reasonable and appropriate given ongoing contact between SPC Guillén’s family,
the unit, and CID; the heightened media interest in SPC Guillén’s disappearance;
and the scope and intensity of search operations on 4 May.

41. After careful consideration, | find by a preponderance of the evidence that

1028A-36-1, [DIENEIE : ro 5; See infra Part 7.a, page 41.

1029A-36-1, RIS : ro 6; See infra Part 7.a, page 41.

1030B-3-26, SUBJECT: Regulatory Next of Kin Notification for PFC Vanessa Guillén (MFR); See infra Part
7.a, page 53.

1031B-3-26, SUBJECT: Regulatory Next of Kin Notification for PFC Vanessa Guillén (MFR); See infra Part
7.a, page 53.

1032B-3-26, SUBJECT: Regulatory Next of Kin Notification for PFC Vanessa Guillén (MFR); See infra Part
7.a, page 53.
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(a) IS cotacted [DISNERIR on 24 April to discuss a possible
“missing” duty status.'%** (SN cngaged the Fort Hood CAC on 27

April.19% On the same day, [RISEEIEE recommended changing SPC Guillén’s
duty status to “missing” based on the circumstances of her disappearance and
the ongoing investigation.103%

(b) From 23 April through o/a 23 June, 3CR lacked sufficient evidence of
involuntary absence to meet the AR 638-8 standard for a DUSTWUN casualty
status determination. 3CR maintained routine interaction with CMAOD
throughout this period, which was reasonable and appropriate given ongoing
search efforts and possibility of new evidence of involuntary absence. 036
According to CMAOD, while Soldiers being “missing” for extended periods of
time is rare, direct interaction between the unit and CMAOD is not unusual in
these circumstances.'®3” During this period, 3CR did not submit a DD Form 2812
or initiate an informal administrative investigation IAW AR 15-6 to develop a
finding of involuntary absence for review by a TAG board of inquiry.1938

(c) Perceived inaction and lack of understanding of the process was a source of
frustration to the Squadron Commander and other unit leaders throughout this
period.%%® However, [ IESEEIEIEE dccision not to initiate an informal
investigation is reasonable and appropriate given the guidance and feedback
provided by CMAOD to [DISEEIE . that the TAG would not approve a change in

1033A-115-1, RIS ro 2; B-3-25, email: Duty Status Recommendation: Missing; See infra Part 7.a,
page 50-51.
1034A-115-1, DN P9 2; B-3-25, email: Duty Status Recommendation: Missing; See infra Part 7.a,

page 50.
1035A-115-1, [DNEEIRIE P9 2; B-3-25, email: Duty Status Recommendation: Missing; See infra Part 7.a,

page 50.

1037A-23-1, [DISEEIEE o 2, “most of the cases that we have that ... actually get reported as
DUSTWUN, usually | would say most of them last about 48 hours or less.”; A-85-1, [BIEEEIGIEN 1o '

“in the event that we do have a DUSTWUN ... the CAC is removed and | go directly to the unit. The
reason we do that is so that words don't get twisted and communication is clear and concise.”; See infra
Part 7.a, page 56; See infra Part 8.b.(1), pages 158 for AR 638-8 standards.

[ |
1039A-127-1, pg 5; A-43-1, : pg 5; See infra Part 7.a, pages 57.
() (6). ) (")(C) (0) ©). ©) (N(C)
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casualty status absent affirmative evidence of involuntary absence beyond what
the unit had already provided.%40

42. After careful consideration, | find by a preponderance of the evidence that
functions of command teams’ response to SPC Guillén’s disappearance were sufficient
except for commanders’ engagements with the family and media (see directed question
4A and 4B). Other exceptions include the search of SPC Guillén’s barracks room and
the 11th MP BN (CID) Task Force build.

(@) On the morning of 23 April 20, IS IDINIEEEE <sco el

into SPC Guillén’s barracks room. This never should have occurred. At that point
in time, SPC Guillén’s room was a potential crime scene and it is paramount that
physical evidence is not tainted or destroyed. Actions taken at the outset of an
investigation at a crime scene can play a pivotal role in the resolution of a case.

(b) 11th MP BN (CID) took appropriate initiative to rapidly resource and
coordinate the build of a CID Task Force (TF) in support of the SPC Guillén
disappearance case. Designed to solve the Special Agent continuity challenge
during a summer PCS season, hand-pick select augmentees—Special Agents
with desired skill sets with TF lead buy-in, and adding fluent and relatable
Spanish speakers and translators was vital.

(c) However, the build was hurried and lacked deliberate analysis and clearly
defined task and purpose. TF members were carrying their caseloads while
working the SPC Guillén disappearance case, until approximately mid-June,
resulting in existing cases not being worked. Further, there was an abundant
need for Agent augmentation to not only continue current case work, but new
cases (note: 420-new cases opened on FHTX during the SPC Guillén
investigation). There was a significant gap in TF Criminal Analyst capabilities, a
critically important component of investigative work, and the TF relied heavily on
U.S. Marshals, Texas Rangers and local LE support. TF efforts also suffered
from a critical shortage of administrative specialists, resulting in a concerning and
substantial backlog of processing documents for countless leads and clerical
work which takes valuable time away from Agents actively investigating. There
was also a shortage of Digital Media Experts (a meticulous and lengthy process).
Considerable impact on Drug Suppression Team (DST) operations and case
work due to DST members being pulled to work the SPC Guillén investigation.
There was an existing heavy backlog of drug cases already due to the COVID
impact.
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(d) The entrance of a new [N s @ noteworthy silver
lining. IIDISEEIEIEN took the reins of the 43d MP Detachment (CID) 29 May
20; no stranger to FHTX or this case, jjjij instantly addressed TF shortcomings
and gaps with the Battalion, Group and USACIDC, requesting additional support
needed for TF augmentation. It wasn’t until [ raised the needed support
issue with MG Efflandt, that the TF was properly resourced. This augmentation
quickly enhanced and increased the TF’s investigative capabilities.

(3) Recommendations. In view of the above findings, | recommend:

(a) U.S. Army CID should create a quick reaction capability focused on assisting
commanders with missing Soldiers. The specially-trained Special Agents can
provide law enforcement tools and investigative methods to quickly locate or
uncover the true circumstances of missing Soldiers within the first 48-hours.

(b) HQDA should conduct a review of Army Regulations and Proponent
Authorities regarding duty status and casualty status to provide commanders
greater flexibility, an understandable process, and clear authorities to ensure a
Soldier’s duty and casualty status are accurate based on the information
available to them.

i. In SPC Guillén’s case, the chain of command quickly determined that her
absence was likely involuntary, but lacked sufficient evidence of involuntary
absence as well as a clear understanding of the process and authorities
governing the DUSTWUN casualty status as established by applicable
regulations. The command was left with no options but to designate SPC
Guillén AWOL after 24-hours of absence, in accordance with applicable
regulations, yet deviate from additional required actions (such as notification
of consequences to next of kin after the 10th day) in order to maintain faith
with SPC Guillén’s family and avoid heightened negative public reaction to
the U.S. Army.

ii. Army G1 should create an additional duty status (absent-unknown) and
revise AR 600-8-6 and supporting guidance documents accordingly. Unit
commanders should have the authority to designate a Soldier “absent-
unknown” duty status for up to 48-hours following a Soldiers’ disappearance
or failure to report. The 48-hour period will provide command teams sufficient
time to find evidence of voluntary or involuntary absence prior to a
determination of duty or casualty status. While a Soldier is “absent-
unknown,” unit leaders and Army Law Enforcement Officials will make every
effort to locate the absent Soldier. After 48-hours, if the commander
determines that the absence is likely involuntary, the Soldier will be
designated as “missing” duty status and DUSTWUN casualty status. In
addition, commanders should execute a sequence of activities (in
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accordance with a published checklist) that would include the actions listed
in Recommendation (i) below.

iii. Army G1, the proponent for AR 600-8-6, should review and revise the
regulation and supporting eMILPO guidance to define authorities and usage
regarding the “missing (MIS)” duty status.

iv. Army G1, the proponent for AR 638-8, should review and revise the
regulation to incorporate the 48-hour period for initial command
determination of voluntary absence, unit commander’s authorities and
required actions regarding the “absent-unknown” duty status, and revised
guidance regarding the “DUSTWUN?” casualty status. AR 638-8 should also
include the unit commander’s checklist for determination of voluntary
absence, as well as refined guidance on commander’s responsibilities
regarding informal investigation and collection of evidence to support a TAG
board of inquiry.

v. Army PMG, the proponent for AR 630-10, should review and revise the
regulation to incorporate the 48-hour period for initial command
determination of voluntary absence.

vi. To ensure command teams understand the policy and procedure,
proponents (Army G1 and PMG) should deliver instruction, with vignettes
and examples, at all brigade and battalion Pre-Command Courses as well as
support instruction at company-level pre-command course at all Army
installations.

(c) Concurrent with the above recommendations, ACOMs, ASCCs, and Direct
Reporting Units should review and, if necessary, revise Category 3 SIR, in
accordance with AR 190-45, to include a requirement for immediate reporting
and notification of Soldiers designated as “absent-unknown.”

(d) Concurrent with the above recommendations, Army G-3/5/7 should review
guidance to ACOMs, ASCCs, and Direct Reporting Units to ensure designation
of a Soldier as “absent-unknown” generates a reporting requirement to HQDA as
CCIR 50, an incident of concern to HQDA based upon the gravity, nature, and
potential for significant adverse publicity, or consequences of the incident in
accordance with FRAGORD 4 to HQDA EXORD 222-17, HQDA Senior Leader
Commander’s Critical Information Requirements (CCIR), 13 MAY 19.

(e) IMCOM should ensure all Installation, Post, Camp, and Stations

memorandum of understanding (MOU) between military LE and local civilian LE
personnel are codified as is required IAW AR 190-45.
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(f) Reference Finding 26, 3CR and RES leadership should review SIR
procedures to ensure 6W information development timeline and responsibilities
at echelon (troop, squadron, and regiment) and according to delegated
authorities (XOs) are well-understood and sufficient to support Ill Corps and Fort
Hood reporting suspenses and timelines.

(g) Reference Findings 28 and 29, Il Corps and Fort Hood leadership should
review SIR policy and procedure to meet FORSCOM and IMCOM reporting
suspenses and timelines to ensure:

i. Fort Hood 1I0C maintains and updates a distribution for draft SIR for edit,
review, awareness and initial staff action that includes appropriate key staff
and leadership, based on the category and amplifying information included in
the draft SIR.

ii. Policy and procedure clearly identifies responsibility and authority to
approve SIR for submission to FORSCOM and / or IMCOM.

iii. Policy and procedure clearly identifies responsibility and authority (in
addition to the Senior Commander) to execute immediate notification to
FORSCOM and / or IMCOM as required.

(h) Reference Finding 35, 3CR and the RES leadership should review
procedures to ensure appropriate authority and responsibility to enter eMILPO
transactions and change Soldier duty status at Regiment and Squadron-level are
clearly identified IAW AR 600-8-6:

i. Commander or designated representative approves change in status.

ii. DA Form 4187, DA Form 31, or other authoritative document records and
authorizes the action.

(i) Checklist of commander actions for Soldier absence due to unknown
circumstances, based on Recommendation (b):

1. Report the Soldier’s “absent-unknown” status to Army Law Enforcement / Directorate
of Emergency Services (DES) within 3 hours of the reported absence. DES will
complete a blotter entry, submit a Law Enforcement Report (LER) and a Be-On-The-
Lookout (BOLO) into the Army Law Enforcement Reporting and Tracking System
(ALERTS), enter this information into the Missing Persons File of the National Crime
Information Center (NCIC), and request an Attempt-To-Locate (ATL) from local and
civilian law enforcement agencies. The Missing Persons File entry into NCIC notifies
civilian law enforcement agencies of the circumstances, enabling them to notify the
Army when they come in contact with the Soldier.

179



cul
FCCG
SUBJECT: AR 15-6 Investigation - Fort Hood’s command involvement in, and response
to, the disappearance and death of SPC Vanessa Guillén and other specific topic areas.

2. Notify Next of Kin (NOK) within 8-hours; this responsibility should be withheld by
commanders, and not authorized to be delegated or assigned to a representative.

3. If the Soldier cannot be located within 48-hours, commanders will make a
determination as to whether the absence is voluntary or involuntary, according to clear
and understandable examples of evidence and indicators provided in applicable
regulations.

a. If the commander determines, by a preponderance of evidence, the Soldier’s
absence to be voluntary, he or she will designate the Soldier AWOL and complete
required actions in accordance with AR 630-10 and AR 600-8-6.

b. If, after 48-hours, there is insufficient evidence of voluntary absence, or if the
commander finds credible evidence of involuntary absence, the Soldier will be
designated as “missing” duty status.

(1) Soldiers reported as “missing” will also be classified as “DUSTWUN” casualty
status in accordance with AR 638-8.

(2) Unit leaders and Army Law Enforcement Officials will continue to make every
effort to locate the Soldier.

4. In accordance with AR 638-8, a Soldier is typically retained in DUSTWUN casualty
status for a maximum of 10-days. If there is insufficient, or a lack of credible evidence,
or the commander is unable to attain a preponderance of evidence to support
involuntary absence after 10-days, a board of inquiry will convene to review the
evidence and determine the Soldiers status.

5. The command will submit all available evidence of involuntary absence to CMAOD
for a TAG determination of status through the board of inquiry process. Based on
available evidence the TAG will determine whether the Soldier remains DUSTWUN
casualty status; or deceased casualty status; or, if voluntary evidence becomes
available, the Soldier is returned to AWOL duty status.

6. In the event a Soldier returns to military control, or the Soldier is determined AWOL

after being declared DUSTWUN, the commander will coordinate the status change with
the servicing CAC and CMAOD.
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c. Findings and Recommendations Pertaining to LOI 4 - Media, Family, and
non-DoD Parties Engagement.

Line of Inquiry Organization | Page

8.c.(1) Standards of Determination 182

8.c.(2) Findings 185
. After SPC Guillén disappeared, who first engaged her family? Who

decided who would engage her family? Why was this individual / 185

individuals chosen to interact with her family?
o After SPC Guillén disappeared, who engaged with the media?

Who decided who would engage with the media? Why was this 186
individual / individuals chosen to interact with the media?

J Did the command follow policy and regulations in their
engagements with the media? Who provided the guidance for 187

these engagements?

. After SPC Guillén disappeared, who engaged with other non-DoD
parties? What non-DoD parties did the command engage with?
Who decided to engage with the nonDoD parties? Why was this
individual / individuals chosen to interact with the non-DoD parties?

. Did the command teams engage media, Family, and non-DoD
parties appropriately and effectively?

. Did the command have opportunities to appropriately and
effectively engage the media without risking the integrity of the 193
investigation?

J What role did social media play with the command’s ability to 194
appropriately and effectively message the family and the media?

. Did the command teams have a plan or procedure established to
engage family members or the media during a high-profile event
(such as disappearance, death, or arrest) involving one of its
Solders?

. Would the command teams have benefited from having a plan, or
a more thorough plan, to engage family members or the media
during a high-profile event? Would it have been beneficial to have 195
had a pre-selected and trained team to engage the media and
family members?

. Make recommendations for media and family member
engagement plans regarding high-profile Soldier events (address 196
in recommendations section)?

8.c.(3) Recommendations 196

189

190

195
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(1) Standards of Determination.

Army Requlations

Army Regulation 360-1, The Army Public Affairs Program (May 2011) states that
public affairs (PA) is a personal staff that requires direct access to commanders since
PA is a commander’s responsibilities and often requires quick decisions to implement
effectively (para 7-10). It also prescribes that commanders will develop PA guidance,
strategies, plans, and operations and evaluate their effectiveness; designate
spokespersons to release information pertaining to their command; release unfavorable
news with the same care and speed as favorable news. Be candid when dealing with
American people; and take appropriate action to correct erroneous information about
the Army that appears in any medium. Commanders also have a task to inform the
American people, elected officials, and other external publics of Army activities and
initiatives (Chapters 2 and 3). Commanders below HQDA level will inform the OCPA,
through command channels as soon as possible, when national news media requests
have been received or situations concerning their commands exist that have the
potential for national exposure. Local commanders have maximum flexibility in releasing
information (para 5-3). In addition, it states that public affairs officers will advise
commanders regarding the PA needs of the command; develop PA plans and
programs; assist in formulating and releasing command messages; advice the
commander on audience attitudes about the perceptions of policies, programs, and
information needs (Chapters 2 and 4). Social media platforms are the fastest way to
inform and educate the public regarding matters in emerging or breaking news (para 8-
5). Policy also defines engagements as meetings or events that communicate with a
purpose in order to advance, educate, strengthen, and preserve U.S. Army interest,
policies, and objectives.

Army Regulation 638-8, Army Casualty Program (June 2019) states that for criminal
investigations, CID will provide the family updates on the investigation (para 3-2b). In
addition, CID can withhold any information to protect due process and the integrity of
the investigation.

Army Regulation 1-20, Legislative Liaison (July 2013) describes policy for policy,
guidance, and procedures for legislative and congressional activities. Army policy
encourages contact between Army commanders and members of Congress and
congressional staff (para 2-1). OCLL will coordinate Senior Leader contacts and
participation in engagement and activities (para 2-3). Visits from Congress and
Congressional Staff to Army installation in support of Army activities are also
encouraged (para 2-5a). In addition, Army policy is to provide members of the Congress
and congressional committees timely information on significant developments involving
Army policies, programs, operations, and developments (para 8-1).
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Relevant Doctrine in FM 3-61: Public Affairs Operations

Para 1-4. Public affairs professionals are responsible for analyzing information in the
media and contributing to the information environment through the release of accurate
information and imagery. Public information about Army activities may have positive or
negative effects in the information environment. Technological advances have made
collection and dissemination of information available to broader and more diverse
publics faster and on a larger scale. The American public, allies, adversaries, and
enemies view military operations in real-time, which results in the increased analysis,
critique, and editorial commentary by the media.

Para 1-12. The public affairs officer (PAO) is the commander’s principal advisor and
counselor on public affairs. As a skilled communicator and member of the commander’s
personal or special staff, the PAO must be closely and continuously involved in the
operations, staff coordination, and communication processes to support mission
command.

Para 1-15. Public affairs is the primary capability supporting the commander’s task
to inform. Public affairs provides the public with facts so they can increase knowledge or
make their own decisions. Providing credible, accurate, and timely information serves
as the best means to counter misinformation, disinformation, and propaganda.
Maintaining trust, transparency, and credibility are critical when providing public
information.

Para 2-2. Implicit in a democratic republic is the right of citizens to know about the
activities of their elected government; and the government, in return, has an obligation
to inform its citizens about its activities. These rights also apply to the activities of the
military, established by the Constitution to provide for the common defense and general
welfare of the United States.

Para 2-5. Army public affairs activities derive from Title 10, Chapter 303, Section
3014, and United States (U.S.) Code, which requires the Secretary of the Army to
designate a single career field to conduct public affairs. Army public affairs is
responsible for informing the American people about the Army’s mission and goals; it
communicates to the public what the Army does. Informing the American people assists
the Army in establishing conditions that lead to the public’'s understanding and support.
Effective public affairs generates and enables the sustainment of Army credibility with
international, national, and local publics (see discussion beginning in paragraph 4-2).

Para 2-6. Public affairs doctrine and principles apply during unified land operations,
at home-station, and in garrison. Public affairs is a command responsibility.

Para 2-16. The public affairs officer (PAO) is the commander’s senior advisor on

public affairs. This is a key PAO responsibility. The PAO establishes and sustains
commander and staff relationships and maintains direct and timely access to the
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commander. The more the public affairs community understands the environment in
which the commander operates, the more valuable the advice and counsel.

Para 2-17. The PAOs ensure commanders understand implications of their
decisions as well as the strength of public perception. Commanders must know their
actions and decisions have public affairs implications. With the evolution of the global
information environment, public affairs activities have become an increasingly critical
element in determining the success of support to strategic end states. Commanders
must recognize the strength and influence of public opinion and perception on the
morale, confidence, and effectiveness of Soldiers.

Para 2-19. Public affairs professionals assist the commander in understanding the
information needs and expectations of Soldiers, family members, the home station
community, and all other affected publics. Commanders should consider these
expectations when developing their communication strategy. Public affairs professionals
should also tailor the public affairs plan to meet the information needs and expectations
of the affected publics.

Para 2-28. A commander must know how regional and local publics, the American
people, and U.S. civilian leaders perceive a situation, military operations, and the use of
military power. The public’s perception may impact the overall public affairs plan based
on the information needs of the identified publics.

Para 2-99. The release of information should not be withheld or delayed solely to
protect the installation, command, or the Army from criticism or embarrassment. Being
open and forthcoming enhances the Army’s credibility and trustworthiness.

Para 2-100. Public affairs professionals release only accurate information in a timely
manner. The long-term success of public affairs activities depends on maintaining the
integrity and credibility of officially released information. Deceiving the public
undermines trust in the Army. Accurate, balanced, and credible presentation of
information leads to public confidence in the Army and the legitimacy of Army
operations. Attempting to deny unfavorable information or failing to acknowledge its
existence leads to media speculation, the perception of a cover-up, and the of loss
public trust. Public affairs professionals should address issues openly and honestly as
soon as possible.

Para 2-106. Public affairs professionals must— Exercise a proactive approach to
determine second- and third-order effects and develop plans to shape possible
outcomes. Comprehend the strategic vision by seeing the big picture and strategic
implications of tactical.
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(2) Findings.

Directed Question: After SPC Guillén disappeared, who first engaged her family?
Who decided who would engage her family? Why was this individual / individuals
chosen to interact with her family?

43. After careful consideration, | find by a preponderance of the evidence that the
unit did not initiate contact with the Guillen family. S ESSIEEEEEEEEE of SPC
Guillén, contacted the unit first. [l decided to initiate contact because il was worried
about [E - | further find that this did not violate policy or guidance.

(a) Because IO . had not heard
from SPC Guillén, [Sjigll was worried about |JiSJligll and decided to call the
unit."*" [ENE obtained DSBS number from , SPC
Guillén’s JEESIEEE who got the number from 1042
recalls calling [DESEEIEEE at approximately 2000 on 22 April 1043

(b) remembers speaking with [JiSjigifor the first time on the night of
22 April at approximately 2200 hours. [SISEESIEEE sroke to [EE] at least five
times between the night of 22 April and morning of 23 April. Those interactions
were positive. 1044

44. After careful consideration, | find by a preponderance of the evidence that the
E/FST command team’s first engagement with the primary next of kin,
HEEIEGE \/2s o/a 1300 on 23 April. , chose this
command team to engage the family because the command team spoke Spanish and
il felt troop-level command engagement was appropriate. These engagements did not
violate policy or guidance.

(a) The Army does not have policy to guide command engagements with families
during high profile missing Soldier situations except for criminal investigations.
AR 638-8, Army Casualty Program does prescribe that for criminal investigations,
CID will provide the family updates on the investigation. CID did establish and
maintain frequent contact with the Guillén family in accordance with regulation
and beginning on 24 April.1045

(0 IO dccided that the E/FST command team

was the appropriate command representation because, as [|ij] stated, it was [
squadron’s standard for the troop-level command team of AWOL soldiers to

1041See FACTS page 33

10425ee FACTS page 33 Guillén Family Update.

1043See FACTS page 33 Guillén Family Update.

1044See FACTS page 33 [DESNEDIS -

10453ee FACTS page 39 Letter to Congresswoman Garcia 19 Jun.
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contact the family.'®¢ Further, [SISEEIE knew that members of the Guillén
family did not speak English and the command team spoke Spanish. %47

(c) After three phone calls, 23-27 April, from the E/FST command team, the
family lost trust and confidence in the unit. | EISEDIEE did not
sense anything wrong in their communication with the family.%*8 According to the
Guillen family, IEEEDICIDINEE f2ily engagements asked too
many questions, were insensitive and generally did not provide the family helpful
information.'%° These engagements upset the family and resulted in the family
severing ties with the unit; they closed the opportunity for IS to engage
the family on 28 April.19%0

(d) BIBEEER chose not to reengage the family after 28 April out of respect to
the family’s wishes, while asking CID to let the family know he was available to
them anytime.'%? In hindsight, [RISEEIEE admits “...1 wish | had reached out
personally myself earlier to [SJjigll]. because Qi spoke English and [gi|§ was the
go-between on a lot of stuff, and given gl my phone number and offered
whatever [ needed.”'%2 It was not until 23 May, 26 days after communications
ceased, that [IENEIEE) reestablished command communications with
members of the family. 053

(e) The Guillén family maintained communications with CID because the family
believed it was the only law enforcement agency involved in the investigation,
though they did not fully trust CID."%4 Beginning on 24 April, CID maintained
frequent communications with the family almost daily. 7055

(f) Translation services were critical to communicating and responding to the
family and the media.'%%® This supported [DISEEIRIE rationale to select the
E/FST Command Team to engage the family.

Directed Question: After SPC Guillén disappeared, who engaged with the media?
Who decided who would engage with the media? Why was this individual /
individuals chosen to interact with the media?

1046See FACTS page 37 DIDNDIS -

1047See FACTS page 37 BIDNDEES -
10485ee FACTS page 52

(b)(6) (b)) (N©) B
10495ee FACTS page 52 Guillén Family Update 27 Oct.
10505ee FACTS page 51
1051See FACTS pg 59 Letter to Congresswoman Garcia, et al.
1052See FACTS page 39 Letter to Congresswoman Garcia, et al.
10535ee FACTS page 59
1054See FACTS page 52 Guillén Family Update 27 Oct.
10553ee FACTS page 41 Letter to Congresswoman Garcia 19 Jun.

1056See FACTS page 187 RIEHENIS -
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45. After careful consideration, | find by a preponderance of the evidence that
Task Force Phantom / Fort Hood and CID engaged with the media. | further find that
MG Efflandt and [JISEIER . Fort Hood CID, made decisions on who would engage the
media and these individuals were chosen based on their position and their knowledge of
the investigation.

(a) On 2 July, MG Efflandt engaged the media for the first time during a press
conference held to provide information on the disappearance of SPC Guillén. At
this press conference MG Efflandt announced the discovery of remains that had
yet to be positively identified. Additionally, [SISENIESI ot Hood CID,
provided the media an update on the investigation. 95"

(b) Task Force Phantom / Fort Hood did not designate a spokesperson for the
command.'%58 MG Efflandt and [ EEEIE) scrved as de facto spokespersons
for the command for the limited engagements that occurred. These individuals
likely served as spokespersons based on their position.

(c) BEEEER chose RIEERIE to engage the media for CID. ISR \vas

likely chosen based on his knowledge of the investigation.

Derived Question: Did the command follow policy and regulations in their
engagements with the media? Who provided the guidance for these
engagements?

46. After careful consideration, | find by a preponderance of the evidence that

(a) Task Force Phantom / Fort Hood’s command placed protecting the integrity of
the investigation and not contradicting the family, over command engagement of
the media. AR 360-1 paragraph 2-1.a.(7) states commanders will take
appropriate action to correct erroneous information about the Army that appears
in any medium. In addition, AR 360-1 paragraph 8.b.(5) states that commanders
will actively engage the public through timely and accurate information sharing
while maintaining security and privacy.

1057See FACTS page 71 Fort Hood Media Release and [ SIS <t 2!
10%8See FACTS page 64 IR et al.
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(b) On 1 May, the Task Force Phantom PAO recommended that S SIS
HEIEGEEIEEE <ngage the media in anticipation of a family rally that was
promoting an inaccurate narrative about Fort Hood. ">\l vas called by
stating [BIENEIEEE) did not want to say anything
yet.1060 decided not to engage due to jjjj understanding from MG
Efflandt that Task Force Phantom / Fort Hood was going to respond to query and
protect the integrity of the investigation. 106

(c) From about 28 April to 21 May, Task Force Phantom / Fort Hood was tracking
a growing inaccurate narrative in social media about the command’s response to
the disappearance of SPC Guillén. Task Force Phantom / Fort Hood took no
proactive engagement measures during this time. Although Task Force Phantom
/ Fort Hood did publish a Media Release on 21 May in anticipation of the planned
22 May protest, it failed to fully address erroneous information revolving around a
Fort Hood potential cover-up and the inaccurate narrative of mistrust that had
built up about Fort Hood in social media.'%? Another consideration is that media
releases do not meet the definition of engagements in AR 360-1 which require
meetings or events that advance, educate, strengthen, and preserve U.S. Army
interests, policies, and objectives.

(d) AR 360-1 paragraph 2-1 subparagraph (4) says commanders will provide
unclassified information about the Army and its activities to the public with
maximum disclosure and minimum delay. Task Force Phantom / Fort Hood took
29 days before posting the first media release, 60 days before posting the first
public service announcement (video) to social media, and 71 days before
conducting the first press conference.

(e) AR 360-1 paragraph 8b(5) states that corps-equivalent commands (i.e., Task
Force Phantom) will develop proposed PA guidance, strategies, plans, and
operations. In addition, AR 360-1 paragraph 7-3.a. states that the commander is
ultimately responsible for crisis communication. Timeliness is critical during a
crisis; commanders should mitigate withholding information and release what is
known as soon as possible. Task Force Phantom / Fort Hood did not timely
develop PA guidance, strategies, or plans to include: communication plan,
holding statement, response to query, themes, messages, or talking points.1063
Task Force Phantom / Fort Hood failed to be timely and did not have guidance or
plans established until 28 June. 1064

1059See FACTS page 53 BIDIDIS -
10605ee FACTS page 53

1061See FACTS page 53 MG Efflandt, et al.
1962See FACTS page 58 [RISEEIEE . <t 2!
10635ee FACTS page 78 MG Efflandt.
10645ee FACTS page 78 Email MG Efflandt.
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(f) AR 360-1 paragraph 7-3 definition of crisis includes unpredictable incident that
has the potential to negatively impact the mission, relationships, and reputation
with stakeholders, partners, employees, and the public. Task Force Phantom /
Fort Hood did not recognize in a timely fashion that the disappearance of SPC
Guillén required crisis communications. This fallure not only damaged the
reputation of Fort Hood but also the Armmy. In his statement, MG Efflandt
recogniZzed that the command, by not being first with transparent truth, created a
vacuum that was filled by a negative and erroneous narrative in social media, 1082

(h) when [
transitioned out of the job ofa 2 June. | 25 inexperienced as a
PAO."™2 The Task Force Phantom and Fort Hood garrison public affairs offices
are collocated and functionally worked together to give advice to MG Efflandt, 9%
This directly contributed to | IR '=ading PAC efforts for media
engagements and determining recommendations to both Task Force Phantom
and Fort Hood senior leadership.

Directed Question: After SPC Guillén disappeared, who engaged with other non-
DoD parties? What non-DoD parties did the command engage with? Who decided

to engage with the nonDeoD parties? Why was this individual / individuals chosen
to interact with the non-DoD parties?

47. After carefully considering the preponderance of the evidence, | find that the
command followed current policies for non-DoD engagements. Non-DoD parties were
engaged by appropriate agencies. Task Force Phantom / Fort Hood leadership decided
who would engage non-DoD parties based on established processes, practices, and
relationships.

IMiSee FACTS page T4 MG Eflandt.
=ESee FACTS page JEW
ImToee FACTS page 46 andt.

iElgee FACTS page Elﬂm.
i¥9See FACTS page 15 ic Afairs ODrganization.
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(2) NS /2 the lead for al
congressional engagements. The responsibility for congressional engagements
was within the duty description for his position. SIS made decisions
regarding LULAC and Alianza Latina Internacional engagements, and conducted
some engagements.070

(b) As the lead investigative agency, Fort Hood CID coordinated law enforcement
engagements to include Texas EquuSearch, a private company.'*”" iR

I 2o decisions and conducted
engagements. [ NEIOREIGISIN 'so conducted

engagements for CID.

(c) MG Efflandt and [SEENEES 2!so conducted non-DoD engagements. 072
The following non-DoD parties were part of commands engagem